



# ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

# THE DECADE FOR WOMEN IN LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

Background and prospects





**UNITED NATIONS** 

Santiago, Chile, 1988

LC/G.1372 May 1988

This work was prepared by the Social Development Division of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC).

UNITED NATIONS PUBLICATIONS

Sales No.: E.86.II.G.5

ISBN 92-1-121140-9

# **CONTENTS**

|      |  | Page     |
|------|--|----------|
| PR   | EFACE  | 7        |
| SU   | MAMRY  | 9        |
|      |  |          |
|      | Part One   |          |
|      | WOMEN AND THEIR ROLE IN SOCIETY TODAY  |          |
| I.   | Latin American families and the role of women  | 17       |
|      | General questions      The family and its functions in the framework of integrated development                           | 17       |
|      | 3. Families in the Latin American environment: possibilities and constraints regarding the fulfilment of their functions | 18<br>21 |
|      | 4. Some proposals  | 26       |
| II.  |  | 28       |
|      | 1. Participation of women in work  | 29       |
|      | 2. Participation of women in education   | 37       |
|      | 3. Participation of women in organizations   | 44       |
| III. | The State and central channels for raising the status of women:  |          |
|      | participative planning and legislation   | 47       |
|      | 1. Women as a topic in planning  | 48       |
|      | 2. Legislation   | 50       |
|      | Young women  | 52       |
| V.   | Final considerations   | 56       |
|      | Part Two   |          |
| TH   | IE RURAL WOMAN AS A SOCIAL ACTOR OVER THE PAST 10 Y  | EARS     |
| I.   | Background   | 63       |
|      | 1. The importance of women as a topic in the international context.  | 63       |
|      | 2. The Latin American scene in the last three decades  | 65       |
|      | 3. Predominant types of agricultural economies   | 67       |
| II.  | Rural women in Latin America   | 72       |
|      | 1. Attempts to type rural women  | 73       |
|      | 2. Women in peasant units  | 75       |
|      | The proletarianization of rural women  | 80       |
|      |  | 84       |
| III. | The rural family   | 86       |
|      | <ol> <li>Nuclear families, extended families and incomplete families</li> <li>Headship of households</li> </ol>          | 86       |
|      | <ol> <li>Headship of households</li> <li>The decline in fertility</li> </ol>   | 89<br>89 |
| 117  |  | •        |
|      | Women's demands and organizations: some reflections  | 91       |
| V.   | Recommendations and policies   | 95       |

# Part Three

| THE OUTLOOK | FOR | CHANGE I | N T | HE ST | ATUS | OF | WOMEN |
|-------------|-----|----------|-----|-------|------|----|-------|
|-------------|-----|----------|-----|-------|------|----|-------|

| I.   | Frame of reference   | 101<br>104 |
|------|--|------------|
| II.  | Evaluating the process of change   | 104        |
|      | A. The impact of sectoral policies   |            |
|      | B. The family as a subject of social policies  | 109        |
|      | 1. The family and the processes of change  | 110        |
|      | 2. The family and development programmes   | 111        |
|      | C. Types of women  | 112        |
|      | 1. Women in the low socioeconomic stratum  | 112        |
|      | 2. Women in the middle socioeconomic stratum   | 115        |
|      | 3. Women in the upper socioeconomic stratum  | 116        |
|      | D Changes in legislation   | 117        |
|      | 1. Political rights  | 118        |
|      | 2. Civil rights  | 119        |
|      | 3. Labour laws   | 124        |
|      | 4. Penal law   | 128        |
|      | E. Some preliminary conclusions  | 130        |
| III. |  | 137        |
| 111. | A. Probable future   | 137        |
|      | B. Planning and social policies  | 138        |
|      | C. The treatment of women in social policies   | 140        |
|      |  | 141        |
| IV.  |  | 145        |
| V.   | Notes  | 148        |
|      | Bibliography   | 149        |
|      | Bibliography   | /          |
|      | Annex 1  |            |
|      | WOMEN'S RIGHTS IN UNITED NATIONS LEGISLATION   |            |
| ī.   | The legal situation of women in Latin America and the Caribbean  |            |
|      | defined according to the resolutions and mandates arising from the   |            |
|      | United Nations system  | 163        |
| П    | Specific aspects of the legal situation of women   | 172        |
| III. |  | 177        |
| 111. |  |            |
|      | Annex 2  |            |
|      | RESOLUTIONS AND APPRAISALS FROM THREE REGIONAL<br>MEETINGS ON WOMEN (MACUTO, VENEZUELA, 1979;<br>MEXICO CITY, 1983, AND HAVANA, 1984)  |            |
| I.   | Resolutions from the Second Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America  | 181        |
| II.  | Resolutions of the Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America   | 101        |
|      | and the Caribbean  | 193        |
| III. | Appraisal of the Decade and concrete operational strategies and measures for the advancement of women up to the year 2000 adopted by the Regional Meeting for Latin America and the Caribbean in preparation for the world conference to review and appraise the achievements of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equlity, Development and Peace | 201        |

### **PREFACE**

The year 1985 marks the end of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace, proclaimed at the World Conference in Mexico. However, it may be said that consideration of the subject, far from having exhausted it, has only just begun. Since the beginning of the Decade, the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean has participated in the effort to tackle it systematically with a view to promoting the integration of women in development. The many developments in the region in this connection during the Decade include projects, meetings and seminars, support in the creation of national offices, progress in government action, the emergence of many non-governmental organizations devoted to problems faced by women, the creation of new currents of public opinion, the production of publications, and, finally, legislative changes, with regard to which one of the key achievements was the entry into force of the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women, which was supported and ratified by the majority of countries of the region.

Clearly, the topic of the status of women in today's societies has come into its own. A set of theories in this respect is systematically emerging, and more is known about the situation of women in specific groups—those in the urban, low-income strata, rural women and women at the middle level is increasing; consideration is being given to their place in the labour market, their educational status, the ways in which they participate, their aspirations and needs and, finally, the status of young women, which is closely linked to the whole question of youth, is becoming a central issue.

This publication falls within the framework of these concerns. It contains studies carried out by professional staff in the ECLAC Social Development Division and by experts from the region, who, taking time out from a task in which much still remains to be done, have looked at the subject from various angles in an attempt to contribute to its study and to evaluate what has been achieved during the Decade. The document also includes an extensive, specialized bibliography, which is bound to be of interest to anyone studying these questions.\*

<sup>\*</sup>The bracketed numbers in the text refer to the bibliography.

### **SUMMARY**

Systematic studies on the status of women in Latin America and the Caribbean were undertaken within ECLAC on the basis of resolutions adopted at the fifteenth session of the Commission (Quito, 1973). Stress has been laid on base-line studies concerning the living conditions of women and also on the design and orientation of measures for overcoming discrimination at all levels. Since then many studies have been carried out and governmental, technical and academic meetings held, resulting in greater understanding of the issue and in proposals for action in connection with it.

This book is being published in response to ECLAC's concern with problems relating to the status of women. Although the three studies it contains were prepared for different governmental forums in the second half of the Decade for Women, their contents certainly transcend the needs for which they were prepared and constitute a contribution which will interest anyone concerned with this question. There are also two annexes, the first of which provides information on United Nations legislation in connection with the rights of women and its application in domestic law, while the second contains resolutions from recent regional meetings sponsored by the United Nations on the subject of women.

Part One, entitled "Women and their role in society today", attempts to provide a synopsis of the key ideas which have presided over the study of the status of Latin American women and to examine the progress made in examining this subject and steps which might be taken in future to view things in the longer term. The thinking and proposals it contains are structured along two main lines which meant that the subject is analysed from two inter-related points of view. On the one hand, consideration is given to the close relationship which exists between the status of women and the broader processes affecting the countries in which they live and the region as a whole and, on the other, to the cultural definition of the role assigned to women, which makes their central concern lie within the family unit and gives them a predominantly subordinate position in terms of social participation outside the home.

In the course of a long period of growth and modernization, the region has solved some of its development problems and created others, within a system characterized by significant dynamism but too few guiding policies. This process, which differs in intensity in the various countries of the region, has resulted in substantial changes in the social participation of women and has thus, to various degrees, affected the family. Although the standards of living of some of the population have risen somewhat, it would seem that the time is approaching when this process will have played itself out and there will be a need for special

policies aimed at preserving the most disadvantaged groups in the population. In this connection, women play a key role in the reformulations of the model, especially in aspects related to the satisfaction of basic needs and urban reorganization, which are of importance in the new options. A highly important element is the role which young women might be called upon to play, in view of the contradictions which exist between the training they have received and their expectations.

One essential element in understanding the ways in which women will be called upon to participate is the family, both their original family and the family which they and their partner reproduce, since to a large extent it determines the role of women in other areas of social involvement. From that point of view, the study describes the social role of women in paid and unpaid work, education and organizations. It also touches upon planning and legislation as global mechanisms designed to promote the actual establishment of families in the region and places emphasis on matters related to young women, since, as they constitute a group with new characteristics and expectations based on their potential, they will militate in favour of the restructuring of many established social relations. It is also suggested that there is a need for future options compatible with the welfare of individuals and on improvement in the quality of life, the satisfaction of basic needs and the actual participation of the population in the economic, social, cultural and human development process. Within this framework, the social options desired call not only for a higher rate of economic growth within the prevailing structure but also and primarily for the affirmation of a democratic system which makes it possible to improve the quality of life as part of a process of steady progress based on the participative experience itself. This process, which in practical terms takes the form of new systems of income distribution and higher employment based on increased production and expanded social and community services, makes it possible to predict what development models may be targeted in the future.

In Part Two, which deals with woman as a social actor in the past decade, an attempt is made to determine what has contributed to knowledge concerning rural women during this period, which aspects of this objective appear to have been adequately considered and where the situation with regard to women has changed as a result of changes in the global socioeconomic framework and in the agricultural sector in particular.

The five sections which constitute this part are devoted to the events in the world and in Latin America which led to the proclamation of the Decade for Women in light of the different types of agricultural economies which predominate in the region; rural women in Latin America; the rural family; women's demands and organizations and a few policy recommendations.

An attempt is made to classify the many different types of rural women by proceeding from the general to the particular and working from the point of view of the main branches which constitute the region's agricultural economy—the traditional branch, the modern branch and the agricultural frontier. Within the traditional branch, the most detailed attention is paid to the peasant economies because they make an important contribution to the production of food and because typically they incorporate the sector made up of the rural poor.

Another system of classification is based on the position held by women in peasant societies and on the kind of activities in which they are primarily engaged (craftswomen, merchants, traders or indigenous vendors, etc.).

Following the discussion of attempts to classify rural women of Latin America, the many roles of peasant women are reviewed, with consideration given to their domestic/reproductive role, activities carried out on their own account and wage-earning activities; the size of their incomes and the uses to which they are put are also discussed.

Particular attention is paid to the domestic role of women, i.e., their role in the reproduction of the labour force and in the daily tasks involved in ensuring its survival; the sexual differentiation of work; the role of women in agricultural production and variations on it depending on their role in society; other activities carried out by women in order to obtain income; the role of women in the survival strategies of peasant groups and the life cycle as a determinant of the kind and amount of work done by women. In carrying out these studies it was necessary in some cases to use special methodologies (such as schedules or work patterns in order to gauge the time spent by women in domestic tasks, agricultural production and other work); in other cases certain methodological drawbacks became obvious. The study successfuly pinpoints the lacunae in the measurement of the female economically active population and of its rates of participation and indicates some changes which might be introduced in order to achieve correct measurements.

Some of the matters dealt with in this document have only just begun to be studied —the specific way in which women use the income obtained, which is very important to the family nucleus; the social and cultural role of women in communities and areas made up of small holdings and the proletarianization of women and the position they hold among wage earners, which, in spite of its importance, has not yet received the attention it merits. No measurements are available concerning the incorporation of women workers into the modern sector of agriculture, partly because they are employed on a seasonal basis. Nor has much progress been made in what is known about the changes their incorporation into the modern sector has made in household work, consumption, family relations, roles and cultural patterns in general.

The effects of the modernization of agriculture are analysed, especially where the rural family is concerned. In this connection, consideration is given to situations in which women function as head of household in cases where the male head of family has emigrated or abandoned the home (or in cases of failure to establish a family, as occurs in the English-speaking Caribbean); to situations in which manpower is sold; to breakdown and change in family structure (one-person families, incomplete families, failure to establish families, predominance of the nuclear family over the extended family), the fact that people marry later in life and the sharp reduction in birth rates. Attention is drawn to differences in types of family in different peasant classes and regions within the same country and to the impact of crop changes on family type and on the ways in which labour is hired.

Little information is available with regard to women's demands and organizations, and what there is approaches the subject by way of other topics. It is clear, however, that some apparent contradictions exist. There is, for instance,

the phenomenon of the non-verbal woman, who is incapable of expressing herself, does not make her demands public, is ashamed of her lack of training and is traumatized by motherhood. Another phenomenon is that of the woman capable of making decisions within the home but whose opinions are transmitted to the community through her husband, i.e., the house-bound woman who uses her husband as her intermediary with the public.

As for women's participation in organizations, the harm done by the idea that women take no part in productive life is made clear. At first glance women do in fact appear to be marginal to organizations, but only to organizations which regulate the use of productive resources of a physical nature (associations dealing with irrigation, drainage and grasslands management) and productive organizations in general (small-farm co-operatives, agrarian reform co-operatives and the like). On the other hand, they participate actively in all organizations or activities which have to do with public welfare, festivities and religious activities, the provision of services to the community, labour exchange and barter in merchandise. It is suggested in this study that their participation has failed to attract interest because attention has been directed almost exclusively towards what is most important in the eyes of some external agent —participation in productive organizations, trade unions and political organizations.

With regard to recommendations and policies, it is felt that official documents cover the basic aspects, in some cases in detail. What appears to be lacking is, in the first place, knowledge, in each situation (areas of the economy, types of women) of what distinguishes a poor rural woman from a poor rural man or child. In the second place, there is need to bring objectives into harmony. In the case of peasant women, such objectives would include the production of more foodstuffs, the performance of the domestic role, involvement in "other activities", training and participation in meetings; where the wage-earning farm woman is concerned, they would include the ability to perform a day's paid labour in addition to her domestic tasks, while at the same time participating in trade unions or other organizations. In the third place, attention should be paid to the distinction between the public and private domains where policies are concerned; greater consideration of this distinction would mean that the "human needs" of women could be met more effectively. Fourthly, if policies are to respond to felt needs, stress must be laid on the need to create mechanisms allowing women to be heard since no activity can prosper without the active support of those it is intended to benefit. Fifthly, there is a need to devise low-cost, simple alternative technologies for use both in production and the home, which would make work lighter and open possibilities for some leisure time. Sixthly, it is considered urgent to evaluate the many projects carried out by non-governmental bodies so that experiences can be assimilated and understood or, if necessary, rejected. This evaluation must go beyond what is being done at the moment, and its point of reference must be integral development. Finally, it is necessary to learn the results of the new methodologies used in social research, participative research and mass education and to support such methodologies if the results justify it.

Part Three, "The outlook for changing the status of women", enlarges upon other reports prepared by ECLAC as contributions to the study of the status

of women in Latin America and the Caribbean and as part of the attempt to provide direction for policies designed to improve their situation.

In it the main points relating to this subject in the region and the thrust of the mandates given in connection with it are reviewed. Special significance is attached to the contextual differences between the beginning of the United Nations Decade for Women and the present time, which have to do with the severe crisis through which the region is passing. However, since the Regional Plan of Action embraces the major social development objectives of Latin America and the Caribbean, its basic objectives are still valid and pertinent, although some new points may need to be raised and different priorities may need to be assigned to some of the other matters covered. In addition to the difficulties already encountered in previous documents with regard to the process of appraising the status of women, there are those which are due to the tremendous changes experienced by the region, which put it in a more complex situation.

The document contains a global study of the indicators available with regard to achievements in the incorporation of women into the labour force and education, their access to health care, the most important changes at the legal level and other governmental programmes of importance.

With regard to obstacles to the full integration of women, stress is laid on those due to traditional forms of socialization, i.e., to the ways in which women have access to education, social participation and the labour market. Consideration is also given to the progress made in this connection and to existing difficulties in determining the extent to which changes are due to the urbanization and modernization of society and to what degree they are due to the implementation of measures provided for in the Regional Plan of Action. A study is also made of some key aspects of planning and the social policy with regard to the status of women, and some observations are made with respect to events which might call for the updating of the Regional Plan of Action, with emphasis laid on the profound transformation which Latin America and the Caribbean have been experiencing in recent decades, the gravity of the crisis they are undergoing and the need for regional integration and solidarity as key elements in new strategies, in which organized groups of women are already taken into account.

In annex 1 consideration is given to the resolutions and mandates which have emerged from organisms in the United Nations system and have borne in particular on the legal status of Latin American and Caribbean women. These include both resolutions (conventions) in international law and resolutions and mandates which concern only action taken by governments.

The inventories and analyses used in preparing this annex were carried out on the basis of a master plan which made it possible to classify the information collected in terms of the following criteria: type of measure, forum or body from which it emerged, period, type of legislation, theoretical framework and operational context of the measure (84). The information gathered included treaties or conventions, resolutions, declarations of principle and lines of action of world and regional plans on women in the period 1946 to 1982, all of which comprises a set of norms at various levels which concern the legal status of women.

The data was systematically considered in three stages: partial analysis of each of the bodies surveyed; global analysis of international legislation and of resolutions and mandates which, while not constituting legislation refer to the legal status of women (by type of legislation and period) and, finally, consideration of this set of legal documents in the context of national legislation, the existing social situation and what is generally known concerning the problem of women in the region.

This study can serve as a theoretical framework in analysing the legal position assigned to the women of the region in the legislation of different countries and also in comparing national legislation with the international legislation (mandatory or otherwise) issuing out of the United Nations system. In addition, since law and policy are part of the same process, the legislative elements established could provide a basis for social policies aimed at raising the status of women and giving them greater legal, social, political and economic equality.

Annex 2 contains the resolutions of the second and third Regional Conferences on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America (Macuto, 1979 and Mexico City, 1983). It also includes the appraisal made of the Decade and concrete strategies and measures designed to further the advancement of women up to the year 2000 adopted at the Regional Meeting for Latin America and the Caribbean in Preparation for the World Conference to Review and Appraise the Achievements of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace (Havana, 1984).

# Part One

# WOMEN AND THEIR ROLE IN SOCIETY TODAY

### Part One

### WOMEN AND THEIR ROLE IN SOCIETY TODAY

# I. LATIN AMERICAN FAMILIES AND THE ROLE OF WOMEN

### 1. General questions

The object of the present study is to fit the subject of women into the analysis of the family as one of the richest and most effective ways of understanding and appraising their living conditions. In the first place, it is hoped to deal in depth with some questions that seem of outstanding importance and at the same time to deduce generalizations which ratify such an approach inasmuch as they sketch out a frame of reference for future studies along these lines. Thus the chapter is constructed on the basis of a general framework formed by the conception of integrated development and of family functions compatible with that viewpoint, which will subsequently be compared with family situations in Latin America in order to assess their diversity and the contradictions between them and the framework proposed. In conclusion, some tantative reflections are put forward with the aim of establishing minimum future criteria for discussion of the subject.

The central assumption from which the present study starts, and which up to a point orients the entire document, is that the most important element in the social environment of women is their situation and participation in the structure and dynamics of the family. It is thence that a woman reaches out into other social environments (education, work, participation in organizations), always conditioned by her twofold family relation: at first by her stem family and then by her biological family. The problem of the relationship between women and the family is of crucial importance for a full understanding of the complex series of interconnections which make it possible to describe and explain their situations as the point of departure for drawing up strategies of change appropriately designed to step up their participation in development.

The overall framework for the proposal to locate the subject of women in the family environment is a development process whose ultimate goal is the welfare of human beings, and which includes concern for their affective needs and personal self-fulfilment. This process is based mainly on the following criteria: 1) Satisfaction of basic needs, which comprises the production of essential goods and services and their distribution and consumption throughout the

population; 2) Work, considered in its two facets: a) employment or paid work, envisaged not only as a means of earning income but also as the performance of social functions valued by society, which makes possible a broader relationship with the social order and facilitates the establishment of ties and links, meets psychological, personal and creational needs and confers the title of family prop; and b) unpaid domestic work, assigned primarily to women, which, in addition to tasks connected with the running and physical maintenance of the house, the preparation of food and kindred activities, comprises aspects relating to the affective and emotional areas, especially the socialization of the younger generations. In this category should also be included, in view of its social valuation, volunteer work connected with community development questions or with welfare services; 3) Participation. This signifies the possibility of intervening in the decision-making processes which take place at the various levels of society. Participation inculcates self-confidence in individuals and societies by demonstrating the potential of their capacities in the course of the exercise of responsibilities assumed through shared enterprise. From this point of view it is postulated that human development, the development of people as individuals and as social beings, can only grow up out of the human group itself, its natural environment and its own culture. The creativeness of the men and women of the group autonomously defines their development and life styles and makes them active rather than passive figures in social history.

# 2. The family and its functions in the framework of integrated development

In this context, the family can be envisaged as a place where activities are carried out that are essential for the development of human beings, as the first stage in their linkage with the world and the dominant influence in all their relations, as a social bridge between the personal development of individuals and the development of society as a whole. Despite the manifold forms it assumes and has assumed throughout the past, there are unquestionably two central pivots around which its unity is maintained and consolidated through time, in despite of cultural differences. One of these is the sexual and affective complementarity of men and women necessarily implicit in the constitution of the human couple, and the other is the long formative period which is required by human beings from their birth, during their childhood and throughout their youth, and which covers, *inter alia*, their affective and emotional needs.

The family unit, thus defined, and in the context of a development process such as that indicated above, must assume a number of functions directed primarily towards fulfilment of the various aspects of the development in question.

a) In relation to the satisfaction of basic needs, of paramount importance for its subsistence in physical terms, the family will have to devise a series of strategies aimed in the first place at getting a job that will result in income for the family unit, housing, education, health and access to a whole series of services which are linked to ways of life normal for the social group to which the family belongs, and which might comprise infrastructure, transport, recreation, etc. These strategies necessarily involve a distribution of roles among the various

members of the family group and it might be said, from a purely analytical and general viewpoint, that the distribution of functions within the family has tended on the whole to assign predominantly to men the main responsibility for earning income, and to women the tasks associated with the obtaining of services, preparation of food, and care and socialization of children. Nevertheless, and particularly as regards the satisfaction of basic needs, this function is strongly influenced by the size of the income earned and by the type and quality of the services to which the social group as a whole has access, these being factors that condition its possibilities of participating in the various aspects of development.

b) Work, understood as an element in development, not only as a source of income but also in terms of the rewarding sense of personal satisfaction that it must produce, as well as of its social valuation, logically transcends the economic dimension and appears under many and various guises in the corresponding family functions. In this setting, the kinds of work traditionally undertaken by the men of the family have been done outside the home, and social recognition has been established only through labour conquests and others of a public, non-family type. In contrast, where the women of the family are concerned, their social valuation and the distribution of functions have been especially associated with domestic work, including tasks of an affective nature. While they have been progressively tending to contribute monetary income to the upkeep of the family, and have often been the only breadwinners, social recognition and valuation of these efforts have been the exception rather than the rule.

Another type of work which is commonly regarded as a function proper to women, and on which society sets a value, is that connected with education, at either the pre-school or the school level. Activities in this area, as likewise in that of care of the sick or infirm, which is in a way an extension of traditional family roles, have been the most readily accepted socially, being undertaken sometimes for pay and at other times through voluntary organizations.

- c) The family function linked to *participation* is more complex and its different levels might be systematized on the basis of its component elements.
- i) In the first place, the family must fulfil the function of promoting the personal development of its members. This aspect is closely related to the rationalization of conduct and responsible freedom of choice.

The behaviour patterns transmitted by families emerge as part of the essential cultural manifestations of societies, and relate to the plurality options which these offer in global terms, and from which will derive personal decisions respecting the choice of different types of work, whether paid or unpaid, including domestic activities, as well as options with regard to the development of the society. Social participation proper is analysed in individual terms in another chapter; but it should be stressed here that it is within the family that such participation is made possible or hindered, both in the case of the couple and in that of the other members of the group, especially the children. In the last analysis it is the family that internalizes the socially appropriate or accepted behaviour patterns and distributes among its members the functions and responsibilities that permit not only the physical survival of the group but the attainment of targets that it has set up for itself.

ii) The socialization of children and young people is another family function closely linked to the one just described. As one of the permanent main stays of family unity in its various forms as time passes, the family trains the child from birth for its permanent and consistent participation in the group to which it belongs in the present by equipping it with tools for its future performance. Socialization comprises emotive and intellectual components that are not always separable. In practice the initial learning of the language, early childhood stimulation and all giving of information, especially in early childhood, embrace closely interrelated affective, intellectual and informational aspects.

Although emotive necessities are apparent all through life, in early childhood they are definitively inescapable and want of them irreversibly prevents the adequate personal development of the human individual. Although recognition of the needs of childhood and youth, and still more the emergence of concern for those age groups as such, are relatively new, they lay upon the family tasks in which it can hardly be replaced by any other social institution. Moreover, the family provides standards of behaviour, values and rules which make it possible to cope with the school, work and societal environment. Although requirements in respect of specialized pre-school education outside the family today enjoy widespread recognition, endorsed by practical experience and a cumulative body of theory, it is the family that gives training in terms of affective and emotional attitudes and maturity prior to pre-school education, alongside which it remains as a complementary factor. During school life and throughout the whole of the formative process undergone by young people, the family assumes manifold functions. In the first place, it continues to provide the affective and emotive sustenance essential for the harmonious growth of the individual, but it also furnishes information on the society concerned, encourages education as a form of social participation, proffers tentative vocational guidance and points the way to training opportunities. It also supplies models of sexual behaviour, assigning from the outset roles associated with the different sexes, either by example or through the type of information it offers. In a wider sphere, the family unit provides and processes a system of information on the possibilities of social change, on participation in organizations, on attitudes vis-a-vis the broader social structures, and on other channels of information that may be available. The socialization of children and youth, recognized as a group with specific needs, is one of the objects of social concern which at the level of the family is an essential pivot of its existence and establishes a whole gamut of functions to be fulfilled.

- iii) Linked to the preceding function, reproduction not only comprises the biological process but also constitutes an option in which manifold social dimensions converge, interacting with broader phenomena, such as relations between the couple and their decision-making possibilities in relation to the prevailing systems of values, which will define, in the last analysis, the attitude adopted towards reproduction.
- iv) The family functions described require a reformulation of the roles of the couple. If the relation between husband and wife is built up in an atmosphere of participation, with socially equivalent options in terms of work, and with less rigid requirements respecting the reproduction and care of children, accompanied by a reproduction option compatible with such care, they can

reassess their relationship and infuse into it new elements of complementarity and depth, and obviously also of conflict. Lastly, the quest for free consent in relations between the sexes also necessitates their ratification of legal precepts of equity.

# 3. Families in the Latin American environment: possibilities and constraints regarding the fulfilment of their functions

The functions that should be fulfilled by the family in the framework of integrated development, deliberately outlined at an exclusively analytical level, look quite different in face of the social realities of Latin America. The approach proposed in the present study does not aim at replacing the analysis of overall social situations by the study of families in isolation, but, on the contrary, seeks to complement the analysis in question by showing how broader social processes have repercussions and are interrelated at the level of the family, which in the end more clearly reflects the problems and the structural contradictions of societies. It is therefore relevant to point out certain general features which prove important and enlightening in this connection.

A first aspect of the situation essential for understanding Latin American development in relation to the present subject has to do with the urbanization and tertiarization of the countries of the region. In the regional spectrum there are differences between countries whose urbanization process began early in a framework of development and modernization, and those in which urbanization was late in beginning or is only just starting. The different periods in which these processes have taken place and the varying stages reached by urbanization at present are of fundamental importance for the analysis and understanding of family patterns, especially in the middle and lower population strata of the various countries. For example, societies with a higher degree of urbanization will tend to attain higher rates of participation of women in the labour market, besides a probable expansion of their educational systems. In them the rural patterns of widely extended families will tend to be superseded by nuclear units consisting mainly of the couple and their children. There will be greater dissemination of information on options as to reproduction and on the rights of women and children, and alongside this a weakening of a system of support based on family relationships. In the more disadvantaged population groups this phenomenon makes family care of children more difficult unless social childcare services are provided.

The difficulties of family consolidation occurring where the level of women's education is higher lead to a clearer perception of the relation between family conditions and social structure, which generally finds expression in demands for participation in order to arrive at solutions for family fulfilment, these being often worked out and put into effect by women. Furthermore, implicit in this process of widespread urbanization and tertiarization are rates of social change which make for the emergence of a new type of family whose internal characteristics are apparently more democratic and participative.

Countries where urbanization started late, on the contrary, tend to keep up more traditional relations of kinship in which extended families predominate and there is a more strictly hierarchical allocation of roles to the members of the

family, which usually limits their self-expression as individual persons by relating them primarily with what they have to do as men, young women, etc.

A second aspect which influences and determines the way in which family functions find expression in the region and reinforces the existing heterogeneity relates to the various types of indigenous and negro cultures, which, although they are often linked to traditional rural patterns, transcend that distinctive form. The main indigenous groups have tried to retain a linguistic and cultural identity —irrespective of the impoverishment of such dimensions in consequence of their extreme deprivation— in which the family is the institution responsible for conservation and reproduction. Among them the position of women is strongly conditioned by this function —a circumstance which gives rise to a higher degree of indigenous monolinguism and a lack of women's education. Similarly, the type of insertion in the national society has segmentary characteristics which obstruct the participation of women in the positive dimensions of modernity.

The biggest problem is not the cultural difference per se, but the material and cultural poverty of the family groups in question and the discrimination of which they are the object. To improve their situation —especially as urbanization advances— these groups find themselves compelled to seek incorporation in the most disadvantageous material conditions and at the cost of renouncing their cultural identity.

Most of the indigenous groups whose family socialization has taken place in the mother tongue have to cope with its negation in the culture of the school, which in most cases does not accept it even as a language to provide cultural support for the transition to education in the country's predominant official tongue.

In addition to the intra-regional differences deriving from early or belated urbanization processes and those emanating from the diverse cultural patterns, it is relevant to draw attention to a third important aspect, namely the consequences of inter-country heterogeneity in degrees of development and intra-country heterogeneity in income distribution.

In the countries where the level of development is lowest and the concentration of income most intensive, both in the rural and in the marginal urban population incomplete family patterns survive in which men do not assume responsibility for fatherhood. Thus families where the head of the household is a woman are formed in conditions of extreme poverty. They are incapable of meeting their basic needs, or of dealing with the problems of socialization, so that a vicious circle of reproduction of poverty and social marginality is established. Another type of incomplete family found in such countries has its origin in rural poverty, either in the peasants' lack of land and of economic resources or in the modes of production of large rural enterprises; in this connection it should be pointed out that the availability of labour creates a circuit of temporary migrations to help with harvesting in which lodging conditions are too bad and wages too low for workers to move with their families. To these agrarian migratory movements are added seasonal migrations to urban centres, which mean that women have to do all the work, including the tasks of production, without proper training and at the cost of, inter alia, relegating the care of their children to a secondary place.

In the majority of the countries at medium stages of development there are other types of differentiation produced by the structure of income distribution among the groups forming the society concerned. This differentiation is ratified or strengthened by specific political models and associated with particular degrees of overall economic growth.

Differences can be noted in respect of income distribution and the quantum of income received on average by each social stratum. Thus, a distinction could be drawn between two main patterns of income concentration. In the first, of an élitist type, the increment in national income tends to be concentrated in the highest group, at the expense of the rest of the population; in the second, commonly termed mesocratic, increases in income chiefly benefit the groups immediately below the summit, at the expense of the highest stratum and of the lower-middle and low classes.

The two types of concentration determine the fairly marked differences in the strata to which families belong, clearly revealing the heterogeneity existing both in the region as a whole and within the countries.

These characteristics of the structure of income distribution shed light on the political models used, on the way in which power is distributed and, in the last analysis, on most of the development styles prevailing in the region. They constitute the inevitable framework for the situation of families as regards the satisfaction of basic needs, the availability of education and social services and the conditions governing social and political participation.

From what has just been said it can be seen not only that families living in conditions of poverty and extreme poverty are unable to fulfil the functions that are theoretically desirable and necessary for all families, but also that neither is it possible for women to enjoy human rights and their fulfilment as individual persons. Although problems exist that are common to all women in Latin American societies, the social polarization resulting from the development style in vogue obviously means that a change in the position of the women most debarred from human rights is inseparable from a change in the prevailing development style.

The overcoming of poverty and the establishment of a more equitable society necessitate changes in the power relations between social groups, directed towards a process of democratic participation.

Furthermore, the association between income distribution, political participation and specific degrees of development will influence the possibilities of organization open to the various sectors of the population and will determine many of the forms they will assume within families. In these circumstances, even with all the reservations that may be made as regards the problems of identification and definition of the various population sectors, it is relevant to consider the levels resulting from income distribution as providing sustenance for a more comprehensive analysis of the situation of Latin American families and their fulfilment.

The groupings proposed in the present study for the purposes of describing some characteristics of Latin American families are conventional approximations, and aim only establishing certain parameters whereby the study of the features in question can be approached more systematically and certain basic criteria for subsequent comparability can be determined. In accordance with

income distribution patterns such as those described, the main strata in both types of concentration styles would be the upper and upper-middle groups, which receive the top 20% of income; the middle or lower-middle groups, which obtain approximately the next 40% and contitute a somewhat vaguer category; and, lastly, the 40% below that would be the share of the popular sectors, the lowest 20% of which comprises the share of the poor.

While the living conditions of Latin American families do not in general allow them to fulfil completely the functions described above, the greater or lesser potential for doing so and the different priorities accorded to the various elements are more clearly reflected in the strata proposed.

Families in the upper or upper-middle groups have resolved the problem of satisfaction of their basic needs, in respect both of goods and of services. Situated at the summit of the income distribution structure, or immediately below it, they can count on plenty of resources and on a share of the power as a social group. In this sense, their position vis-a-vis work takes the form of a group or personal option, associated, especially in the case of women, with group ratification and acceptance. The insertion of the women from this group in the labour market is related especially to the sphere of artistic expression and to tasks that contribute to the image of the group, especially social activities. In this stratum women do not undertake domestic work directly, but supervise or manage it. There is a close interdependence between the patterns of participation of these families and their system of values and with cultural factors. They accord high priority to the personal development of the members of their family. attaching importance to higher education and to socialization with a view to forming a spirit of enterprise, not necessarily linked to instrumental factors. This stratum has access to the most comprehensive information system, which, however, is subordinated to the sanction of the group and of its values. Thus, for example, the rate of reproduction on these groups may be high as a result of their having opted in favour of the traditional concept of a numerous family. The complex structure of social services and functions in which these families lead their lives influences their affective relations, children being often brought up by people especially trained for the purpose.

The children's socialization through education is often effected in unofficial educational milieu. In the case of sons, this training increasingly tends to culminate in those professional qualifications which in each society are considered best fitted to leadership, whereas for daughters cultural education still plays an important role.

The diversity of models of family organization is very great and is consistent with the high degree of openness of these groups with regard to ideological options for social life and to the availability of material resources, as well as to values in the light of which to renovate and even periodically to replace models that are adopted as an option and not as a form of determinism or by way of imitation.

The fulfilment of family functions is different in the middle strata and much more influenced by the instrumental aspects of education. In these groups the basic aspects of the problem of the satisfaction of basic needs is resolved; nevertheless, there are differences between the types of goods and services to which they have access, and the social prestige associated with them is impor-

tant. Work, necessary in the first place as a source of income, often has to be undertaken by both members of the couple. Its social valuation and the personal rewards to be derived from it largely depend upon the country's degree of development and the professional or technical training that people have acquired. Domestic work is assigned primarily to women, who do it with or without regular or temporary help. In this stratum is grouped the highest relative percentage of housewives, engaged exclusively in domestic chores and the care of children. This category, which consists of a variety of groups differentiated in respect of material conditions and of cultural models, generally associates the socialization of children with success values, because the idea of competence is linked to the precariousness of the group's insertion in the class system. Future goals are generally envisaged in the light of a high degree of education which is not always compatible with real possibilities but offers the only hope for upward mobility or preservation of status in predominantly wage-earning sectors. These groups have access to a wide range of information which makes them more permeable to change, with the result that they more easily adopt modern urban behaviour patterns. The role of women in these families is sometimes ambivalent and contradictory. Under the pressure of necessity, they enter the world of work, keeping the home as the pivot of their personal performance. In this context, the image they have to project in each of the two worlds is different, a fact which hampers their sense of personal identity. The transmission of values to the new generations likewise varies a great deal and largely depends upon degrees of education and linkage with work.

With regard to the Latin American popular sectors, two points should be made clear beforehand: in the first place they constitute an even more heterogeneous conglomerate than the middle stratum, since they comprise, inter alia. the marginal urban population, the peasantry, indigenous groups, organized labour, and the lower middle strata. Secondly, families in this category are poorly prepared to fulfil the traditional functions, still less the new functions imposed by modern urban life. The highest —and in the majority of cases the only priority of these families is the satisfaction of basic needs. Since income is hard to lay hands on, it often happens that several members of the group are engaged in earning it, and economic insecurity prevents the organization and regular maintenance of the other family functions. The socialization of children takes place in unsatisfactory conditions, generally without sanitary or educational support or information on early childhood stimulation; relations between adults and children are limited by lack of time and by the existence of men's traditional patterns of non-intervention in the upbringing of children. The allocation of roles to girls is reflected in the adoption, especially by elder daughters, of supposedly maternal roles, and in socialization preparatory for the performance of labour roles in domestic service. Dissimilarities in the functions of these families seem associated more with their rural or urban origin and their membership of differentiated culture groups than with the quality of life or with levels of well-being.

These groups preserve, in unequal degrees, traditional values that in some cases are at variance with real-life conditions and in others are inconsistent with the educational levels attained by women and their participation in the labour market.

In marital relations hierarchical structures are maintained, based on masculine authoritarianism. The information reaching these groups is scanty and selective, the medium with the widest diffusion being basic education in countries in which it has been generalized. A feature that deserves more attention in analysis of the functions of families in the lower strata is the importance within those families of the role of women, who assume functions essential to the survival of the family in a large number of fields, despite the traditional cultural connotation of the central position of men. The pressure exerted by women in a more or less organized manner, to obtain housing, health services, infrastructure and education for their children, is of essential significance, and their participation in the labour market, whether as heads of households or as contributors of secondary income, involves them in all sorts of tasks. This role becomes even more important when there is a rise in rates of unemployment which displaces men from the labour market and more jobs in the informal sector are taken on by "secondary" members of the family. In the rural environment, women's participation is of substantive value for the household unit, and, contradictory as it may seem, the cultural passivity explicit in their norms and values has no counterpart in the real life they have to lead.

### 4. Some proposals

The concept of integrated development centring on the well-being of the population as its ultimate goal has been accompanied by methodological and instrumental quests from the prospective of various specialities for social diagnoses which will reflect this basic concern for the human being and his destiny. Similarity of thought emerges with respect to the family unit because, when viewed from this perspective it is recognized as being of key importance in the life of individual persons and of society as a whole. The proposals put forward below are aimed in this direction.

The many forms taken by family functions in the majority of the countries of the region warrant the contention that while their primary conditioning factor is their structural situation, this latter operates directly or indirectly through a set of values, beliefs, concepts and meanings which reinforce the action of socioeconomic determinants through a network of cultural phenomena by which everyday behaviour is guided. Among such phenomena special importance attaches to those which define the roles of the various members of the family, and which may consist in social and cultural practices, norms and manifestations relating to reproduction, the choice of a partner, forms of cohabitation, roles in upbringing, participation of women in the labour market, all this reflecting a definite internalized culture that structures the relationships of individual persons.

The generalization is admissible, even today, that the pivot of women's functions in families in any stratum is still their role in the family unit, encompassing, in addition to biological reproduction, responsibility for the care and upbringing of children, for domestic activities and often for the performance of a job that brings in income. On the other hand, despite the fact that the family unit continues in practice to discharge the functions of an economic unit, in

which the generation of monetary income is the special concern of the adult males and a multiplicity of roles is assigned to women, both in the family and in the community, the prestige attaching to women's domestic work is low, both from the social and from the personal point of view.

Again, it is in the home that decisions are adopted with respect to the allocation of jobs, distribution of resources and assignment of roles, indispensable for the satisfaction of basic needs. To this end, households devise specific strategies, which differ according to the socioeconomic strata in which the families belong, and whose components include unpaid work, activities outside the home, collective services and monetary income, in combinations that accord different priority to each element in the whole.

Notwithstanding the significant persistence of traditional patterns in the region, in practice signs of future change are now perceptible among the younger generations which make it a matter of urgency to prepare society for its reception. The change in the educational profile, the cultural homogeneization of the younger generations, especially in the case of women, when unaccompanied by a parallel change in social conditions, bring about situations of increasing tension and conflict in relation to the existing structure. The polarization of the labour market between the traditional sector and the modern tertiary sector; the urbanization process which will probably be completed before the end of the century, and which means that the younger generations will be predominantly urban and the fall in the birth rate due to more education and freer access to information are all factors that will mean that Latin American societies will have to confront changes which must necessarily be met with new options.

Concurrently, the structural changes that have taken place in the course of this century have crystallized in the present decade in new and more deeply-considered attitudes to childhood and its needs, with the result that concepts of affectivity, leisure, creativity have been reassessed as sanctioned human needs, and attempts have been made to seek them in order to re-establish harmony in the family unit, in which what might be termed the come-back of men is becoming increasingly visible. In these new attitudes the male whether as father or as husband, is becoming more approachable and has lost most of the authoritarianism which set him at a distance. Possibly the widespread education of women is not altogether unconnected with this change, in which the home appears as a meeting-place of equals and does not necessarily produce a permanent state of tension between subordinate and head. In this connection, it should be pointed out that when a democratizing position is adopted the more pluralist and more participative integration of autochthonous cultures, whether indigenous or black, must be a motive of concern in the formulation of policies.

If what Latin American societies want is the preservation of the family, as a central unit of society, a dispenser of affective relationships and an essential scenario for the learning of emotive behaviour, a response will have to be made to the objective needs resulting from the social and human development already achieved and to the requirements originating in the deeper cultural background of the rising generations. This means that the objective of social policies must be based on an ethical position linked to an integrated development which will

ensure equitable conditions for all the members of a society, whether men or women, or whatever the different subcultures or social strata to which they belong. This inevitably includes a search for more participative and democratic forms of society, in which there is real respect of the rights of individuals to develop as such and as members of family groups.

# II. SOCIAL PARTICIPATION OF WOMEN IN THE REGION

In the preceding chapter it has been suggested that the social performance of women is powerfully conditioned by family dynamics, both in the stem family, where socialization mainly takes place, and in the biological family. With this as a frame of reference, the aim of the present chapter is to analyse this type of social performance as influenced by family functions, in the light of three essential components: work, education and participation in organizations. These are the contexts in which individuals lead their lives and test their capacities and potential as active members of society and not mere recipients of its impacts. This is not a matter of measuring the scale of these activities, which is dealt with in the supporting documents, but rather of taking a look at their forms and contents. No attempt is made to show how much women work or whether they work or not; the aim is to inquire into where, why and how they work. It is not a matter of calculating how many women study, but of determining the priority accorded to work in their lives, its content and its projections. The basic assumption must be that in practice men and women share the social tasks of their time defined in accordance with social and cultural patterns. Rather than discussing the magnitude or volume of women's contribution, which is the object of other studies, an attempt will be made here to assess the forms assumed by their contribution in relation to that of men, their complementarity, part of their content and the values that are set upon them in Latin American societies.

The assumptions which provide general guidelines for the following pages are two in number. The first is that most aspects of the social participation of women are related to their self- identification as members of a socioeconomic stratum. The second is that the sexual differentiation and its social implications are fundamental factors in the conditioning of women's participation.

In this study the concept of social participation makes human development a process related not merely with sectoral growth, or the expansion of education or of employment, but with a global social system. In this integrated development approach, participation constitutes an inseparable component of the entire process, an essential part of the development of the individual persons that it involves.

In the Latin American setting this process varies in accordance with the degrees of modernization of societies, the types of income concentration occurring in them, the prevailing political models and the predominant cultural patterns. Thus, there will be countries in which participation will be encouraged and others in which it is discouraged or even repudiated. Where the participation of women is concerned, it is important to pause to consider the predominant values existing in society with regard to their role, in addition to the other

elements mentioned. There may be cases in which levels of participation in education or in employment are high, without this necessarily ensuring a high level of participation in organizations, owing to obstructions originating in the prevailing political model or in the internalized system of values. At the other extreme, a high degree of women's participation in specific organizations may exist concurrently with a low rate of education and of participation in society as a whole. Lastly, between these two extremes other combinations may be found.

With regard to the subjects discussed below, it is necessary to give a new slant to the guiding principles around which the analysis is structured. The question of work has been approached first from the standpoint of the significance and recognition which society awards to the work of men and women, and secondly from that of the results in terms of human resources or contribution to economic growth. In analysing the subject of education stress has been laid on its contribution to the cultural formation of individuals and to training for participation, without detriment to its formal and instrumental aspects. In approaching the topic of participation emphasis has been placed on the relation between society and the State and on the way in which the national society is reflected in the State within the framework of a prospect of increasing democratization.

## 1. Participation of women in work (87 and 219)

Women's social participation in work is dealt with here on the basis of two ideas already adduced. The first of these is that one of the axes of the distribution of tasks effected in a society is sexual differentiation. The second idea relates to the influence which the family unit exerts on the social tasks undertaken by its members, in assigning them their roles, the exercise of which is conditioned by the family's relative position in the society concerned and the characteristics of that society. In this frame of reference, the concept of work may be analysed from two standpoints: its contribution to production, or its contribution in terms of welfare. In line with the first perspective, the analysis rests on considerations relating to human resources and their use and the nature of the labour market. From the second standpoint, an attempt is made to consider the relation existing between work, its material and symbolic rewards and its results in terms of family well-being and personal achievements. Looked at from this last angle. work comprises the whole set of activities carried on by individuals in a society structured to meet their needs. These needs are reflected in survival strategies and in action directed towards obtaining social recognition, towards creation and towards self-esteem. In such a context work ceases to be a means but an end, since in this dimension it can represent a satisfaction in itself, with a significance and relevance conferred by the environment.

From this point of view, a distinction can be drawn between work oriented towards earning and income and work whose aim is to fulfil other functions, both those within the family unit that are linked to the upkeep of the home and the care of individuals, and those outside the family that are directed towards the welfare of the community. Traditionally and historically, the division of social tasks between the sexes has primarily associated housekeeping and the care of persons with women and breadwinning with men. This situation, undoubtedly linked with motherhood, but also culturally endorsed, has meant that the

behaviour of women in relation to paid work is different from that of men. In practice, the work behaviour of men is homogeneous, whereas that of women varies enormously both from one country to another and within each individual country; in normal conditions, men enter the world of paid work and do not leave it until they retire, whereas many women enter and withdraw from the labour market several times over, their paid activity being discontinuous on account of changes in their life cycle. Furthermore, women's work outside the home is often part-time, temporary or is brought to a standstill altogether, because of the need to reconcile it with domestic tasks. In very broad outline it might be maintained that the work done by women in the course of their lives falls into three basic categories: bearing children and assuming the main responsibility for their care, running their households and providing food for the household and doing some kind of paid job (see tables 1-3).

The relative position held by paid labour in women's lives and its significant relation to unpaid domestic work have important consequences when an attempt is made to quantify its contribution to society. It must be borne in mind that the traditional way of measuring work consists in assessing it in terms of its economic contribution, and in particular its quantitative aspects which it has on production, the amount of investment required, distribution by sectors of production, etc. This leaves out of account a sizeable contingent of women whose work is unpaid, as well as most of the activities undertaken in family production units and the various forms of volunteer work.

Recent advances, both analytic and conceptual, make it possible to suggest some methodological measures which might improve existing information on the work done by women and will be sketched out at the end of the chapter. But, although accurate information is not available concerning the distribution of women among the various tasks assigned to them in a society, what can be identified and analysed are the conditions in which these tasks are performed and the trend observable in the region in this respect. It is important to point out that the performance by women of paid work outside the family is conditioned in all sorts of ways. The most comprehensive determinants of their behaviour are whether modernization and urbanization came early or late to their respective countries, the degree to which their countries are developed and the main cultural factors which affect the status of women in them. These general factors affect women unequally in the various social groups, but in any event it is important to note that the behaviour of women vis-à-vis work is determined by a highly complex dynamic in which cultural factors of a general character combine with the pressures that affect changing societies, with family demands and with the way in which women adapt to external changes.

As was pointed out earlier, in a large number of Latin American countries the work behaviour of women belonging to families in the upper or upper-middle strata is as a rule especially associated with the cultural values of their group, where personal reward is concerned. In this context, the extent to which they are incorporated in the labour market will largely depend on the degree of modernization of the society concerned in relation to the sort of opportunities which it can offer. Obviously, a modern urban society will hold out a wider range of possibilities than a traditional rural society. Group sanction will allow these women to do work connected in some way with the arts, or again, more recently,

Table 1

# LATIN AMERICA: RATES OF GLOBAL PARTICIPATION BY SEX AND COUNTRY, 1950, 1960, 1970 AND 1980

(Percentages)

| i                           |                                      | 1950       |             |        | 1960  |       |       | 1970  |       |       | 1980  |       |
|-----------------------------|--------------------------------------|------------|-------------|--------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| Country                     | Total                                | Men        | Women       | Total  | Men   | Women | Total | Men   | Women | Total | Men   | Women |
| Total                       | 49.74                                | 81.02      | 18.23       | 47.49  | 77.04 | 17.84 | 45.44 | 71.65 | 19.20 | 45.58 | 70.53 | 20.59 |
| Argentina                   | 51.36                                | 79.14      | 21.71       | 50.18  | 77.69 | 21.78 | 48.36 | 72.59 | 23.98 | 48.16 | 71.28 | 25.30 |
| Bolivia                     | 71.94                                | 84.78      | 59.33       | 50.42  | 79.08 | 22.56 | 47.29 | 75.09 | 20.59 | 46.75 | 73.17 | 21.61 |
| Brazil                      | 48.41                                | 81.23      | 15.12       | 46.96  | 77.05 | 16.32 | 45.53 | 72.34 | 18.31 | 45.56 | 70.85 | 19.93 |
| Colombia                    | 48.81                                | 81.05      | 17.50       | 45.93  | 74.49 | 17.29 | 44.89 | 68.49 | 21.69 | 46.01 | 68.36 | 23.87 |
| Costa Rica                  | 49.08                                | 83.85      | 14.28       | 47.12  | 78.74 | 15.33 | 44.87 | 73.21 | 16.28 | 46.46 | 73.77 | 18.84 |
| Chile                       | 49.19                                | 77.19      | 20.06       | 45.73  | 72.73 | 19.56 | 41.66 | 66.03 | 18.07 | 42.97 | 66.92 | 19.80 |
| Ecuador                     | 49.49                                | 85.21      | 15.58       | 48.64  | 82.38 | 15.70 | 47.84 | 77.77 | 18.20 | 47.71 | 75.88 | 20.05 |
| El Salvador                 | 50.57                                | 85.19      | 16.08       | 49.15  | 81.77 | 16.56 | 47.23 | 77.12 | 17.16 | 47.15 | 75.20 | 18.82 |
| Guatemala                   | 49.37                                | 85.69      | 12.33       | 47.36  | 81.99 | 12.03 | 45.36 | 78.11 | 11.84 | 45.76 | 77.43 | 13.27 |
| Honduras                    | 49.42                                | 86.72      | 11.64       | 48.18  | 84.19 | 11.93 | 45.88 | 78.72 | 12.98 | 45.45 | 75.36 | 15.46 |
| Jamaica                     | 57.78                                | 77.03      | 39.78       | 54.09  | 72.35 | 37.92 | 50.96 | 64.77 | 38.06 | 48.20 | 59.95 | 36.49 |
| Mexico                      | 47.09                                | 82.30      | 12.13       | 45.55  | 77.83 | 13.80 | 43.29 | 71.78 | 15.05 | 43.97 | 71.41 | 16.46 |
| Nicaragua                   | 49.58                                | 85.82      | 13.83       | 48.17  | 80.79 | 16.19 | 46.29 | 75.69 | 18.30 | 47.04 | 74.56 | 20.36 |
| Panama                      | 49.31                                | 77.81      | 19.48       | 48.37  | 74.51 | 20.98 | 49.76 | 72.19 | 26.27 | 50.30 | 71.04 | 28.74 |
| Peru                        | 56.82                                | 80.16      | 34.65       | 51.54  | 73.91 | 29.72 | 47.21 | 68.14 | 26.47 | 46.72 | 69:99 | 26.80 |
| Dominican Republic          | 50.09                                | 80.35      | 17.65       | 48.97  | 76.39 | 20.54 | 47.12 | 69.63 | 24.09 | 46.49 | 68.10 | 24.52 |
| Trinidad and Tobago         | 52.03                                | 77.38      | 26.91       | 48.20  | 71.18 | 25.76 | 46.66 | 79.99 | 27.33 | 48.67 | 66.43 | 29.95 |
| Uruguay                     | 47.80                                | 73.39      | 21.74       | 47.96  | 73.39 | 22.67 | 48.21 | 71.69 | 25.28 | 47.65 | 69.73 | 26.39 |
| Venezuela                   | 49.10                                | 80.17      | 17.09       | 47.35  | 75.73 | 17.46 | 43.39 | 67.88 | 18.46 | 44.65 | 68.15 | 21.26 |
| Source: PREALC/IIO: Murcado | do Trubaio un Ciferer 1050 1090 1092 | Ceferer 10 | 201 0001 03 | 2 2 22 |       |       |       |       |       |       |       |       |

Source: PREALC/ILO: Mercado de Trabajo en Cifras: 1950-1980, 1982, p. 33.

WOMEN IN THE ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE POPULATION, BY BRANCH OF ACTIVITY, 1970-1980"

|               | Arge        | Argentina   | Brazil          | liz          | Costa Rica | Rica      | C         | Chile       | Ecuador   | lor       |
|---------------|-------------|-------------|-----------------|--------------|------------|-----------|-----------|-------------|-----------|-----------|
|               | 1970        | 1980        | 1970            | 1980         | 1970       | 1980      | 1970      | 1980        | 1970      | 1980      |
| Agriculture   |             |             |                 |              |            |           |           |             |           |           |
| and hunting   | 4.2         | 3.1         | 20.8            | 14.2         | 4.3        | 6.4       | 3.4       | 2.8         | 13.3      | 12.6      |
| quarries      | 0.1         | 0.1         | 0.1             | 0.1          | 0.1        | 0.0       | 0.3       | 0.5         | 0.1       | 0.1       |
| Manufacturing | 19.8        | 16.9        | 18.4            | 18.6         | 16.6       | 20.3      | 19.4      | 15.7        | 21.7      | 15.5      |
| Construction  | 0.3         | 0.3         | 0.1             | 0.5          | 0.2        | 0.4       | 0.2       | 0.1         | 0.2       | 0.3       |
| Electricity,  |             |             |                 |              |            |           |           |             |           |           |
| gas and water | 9.0         | 0.8         | 0.2             | 0.5          | 0.2        | 0.3       | 9.0       | 0.4         | 0.7       | 0.8       |
| Commerce      | 15.2        | 18.8        | 8.0             | 12.5         | 16.3       | 20.6      | 16.4      | 23.6        | 16.7      | 18.5      |
| Transport and |             |             |                 |              |            |           |           |             |           |           |
| storage       | 2.5         | 1.4         | 1.0             | 1.4          | 1.0        | 1.1       | 2.1       | 1.8         | 1.0       | 1.0       |
| Finance       | 3.3         | 5.1         | 1.3             | 2.8          | 1.9        | 2.2       | 1.7       | 2.8         | 1.4       | 2.5       |
| Services      | 54.0        | 53.4        | 50.1            | 49.4         | 59.4       | 48.7      | 55.9      | 52.6        | 45.0      | 48.7      |
| Total         | 100.0       | 100.0       | 100.0           | 100.0        | 100.0      | 100.0     | 100.0     | 100.0       | 100.0     | 100.0     |
|               | (2 262 476) | (2 772 669) | (6 120 402) (11 | (11 660 027) | (111 793)  | (197 069) | (616 089) | (1 035 700) | (329 031) | (479 426) |

Table 2 (conclusion)

|               | 2        | Guaremala | raraguay  | guay      | Panama    | ата       | ኟ           | reru        | ven       | Venezuela   |
|---------------|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-------------|-------------|-----------|-------------|
| •             | 1973     | 1861      | 1970      | 1982      | 1970      | 1980      | 1972        | 1981        | 1971      | 1980°       |
| Agriculture   |          |           |           |           |           |           |             |             |           |             |
| and hunting   | 7.2      | 6.7       | 14.2      | 12.0      | 7.8       | 7.9       | 20.4        | 24.9        | 3.7       | 2.6         |
| Mines and     |          |           |           |           |           |           |             |             |           |             |
| quarries      | 0.0      | 0.1       | 0.0       | 0.0       | 0.0       | 0.1       | 0.2         | 0.4         | 0.4       | 0.4         |
| Manufacturing | 21.9     | 18.8      | 28.1      | 20.8      | 10.5      | 8.5       | 17.9        | 12.0        | 14.0      | 16.2        |
| Construction  | 0.1      | 0.2       | 0.1       | 0.1       | 0.5       | 0.0       | 0.1         | 0.1         | 9.0       | 9.0         |
| Electricity,  |          |           |           |           |           |           |             |             |           |             |
| gas and water | 0.2      | 9.0       | 0.1       | 0.2       | 0.7       | 1.0       | 0.2         | 0.3         | 0.7       | 1.1         |
| Commerce      | 20.7     | 21.9      | 15.4      | 15.6      | 17.2      | 17.4      | 17.6        | 20.2        | 11.5      | 21.1        |
| Transport and |          |           |           |           |           |           |             |             |           |             |
| storage       | 0.5      | 8.0       | 0.7       | 1.2       | 2.2       | 3.7       | 0.0         | 1.3         |           | 2.1         |
| Finance       | 9.0      | 2.6       | 9.0       | 2.1       | 3.1       | 5.3       | 1.1         | 2.7         | 9.79      | 0.9         |
| Services      | 48.9     | 45.3      | 40.8      | 48.0      | 58.0      | 55.2      | 41.6        | 38.1        |           | 49.9        |
| Total         | 100.0    | 100.0     | 100.0     | 100.0     | 100.0     | 100.0     | 100.0       | 100.0       | 100.0     | 100.0       |
|               | 215 390) | (245 181) | (164 402) | (209 210) | (115 928) | (149 705) | (768 225) ( | (1 272 874) | (696 583) | (1 229 984) |

"The branches of activity are classified in accordance with ISIC 2. Account was taken of the economically active female population 10 year of age and older, and females seeking work for the first time were excluded.

"The classification by branch of activity for Venezuela in 1971 corresponds to ISIC 1. This difference in classification affects manufacturing, services and Source: ECLAC, Social Development Division, prepared on the basis of censuses corrected by the Division of Statistics and Quantitative Analysis. 'Data derived from household surveys. commerce primarily.

with certain liberal professions considered compatible with their role. The educational levels of women in these groups are high, and they are increasingly undertaking a range of non-manual occupations of superior status that have special links with the more modern sector of society. As regards unpaid work, while women supervise and are responsible for the running of their households, they seldom directly perform the corresponding tasks. They also occasionally undertake social welfare work on a volunteer basis.

The middle stratum of most Latin American societies is more heterogeneous and comprises a sizeable group of women whose only function is to do housework, with or without part-time help. In Latin America the incorporation of women from the middle strata into paid work has a special connotation, since it is associated with the very development of these groups. In this stratum the option to work, while involving elements of personal decision, is correlated on the one hand with collective perceptions of the consumption and services compatible with middle-class status, and, on the other, with the said groups' image of women in respect of culture, work performance and autonomy. This last may be interpreted as a guarantee for women that a symmetrical marital relationship can be established.

As regards the work done, there is a very pronounced concentration of the employment of women in business, in management and particularly in social and community services. Education is the leading branch of activity, and next, in proportions four or five times smaller, come health and social welfare. In the urban middle strata, women very often attain high levels of schooling, and in some countries seem better educated than men in the yound age group. As in addition their insertion in the economically active population largely takes place in services —both traditional and modern— and to a lesser extent in industrial production, the concentration of women's employment in modern tertiary activities normally means that the average educational levels of women are higher than those of men.

Table 3
ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE FEMALE POPULATION IN THE TERTIARY SECTOR, 1970-1980

| Country    | Year | Percentage | Year | Percentage |
|------------|------|------------|------|------------|
| Argentina  | 1970 | 75.0       | 1980 | 78.7       |
| Brazil     | 1970 | 60.4       | 1980 | 66.1       |
| Costa Rica | 1973 | 78.6       | 1980 | 72.6       |
| Chile      | 1970 | 76.1       | 1980 | 80.8       |
| Ecuador    | 1974 | 64.1       | 1982 | 70.7       |
| Guatemala  | 1973 | 70.7       | 1981 | 70.6       |
| Panama     | 1970 | 80.5       | 1980 | 81.6       |
| Paraguay   | 1970 | 57.5       | 1982 | 66.9       |
| Peru       | 1972 | 61.2       | 1981 | 62.3       |
| Venezuela  | 1970 | 80.6       | 1980 | 79.1       |

Source: Table 2.

The situation of women in the middle strata with respect to paid work might be summarized in terms of the following trends: first, the expansion of employment of women appears to be definitively linked to the modernization of society, since women's fields of action are to be found mainly in the social, community and professional services sector. It must be pointed out that the incorporation of women in employment in the modern social services sector has come about because these jobs are poorly paid and therefore cannot be held by those who have to contribute the bulk of the income of a family of middle-class status, as defined by the education of its members. A case in point is the feminization of the educational cadres of many countries of the region. Secondly, women's insertion in the labour market has to do with the expansion of the middle sectors and is tightly linked to the strategies established by these sectors to safeguard their position in the middle zone of the social stratification and their possibilities of climbing to higher levels. Thirdly, the insertion of women of this stratum in the labour market is directly related to their level of education. Lastly, the opportunities for paid employment open to women from this stratum are closely linked with the availability and cost of part- or full-time domestic help.

In the majority of the countries in the region, women in the low-income sector enter the labour market at an early age and in significant numbers, as part of their families' subsistence strategies. Their motivations are tied up with the earning of money, which is usually regarded as family, not personal, income. The way in which they enter employment is basically related to the degree of urbanization and modernization of the society concerned. A large number of persons in this stratum are to be found in traditional, tertiary sector occupations, especially domestic service, and as many again go in for farm work. Domestic service primarily absorbs girls and young women, between 10 and 24 years of age, normally with very low levels of education. Another services sector that provides employment for a good many women is petty commerce, which in some countries includes peddling and hawking, and in the English-speaking countries of the Caribbean includes inter-country itinerant trade. In countries with a predominantly indigenous population, another commercial activity carried out preeminently by women is the marketing of their wares.

While its size varies, the group comprising women operatives is also fo some significance in the labour market. The insertion of such women depends upon urbanization and tertiarization in a two-fold sense. It depends first upon the degree and technological level of industrial development in the country concerned, and second on the historical juncture through which industry is passing. Certain activities, such as the textile industry and the assembly of electronic products, absorb a large volume of female labour, but generally speaking, the acceleration of technological progress tends to reduce the share of manual workers in the economically active population or creates a demand for levels of specialized training of a kind which only men receive regularly.

Whether they are or are not in full- or part-time paid employment, women in the popular sectors perform unpaid domestic work. In the case of women in rural areas, such work includes subsistence farming and the home processing of food.

The proposals put forward below cover two aspects of this issue: first, the methodological problems involved in studying this issue in greater breadth and depth and some simple suggestions for approaching it; and second, some ideas concerning the future of the relationship between unpaid domestic work and paid employment.

At the methodological level, attention has been drawn to the tension existing between the necessity of obtaining information that can be broadly applied both for analytical purposes and for the formulation of policies, and the need for detailed, specific and far-reaching information on the enormous number of situations which now exist. A start has recently been made on studies in which the aim is to bring the statistical instruments used into closer contact with anthropological studies carried out in greater depth, in an effort to ensure that the instruments in general use really reflect the findings of such research. Furthermore, minimum points of contact should be established between the methods used in household surveys and in censuses so as to fill in the gaps in existing information on women's work. Although these suggestions do not in themselves resolve the problem of unpaid domestic work, a more exhaustive study of the functions and tasks which women perform in the family unit will undoubtedly make it possible to enlarge the stock of information on the subject. It will also allow new veins to be explored in the study of this topic and other widespread cultural factors associated with it since in spite of the fact that the general definition of domestic work includes elements which seem similar, the many different Latin American family structures are obviously reflected in housework. It must also be borne in mind that the cultural connotation assigned to this activity puts it in an occupational category where social recognition depends upon the status of the individual concerned rather than upon the work to be done.

As regards the future, it would seem, from what has transpired so far, that for a large majority of women, employment in a paid job does not free them from domestic work or from home responsibilities. These responsibilities, which are often regarded as part and parcel of motherhood, make the incorporation of women in the labour market either an option or an economic necessity, but seldom as yet is it viewed as a normal obligation, as in the case of men. Accordingly, it is for the time being not enough to compare the two rates of participation without also calling attention to the fact that they differ both in social and in personal terms and studying their implications. Another interesting feature of the occupational profile of women in a large number of countries is its polarization. One extreme tends to attract women from the middle or upper strata, who are highly educated and often engaged in non-manual activities; at the other extreme, are the women of the low-income sectors, with low levels of education, who are employed mainly in the traditional tertiary section of the economy or in farm work, with some working in industry. This is an indication of income concentration and of a society whose population is unevenly distributed (see table 4). In general it would seem that in every stratum women are setting an increasingly high value on paid work, as a source of social significance and self-esteem. This, in combination with the modernization of society and the expansion of educational opportunities for women, will necessarily change the way they perceive their role in the family and will slowly but surely result in a restructuring of family relationships.

Table 4

# LATIN AMERICA (16 COUNTRIES<sup>a</sup>): EMPLOYMENT STRATA BY SEX, 1970

(Percentages weighted by the economically active population of each country)

| Employment strata   | Men   | Women |
|---|-------|-------|
| Total   | 100.0 | 100.0 |
| 1. Middle and upper employment strata in secondary        |       |       |
| and tertiary occupations                                  | 18.2  | 31.8  |
| a) Employers in commerce, industry and services           | 2.3   | 1.6   |
| b) Executive personnel in commerce, industry and services | 1.7   | 1.5   |
| c) Free-lance professionals and semi-professionals        | 0.6   | 0.8   |
| d) Dependent professionals                                | 2.4   | 11.1  |
| e) Own-account commercial activities                      | 3.4   | 3.2   |
| f) Employers, salesmen and subsidiary personnel in        |       |       |
| industry, commerce and services                           | 7.8   | 13.7  |
| 2. Lower employment strata in secondary activities        | 25.5  | 15.2  |
| a) Wage-earners   | 19.8  | 8.2   |
| b) Own-account and unpaid family workers                  | 5.7   | 7.1   |
| 3. Lower employment strata in tertiary activities         | 3.9   | 27.4  |
| a) Paid workers in services                               | 3.4   | 25.5  |
| b) Own-account and unpaid family workers in services      | 0.5   | 1.8   |
| 4. Middle and upper employment strata in primary          |       |       |
| activities  | 1.1   | 0.2   |
| a) Employers in agricultural and extractive activities    | 1.1   | 0.2   |
| 5. Lower employment strata in primary and extrative       |       |       |
| activities  | 41.8  | 11.5  |
| a) Rural wage-earners                                     | 15.6  | 2.8   |
| b) Non-employing own-account workers and unpaid family    |       |       |
| workers   | 26.1  | 8.7   |
| 6. Others   | 9.5   | 14.0  |

Source: Prepared on the basis of data from ECLA/UNICEF Project on Social Stratification and Mobility in Latin America, 1960-1970, Santiago, Chile, 1975-1979, table 9; weighted by the economically active population of each country in *La educación y los problemas del empleo*, UNESCO/ECLA/UNDP Project on Development and Educación in Latin America and the Caribbean, Final report No. 3.

"Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, Costa Rica, Chile, Ecuador, El Salvador, Honduras, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Dominican Republic, Venezuela.

# 2. Participation of women in education (210 and 208)

In the past three decades education in Latin America has expanded at a significant rate, and the quantitative achievements obtained in this connection constitute perhaps the most positive indicator of an improvement in social conditions in the region.

During this period, illiteracy, which used to be predominant among adults, has tended to become residual in a number of countries, although very high

figures are still recorded in societies with the largest populations in the region and in countries where there is a considerable proportion of rural and, in particular, indigenous population. Today a primary-school education is accessible to virtually all children, but it has not yet been possible to ensure a complete cycle of basic schooling for the whole of the population. Secondary education, which was formerly the prerogative of a minority, has become the normal formative background of vast urban sectors, and, lastly, higher education, to which only an élite had access, shows enrolment figures similar to those of European countries, which is an indication that in the future the region's cultural and human resources potential will be very considerable.

Despite these strides forward, it has not yet been possible to incorporate the whole population in a minimum cycle of basic education so that in Latin America the percentage of the population with only a primary education is comparable with that of European countries in the earliest decades of the present century, while the percentage of those with a university degree is comparable with that of 10 years ago in Europe. This has resulted in inequality, failure to initiate a shared approach to socialization, the perpetuation of an unfair system of social stratification, inadequate training of mass human resources and concentration of public resources in the financing of higher studies to the detriment of basic schooling.

The educational situation in the region may be viewed in terms of different groups of countries. The first group is made up of countries where the modernization of education took place early and primary schooling is now nearly universal and appropriate levels of secondary and higher education have been achieved. The second group comprises countries in which, in the space of a few years, the levels of education experienced what might be called a "mutation" that left one sector of the population with little or no access to primary education while at the same time the number of people enrolled in the higher levels expanded, making them the countries with the highest percentage of university students in the region. The third group is characterized by very unequal levels of educational development between rural and urban areas, or in different regions within the same country, where the expansion of education has depended on the degree of economic development achieved by the region or has followed the profile of income concentration. The fourth group is characterized by integrated planning of the educational process, with strong emphasis on pre-school and basic education and on literacy programmes for the deprived sectors, and the countries in it practice a policy aimed at the equalization of society through education and subsequently at the establishment of a manpower selection mechanism geared to the economic system and its estimated manpower requirements.

In the region as a whole, and particularly in the stated policies of the countries in it, the most recent appraisals of education restore its cultural function as basic to learning on the job, stress the importance of scientific training from primary schooling to university and support the positive role of education in cultural formation, participation in democratic life and the preparation which is indispensable for membership of a modern society.

From the standpoint of society, it should be stressed that the education sector is subject to much community demand, which, in most countries, is

channelled through the power system. The population sets a very high value on education, which it regards as being the way to integrate onself into the national society and to achieve upward social mobility. An extremely positive sign in terms of social democracy is the fact that even marginal social groups feel they can gain access to the highest levels of education. But this results in an unremitting demand for education, with the material problems this produces. Demands for education stem from groups with unequal power and different ideas of what education means, and the products of a system which expands in accordance with the demands on it are as unlike as the groups making the demands. Thus, the rural and marginal urban sectors are responsible for the expansion of primary education, while, relatively speaking, more and better secondary and higher education is made available to the middle and upper strata.

The expansion of education has far exceeded the increase in the number of middle and upper-level jobs, giving rise to two interrelated phenomena: on the one hand, education as a whole has been "devalued" in that more years of education are now required to qualify for the same post. This is a universal phenomenon. However, in Latin America this devaluation of education has recently had an effect on the levels of education attained by the broad masses of the population, but not on that available to social groups which are at the top of the scale. The second phenomenon is that, aware of the democratizing pressure on education, those higher level groups are trying to restore its old élitist characteristics to education through the establishment of systems separate from the system in which the majority of the population is educated. These systems offer education from pre-school to university, and through them the members of the highest-income families receive an education qualitatively better than that available to the other groups, so that when they complete their studies, they are objectively superior (see table 5).

Two crucial problems will follow on the heels of the quantitative development of education in the future. The first is that of establishing a common basic education for the whole of the population by virtue of which it can be culturally homogenized and which contains the bases for intellectual and human development irrespective of the differences resulting from people's place of residence or their membership of stratified social groups. The second concerns a qualitative change in education. Its expansion has been accompanied by a striking decline in its quality, and in the reference period the various reforms concentrated on quantitative factors without tackling the major problem of all educational systems today, i.e., the incorporation of science in the whole cycle of schooling. This represents a serious challenge to the region at a time when the changes taking place in the developed countries call for the gradual penetration of science into production and social life.

Where the low-income sectors are concerned, the problem does not boil down to one of availability of services. The cultural model of educational systems and in particular of the primary school presupposes a homogeneous population based on the cultural values and standards of the middle and upper groups, which are those transmitted in the formal education system. This has resulted, on the one hand, in a denial of the cultural diversity of the region and, on the other hand, in the fostering of behaviour patterns which it is assumed the students will have acquired by the end of the educational process. In the past, in countries with

LATIN AMERICA (16 COUNTRIES"): EDUCATIONAL LEVELS ACCORDING TO EMPLOYMENT STRATA, BY SEX,  $1970^b$ (Percentages) Table 5

|   | No                 | No education       |                    | 1 1                | I to 3 years           |                    | 4 t                   | to 6 years             |                | 7 t            | 7 to 9 years  |                |
|---|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|------------------------|----------------|----------------|---------------|----------------|
| Employment strata   | Both<br>sexes      | Male               | Fe-<br>male        | Both               | Male                   | Fe-<br>male        | Both                  | Male                   | Fe-<br>male    | Both           | Male          | Fe-<br>male    |
| 1. Middle and upper strata in secondary and tertiary employment   | 10.13              | 11.15              | 79.6               | 99.8               | 10.12                  | 7.64               | 24.74                 | 26.31                  | 24.47          | 15.88          | 15.03         | 17.11          |
|   | 11.28              | 11.02              | 12.47              | 10.89              | 10.91                  | 11.28              | 29.26                 | 29.71                  | 24.68          | 15.09          | 14.83         | 16.19          |
| b) Executive personnel in commerce, industry and services   | 10.29              | 9.52               | 12.18              | 6.59               | 6.49                   | 6.16               | 21.58                 | 21.61                  | 21.48          | 15.79          | 16.99         | 14.99          |
| c) Free-lance professionals and semi-professional d) Dependent professionals                                    | 7.52               | 6.45               | 9.81               | 6.35               | 6.76<br>3.60           | 3.93               | 14.12                 | 12.91                  | 17.31          | 8.02<br>10.27  | 6.73<br>9.45  | 12.40          |
| e) Own-account commercial activities  | 17.40              | 16.02              | 21.11              | 20.33              | 20.27                  | 19.44              | 34.43                 | 34.90                  | 33.17          | 12.84          | 13.20         | 12.40          |
| <ul> <li>f) Employees, salesmen and subordinate<br/>personnel in industry, commerce and<br/>services</li> </ul> | 8.90               | 8.75               | 9.23               | 6.59               | 8.06                   | 3.59               | 27.42                 | 27.93                  | 25.76          | 20.51          | 20.08         | , 21.37        |
| 2. Lower strata in secondary activities a) Wage-earners   | 17.19              | <b>16.13</b> 15.60 | 21.93<br>12.44     | <b>21.90</b> 21.68 | <b>20.8</b> 4<br>22.18 | <b>18.04</b> 16.30 | <b>39.59</b> 41.22    | 37.79<br>40.63         | 37.58<br>45.85 | 12.06<br>12.50 | 10.90         | 13.34<br>15.08 |
| b) Own-account and unpaid family workers  Middle and unwar create in primary activities                         | 22.81              | 17.92              | 32.36              | 21.93              | 22.84                  | 18.93              | 35.32                 | 38.23                  | 28.86          | 11.89          | 11.59         | 11.43          |
| a) Paid workers in services b) Own-account and unmaid family  | 21.01              | 16.92              | 23.68              | 25.08              | 20.39                  | 27.32              | 35.07                 | 36.53                  | 34.17          | 9.87           | 13.40         | 7.43           |
| workers in services   | 21.02              | 17.22              | 21.43              | 23.08              | 24.25                  | 19.51              | 33.61                 | 36.20                  | 32.58          | 11.67          | 11.87         | 13.91          |
| 4. Middle and upper strata in primary activities  | 27.21              | 27.03              | 37.10              | 26.04              | 26.48                  | 18.96              | 26.20                 | 25.61                  | 22.51          | 7.48           | 8.17          | 7.06           |
| Lower strata in primary and extrative activities     A Rural wage-earners                                       | <b>43.43</b> 43.91 | <b>43.39</b> 43.76 | <b>48.77</b> 49.58 | <b>29.89</b> 29.33 | <b>30.18</b> 29.58     | <b>24.67</b> 24.43 | 18.94<br>18.90        | 1 <b>8.95</b><br>18.99 | 17.20          | 3.28<br>2.90   | 3.17 2.91     | 2.96<br>3.10   |
| b) Non-employing own-account workers<br>and unpaid family workers<br>6. Others (residual)                       | 42.83<br>23.05     | 42.58<br>22.07     | 49.99              | 29.90              | 30.32<br><b>19.35</b>  | 24.11<br>16.60     | 19.04<br><b>29.15</b> | 19.17 29.78            | 16.52          | 3.88<br>11.80  | 3.80<br>12.03 | 2.95           |

Table 5 (conclusion)

|  |                  |                 |                   |                 |                   |             |          | 1          | 1           |
|--|------------------|-----------------|-------------------|-----------------|-------------------|-------------|----------|------------|-------------|
| i  | 10               | 10 to 12 years  |                   | 13 ye           | 13 years and over |             | n<br>T   | Undeclared |             |
| Employment strata  | Both<br>sexes    | Male            | Fe-<br>male       | Both<br>sexes   | Male              | Fe-<br>male | Both     | Male       | Fe-<br>male |
| I. Middle and upper strata in secondary  | ,                |                 |                   |                 |                   |             |          |            |             |
| and tertiary employment  | 15.32            | 13.13           | 15.28             | 12.44           | 13.55             | 8.33        | 12.83    | 10.74      | 17.50       |
| s, Employers in Commerce, industry and services  | 10.53            | 10 33           | 11 27             | 10.41           | 11 00             | 777         | 1254     | 12.20      | 1626        |
| b) Executive personnel in commerce,  |                  | 000             | 7:11              | 12:01           | 20.11             | 1.7.1       | 14.74    | 12.20      | 10.34       |
|  | 15.80            | 15.59           | 16.98             | 17.08           | 18.22             | 12.41       | 12 97    | 11 58      | 15.80       |
| c) Free-lance profesionals and semi-professionals  | 9.42             | 7.62            | 15.91             | 45.93           | 53.62             | 25.06       | 8.<br>4. | 5.91       | 15.56       |
| d) Dependent professionals e) Own-account commercial   | 23.20            | 16.77           | 29.83             | 27.98           | 41.88             | 19.18       | 17.76    | 9.41       | 22.35       |
| activities   | 5.08             | 5.58            | 3.86              | 1 98            | 2.20              | 1 3.1       | 7 94     | 7 92       | 17.0        |
| f) Employees, salesman and subordinate personnel in industry, commerce   |                  |                 | }                 | )<br>}          | P<br>i            | 17:         | · ·      | 6:         | 0./1        |
| and services   | 17.75            | 16.08           | 21.32             | 6:39            | 7.24              | 4.78        | 12.44    | 11.83      | 13.95       |
| 2. Lower strata in secondary activities  | 2.40             | 6.58            | 2.42              | 0.46            | 1.93              | 0.21        | 6.40     | 5.83       | 6.48        |
| a) Wage-earners  | 2.68             | 2.58            | 2.61              | 0.45            | 0.46              | 0.29        | 5.96     | 6.58       | 7.43        |
| b) Own-account and unpaid family   |                  |                 |                   |                 |                   |             |          |            |             |
| workers  | 2.96             | 2.89            | 2.63              | 0.63            | 0.59              | 0.31        | 4.46     | 5.94       | 5.58        |
| 3. Lower strata in tertiary activities   | 1.94             | 3.67            | 1.08              | 0.48            | 1.07              | 0.16        | 9.60     | 7.77       | 97.9        |
| a) Paid workers in services  | 1.87             | 3.77            | 96:0              | 0.46            | 1.06              | 0.14        | 6.64     | 7.93       | 6.30        |
| b) Own-account and unpaid family workers in services   | 3.00             | 3.08            | 3.46              | 0.60            | 1.08              | 0.26        | 7.11     | 6 30       | 888         |
| 4. Middle and upper strata in primary  | 3                | 201             | 1                 | ì               | ,                 | i<br>c      |          | · ·        | }           |
| activities   | 2.00             | 3.81            | /.48              | 7.74            | 2.49              | 0.78        | 6.45     | 6.41       | 6.11        |
| 5. Lower strata in primary and extractive  |                  |                 |                   |                 |                   |             |          |            |             |
| activities   | 0.48             | 0.41            | 0.59              | 0.21            | 0.15              | 0.14        | 3.77     | 3.75       | 2.67        |
| a) Kural wage-earners  | 0.43             | 0.39            | 0.81              | 0.12            | 0.17              | 0.22        | 1.35     | 4.25       | 4.76        |
| b) Non-employing own-account workers   | į                |                 |                   |                 |                   |             |          |            |             |
| and unpaid family workers  | 0.52             | 0.53            | 0.51              | 0.14            | 0.15              | 60.0        | 3.69     | 3.45       | 5.83        |
| 6. Others (residual)   | 5.41             | 5.17            | 6.34              | 2.72            | 2.77              | 2.63        | 9.11     | 8.83       | 10.58       |
| Source: La educación y los problemas del empleo. UNESCO/ECLA/UNDP Project on Develonment and Educación in la rin America and the Caribbana Binal consume No. 2 | NDP Project on I | Development and | Education in Lati | America and rho | Caribbean Einel   | sange No. 2 |          |            |             |

Source: La educación y lo problema, ele empleo. UNESCO/ECLA/UNDP Project on Development and Education in Latin America and the Caribbean, Final report No. 2.

\*Argentia, Bolivia, Barti. Colombia, Costa Rica, Chile, Foundor, El Salvador, Hondrans, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Dominican Republic and Venezuela. \*100% of the universe of each stratum under "both sexes", "male" and "female" is established by adding the respective percennage ar each colorational level horizontally.

LATIN AMERICA (19 COUNTRIES); RATES OF ENROLMENT AT THE THREE LEVELS IN THE

(Percentages)

FORMAL EDUCATION SYSTEM, BY SEX, 1980

| Country                |                 | Primary<br>(first level) |         | (3)    | Secondary<br>(second level) |         | High  | Higher or university<br>(third level) | sity    |
|------------------------|-----------------|--------------------------|---------|--------|-----------------------------|---------|-------|---------------------------------------|---------|
| 7                      | Total           | Males                    | Females | Total  | Males                       | Females | Total | Males                                 | Females |
| Argentina <sup>1</sup> | 116             | 116                      | 116     | 59     | 54                          | 63      | 23.6  | 21.7                                  | 25.7    |
| Bolivia                | 77ª             | $82^a$                   | 72ª     | $16^a$ | $18^a$                      | $14^a$  | 11.92 | ÷                                     | :       |
| Brazil                 | , 29L           | 292                      | $^{2}$  | 32     | 29                          | 352     | 11.9  | :                                     | i       |
| Chile                  | 117             | 118                      | 116     | 55     | 51                          | 29      | 13.2  | 14.8                                  | 11.4    |
| Colombia               | 128             | 127                      | 130     | 46     | 43                          | 49      | 10.9  | ÷                                     | :       |
| Costa Rica             | 91ª             | $91^a$                   | $92^a$  | $40^a$ | 37ª                         | $43^a$  | 25.8  | :                                     | ÷       |
| Cuba                   | <sub>2</sub> 86 | <sub>2</sub> 86          | 62a     | 73     | 71                          | 9/      | 19.5  | 19.8                                  | 19.3    |
| Ecuador <sup>3</sup>   | 107             | 109                      | 105     | 40     | 39                          | 41      | 37.1  | :                                     | :       |
| El Salvador            | 74              | 74                       | 74      | 23     | 24                          | 23      | 3.9   | 5.3                                   | 2.4     |
| Guatemala              | 69              | 74                       | 63      | 16     | 17                          | 15      | 7.43  | ;                                     | ;       |
| Honduras               | 292             | 29 <sub>a</sub>          | 75ª     | 30     | 29                          | 30      | 8.2   | 10.2                                  | 6.2     |
| Mexico                 | 121             | 122                      | 120     | 47     | 20                          | 45      | 14.0  | 18.5                                  | 9.4     |
| Nicaragua              | 75ª             | $74^a$                   | $^{2}$  | $23^a$ | $21^a$                      | $26^a$  | 14.1  | :                                     | :       |
| Panama <sup>3</sup>    | 94ª             | $94^a$                   | 94ª     | $49^a$ | $45^a$                      | 53ª     | 22.2  | 19.6                                  | 24.9    |
| Paraguay <sup>2</sup>  | $86^a$          | 88,                      | $84^a$  | $21^a$ | $20^a$                      | $20^a$  | 7.2   | 8.1                                   | 6.3     |
| Peru                   | 112             | 116                      | 108     | 57     | 62                          | 52      | 19.0  | 24.3                                  | 13.6    |
| Dominican Republic     | 106             | :                        | :       | 40     | :                           | :       | :     | i                                     | :       |
| Uruguay                | 105             | 107                      | 104     | 28     | 54                          | 61      | 15.9  | 14.8                                  | 17.0    |
| Venezuela <sup>1</sup> | 105             | 105                      | 104     | 40     | 41                          | 38      | 20.2  | :                                     | :       |

Source: UNESCO, Statistical Yearbook, 1982.

Note: When indicated beside the name of a country, applies to all data for that country; when indicated in one of the levels columns, applies only to that level. 1981; 21978; 31979.

<sup>&</sup>quot;A net school enrolment ratio, i.e., the share of people (children or young people) in the respective age group in the total number of people in that group. It is a ratio which excludes people who enter their level of education under or over the normal age.

indigenous populations, a blind eye was turned to the fact that pupils had a mother tongue different from the official language and in all countries recognition was denied to the cultural and linguistic patterns of the low-income sectors on the grounds that they were bearers of a non-culture. Nor was any attempt made to develop pedagogies appropriate to the education of children from illiterate or culturally deficient homes, with the result that even though the population with that background has access to education, it is unable to learn and fails in the attempt.

With respect to education the situation of women is very similar to that of men, with one major qualitative difference, which consists in the fact that during the period under review, equality of educational opportunities for the two sexes was secured at the primary and secondary levels, while at the tertiary level the participation of women rose from a very low share to about 40% of enrolment in higher education (see table 6). This reflects a democratization of opportunities for the female sex of immense significance for the future. What is more, it may be asserted that the change in the cultural patterns governing relations between the sexes will certainly result from the educational changes recorded, which in the next generation will have important effects on family relationships and on the socialization of the new generations.

In some countries the education of girls at the primary and secondary levels is beginning to outstrip that of boys. Girls from the lower population strata, because of their closer linkage with their mothers, do better in learning than boys; and to this is added an anticipatory socialization of girls in rural areas who study harder because they know that migration to the cities will be on a larger scale in their case than in that of boys. Similarly, the development of women's employment in the modern tertiary sector, especially in educational and community services, has had a positive effect on the increase in the education of girls, who by this means prepare themselves for their incorporation in the labour market. Where university education is concerned, there are still barriers between the sexes. Women are channelled towards careers with a lower social status and generally a slighter scientific and technical component. This is due to the internalization of constraints imposed by society on their entry into professions from which its leaders are recruited, and also women look for occupations which are compatible with their future family roles. They are oriented towards training for wage-earning activities with limited hours of work, such as, for example, teaching.

The problem of educational content is still of outstanding importance for the full participation of women. The images transmitted are both élitist (history is presented as determined by heroes and no mention is made of popular figures and of society as a whole) and male-oriented. It is notable that in school textbooks women are depicted exclusively in the roles of wife and mother and are confined to the affective dimension, while achievement and technical skill are presented as male characteristics. It is equally true that under the educational system girls are gradually conditioned to accept the performance of their traditional role as women. Lastly, educators, who are caught up in the existing cultural pattern, encourage a spirit of enterprise in boys while in girls they reward discipline.

#### 3. Participation of women in organizations (81 and 90)

While there are as many definitions of participation as there are bodies of theory, for purposes of this chapter, the subject of participation is considered on the basis of the special links between the civil society and the State. One of the problems frequently affecting these links is the weakness of civil society, where women should participate more in the taking of essential decisions in conjunction with other social groups. The links between society and the State should go beyond decisions related to local topics, and channels should be opened up for the incorporation of groups, thereby facilitating the socialization of power with a view to forging a more intensive democracy.

This chapter is based on the following assumptions concerning the participation of women:

- a) Women do not exist as a group which interacts effectively on a continuous basis, but under certain conditions they may constitute groups in their capacity as women.
- b) Consideration should be given to the role which has always traditionally been assigned to women in the household and has isolated them from forms of participation outside that setting. Two lines of argument are based on this: i) that women were traditionally discouraged from participating because of legal restrictions, the internalization of the limited role assigned to them or other cultural, religious and educational factors, with the result that any change involves acting on those variables; and ii) that in the family environment, human values of solidarity, personal rights and priority attention to the satisfaction of basic and effective needs were maintained and developed; when women participate, these values become incorporated into macropolitics, providing a foundation on which an equitable and humane society may be constructed.

In this part of the chapter, the sole aim is to provide some examples of participation in women's organizations in the region, which seem to be of special significance in the low- and middle-income sectors.

In spite of the limited information available, there is no doubt that women are participating and have participated in social organizations, many of them as part of survival strategies of groups to which they belong, and others in ways which may appear to be extensions of their traditional roles. Any analysis of the participation of women should aim at including, as exhaustively as possible, the degree of modernization of the society in which the various groups covered are to ber found, the types of income concentration in that society, the attitude towards such participation reflected in existing political models, the predominant cultural concept of the role of women and the stratum to which the women studied belong.

Particularly important in this respect is the participation of women from that sector which receives the lowest 40% of a society's income, their membership of that sector being in actual fact responsible for their participation in organizations in that they view such participation as the key to the satisfaction of their basic needs. In the lower strata the family setting appears to be the only one in which women are active, the role of economic provider and supreme family authority being reserved for men. This means that all activities connected with the dwelling, water supply and other normal services, education, etc., are areas in

which women perform. Outside of this broad spectrum, when partial or total unemployment is experienced, it is the women in the household who obtain the family income from informal activities (domestic service, street selling, etc.), so that in spite of traditional male dominance, in the end women carry out activities necessary for the family's survival and welfare, which call for their participation in various social areas. It should be noted, in this respect, that different patterns are followed in communities with a strong indigenous culture.

According to the findings of some studies, the participation of women of the lower sectors tends to occur at the organization level, often spontaneously, in particular in cases where: i) many women with the same immediate interests meet together in their place of work or dwelling; ii) some conjunctural development occurs which aggravates the problem and causes it to be perceived collectively; iii) a framework is provided by the existence of some local organization or iv) some external motivating factor is present.

However, when women are isolated, especially because of being primarily devoted to their household or of having to work both in a paid job and at home, they are unable to take on more work or to work on a more regular basis outside their job and homes, and this normally keeps them from participating in social or political organizations which function permanently as institutions.

Economic activity does not, in and of itself, motivate women. Their associations with the labour market are more negative, even than those of the men in the same group, often because child bearing, which affects them alone, puts them in greater danger of dismissal. In addition, their professional and technical training is usually inferior to that of the men in their groups, and their situation is aggravated by the fact that heads of household in these strata are frequently women. This combination of factors makes them more accessible to wage reduction pressures and more reluctant to strike or take other action which might jeopardize their precarious economic situation.

When female workers, limited as they are by the foregoing factors, participate in labour organizations, it is usually in connection with demands made in their capacity as workers rather than as women. Women workers can be mobilized to obtain support services, such as créches, if they are politically socialized and have links with national political organizations.

Participation in organizations of housewives in the low-income sectors has been considerable in many countries of the region. It is they who normally fight to obtain infrastructure services, housing, health services, education or with a view to occupying land on which to erect makeshift dwellings. In such cases, women show considerable capacity for collective decision, which also frequently comes to the fore when they act in support of their husbands' or sons' trade union movements. In such circumstances they establish solidarity committees, take charge of catering services, arrange parades, go on hunger strikes, or, in cases of repression, band together to form human shields, sometimes enlisting members of their families in such efforts.

Just as in special circumstances they band together very readily they also disband with equal ease. Their identification with the role assigned to them and their day-to-day difficulties usually make them return to the household. According to some studies, if women belonging to low-income groups are to participate on a more regular basis, they must obtain access to certain services and basic

goods that would free them from domestic activities —assistance in the care of their children, training together with men, minimum community programmes, etc.

In the foregoing analysis, it is assumed that women participate first of all at moments of conflict and secondly when regular channels of participation are available. These two forms of participation constitute different models, the former being reflected in conflictive societies and the latter, in progressive democratic societies.

The participation of women in the middle-income sectors tends to differ considerably from that described above. Women in the housewife group normally lead their lives in isolation and have practically no opportunity for active participation. In this stratum, the very large group made up of teachers, the majority of them female, is perhaps the group which shows the greatest participation. It is traditionally active in connection with demands relating to education and working conditions at professional level. In respect of the participation of professional women, the degree of modernization of the society to which they belong and the cultural values related to their role in society are highly important, since it is basically through the channels provided by their work that they are able to participate. Another important factor, especially for those with high levels of education, is the degree of political openness of the prevailing model, since such women tend to participate relatively freely in political parties. The growing number of female middle-level and senior cadres in organizations and of female political leaders, particularly in parties which find their basic support in the middle classes, is recruited in the university professional sector.

In these groups there are also cases of participation organized on a shorter term basis to deal with events which are changing their position as a group or situations when they come up against global problems with affective causes of a personal nature. This sector plays an enormously important part in the leadership of the female cause, because it possesses the ability to take a global view of the problem of discrimination against women, the organization to act in face of the power system and the intellectual capacity to formulate plans for an egalitarian society in so far as the sexes are concerned.

Participation of women in the upper strata does not normally find expression in organizations; it is essentially different from that of the low-income groups whose sense of participation is expressed collectively, and it is mainly expressed in increased work at the artistic, information and cultural levels. A more active form of participation by women from these groups occurs in social situations where there is greater leeway than usual or results from asubjective reaction or reflects an ideological belief and often takes the form of a break with the original group in order to adopt ideologies contrary to the established order.

In short, it may be affirmed that the participation of women depends in the first place on the living conditions of the groups to which they belong, the motivation being different in each case. Accordingly, the participation of women in the lower strata is motivated by the wish to achieve improvements for their family group and must be expressed collectively. Women in the middle-income groups may be mobilized for more personal reasons related to politics or work or in support of the cause of women as such. Women in the upper groups scarcely

participate at all, tending to give more modern expression to their traditional roles instead, although small numbers of them do enter into conflict with the dominant values in their social milieu. Participation by women in their capacity as women in organizations seems to depend also, and perhaps more essentially, on their basic attitude, on the cultural values assigned to their role and on the amount of practice they have had in participation. It would in fact seem that this last factor in particular is a highly important one for women. Normally, they are given very little opportunity to participate throughout their lives; when they do join organizations, they gain new perspectives as to their own potential, and this will probably have a big impact on their subsequent activities.

In order to achieve more far-reaching changes, women should at least be imbued with the idea that no contradiction exists between their role as mothers and their role in the labour market or between the development of their identity as females and their potential for participating in decisions. The fact that doubt has always been cast on their ability to participate and the appropriateness of their participating tends to make their possibilities of participating on an equal footing with men in the taking of important decisions all the more remote. In this respect, changes are needed which, in addition to establishing objective conditions which facilitate the social performance of women, will bring about the cultural socialization of men and women, whose social roles will be reformulated on a shared and more democratic basis.

## III. THE STATE AND CENTRAL CHANNELS FOR RAISING THE STATUS OF WOMEN: PARTICIPATIVE PLANNING AND LEGISLATION (60, 126, 127, 128)

Although the major concern of this study is changes in social structure and culture (in the anthropolical sense), planning and legislation are two social areas in which change may be accelerated by means of policies aimed at promoting the actual incorporation of women in development. Although planning and legislation occur in different dimensions of the social system and do not necessarily have the same objectives, they have both been a source of concern in relation to women, and they both offer possible channels for the incorporation of women.

Planning is considered in its participative and decentralizing aspects, where primary goal is integral development within a framework of essentially democratic societies. As regards legislation, even though by its mere existence it may ipso facto alter social relationships which have taken shape down through history, it periodically results in new ordinances or in values on which new forms of behaviour are based. Thus, the consistency between international legislation and its observance in the legal systems of States will be analysed. This chapter contains a review of the latest and most important ideas on these subjects and their potential for the future within the context of the inevitable heterogeneity prevailing in the region and within the countries themselves.

#### 1. Women as a topic in planning

The idea of planning has been institutionally consolidated in Latin America in recent years, and practically all the countries have specialized bodies as an inherent part of their State apparatus. Nevertheless, although the social and political significance of planning is increasingly recognized, its role in the determination of development styles, and consequently the impact of national plans, differ considerably according to the specific political-economic models adopted by each country. Moreover, a number of difficulties have so far prevented the subject of women from being included in the context of global, regional or national development strategies and programmes. These difficulties have stemmed from the role actually played by planning in societies structured on the basis of the rules of the market and from pressures exerted by the various social sectors; the actual structure of planning bodies and policy formulation mechanisms and the role they play in a State's administrative apparatus and the scarcity of human and financial resources. Other difficulties have their origin in the type of criteria used, which tend to create a gap between the economic and social areas in order to maximize economic growth and fail to provide for a more far-reaching type of social planning in which economic, societal and cultural elements are combined.

Participatory planning constitutes an advance in this respect in that it tends to direct the development process towards social well-being. It comes into being when it is recognized that current planning models have shortcomings which are largely attributable to the fact that those models are not very representative. Such planning responds by promoting the establishment of a mechanism which offers marginal social groups greater organizational, participatory and decision-making possibilities and capacity, while at the same time bringing about geographical decentralization of the taking of decision by the actual organs of the State.

Participative planning may be of two kinds: the first of these is compensatory planning which aims at changing the social status of certain groups by means of specific programmes. This type of planning is based on the assumption that in the initial stages of implementation the social groups concerned are operating at such a great disadvantage in terms of resources and power that they are unable to rise to high levels of organization on their own, so that an additional external effort must be made to improve their levels of well-being and stimulate their ability to express their aspirations. The second kind of participatory planning has to do with the distribution or transfer of power to territorial communities either at the communal or the regional level. In recognition of the problems involved in the kind of centralization practised in the majority of the countries in the region, the process of regional planning is postulated in terms of the area concerned, which is viewed not as a statistical aggregate or an administrative district but rather as a group or sector of society capable of establishing a development project. This facilitates negotiation between the region and the central government since the region is established as having a guaranteed future and its own managerial capacity.

This position is based on the assumption that participation is a requisite for the achievement of higher levels of representativeness in the process. Since

situations vary from country to country, the basic problem with this approach to planning will in all probability revolve around distribution in that underlying the regional phenomenon there is an unequal level of economic development and compositional inequalities in terms of social stratification.

It should be borne in mind that in addition to its technical, administrative and methodological facets, the planning process has a political and social dimension within a set period of time and of varying scope, which in the initial phases is determined by a global national project or an accepted objective image. In this respect, it is suggested that a more democratic order requires that the relationship between the State and civil society should be founded on a real socialization of power. Since one of the problems of that relationship derives from the weakness of civil society, the strengthening of a process in which broader participation by all social groups is promoted will be more easily achieved when it includes, among other measures, the strengthening of civil society vis-à-vis the State and the establishment of flexible links among the social classes, accompanied by collective action in the areas of economic production and social distribution. In other words, the process requires a genuine democracy open to participation by the people for whom it is conceived and structured as a means of bringing about social changes for the benefit of the society with respect to which the participative process continues, intensifies and takes on new forms as the process gathers momentum.

Within a context such as that described above, the planning process is open to the whole of society and is linked organically with State activities and necessarily incorporates consideration of a broad spectrum of problems in the social, environmental, ecological, spatial, territorial, social welfare and quality of life areas. It is by definition a social subject, and practically no area of the social system can be unrelated to it. This requires, on the one hand, an increase in the areas of concern, which must be widely diversified, and on the other hand, a greater degree of specificity since the type of planning proposed includes concern for the physical medium in which the processes develop so that the action taken can be implemented in existing local communities.

The incorporation in the planning process of questions relating to the status and living conditions of Latin American women seems perfectly consistent within this frame of reference since these are among the questions which must be taken into consideration in connection with the problems and proposals involved in the process.

In addition to the fact that the topic of women is one which is inherently natural to the planning process at the conceptual and theoretical level, the operational forms and the various approaches advocated for this process play an important role in the analysis and promotion of their living conditions. In fact, representativeness is the crux of the problem, and it may be affirmed that proposals formulated locally in terms of a community's immediate and invisible needs are actually more likely to affect the women in the community, who are very much isolated on account of their role as traditionally defined. Basically, however, it should be noted that a decentralized approach would make it possible to consider the heterogeneity and practicalities of each area of society. This would exert pressure on women to participate in the efforts made to improve all the conditions which determine the quality of life of human settlements.

Another factor which further justifies the consideration of women within the context of a participative planning process is that the subject of women would cease to be viewed in isolation and would become interrelated and linked with other social topics, which would increase the possibilities for progress and give the subject more significance.

It is important to stress that although participative planning undoubtedly tends to strengthen the representativeness of women within the strategy of the groups to which they belong and also stimulates their capacity to participate in group interests, an analysis of the social standing of each individual in relation to other members of their group cannot be excluded. A global democratizing and participative concept of planning should bring about some changes in the cultural perception of the role of women. This does not, however, necessarily mean that these will be more extensive changes even in social situations where there is greater participation; there may be areas in which women are subordinate to the men in their groups, and this may in fact constitute an extension of their traditional role. This matter calls for specific attention in the formulation of planning measures. Finally, consideration should be given to the possible repercussions of substantially modifying the role of women in all other areas of the social system.

A final reflection may be made concerning the way in which this approach changes the task assigned to regional planners. If a concordant, or at least compatible, theoretical stance is adopted, the planner will have to deal with a far more complex situation than that traditionally perceived, which will, moreover, call for knowledge of the physical and quantitative characteristics of the places he has in mind, sensitivity in detecting and channelling needs, ability to compatibilize the various interests involved and adjustment to the fact that decisions are controlled by those they are intended to affect. Moreover, the diversity of situations which will be encountered along the way and their particular local characteristics prevent the use of time-tested formulas, so that there will probably be need for a variety of solutions and in all likelihood a number of ways of solving a single problem since a whole range of factors will be involved. A planner of the kind envisaged for this task should have a little of the researcher and a great deal of the politician in him.

Admittedly, the model proposed needs to be developed operationally in each specific case and must eventually be given a trial run for a reasonable length of time. However, the strong likelihood that it will foster integrated development of the kind in which participation is considered to be of key importance puts it in the forerun in terms of possibilities for promoting the status of Latin American women, especially those belonging to the more underprivileged groups.

#### 2. Legislation

Legislation provides a legal framework for the incorporation of women in society and for their participation. All the laws in force in a society, do not, however, necessarily reflect the real progress made in the incorporation of women in social life. Frequently this is because legislation is often prepared by jurists who act in advance of their time, and the laws which embody it are aimed

at altering a social situation which is resistant to change. This may be seen, for example, in the equality expressly assigned to women in constitutions and legal codes in respect of political participation, whereas in fact their representation in political and governing bodies is and has always been, minimal.

Furthermore, laws are still in force which are no longer in keeping either with activities which women are actively performing or with a socially acceptable image of the situations dealt with. This is especially evident in the differences observed in the status of women in various laws. In many countries their rights with respect to the family (for example, jurisdiction over the children), are limited, while their rights as individuals are equal to those of men. Thus, for example, limitations on women as citizens are practically nonexistent; officially they may vote for and be elected to the same offices as men. As regards labour, the legislation of some countries, for the stated purpose of protection give de facto responsibility for maturity to women exclusively and limit their real possibilities for work. In general, the labour limitations applied to women, which are linked expressly to maternity and personal safety, restrict their opportunities for work since although they are not objective limitations. they entail higher employment costs (créches, nurseries, etc.). That is why the claims of working women, especially those in the Latin American and Caribbean region, seldom relate to maternity, since the women are justifiably afraid of losing their jobs. It is perhaps because of this that most international resolutions involving the ratification of national legislation refer to the status of working women.

Generally speaking, legislation covering women as individuals, stimulating their participation as workers and citizens and guaranteeing them civil rights similar to those of men, has made great strides as far as equality is concerned. The crux of the problem, however, seems to lie in family legislation which has changed more gradually so that in many cases the laws in force militate against the recognition of the rights of women as individuals.

As stated above, participation of women in the region is necessarily based on their incorporation within the family, which in fact influences their incorporation in society. It is within the family that the performance of adult women is questioned and, in fact, at every stage in their life cycle, the basic daughter-father relationship tends to repeat itself. The legal incapacity attributed to married women in the legislation of most countries as regards jurisdiction over their children and purchase and sale of goods and the discrimination against them where adultery is concerned suggest that married women are still viewed as minors. The number of households which are headed by women or are based on consensual relationships indicates that these laws may be perceived as opposing the status of the independent woman both at work and in civil life, and this seems particularly clear where the women in the low-income strata are concerned.

Although changing this type of legislation will undoubtedly do nothing to alter the way in which society views the role of women, nor will it effect an immediate change in the way that role is exercised. These laws are important since legal consideration of their full capacity under law is at least a first step in the right direction. Moreover, if women are not placed under the protection of others, they will be compelled to assume their own responsibilities.

Legislation which places women under the protection of men within the family deprives women not only of the rights proper to all human beings in societies seeking equity but also of the opportunity to exercise their obligations, and the freedom of citizens to exercise their obligations is the only real indication that progress is being made towards more egalitarian societies.

Laws do not necessarily reflect reality. However, they do provide one of the supports that are needed if reality is to adapt to the changes which affect the whole of society. In this study a stress has intentionally not been laid on other questions of a legal nature; the aim has been to concentrate four basic areas: legislation as a set of laws which do not necessarily reflect reality; laws governing individuals; family legislation and the need to bring legislation governing individuals into harmony with governing the family groups of which society is composed.

#### IV. YOUNG WOMEN

Separate consideration of the group made up of young women as one of the problems related to the status of Latin American women and their integration and development is relatively new to the studies being carried out in the Secretariat. This study is intended to initiate the consideration of the significant and complex question of the status of young women as being a matter of the greatest theoretical and practical importance for the immediate future.

It is enormously important for future projections of social reality that this topic should be studied and thoroughly understood. The societies of the future will be managed by the youth of today, and although in the past the future was fairly clearly perceived as the natural extension of the present, accelerated technological progress, scientific development and problems of economic and equality mean that models of the future are now full of uncertainty, and all the more so in Latin America, where development models have not crystallized and owing to certain aspects of dependency, cannot always be used independently to project the future of the region's society. Problems relating to young women are also important in view of the need of modern societies to prepare a coherent role for the young people within them, in keeping with the future image- object, in which they are viewed in the performance of social roles, especially those facilitating the practice of participative forms of democracy. It might be affirmed that if young people participate actively and fully in the society of their countries, they will gradually develop as individuals and subsequently will play the roles expected of them in the processes of social change and the search for more equitable development styles.

In short, young people constitute a very significant age group in Latin America, and demographic trends seem to confirm that this will continue to be true, at least in the present century. In the region, this group is characterized by considerable heterogeneity, which is due, in particular to the socioeconomic strata to which its members belong (which in turn objectively determines the possibilities for integration in the social structure) and to educational and cultural factors. Although educational progress is one of the most important achievements of the last few decades, access to services and cultural links at the

school level has been unequal, thus producing a new sociocultural gap. This is reflected, for example, in the fact that in countries which have recently progressed in the field of education, one out of every five people in the 20-to-24 year age group has had university training, one is virtually illiterate, and the other three have been educated to various levels between these two extremes. While this shows a considerable rise in the number of people of cultural levels formerly reserved for the élite, it also indicates that the younger generation is polarized to an alarming extent in terms of human resources, equality and the establishment of the shared cultural codes which are indispensable for building nations and democratic systems.

This gap is particularly wide in the case of rural youth and their contemporaries in large urban centres. The lack of education of the former makes it impossible to incorporate them in the modern sector of society where progress is being made in terms both of labour and of social issues, and this is reflected in the fact that rural youth are destined for a lower place in society as a high percentage of them will be compelled to migrate to cities.

Although young women share many of the problems and characteristics common to young men, especially those in their same stratum, they also confront a number of different problems stemming from their position in society and from the way in which their social role is defined. In this respect, it might be argued that the changes affecting young women at present are greater than those affecting young men, since in addition to quantitative social and educational changes, they have to face serious and seemingly insolvable contradictions in their social role. In the past 30 years, the educational levels of women have risen more rapidly than those of men, and their position in the employment market, particularly in the urban area, has also changed more radically.

In this respect, it must be borne in mind that although the family continues to be the dominant influence in their lives, the entry of many women from the working and middle strata of the population into modern systems of education increases the gap between their parents' generation and their own, making them accessible to more comprehensive forms of socialization. Family socialization is being carried out by mothers whose level of education is much lower than that of their daughters, which creates tension between family socialization and the socialization obtained in the educational process or socialization among people of the same age. This tension is aggravated by the diffusion of a different national culture and new patterns of consumption, behaviour and creation, and all of these things tend to change the life style traditionally regarded as acceptable.

Young women in the region do not always enjoy the same status; this is due in particular to differences in the degree of urbanization achieved in the various countries, in the extent to which the structure of employment has been modernized and in levels of development; to cultural differences and to differences in the status of the groups and families in which these women live out their lives.

In addition, differences between countries have a different effect on the different strata to which the young women belong. Thus, in general, the options open to young women in the upper middle and upper strata seem to be determined by the values of the particular group to which they belong. Those

from families with more modern life styles will in all probability look further afield in seeking employment, and the education they receive is likely to be increasingly comprehensive and of higher quality, although, in terms of academic degrees, not necessarily superior to that of the men of their group. The main differences between the women in this group today and those of previous generations have to do with the type of socialization they receive and the options this gives them in terms of independence from or centrality of the domestic role. It might be assumed that access to mass means of education, broad systems of information with new value contents and the opportunity to interrelate with members of other groups may result in much innovative behaviour which can be imitated by young women from other groups.

As their level of education rises, women in the middle strata will tend to seek employment for personal satisfaction, as a freer option and also at the same professional level as men. This will give rise to conflicts owing to the more restricted growth of the employment market in many of the Latin American countries. The expansion of employment for women in this stratum has taken place largely in connection with social and community services and within the public sector. Employment in the former cannot continue to increase as rapidly as in the past, and it would seem that jobs in the public sector will be severely limited as a direct result of the reduction being imposed on public expenditure in

most countries of the region.

The new generations of women in the urban middle classes are being trained with this job market in view, and the new strata of educational young women are probably in for considerable disappointment. At the same time, young women in these groups are, like their male counterparts, molded by their academic education; the social communications media and student, religious, political and other organizations. Although some of the traditional values associated with their role are still held, young women in urban middle-class groups will have an educational profile which is similar or superior to that of the man in their group, and while this may not in itself be a determining factor in the adoption of options, there may at least be reason to expect that some of these women will exert increasing pressure to obtain employment and ensure that their status is equal to that of men. It may be assumed that there will be more conflict associated with their return to the household when they marry than in the case of previous generations, and this situation will be made more difficult by the fact that society views their central role as being within the domestic unit and sees them in terms of the centrality of their role within the domestic unit —a role which is supported by a social structure in which the whole basic responsibility for the care of children centres on the mother. In connection with the conflictive factors in the reformulation of the social role of young women, mention should be made of the diffusion of contraceptive methods, which will bring about marked changes in their sexual and reproductive behaviour, since maternity will frequently be regarded as an option rather than as the normal course to follow or as a requirement. Because of this, tremendous tension may be produced in this stratum when the family is viewed as a unit for effective fulfilment and work and participation as the areas of personal achievements.

The situation of young women in the lower sectors has its own characteristics. In the first place, since household functions are subordinated to

strategies for survival and satisfaction of basic needs, the options available have nothing to do with personal freedom. Secondly, the women in these groups bear more responsibility for the life of their family, either as heads of households or because of the contribution they make to group survival strategies, which are a big factor in determining the lives of young women. Although it may be argued that in absolute terms this group has been least affected by change, especially in the rural area, the situations which the young women in this stratum are likely to experience will be more conflictive than those faced by previous generations. This is due to the fact that, although the education they receive is limited, it is far superior to that formerly received by women of their social status; yet, despite the fact that it is achieved so painfully, it has lost some of its value owing to the high educational levels of the other social groups, with the result that the possibilities these women have of finding work are not much greater than those of the women in the preceding generation. Cultural homogenization and the generalization of cultural elements, which are not to be found in the social area. will cause severe tension among the women of these groups. The traditionalist attitude taken to the socialization of young women in the lower strata brings their values into permanent conflict with their actual living conditions. For example, from a very early age they must obtain employment, albeit in part-time or seasonal work, and this situation normally persists throughout their lives. In the course of their socialization, however, emphasis is placed on the importance of their domestic role. This obviously gives them feelings of failure to complete essential tasks and causes them to underestimate the worth of their activities; and when they have only domestic tasks to perform, they cannot do them in accordance with the theory they learned at school owing to a scarcity of material resources. In families of this type, the roles tend to be arranged in a strict hierarchy, with the males in authority; violence is often a possibility. In the performance of household tasks, the eldest daughter usually understudies her mother, both in domestic tasks and in caring for the children. The role of the elder daughters in the poorest strata has been the subject of a recent study, whose finding show how marginality is produced in family cycles.

In short the gaps between the strata noted above in respect of all their members is all the more apparent in the case of young women. It is noteworthy that the level of economic activity among young people is highest in the female sector of the labour force and that the most significant increase in the future will be attributable to young women. Thus, in the 20-24 year age group, the increase in economic activity derives almost exclusively from the increase in the rates of participation by women.

Another important factor whose significance and content differ from stratum to stratum is the increase in the number of young women entering paid labour markets. In the lower strata, in both rural and urban areas, this is due to family minimum survival strategies, while the search for paid employment by educated young women from the middle strata is probably more attributable to free choice and occurs at a later age since their opportunities for education are broader.

On the whole, however, it would seem that an increasing number of women are coming to view employment in positive terms, even in the lower strata. Some depth studies on the behaviour of families in poor urban groups indicate that although young women still do not question their natural domestic role, they have accepted paid labour as a necessary part of their lives, although their access to it is limited for family reasons, especially those relating to their obligation to care for small children.

The main factor keeping young women from participating more fully will no doubt continue to be the type of socialization received in the families of origin.

In the near future, young people will have to live in societies which are substantially different from those which now exist, and rigorous training will have to be introduced in this connection. They will also constitute one of the largest groups in the region, and this will be a group which will be characterized by variety in its socioeconomic, cultural and structural aspects. However, in addition, this group will also be characterized by new factors of differentiation which may be important in the definition of social relationships in the future. It will be a mixed group in which differences in education will derive mainly from an individual's place in the social order rather than from his sex. It is a fact that in the middle strata young women are already rising to higher educational levels than men, and, although the same cannot be said of the lower strata, this trend may gather force if men begin to join the labour market earlier.

Employment, education and cultural change (where the way in which people view their role plays an essential part) are all important when it comes to dealing with problems concerning the incorporation of young people in social life. Nevertheless, creative new solutions based on fundamental values of democracy and solidarity are urgently needed if young people are to be effectively mobilized in processes of change aimed primarily at the achievement of equality.

#### V. FINAL CONSIDERATIONS

- 1. In the last few decades, the changing status of Latin American women and their families has been one of the great transformations which have been occurring, as a result, in particular, of the urbanization process, the development of skilled employment in the services sector and a radical shift in the population profile as the education system has expanded.
- 2. In most countries this has not been accompanied by important changes in the structure of the distribution of income or power or by substantial variations in their value systems. On the other hand, this stage of transition, which differed in intensity in the various countries of the region and differed radically as between urban and rural areas was characterized by considerable dynamism although there were large gaps in the policies governing the processes involved. Undoubtedly, one of the most important adjustment variables in this period was education, conceived both as a tool for national cultural integration and participation by the population and as an effective mechanism for social mobilization.
- 3. During this period the urbanization and modernization processes have undoubtedly brought about fundamental changes in the situation of Latin American women in their families. The central role of the women has, however, remained anchored to cultural factors which restrict their possibility for social participation and confine them mainly to tasks connected with the care of their

families. In fact, no attempt to revalue the social role of women was involved in any part of the process, and although education was the major achievement where they were concerned, the role it played was one of rural-urban adaptation and vocational training, no major changes being made in relation to the socialization of sexual roles.

- 4. It should also be noted that the changes occurring in the region have not affected all women equally, although they have all promoted social mobility by providing greater access to services, education, etc. In terms of well-being and higher standards of living, however, the changes were closely associated with the countries' levels of development and income distribution pattern, the urban-rural distribution of families and socioeconomic strata to which the women affected belong. In this connection, it must be emphasized that the highest priority should be given to problems facing women and families in underprivileged groups.
- 5. It would seem that, owing to international economic problems, this model is reaching a critical phase and that it needs considerable work if it is to retain its usefulness. Basically what is needed is the political will to bring about the necessary changes through international social and economic policies to guide the countries' development on the basis of a clear view of the future. It should also be taken into account that the urbanization process tends to be completed within a short time in the region and that factors which made the society of the past few decades dynamic will soon prove inadequate. It may be postulated that the demands of the future will be concerned more with a change in income distribution, to narrow the gap between groups, and in the power structure, which has scarcely been affected in this transition period, and with a reformulation of the cultural roles assigned to men and women.
- 6. The new problems facing the region as a whole call for effective measures for the preservation of the underprivileged groups. At this level, the present recession may be used, as other recessions have been used, as a platform in support of the creation of innovative new options and solutions. It should be noted that, as part of the process of change in the region, new social groups different from the traditional ones are emerging and may project images of a fundamentally innovative society. In this context young people and women play a starring role as social agents of a transformation, which in addition to its social and economic elements, involves a large amount of cultural change as an inherent part of the processes taking place.
- 7. During the transition period factors were introduced which stimulated the participation of all women, although not all to the same extent, whereas the current barriers to the model could mean a halt or even a loss of ground in the participation of women in society, especially in view of the following four developments which are expected to occur: a) the steady decrease in employment in the modern tertiary sector will necessarily leave a large number of women unemployed; b) the elimination in a large number of countries of subsidies for basic needs will worsen the situation of families in the lower income sectors in respect of their strategies for meeting their basic needs; c) growing male unemployment, which is reflected in the growth of female employment in the informal sector, will keep families from making any economic, social and cultural progress; and d) young women, who are better

educated than those in the generations preceding them, will swell the ranks of the unemployed or be enlisted in the more traditional branches of the services sector.

8. The models for dealing with current problems and future challenges in the region should not only contain the elements of change in quantitative terms but in essence should also be very explicit with respect to the ways in which these changes should be made.

In a context of development such as that proposed, this means that new positions based on democracy and participation must be formulated. Participation should be understood as a factor inherent in the development process which basically requires the co-operation and integration of men and women from the marginal urban or rural sectors, who have usually been absent from the process. All this means raising the levels of participation of civil society in essential decision-making processes within a relationship with the State which goes beyond decisions on local matters, opens channels for the incorporation of groups and thus facilitates a socialization of power which leads to the intensification of democracy.

- 9. In such a context, the family cannot be fulfilled unless it is supported both in meeting its basic needs and rising to higher standards of living and in securing the educational and cultural training it requires in order to participate in society and to reformulate the roles assigned to its members. The family may also actually constitute the basic group responsible for orienting global policies, since it reflects the structural problems of society and may participate in the formulation of the solutions proposed.
- 10. The action needed to strengthen the social participation of women should take into consideration their newly acquired potential for participation and organization. Some measures which may be regarded as being of priority importance are indicated below, by way of example:
- a) The dissemination of the infrastructre designed to help women and families in low-income sectors to meet their basic needs, special emphasis being had on the care of pre-school children. This would not only provide freedom for women to do the work of their choice, but would help further the provision of more egalitarian and complete training for children from different socioeconomic strata.
- b) Equally high priority should be given to planning aimed at rationalizing domestic work under adequate conditions (support services such as accessible or communal laundries and cafeterias for workers and school children; proximity of home, school, work and supply centres). In this way domestic tasks would be simplified considerably, and their real cost would be more compatible with general social conditions. Additional economic costs may be incurred because of some of these measures, but these costs are within the economic capacity of most of the countries, especially if public expenditure can be redistributed between social objectives on the one hand and economic and military objectives on the other and if in the efforts to meet these social objectives, priority is assigned to the lowest income sectors, and policies are directed towards the family.
- c) Recognition of maternity as a right and a social need. Such recognition should be expressed not only by providing basic child-care support services, but also by granting postnatal leave in acknowledgement of a child's need to have his

mother, father or both close to him for as long a period as possible. The costs of assistance in early infancy are higher when such assistance is provided by institutions than when the child is cared for at home.

d) The legal guarantee of *de facto* equality between men and women in every country and the enactment of laws making it obligatory to inform and educate the population concerning the meaning of the social laws in force. Although this in itself is no guarantee that recognition of equality will really increase, it does mean that in the future ways may be found to eliminate cases of blind discrimination.

The institution of all these policies would naturally call for adjustments in social values and in the way individuals are trained, and such adjustments should begin to be made in the process of educating men and women. Consideration should be given to the fact that people now live longer as a result of improvements in preventive and curative medicine. This means that although women may say that the rearing of children is their only activity, at most only one third of their lives is devoted to it. Thus, women could be reincorporated into the job market late in life, and for this reason retraining opportunities should be open to them in various fields, or they should be given partial training even while they are raising their children.

All of this also calls for a change in the mentality of women, who should begin to view their working life as a natural phenomenon rather than as an optional accessory. If women took a more serious attitude to their paid work, couples could give more thought to complementarity in the performance of domestic tasks. Although these proposals may seem very far-fetched, this is undeniably the surest path for new generations of young women and men to follow. Nor, in such a context, does it seem unrealistic for the work day to be aligned more closely to the pace of life of the people concerned rather than being based merely on the maintenance of continuity in the production effort.

11. There can be no doubt that proposals such as those put forward here by way of illustration call both for real thought and for the application of new methodologies oriented towards the reconsideration of aspects of social development which have so far been regarded as being impossible to change. However, periods of crisis make it necessary to take a new and long-term view of the situation in order to tackle problems more effectively. The objectives sought must include the preservation of the more underprivileged groups in society and the guaranteed development of a society in which action and participation will be more comprehensive and will be couched in a framework of equality.

#### Part Two

# THE RURAL WOMAN AS A SOCIAL ACTOR OVER THE PAST 10 YEARS

#### Part Two

### THE RURAL WOMAN AS A SOCIAL ACTOR OVER THE PAST 10 YEARS

#### I. BACKGROUND

### 1. The importance of women as a topic in the international context

World concern for women in general, and more particularly for the problems confronting them in the urban and rural settings, did not begin to be noted until after the Second World War. As feminist movements in the developed countries, whose spokeswomen were urban women from medium- and high-income strata, emerged, people were made aware of the problems facing women. But it was certain situations that arose in the 1960s and 1970s that created a framework of world concern and brought women to the fore as a subject worthy of attention and concern.

The optimism which prevailed up to the 1970s was dispelled by a succession of prolonged natural catastrophes, including the droughts that brought famine to Bangladesh and the Sahel; the nutritional difficulties detected by the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) in 1962 and confirmed in 1974; the controversies on the Green Revolution, which later was to be extended to the "modernization" of agriculture as a whole, including the failure, apparent or real, of most agrarian reform experiments; the stagnation of what had been for 23 years an ever-increasing cereal production; and, finally, the oil crisis that took on the appearance of a major upheaval.

The worldwide concern engendered by these events meant that women and their situation were taken seriously, and later on special concern began to be shown for rural women. Recognizing that women constitute half the population and have presumably been ill-used as a resource, people see their participation might help to solve some of the problems that plague societies if they are "incorporated into development". Their conscious collaboration had been needed once before, when society as a whole was faced with the problem of "population explosion" and women were made the main target of the birth-control programmes directed particularly to the urban and rural low-income groups, and above all to the latter, which had the highest fertility indexes.

In this context the World Conference of International Women's Year was held in Mexico City in 1975, and subsequently the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace, was proclaimed. At the Mexico City

Conference, the main considerations on women related to the discrimination and inequalities they had suffered in the past, their margination from active life, both economic and social, and "the loss implied in the underutilization of the potential of approximately 50% of the world adult population". Consequently, it was recommended that measures should be intensified to ensure the full integration of women into the global effort in favour of development, and that support should be given to projects designed "to utilize the maximum potential and to develop the self-reliance of rural women".(170)

With regard to rural women, it was recognized that in many countries they formed a large part of the agricultural work force, and played an important role in the preparation, processing and marketing of food, so that they constituted a substantial economic resource. It was also acknowledged that their status was doubly disadvantaged because of "the rural worker's lack of technical equipment, education and training".(170) At the same time, there seemed to be the implication that industrial development had not been sufficiently dynamic to absorb this migrant labour force.

In the Regional Plan of Action for the Integration of Women into Latin American Economic and Social Development (1977), the considerations, recommendations and resolutions adopted at a more general level at the Mexico City Conference were made more specific. As regards rural women, the new element was the concern to seek ways of improving their situation, so as to restrain their emigration to the cities and the urban problems it entailed. (92) Thus, the problems caused by the rural exodus came to be of great concern.

Against this background, special attention was given to rural women. In 1977 a workshop was held in Mexico City, with the participation of ECLAC, FAO and UNICEF, on the impact of agricultural modernization on the participation of rural women. The workshop was based on the Regional Plan of Action (RPA) and on the resolutions of the United Nations Assembly (especially resolution 31/133) which give priority to the situation of impoverished rural women, and on the resolutions adopted at the nineteenth Conference of FAO, which recommended that attention should be given to the question of how to achieve the full participation of women in the adoption of decisions and the planning and execution of the Agrarian Reform and rural development. The workshop was prepared and organized with two aims in view. The first was to see how the modernization of agriculture had affected the situation of poor rural women in the different contexts of family and local circumstances. The second was to identify lines of action for incorporating women into development, once the basic needs and problems of women in low-income rural families had been ascertained and assessed.

The idea is to distinguish between different production situations that affect women: a traditional peasant subsistence sector, a transitional sector which shows the effect of modernization policies, and the agrarian reform experiments. Similarly, families are to be classified according to whether or not the head of the family migrates owing to his being hired as a wage-earning worker.

The World Conference of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace (Copenhagen, 1980) represented a great step forward in furthering the knowledge of rural problems, particularly those of women.

Among the questions addressed in the background document for the Conference, the following seems particularly important: What is the status of women in rural society and what new factors and circumstances tend to accentuate their special disadvantages? The arguments may be summarized as follows: a) Two-thirds of the women in developing countries live in rural areas; b) Rural development has been neglected in terms of low capital investment and few employment opportunities; investment in agriculture has been aimed at export and not at food production; there is little access to health, education and information; there is an obvious adverse effect of agricultural technology and an increase of peasants without land owing to its unequal distribution and the increasing pressure to acquire this resource; c) Poverty and the slow and unequal development of rural areas are factors which aggravate the particular disadvantages of women; d) Poverty and rural underdevelopment have a further negative effect in that they reinforce male domination, since in these circumstances what is involved is the unequal burden of poverty as between women and men. The conclusion reached is that what is needed is a strategy for dealing with the special problems of women in the context of the wider problems of rural poverty; underdevelopment and apathy are considered to be results of the lack of political power.

The resolutions of the Copenhagen Conference reflected the content of the background document. The importance of women in food production was recognized, and at the same time emphasis was laid on the need to increase food production at the family level. Hence it was recommended that women should be provided with the resources required for them to increase their productivity and thus ensure the supply of food for the family and the community. From this same standpoint, it was recommended that women should have access to other resources, such as instruction in appropriate technology, marketing practices, and food processing, as well as access to credit and financial mechanisms on an equal footing with men, and that they should be encouraged to take part in rural community organizations, such as co-operatives and others.

At the Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean (Mexico City, August 1983),(55) reference was made to the violence prevailing in the region as a threat to peace, and to the economic crisis which the Latin American countries were experiencing, which affects women, mainly through unemployment. It was proposed that the status of women should be examined in this context, since its improvement largely depended on the present situation's being improved.

## 2. The Latin American scene in the last three decades

The current situation of Latin American women can be better understood by referring to the main processes that have taken place in the region over the last thirty years.

Industrialization, as a response to the policy of import substitution, was one of the most important processes initiated in the 1950s. The fact of the growth of the manufacturing industry, whose share in the GDP ranged from 18

to 24%, is eloquent; the same is true of the increase in quantity and variety of exports: in 1950, 95% of these were primary products; while in 1960, the share of commodities was only 20%.(100)

After this stage there was an intensification of trade which lasted until 1974: the region raised its imports owing to the special facilities for external indebtedness, as a result of which the product has now fallen in many cases and there is serious external strangulation.

Meanwhile the population grew from 158 million to 352 million between 1950 and 1980, at a rate of 2.7% per year, one of the highest in the world. Coupled with this growth there are the well-known phenomena of urbanization and metropolitanization and the change from rural predominance (57% in 1950), to urban predominance in 1980, with 63% of the population living in urban areas. In 1950 only four countries were predominantly urban (Argentina, Chile, Uruguay and Venezuela); this now applies to 11 countries.(100)

This urbanization is reflected in the location of labour, which shows a major transfer form agricultural to non-agricultural activities. The agricultural EAP has decreased from 54% of the total EAP in 1950 to 30%, according to estimates for 1980. Since 1960, industry has not had the capacity to absorb rural migration; this explains the extent of urban poverty. The labour force has come to be concentrated in informal activities of low productivity. Thus there is a manifest narrowing of the gap between less skilled urban activities and agricultural wages which might be termed a slow but sustained transfer of rural poverty to the urban habitat.(100)

Another change that has caused important transformations in Latin American agriculture is the gradual integration of physical space. This greater integration —the result of the construction of a transport network—has made it possible to link territories that were previously isolated or had communication difficulties.

To the positive results of the industrial stage must be added the advances in basic services: electricity, gas, water, sanitation services and transport. In 1982 the share of services as a whole had risen to close on 57% of the GDP. The changes that have occurred in society as a whole, including metropolitanization and urbanization, industrialization, transnationalization, the development of financial markets and the expansion of the market economy and the consumer society present a very different picture in rural areas and agrarian structures.

The modernization of agriculture is part of the process of import substitution. Agriculture had to assume the role of providing cheap food and subsidizing industrial growth, as it were. The effects of this transformation are felt at many levels. One of the most conspicuous is the disappearance of the *latifundium-minifundium* system, the former having been replaced by more modern enterprises. The *haciendas* made changes aimed at increasing their productivity and efficiency or at dealing with the threat which the agrarian reform posed to their production systems; this brought the expulsion of resident workers and their replacement by temporary workers living outside. As regards the *minifundios*, pressure on the land, the fall in price of peasant products and the lack of permanent employment led to an increase in the poverty of the peasantry and a growing incapacity to support the family on the basis of the farm produce of the family unit. Solutions were sought in two ways, i.e., emigration or the sale of temporary labour.

#### 3. Predominant types of agricultural economies

In order to find out how these changes affect rural units and especially women, various attempts have been made to typify agricultural producer families; these will be discussed later on in this paper.

For the purposes of this study, it would seem best, for the time being, to address the problem in more general terms. We shall first define the various areas of agricultural economy and then try to describe the different types of families in each economy. For this purpose, broadly speaking, we may define three areas of agricultural economy in the region: the traditional, the modern, and the settlement economies. These are the categories that were proposed by FAO at the Round Table on Survival Strategies in Peasant Economies (Bogotá, November 1983).

#### a) The traditional agricultural economy

As a result of the changes that have occurred in the agricultural sector, there have now arisen new nuclei of *minifundistas*, semi-proletarianized peasants or families of migrant peasants. In this paper, however, this heading refers to traditional minifundia and indigenous communities, which include the different peasant strata, the internal processes of differentiation and the peasant economies.

The concern with peasant units is not new. The concept of the "peasant economy" proposed by Thorner in 1962, has been adopted officially in Latin America. The adoption of this concept, validated in particular by Chayanov, reflects a new approach to that which, in a less comprehensive way, was commonly called the family holding. The concept of the "peasant economy" emphasizes the functioning and rationality of the family holding and especially it underscores the fact that they are still valid and vital, by contrast with the schools of thought that saw the peasantry as being in process of extinction as an inevitable law of rural capitalism.

Without embarking on a polemic as to the future of the peasantry, it can be assumed that it will still be around for a long time, though in other forms, probably in the guise of rural semi-proletarians. At all events, and in terms of rural poverty and of the concern for rural women and families, it continues to be a focal point of concern in policy-making.

Thus, there has been a conceptual reassessment of the peasant economy, particularly because of what it represents in terms of: number of holdings, food production, commercial production for domestic and external markets, employed labour force and magnitude of population. It has been established that, during the 1970s, more than half the rural population (55%), that is, between 60 and 65 million persons, was composed of peasant families. Sixty-two per cent of rural households were poor households; 4.9 million families had units of under two hectares. Even so, their production supplied two-fifths of the domestic market of the region and one-third of the export market and they received 35% of the total agricultural revenue of the region.

For purposes of comparison, it should be mentioned that medium-sized farmers represented 28% of the agricultural population and obtained 43% of the agricultural income. The large landowners represented 2% of the rural

population and received 22% of the income of the sector. According to PREALC data, 35% of the agricultural labour force of the region was employed by entrepreneurial agriculture and 65% by peasant agriculture.(156)

Nevertheless, this peasant sector is developing in conditions of increasing poverty. Standardized estimates have been obtained for 12 countries, around 1980, which distinguish between rural households living in indigence and those living in poverty. In two countries, poverty extends to almost the whole of the rural population (Bolivia and Haiti); in another five (Brazil, Colombia, Honduras, Paraguay and Venezuela), it affects around two-thirds of rural households; in four (Chile, Ecuador, Jamaica and Panama) it extends to close on half the families in the rural area and in only one (Grenada), to a quarter of the population. The conditions of indigence are more serious in Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia and Panama than in the rest of the countries.(101)

Poverty has led families to devise what some call survival strategies and others, reproduction strategies. These expressions indicate the way in which the family organizes and mobilizes its resources to satisfy its basic needs and ensure the reproduction of its living conditions. In pursuing this objective, the peasant unit forms itself around the family as a unit of production and reproduction; in it, the woman plays a central role. All the members of the family are involved and the activities of each of them are related to those of the others. The internal functioning of this family unit has been conceptualized, and the fact that it acquires rationality in face of external changes has been shown. It is said that, in order to accomplish its aims, the peasant unit applies certain reproductive patterns (age of union, number and spacing of children, etc.); it develops norms on the handling of income; it handles the daily schedule of its members; it develops norms on disposal of the family income (who, how and for what), and so forth.

The studies show how the peasant unit functions on the basis of a gender-based division (or sexual division, as it has been called hitherto) of labour. The examples of a working day and of its gender-based division are numerous.

Mention has already been made of the role of peasant economies in food production and how they help supply cheap foods which have made possible urban and rural growth. Nonetheless, it must also be noted that the deterioration caused by this imbalance in the interchange of resources has provoked an economic crisis and disintegration in the peasant economies. This situation has compelled the various members of the family unit increasingly to join the labour force as semi-proletarians and proletarians; this implies, on the one hand, a subsidy to the costs of reproduction of the manpower employed by the capitalist sector, both agricultural and industrial, and, on the other hand, a weakening of the bargaining power of this sector with respect to the demands made on the State by other sectors of the population. (120) This very fact may explain in part the persistence of peasant economies, inasmuch as they are functional in the context of the production rationale of capitalist enterprises. This form of functioning has been extensively analysed in different cases of agrarian structures in the region. The following statement gives an example of what happens in semi-proletarianization: "In social terms, this phenomenon leads to the establishment of semi-proletarianization of the peasantry as the specific form

which the exploitation of the work force takes on at this stage of capitalist agrarian development... capitalists and large landowners do not want the final de-peasantization of their potential manpower, for both economic and for political reasons".(160) This has also made it possible to say that the peasant is not in a state of transition nor is he marginated from the system.

Emphasis has been placed on the importance of land to the traditional peasant economies; hence the increasing trends towards the reconcentration of farms into large *latifundia* and towards the atomization of *parcelas* imply the destruction of the traditional peasant way of life, with the disintegration of the forms of reciprocity in production and in community social organizations. (120)

It is likewise necessary to consider the particular stage at which the peasant economies find themselves within the dynamic processes of change, since this is what determines how they are articulated in the market and makes it possible to point out certain aspects pertaining to women.

The articulation of peasant economies with commercial export agriculture has worsened the situation of the food-producing peasant woman and has attracted young female workers of peasant origin to the modern agro-industrial sector, where they are hired with generally unfavourable working conditions and social benefits. The mechanization of agriculture has reduced requirements for manpower in general and for male workers in particular, but has also reduced employment opportunities of women in some situations.

Pressure on the land, the exhaustion of productive resources, and lack of local or regional employment opportunities force the population to migrate either temporarily of permanently. Young women are the first to migrate; the cohorts of 15 to 19 and 20 to 24 years of age predominate among the age groups. Their departure is in line with family strategies in which the first to leave is the eldest daughter, who sends home contributions to the upkeep of the younger children until it becomes necessary for a second or third child to leave. This process has been studied by Arizpe (1980), in a study which has become a classic in Latin America. (7) The higher proportion of female migration is shown by the figures of 100 women to every 85 men recorded in the rural-urban emigration in the region during the past three decades. (120) The intensity of the rural exodus, provoked by the lack of paid and permanent labour, violence in the countryside and the lack or inadequacy of basic services, has pulled young peasant women away from their communities without offering them adequate opportunities for social and economic integration, especially in the large cities.

The growth of poverty in the traditional peasant economy has prevented families from continuing to support elderly women, widows, and single or separated women. This situation is acknowledged in all countries where poverty is prevalent. In an ILO document published in 1981, attention is drawn to this fact in similar terms: The stereotyped concept of family solidarity is another dangerous myth. Poverty increasingly compels large families to abandon women in difficulties (widowed or separated, and women with children) who have to seek employment outside the home(1) or are reduced to begging.

#### b) The modern agricultural economy

In Latin America, the development of capitalist agriculture is concentrated in the branches of production that are associated with export markets or with domestic markets which are usually favoured by State action.

i) Main features of modernization. The transformation of the hacienda into a modern agricultural enterprise abruptly prevented the peasant unit from gaining access to land; it broke traditional ties, uprooting the peasant unit and casting it into an imperfect labour market. The cost to society of this process has been violence, disintegration and migration.

Generally speaking, capitalist agriculture is specialized and highly capitalized and operates by means of interrelated technical elements which raise labour productivity. This type of agriculture profits from public, as well as private, investment. (120)

Capitalist agriculture generates little permanent employment, using temporary labour instead. The demand for temporary manpower is confined to certain periods of the year and generates employment for short periods, the rest of the year being "dead time" as regards the demand for labour.

The modern sector uses a variety of machinery and a very high proportion of industrial inputs, causing the technological gap between modern and peasant economies to widen. There are very marked differences between both the yields and the incomes of the two types of economic organization. In addition, the technological pattern followed has increased external dependence in respect of agricultural machinery and inputs.

ii) Rural villages, new settlements for farm labour. One of the side effects of the modernization of agriculture has been the emergence of small, makeshift human settlements in river valleys, on roadsides, in small places with natural shelters or nooks in valleys, on the banks of gullies or the slopes of hills, and so forth. Some of them are inquilinos, huasipungueros, colonos and others forced to leave haciendas and latifundia. Also included in these groups are the poor of the countryside —the landless peasants, recently uprooted from areas formerly occupied by small holdings. This type of habitat includes communities made up of forest women, who constitute a unique human group in areas of timber exploitation or forestry plantations. Since the men are employed in very remote areas and are away for months at a time, it is better for the women and children to remain in rural or urban centres where means of communication are available. Landless peasants and new members of the proletariat are also settling on the periphery of villages and towns where there is a demand for agricultural manpower, generally in agroindustrial establishments. This is where the most unstable segment of the agricultural labour force (the boias frias of Brazil, as well as certain sectors of the labour force in Chile, Colombia, Ecuador and other nations) has established itself. Sometimes Andean settlements serve as bedroom communities for the labour force.

#### c) Areas of expansion of the agricultural frontier

In some countries policies promoting the expansion of the agricultural frontier through either directed or spontaneous colonization are still applied. Expansion of the agricultural frontier has been used as a means of reducing pressure on land or of spreading capitalism in the countryside by granting

concessions to national or transnational enterprises. The most notable examples of colonization at present are found in Brazil (Amazonia), Paraguay, eastern Bolivia, the mountains of Peru and the coast of Ecuador, and also in Guatemala, in Central America. Settlement as a form of modernization, strongly endorsed by the State, is very common in Brazil, particularly in the Amazon region. This area has witnessed growing penetration by large transnational and national conglomerates, and access to the land is controlled by a minority. Settlement has sharpened the contrast where exploitation and progress, semi-slavery and large-scale capital, violence and economic growth do not separate like water and oil but blend together to make possible the "cleaning up" of the frontier. (29)

In such conditions, when there are no large towns in the area being developed which is, in fact, a frontier area, there are special ways of hiring labour. On the one hand there are tenant farm systems like those used in other periods (for example on coffee plantations in Colombia in the mid-nineteenth century), as a means of tying the workers to the land by granting them a piece of land for subsistence farming. Under such a system a poor smallholder produces his own sustenance, and the enterprise concerned is able to use his labour at a very reduced cost.

In other situations, the work is done by seasonal labourers who are hired by intermediaries, such as "gatoes" or contractors; the labour of an entire family, including women and children, is covered by the contract. Data from the 1970 Agricultural Census in Brazil show that there were 2 900 000 children under 14 working in agricultural establishments; this figure represents 30% of the population between the ages of 10 and 14.(29)

Moreover, the extensiveness of the occupation of Amazonia, whose population almost trebled in three decades (from 1940 to 1970), rising from 1 400 000 to 3 600 000, indicates that an enormous number of family problems must have arisen as a result of the cultural change brought about by the technologies used, the new environment, crops, responsibilities and work both inside and outside the family unit.

In the case of unplanned settlements, peasants occupy land of their own accord, and this produces a type of settlement with the rather unstructured features of a nascent "community".

Different types of settlement create different forms of peasant economies: unplanned settlements tend to generate traditional peasant economies of a highly unstable, subsistence type; in directed settlements, the economy has a less precarious structure and develops more dynamically. As regards the treatment of domestic chores in peasant subsistence strategies, common patterns were found in the peasant economies existing in both types of settlement in respect of the enormous amount of time spent by children on household tasks (housework, preparation of food, etc.).(120)

As regards productive tasks, there are certain differences. In areas of directed settlement, women tend to take a greater part in productive labour since the more profitable crops require the intensive use of family labour and consequently of female labour, depending on the technology used. In spontaneous settlements, manual labour is used; in directed settlements, machinery is used.

The factors that influence female labour have to do with the physical conditions of the area of settlement. For example, wooded areas must be cleared

by selling trees and burning off brush; this work is labour intensive, and women play a very important part in it.

Settlements generally consist of young married or consensual couples, in which the women participate very intensively in the tasks of production up to the time when some of their tasks can be undertaken by the children.

The insecurity accompanying the process of spontaneous settlement sometimes gives rise to the establishment of disorganized family units (incomplete families). In such cases, the productive work of the women involved is necessarily very intense.

A greater amount of background data on the subject of settlement would be needed in order to give some idea of what the most outstanding problems of the future will be. This is certainly a matter on which not enough information is available, and what is available must be systematized to cover several headings, i.e., conditions of work and contracts; types of family being established and their problems; reproductive patterns; manpower and the effect on labour of the tendency to turn extensive areas over to livestock farming; the effects in some areas (in Paraguay, for example) of a rapid subdivision of the plots provided for under projects aimed at forming a medium-sized farm sector; depredation of soils due to the application of cultivation systems which require an immense amount of experience and care, such as the "clear, fell and burn" system generally practiced as a form of itinerant farming to permit the regeneration of the soil and the effects of large-scale deforestation, especially in Amazonia, known as the "green lung" of the world.

#### II. RURAL WOMEN IN LATIN AMERICA

By examining official documents of world and regional conferences, meetings, workshops and round tables (which in their turn are based on the collection and interpretation of secondary data, government documents and research and studies conducted by ECLAC),<sup>2</sup> the results of research carried out in the region and the discussion and conclusions of symposia and seminars on subjects relating specifically to rural women, it is possible to obtain a good idea of the progress made in this field and also of the gaps and errors that still persist.

So far it has been possible to make sufficient progress in the study, clarification, description and evaluation of several aspects of this problem. These include the domestic role of women or their role in the daily and generational reproduction of the labour force; the gender-based (or sexual) division of labour; the use of "time budgeting" and now of "pattern of activities" methodologies; the productive role of women in agriculture and variations on that role according to their place in society; "other" income-earning activities carried out by women; the measurement of the EAP (propounded basically as a methodological problem); the sale of labour; the role of women in the survival strategies of peasant groups; the amount and type of activities performed by women as determined by the stage they have reached in their life cycle and the social and cultural role of women in their communities.

The knowledge acquired allows us to make certain observations of a general nature. The first of these is that women have been defined as a "group of

individuals characterized by their class and by the social roles assigned to them on the basis of the biological fact of their sex". In the second place, the unit of analysis currently in use is the family unit; this means that after a variety of attempts, some clarity of thought has been achieved and a position has been taken. Thirdly, it has become necessary at this stage to disaggregate the members of peasant units according to gender,<sup>3</sup> position in the family nucleus and age, in order to study their specific contributions, needs and problems. Fourth, the topics dealt with up to now in research show a strong economic bias in that they are concerned with the productive or "economic" woman; they correspond to the stage when emphasis was placed on the participation of women since a number of documents had taken the position that their role was marginal. Fifth, in recent years there has been a qualitative change in the interpretation of the roles assigned to rural women; whereas in 1975 those roles were described as the preparation, storage and marketing of food, women are now recognized as playing a supremely important role in food production.

Despite the emphasis placed on the economic role of women and the consideration that has been given to the specific status of women, sufficient stress has not been laid on the impact on women and the family of phenomena such as the polarization of men and the migratory process which have been extensively studied at the producer level. It has not been shown why the proletarianization of men generally leads to the proletarianization of women or how the emigration of the husband or father changes the life of the women in the family and the family in general in that women become heads of households, families break down, the number of nuclear families increases and extended families decrease, there are more one-person households, fertility rates fall, and the age of union or marriage is deferred or families fail to be formed.

In addition to the conventional approach to research analysed above, there is another method which involves consciousness-raising workshops, the use of case histories or testimonies and participative research. These methods are aimed at promoting knowledge of a woman as a person (her conflicts, her perception of herself, of her roles, of her environment, of society; her needs and aspirations, etc.). Only a few results obtained by following this approach are available, and they will be analysed in due course. At this point, it can be said that it is worthwhile pursuing such research, which complements the more familiar type of research.

#### 1. Attempts to type rural women

Documents on rural women show that it is very worthwhile to study them within specific situations. They show that women are defined first of all in terms of the head of the family to which they belong, whether he is their husband, father or brother. These attempts at typing women began in 1978 at the workshop on the impact of agricultural modernization on the participation of rural women (Mexico, 1978), mentioned previously in this paper. There attention was drawn to different family situations in families with subsistence status, families characterized by temporary migration, families with a wage-earning woman in them and families headed by women whose husbands have migrated.

A 1979 study shows how different aspects of the lives of poor rural women (structural aspects, aspects relating to production, etc.) are affected by agricultural modernization. An account is given of how women live in closed peasant communities and open *mestizo* communities (in Central America in both cases), in situations linked with export production, in situations affected by urban-rural migration, in situations where capitalist agriculture prevails, in situations affected by agrarian reform and in contexts of capitalism and socialism (Cuba).(143)

Various documents produced in 1982 and 1983 represented more systematic attempts to differentiate between peasant strata. In a 1982 study, an analysis is made of different material relating to education and health indicators, migratory patterns, activities engaged in by families and family composition by age groups and strata or classes. Three classes of women are defined: the wives of agricultural wage-earners, the wives of small agricultural producers and the wives of medium-sized agricultural producers. An attempt is also made to penetrate cultural patterns through an analysis of family relationships: those of the couple on the one hand and mother-child relations on the other.

In another document issued in 1982, a similar attempt at typing, in which families (both rural and urban), are typed not only on the basis of class but also on the basis of location. Thus, a distinction is drawn between rural families, the families of the small agricultural producers, the families of seasonal wage-earners in the plantation sector, families living in the Bolivian *altiplano* and Caribbean families. (17 and 28)

Another method of classification is based on the use of census data: Poor women are classified on the basis of the point at which their residence variables (urban or rural) intersect the data showing their economic sector in the labour market (not incorporated, agricultural sector, secondary sector and tertiary sector). In this way, eight categories of rural and urban women are established. For rural women, these categories include peasant housewife and farm worker and two categories of women of rural origin working in an urban environment: indigenous vendor and domestic servant.(10)

To these categories might be added those of women in areas of settlement, either spontaneous or directed, who set up family enterprises or take up work on large haciendas or in commercial units; forest women; craftswomen and others not yet adequately typed. In other words, women may be classified according to predominant types of economy, systems of crop cultivation, activities and major geographical areas of a country, i.e., in the Andean countries, the altiplano, the sierra and the coast; in Chile, the rain-fed and the irrigated regions, the coastal mountain range and the central valley.

These attempts to type rural women show that they fit into more than one category and that not much is known concerning the different types of women to be found in concrete situations in countries and regions.

We shall now discuss the status accorded to women in peasant economies, taking internal social stratification into account. We shall then consider women in light of their main activities, i.e., crafts, selling and other activities, treating agricultural wage-earners as a special case. No study has as yet been made of women in different geographical areas within each country.

#### 2. Women in peasant units

#### a) The role of women in peasant economies: Reproduction of the labour force

Of the many roles performed by women, the one most in evidence is their domestic role, i.e., the reproduction of the labour force and the daily effort required to ensure its survival.

Progress has been made in the conceptualization and description of this function of women. It has been pointed out, in the first place, that not only is the family or family unit "the nucleus which generates and transmits the values, norms and attitudes which orient the individual and collective conduct of the members of a society" and "the mediating institution between the individual and the social group", but that, as a special unit, it is responsible for reproduction; i.e., the reproduction of the overall population is the responsibility of the family unit and of women in particular, which they fulfil through their daily domestic work.

It has also been pointed out that housework is a social act, and people have been made to see the contradiction between this fact and the contempt in which housework is held and the fact that at least some aspects of housework are not socialized.

It is evident that in different class situations, different survival strategies are brought into play which involve differences in the division of labour by sex and by age and in the participation of family members in paid economic activities. In the lowest strata, seasonal or permanent migration is practiced and children are brought into the labour market at an early age.

It has been noted that women's work is a dynamic process, in which many tasks overlap throughout the day and that this is why the work day is sometimes as long as 16 to 18 hours. Rural women work in different material conditions, often without running water or electricity, and on difficult terrain. The variety of chores performed by women is not appreciated because little value is placed on occupations which do not bring in income. This is corroborated by the women themselves who, when asked if they work invariably say "no".

In one of the aforementioned studies, it is pointed out that society assigns to domestic units the responsibility of producing, reproducing and maintaining the life of the population and to women the responsibility of operating these units, while at the same time belittling women's social role. It is also stated that the work of peasant women cannot be separated from that performed by the rest of the family since the total income of a family is regarded as resulting from the work of all its members, in both the productive and the reproductive spheres. Hence, a woman's work should be regarded as productive even though it does not generate income directly but rather enables the unit to reproduce itself.(17)

#### b) The problem of measuring a woman's work

It is now recognized that the participation of women is very important in agricultural production; however, it is difficult to assess their participation. FAO indicated in 1983 that, according to the most conservative statistics found in agricultural censuses, 19% of the women in Latin America and 54% of the women in the Caribbean participate in the agricultural labour force. (120) These two figures reflect the way the data were obtained. In the Caribbean, the persons

interviewed were questioned regarding a period of from six months to one year, while, in the rest of the region, in general they were questioned only concerning the week prior to the survey.

The problem of the underestimation of the participation of women in census data was noted as long ago as 1958 by Gertrude Bancroft. In 1981, Wainerman and Recchini de Lattes carried out a study in which they attempted to evaluate the quality of census information. (219)

There are a number of reasons why the participation of women is underestimated and relate to the way in which census questions are asked and how much encouragement is given by the inquirer and his own stereotypes concerning work. The most important problem, however, concerns the period covered by the survey. Frequently, the questionnaire relates to the week before the census, which means that the seasonality of agricultural work is not taken into account. In order to take this factor into account, the reference period should be one of 12 months. (Some countries do use relatively long periods; for example, Haiti, six months; Trinidad and Tobago, Jamaica and Barbados, one year.) Another problem with this type of measurement is the time required for a person to be regarded as active or inactive. Countries adopt different criteria in this respect.

Household surveys and demographic surveys, which are carried out on the basis of population samples, give better and more accurate information on the number of women in the EAP because the aims of such surveys are different; greater accuracy is sought and the inquirers are specifically trained. Some comparisons between the results of censuses and those of household surveys show significant differences. In Panama, the conceptual definitions of the EAP are similar in both cases; however, the census inquired only once about alternatives to economic activity and collected information relating to only one day. In the household survey people were questioned repeatedly about activities throughout the course of the year. The difference between female participation rates in the two types of measurements was over 10% and even reached 40% in some cases. The household survey conducted in Sao Paulo shows that the census underestimated the number of active women by between 14 and 33%, and the number of active men by between 2 and 6%. In Bolivia, the survey results showed between 33 and 48% more active women than the census. In the case of rural women aged between 20 and 39, this figure was higher than 50%.

More exact measurements are needed in order to visualize the participation of women correctly. If their present role in production is not adequately assessed, they may suffer serious disadvantages in, for example, agricultural programmes. Clearly, in view of the domestic and agricultural technologies available to them, rural women may be regarded as being unable to produce more, as they are fully occupied by their share of the work in household tasks and farming and by other activities to which reference will be made further on. Hence, as Marshall Wolfe said, in this context, exhortations to play a greater part in the labour force border on the ironical.(223)

#### c) The contribution of women to work in agricultural production

It is now known that women take part in most of the agricultural tasks of the peasant unit, usually those which are done manually or which require only small tools. They work mainly in clearance or weeding and in harvesting; i.e.,

Table 7

## PERU (CAJAMARCA): PARTICIPATION OF FAMILY LABOUR BY SEX AND SIZE OF HOLDING MEASURED ON THE BASIS OF THE NUMBER OF DAYS WORKED IN FARM PRODUCTION

| Type of peasants                               | Percent-<br>age of | Manpower | (percentages) | Total   |
|--|--------------------|----------|---------------|---------|
| .,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,        | units              | Female   | Male          | _ 10141 |
| Landless peasants<br>(less than 0.25 ha)       | 0.3                | 35.0     | 65.0          | 100     |
| Small holders<br>(0.25 to 3.50 ha)             | 71.3               | 26.9     | 73.1          | 100     |
| Medium-sized holders (3.51 to 30.0 ha or more) | 18.5               | 20.8     | 79.2          | 100     |

Source: C.D. Decre, La división por sexo del trabajo agrícola: un estudio de la Sierra Norte del Perú, Lima, Peru, 1978.

they break maize, cut peas and beans, dig potatoes and reap wheat. They also sow, plant nurseries, transplant and water. It is evident that women are not excluded from any type of cultivation for reasons of a cultural nature and that their participation is determined by the real need that exists on the farm for their labour. (4)

Women are kept from using heavy machinery and tools. This is due both to cultural factors and the assumptions of government and international agencies which regard projects as being the domain of men. They are also kept from using modern aids such as insecticides and fertilizers. Nor do they know anything about special farming techniques, such as pruning and grafting.

i) Participation in cultivation according to headship of household and peasant stratification. Women are heads of household in 15%, on average, of the family units in Latin America and in an average of 20% of those in Central America (with great variations within each country and from country to country. For instance, the figure is 37% in Ojopoi, a settlement area in Paraguay). Headship of household increases the amount of farming they do (which is concentrated on subsistence crops). In Colombia, coffee plantations of less than one hectare are generally managed by women, while the men in their families migrate in search of employment on plantations of between one and five hectares. Women take part in the selection and harvesting process on plantations of over five hectares, whose peasant owners are regarded as rich. The wives of the owners do not work in connection with the crop, since labour is hired for that purpose. (152)

In the *sierra* in northern Peru (Cajamarca), Carmen Deere studied the participation of family labour according to sex and size of holding. Her conclusions are shown in table 7.

In the low-income strata, 84.3% of the women surveyed were working directly on the land.(25) Deere links the volume of work done with the type of crop farmed and the use of tools. The greater the poverty, the greater the

participation in tasks which require the hoe (71.0%) and in the growing of potatoes (63%), while in the higher strata only 50% of the women use the hoe, and only 39% grow potatoes. (108) In Mexico (Oaxaca), Kate Young, working in a community which produces coffee, noted a marked difference between the work done by poor women (holdings of up to 1 ha), women from the middle strata (holdings of less than 5 ha) and rich women (holdings of more than 5 ha). The poor women worked on the family farm and sold their labour, often to pay debts for food bought by the men in the family on credit in times of famine by committing the women to work in the peak coffee growing period. In the case of peasants with medium-sized holdings (who were coffee growers), the women constituted the unpaid family labour force during coffee harvest. They also worked on the farms of relatives under a system of labour exchange. Women in the wealthy strata did no farming. They organized the workers at harvest time and worked in small family businesses (shops, mills, restaurants, etc.).(226)

During the harvest, which lasts three months, peasant women from the medium-sized holdings worked up to 17 hours a day, for 8 of which they picked coffee; the rest of the time they attended to their household chores and helped to wash, depulp, dry and sort the coffee beans.

In Chile, the participation of women in farming activities increases in the higher strata, where crops and tasks are more diverse and farms are larger. In stock-raising too, the more poultry and milk cows owned, the more work there is to be done. (4)

In addition to performing the above mentioned tasks, women in the middle and upper strata also prepare meals for hired hands; family workers and people working in payment for labour loaned under the *minga* system or working under some other type of reciprocal arrangement.

Carmen Deere noted that work in the kitchen raises women's share in the total number of days worked in farm activities by 38%.

The peak period of demand for women workers in all strata is always harvest, whether they work in the family unit or sell their labour.

ii) Participation in stock-raising. Women are generally excluded from cattle raising. Such tasks as the moving of cattle to new pastures and branding, castrating and inoculating them are regarded as men's work. On the other hand, women are responsible for the smaller animals (poultry, pigs, sheep and goats). The type of animal varies according to region and economic stratum. In Chile, for example, goats are raised in the poor sectors of the north and centre of the country; the Mapuche communities in the south raise sheep. In central Chile, peasant women raise pigs and poultry, and in the upper strata, cows. In the Andean regions of Chile, Peru and Bolivia, women herd sheep and llamas. It is their job to feed the animals or take them to pasture. They milk goats and make cheese; they spin and weave the wool from sheep and llamas; they milk cows and make cheese and butter.

## d) Other activities

In order to supplement the family income, women engage in a large number of activities in addition to their household and farm tasks. The chief of these are trade, handicrafts and the sale of services. Women usually perform two or three different activities; this has been termed "female multi-employment".

- i) Women in trade. Trade is practiced by women in many ways and involves many categories of goods. The most common form of trade is street selling although women also maintain stands in outdoor and covered markets. This type of selling is so common in the Andean countries, Mexico and some countries of Central America that it has been proposed as a special category of poor rural woman. (10) The products sold include small amounts of surplus farm produce, generally from market gardens or leftovers after the harvest of major crops; prepared meals; chicha (a beverage); eggs; poultry; meat; clothing and handicrafts. In the central sierra of Peru, 61.4% of the women devote themselves to trade.(25) In a study of four regions of Peru, Villalobos found that the main activity varies. In one case on the sierra, trade was the main activity for 44% of the women; in another case, also on the sierra, that figure was 84.5%.(216) Surprisingly little value is attached to household tasks, which are shown in second or, in cases where the men move away temporarily, even third place, which would seem to indicate that, as far as the women are concerned, housework can easily give way to another activity, according to their needs and the way their family is structured.
- ii) Craftswomen. In most of the rural sectors of Mexico and Central America, as well as in the Andean countries, handicrafts play a large part in supplementing family income. It has been said that in practically all the rural towns of less than 10 000 inhabitants in Mexico, three quarters of the population make handicrafts. Cotton cloth, fiber hammocks, embroidery for blouses and dresses and basket work are the main articles produced by craftswomen in Mexico, Central America, Colombia and Ecuador. In the Andes of Peru and Bolivia, the most common products include wool yarn, woven clothing, blankets and rugs and hats. Handicrafts become less important, in the Southern Cone and on the Atlantic coast of Latin America, the best known articles being the woolen textiles produced by the Mapuches and the crochet work found in central Chile, the textiles of Uruguay and embroidery and crochet work in Brazil.

With regard to handicrafts, opposing forces are at work. There are instances in Peru where the traditional cottage industries are said to have disappeared because of the need to produce for the market. (216) On the other hand, the introduction of some modern devises (such as mills to grind maize) has given women more free time, which they have devoted to handicrafts. In the maize growing region of Yucatán, around 70% of the women and children are producing handicrafts.

In many cases, handicrafts are marketed by middlemen and are produced at home and paid for by the piece. The earnings are minimal; it has been estimated that a craftswoman earns the same in a week as a man receives for a day's work out of town. Moreover, the incorporation of women and children into the process of obtaining a monetary income has made household economy more dependent on the market.

State intervention in various projects in order to avoid intermediation and improve prices has failed because the State lacks the financial and commercial capacity to regulate the supply of finished goods and to purchase a significant proportion of them locally.(221)

There are two types of handicrafts in terms of origin and marketing—traditional handicrafts, which are produced at the same time as household

tasks are performed, in order to supplement the family income, and modern handicrafts, the production of which becomes the primary activity, the crafts produced being sold to middlemen who turn the activity into a home industry operated on a piece-work basis, with the disadvantages pointed out by Warman.

An experiment that is being conducted in Chile suggests that the most recommendable procedure is that in which craftswomen work in what is truly their spare time and continue to regard handicrafts as a secondary activity; in which any State or non-governmental programme includes handicrafts among its projects relating to women and in which the problem of marketing is dealt with by external agents. Thus conceived, handicrafts projects could become "growth" projects for women which would enable them to acquire knowledge and training in new fields (ranging from accounting to health). At the same time, such projects would enable women to set up their own organizations, to operate in different environments and to maintain relations with the outside world through exhibitions and fairs, to mention only a few possibilities. (5)

## e) Factors which determine participation by women

The degree of participation by women in each of the activities mentioned is determined by a number of factors which have been reported on in detail elsewhere. (121) These factors are access to land and size of holding (which to some extent is apparent from the crop produced); the stage reached in the family cycle, which depends mainly on the number, sex and age of the children; family composition; the technology used and cultural conditions or what a woman "can" or "should" do under the cultural patterns which prevail.

## 3. The proletarianization of rural women

The modernization of agriculture, which results in the expulsion of peasants from old *haciendas*; the switch in some sectors to crops which are less labour intensive and the breakdown of the peasantry in areas made up of small holdings or communities have had two basic effects: migration and proletarianization. Hitherto, this process was more visible in the case of men, but it can now be said that it applies equally to women in the lower peasant strata and to women working on farms.

In general, the different systems used by capital to attach workers to the land have always included female labour, e.g., inquilinaje in Chile, concertaje or compañía in Colombia, colonato in Brazil, huasipungaje in Ecuador, as well as share-cropping contracts or labour by agreement. It is the man who is hired, but it is assumed that the arrangement includes his wife and children, especially in the case of crops that require a high seasonal intensity of labour such as coffee, tobacco, tea and cotton.

Reference has already been made to the effects on women of migration and the potential sale of male labour. Special emphasis has been placed on the situations that can arise when women are semi-proletarianized within their home (through what are termed "other activities"); when they sell their labour locally (to agroindustries, for example) and when they are proletarianized and migrate, whether or not the men in their families are also involved in these

processes. Attention has been directed to the effects of the double work day, of increased participation in agriculture, of assuming the headship of households and of migration by women. (120)

In this study reference will be made to the ways in which women earn wages in agriculture by selling their labour on an occasional basis to farms where traditional crops are grown or to establishments engaged in commercial farming or agroindustry.

## a) Semi-proletarianization on farms

Women may be hired to farm crops belonging to members of the higher strata of the peasant sector; in such cases, the situation is generally one in which a lower than legal wage is paid and family relationships are involved. The women are accompanied by their children and sometimes whole family groups are hired. The status of rural wage-earner is one of the most difficult for women to accept owing to its negative connotation in an environment where everyone is assumed to have peer or equal status as a peasant.

## b) Proletarianization on commercial farms and in packing stations

The incorporation of women into agroindustrial employment depends not only on internal factors governing the family economy but also on the capacity of the system to create jobs and absorb surplus rural labour. Male labour is usually replaced by female labour in times of crisis or when temporary help is needed because women accept less pay for the same work; both society and women themselves have always thought of women's wages as supplementing those earned by men.

On commercial farms, there is a tendency to replace male labour by female labour. In the long run, however, there is a decline in employment in respect of both sexes. As capital and technology become more important in agriculture, less labour is used, and when labour is reduced, women are the first to go. Nonetheless, in certain activities, preference is given to female labour, the result being a genuine sexual division of labour. This generally occurs in the handling of fruit (selection, packaging, binding, trimming and other jobs) and in working with flowers and vegetables for export.

In studying such women wage-earners, it would seem necessary to take into account such variables as place of residence, of both semi-proletarians who live in rural areas and farm workers who are real proletarians and live in urban areas, such as the outskirts of towns; marital status and whether or not the women concerned are mothers. Finally, consideration should be given to the differences between work in the open and the work performed in packing and processing plants.

i) Sale of labour in crop growing. The cultivation of export crops usually gives rise to a demand for female labour. In such activities as the flower industry in Colombia, fruit farming in Chile and market farming in Mexico, the women hired are very young —between 14 and 24 years of age— or middle-aged (over 35). Mothers join the wage-earning labour force when they have at least one child old enough to take care of the rest. Criteria as to the age at which children are able to do this vary, ranging from 6 (Colombia) to 12 (Chile).

Farm work, in addition to being very hard, affects women adversely because of an image problem: farm hands are very low on the peasant scale; only domestic servants rank lower.

The various jobs range in duration from two to six months. In Chile, tasks relating to fruit crops take up little time —from 20 days to slightly over 1 month per year. Several jobs are given to the same person in order to lengthen the periods of work, so that people work on average for three months and five days per year. Coffee picking may take from one to two months. In the case of coffee grown without shade, the period may be even shorter. In the case of other tasks, such as the harvesting of industrial crops in Paraguay and Brazil, whole families move for several months to the farms where these crops are grown. Generally such work is done on a piece-work basis, by the job, which makes it very exhausting.

The best example of women in paid farm labour is provided by the volantes found near Sao Paulo, Brazil. These women are urban residents and live on the periphery of the small towns in the interior of Sao Paulo. (111) Seventy-five per cent of them have a rural background, and their first job was an unpaid farm job, generally in the coffee growing sector. Sixty per cent of them went to work at the age of 12. They move from place to place depending on the need for labour. When there is no agricultural work, they hire themselves out as domestic servants in the city; in other words, they combine agricultural and urban work in order to gain a steady income throughout the year. Another type of female agricultural wage-worker is the moradora. Moradoras are still peasants and live on haciendas. More than half of them enter the labour force at the age of 11 as unpaid family workers on coffee plantations.

Over the past 30 years, the use of contractors to mobilize labour has become more widespread. The use of these middlemen weakens the link between worker and employer, exempting the latter from the payment of social benefits. Moreover, the labour force becomes very sensitive to wage variations. In the cities it becomes part of the urban labour market and its wages have to cover the cost of survival in cities which is higher than that of residing in rural areas. At the present time, children are also hired, but a minimum age limit of 14 is respected.

ii) Age at which women are hired. Enterprises hire women who are either very young or mature. In the latter case, they are hired when it is assumed that their reproductive cycle has ended, so as to reduce the costs of mandatory maternity benefits. Preference is also shown for women who either have no children or say they have none.

This entrepreneurial strategy, in which preference is shown for women who are not likely to become mothers or are apparently childless, is comparable to that of mother who wait until one of their children is old enough to be entrusted with the care of the others.

## c) Relationship between assumption of wage-labour and smaller families

It has been suggested that incompatibility between the role of mother and that of worker depends on the number, as well as the ages, of the children a woman has and that this is reflected in a reduction in the size of families. While this contention was not denied at the Round Table on Survival Strategies in

Peasant Economies, it was suggested that some activities are compatible with the duties of motherhood.

This problem was dealt with in a study conducted in Chile in which a separate analysis was made of the situation of mothers and that of women without children. The data obtained showed that the entry of mothers into the labour market had no effect either on the number of children a woman had or on how long they lived at home. It showed that 75.1% of the mothers were between 21 and 40 years of age; they had an average of three children aged between 2 and 16.5 years. These households showed high levels of fertility (with 4.9 children born alive) and a high percentage (89%) of children living at home.

This study revealed that a mother's working outside the home does not mean that she will have fewer children or that the children will be forced to migrate at an early age. On the contrary, the percentages are higher in these cases than in those of peasant households.(4)

In Suesca, Colombia, in one of the flower industries which prefer to hire women, 70% of the women hired were middle-aged (33, on average) and had an average of five children. The study carried out in the region of Sao Paulo, Brazil, showed that the families of *volantes* and *moradoras* averaged 6.5 persons.

## d) Opinions on work

Opinions vary, depending on who expresses them. First, there are the wage-earning women themselves, among whom one must distinguish between childless women and mothers; then there are women who have studied the subject, who analyse the insertion of women into wage-earning work under conditions of marked inequality.

Wage-earning women in the flower industry of Colombia believe that the advantages of their new status as wage-earners include the fact that they work on a fixed schedule (in certain tasks); that they earn a wage equal to that a man would earn in the region; that they are not at the beck and call of the mistress of a house; that they are able to run their own lives and that they can go home at the end of the day. These opinions were expressed by women formerly employed as domestic servants who are now wage-earners in the agricultural sector. (204) Mothers working in the fruit-growing industry in Chile do not like to work outside the home. They say that they work because they must, in order to buy groceries for the winter and school supplies for their children and to pay for home repairs. As many as 66.7% prefer housework; they feel as if they were letting their home go, running around all day, neglecting their children, etc. Young single women without children, on the other hand, take a positive view of their work situations. They do not mind working in packing plants, especially since they see and meet people there, earn money to buy clothes and to help out at home and contribute to the schooling of their younger brothers and sisters. However, they do not like to be "ordered about" and prefer "clean" inside jobs to farm work. The dream of all of them is to become a secretary.(4)

The specific disadvantages of wage work for women are the double work day and the failure of employers to comply with labour legislation and, on traditional farms, to pay the minimum wage. In large enterprises, the disadvantages are that they are selected on the basis of age and that employers refuse to accept pregnant women; there are no nurseries for children; sanitary services are

minimal; wage discrimination and discrimination in the assignment of tasks involving responsibility are practiced and manual dexterity is not recognized as a specialized skill.

On farms and in agroindustries, both men and women work in unfavourable conditions in so far as problems of environmental health and the provision of medical care on the job are concerned. Environmental problems are caused by such practices as heavy use of insecticides on farms and in packing plants, and the high level of noise which accompanies the work (owing, for example, to the use of pressure hammers and staplers and other tools); excessive heat in medium-sized plants because they are built with such components as zinc roofs and lack of ventilation; temperature changes between packing sheds and refrigeration areas and periods of work often lasting as long as 16 hours, which, although paid as overtime, are excessive.

The main contributor to the study of the significance of the performance of wage work by women is M. Roldan. (197) She discusses the capitalist view that it is through work that women are incorporated into development and the feminist view that work is a liberating force. Her study refers specifically to a plant for exporting vegetables in North Eastern Mexico, where more than 90 000 women work as wage-earners in temporary jobs.

Enterprises take advantage of the gender-based subordination that women have accepted as natural and use it to maintain differential profit margins; i.e., they give them the lower paid jobs. These jobs are less stable, and do not require much skill, offer no legal protection and offer little or no opportunity for promotion. In other words, according to Roldan, they are the meanest positions within a hierarchical structure of capitalist labour. The reasons for this situation have to do with qualitative differences which have already been mentioned: women are more careful, more punctual, gentler, more submissive, more efficient, more accustomed to comply and obey, all of which is the result of a social process of "invisible training", which is gender-based. Supervisory tasks are performed by men, thus transferring the division of labour found in the home and in society to the place of employment. Women are thus proletarianized, and the burden of preexistent, gender-based subordination is added to the burdens of their class situation and reinforced at work.

Nonetheless, the entry of women into the labour market marks a break with traditional norms. The receipt of an independent income helps to create a position of strength, both in the case of daughters in relation to their parents and of wives in relation to their husbands.

## 4. Income: amount, administration and destination

FAO estimates indicate that women's earnings account for 50% or more of the family income. Not only is their contribution sizeable, it is also qualitatively important.

In the first place, it has been recognized that by adding the wife's earnings to those contributed by other members of the family (e.g., children), indigence has been avoided between 9 and 15% of the time. Equally, between 20 and 35% of rural households have managed to stay above the critical poverty line thanks to this income. It should be made clear that these figures are based on low estimates.

The most important consideration in this connection is the use to which women put their money; i.e., they spend it primarily on food. Child nutrition is much more closely linked with an increase in the mother's earnings than with an increase in overall family income.(119)

## a) Income generated in the peasant unit

A very thorough report on the use and destination of earnings has been made for Peru. According to this report, after harvesting a crop, the husband and wife divide the yield into three portions —one for seed, another for sale and the third for family consumption. The latter two portions are administered by the wife. The report also states that in some cases the husband turns all his earnings over to his wife for her to administer; in other cases, she administers about half his earnings. In any case, it is clear that women play an important role both in the management of the harvest and in the income received from it.

In practice, the wife is responsible for the daily maintenance of her family group; this means she must ensure the provision of the daily meals, and to this end she dedicates all her energy. Not only must she organize her daily and weekly time in such a way that she is able to carry out the large number of tasks in her expanded domestic routine, but, if she is a trader, she must also go out to sell small quantities of produce with which to purchase odds and ends. The other activities mentioned above, such as the production of handicrafts, the preparation of meals and the sale of services, are carried out for the same purpose, as are the sale she makes at home of eggs, poultry, bred, milk and cheese. All she does is done for the purpose of subsistence and must be carried out on a grand scale if she is to achieve her goal. When, in writings about the peasantry, such women are described as being submissive, relegated to the background and outside of the life of their community, it must be borne in mind that, within their families, it is they who have the highest responsibilities.

The earnings of the women in the peasant unit are typically stable and are realized day by day. Those of the men are realized once a year, at harvest time, or two or three times a year if they sell cattle. If the husband is a temporary or migrant worker, the money will reach home when he does, or he will send remittances for the children's school supplies and for religious festivals once a year.

When the man is at home, he manages his money (i.e., the income from the harvest and the sale of animals), but the income derived from his wife's activities is for her use only. In addition to spending it on food, she allocates it to clothing for the children and to their education (enrolment fees, parent's contributions, supplies, daily transport costs, etc.).

## b) Income derived from wage-earning labour

Women earn wages for seasonal work during the harvest and processing season. These wages usually represent substantial amounts by peasant standards since they are equivalent to industrial wages and are often supplemented by overtime pay. In some regions and countries, they may be equal to or even higher than the wages earned by men, if the women must work overtime. Work in industrial plants is generally performed on the basis of a fixed number of tasks,

and extra pay is also earned for any work in excess of those tasks. Extra pay may be as high as US\$ 180 per month. Married women use this money, as described above, to ensure subsistence during the slack months of the year, especially the winter months, when belts must be tightened since there is no demand then for the labour of either men or women. With this money women buy non-perishables such as flour, sugar, tea, spaghetti and some preserves. They also allot a special amount for covering the costs of educating and clothing their children. They hardly ever buy anything for themselves.

It is interesting to note that the money earned by single women is used for the same purposes as that earned by mothers. In a very few cases, single women hand all their money over to their mother; other women keep some of it to cover their own expenses, and the rest is used for household costs and the cost of educating their younger brothers and sisters. In Mexico, single women spoke of a pool to which all the unmarried daughters contribute without their mothers' knowing exactly how much comes from each one. (226) It is agreed that this pool should be managed by the mother. Data obtained on Peru and most of the cases studied in Chile indicate that this system is also practiced in these countries. Detailed information on other countries is not available.

#### III. THE RURAL FAMILY

Several studies have referred, specifically or indirectly, to the rural family. Information drawn from these studies indicates that the rural family is being changed by a variety of factors and that there is need to bring the material available on the subject up to date and to revise stereotypes such as that of the extended family whose members marry early, have a high level of fertility and stay together for long periods, under the authority of the *paterfamilias*. Today there appears to be a trend towards an increase in the number of nuclear families and a decrease in the number of extended families, an increase in the number of one-person and incomplete families, a reduction in the number of marriages and defered marriages, a notable decline in the birth rate and an increase in the number of female heads of household, in the proletarianization of women, in the number of absentee fathers and in the instances of migration.

# 1. Nuclear families, extended families and incomplete families

As regards the predominant types of families (nuclear, extended, composite and incomplete), it seems evident that the nuclear family is predominant and is becoming more and more important.

There are, moreover, some documents of a regional nature which maintain that it is wrong to assume the prevalence of extended families. (137) Data which attest to the error of such an assumption have been brought to light simultaneously in studies carried out in Chile, Argentina, Peru, Bolivia, Colombia and Brazil. The trend away from the extended family follows a different pattern in different strata and geographical areas.

It has been observed that types of family, periods in the family cycle, the economic status of producers and regional differences are all interrelated.

In a comparison made in Chile between families of Greater Santiago and families in four rural localities in the central region, it was found that extended families were more numerous in Santiago than in the rural areas.(124)

It has been suggested that rural families with ties to the labour market tend to be nuclear families, whereas those that produce for consumption absorb labour, especially family labour, the result being composite or extended families. It appears that, when land becomes scarce on small properties and large properties no longer maintain a resident population (hiring only temporary workers), the younger members of a population tend to migrate. When a son marries, he forms his nuclear family apart from his original family. If he becomes a proletarian, his separation from the extended family is reinforced as he moves closer to labour sources. (108) In the middle and upper strata, where a stable labour force is required, men are incorporated, and extended or composite families are thus formed.

In many cases, it has become difficult to separate nuclear families from their extended family, and it has been argued that they cannot be considered as being outside the family cycle. (116, 177 and 182) New families are often formed within the original family, and when he is around 30, a son will leave with his own children, setting up a new nuclear family.

It has been observed in Mexico and Peru that a high proportion of the families in communities are extended families. Strong reciprocal relations, the *ayni* system and the practice of lending labour for housework for one's relatives and of preparing common meals all weaken the boundaries between the nuclear and the extended family. Nordaam reports that in Bolivia, when brothers inherit land, they build their houses on the same plot, with communicating rooms. They have their meals together and share the care of their children and their work, so that it can be said that family relations are of the extended family type, although the households are nuclear. (177)

The nuclear family predominates in the Andean region of Colombia (59% of the total). There are more women than men in the 25-40 year age group because of a high rate of male migration. Thirteen per cent of the nuclear households in this area are headed by women.(182)

In two public settlement projects in Paraguay, where the aim was to establish an agricultural sector made up of medium-sized farm owners, the plots began to be subdivided when their original owners passed them on to their progeny. New families were formed on the same farms, but as far as the work is concerned, they have continued to act in conjunction with the original family, exchanging labour under the *minga* and mutual aid systems. When men who form new families are forced to migrate in order to survive, they usually send their children to be cared for by their grand parents, thereby converting the original families into extended families. A third of the families in these settlements are of this type.(120)

In connection with the relevance of regional variations to types of family, marked differences have also been noted in Bolivia. Nuclear families are found above all in the rural areas of the *altiplano*, where the percentage of composite households is very low. What is happening is that family members are being forced to leave the area since land is being subdivided to such an extent that the redistribution of poverty has resulted in the relocation of some of the area's

young people in the monetarized labour market.(177) In the tropical plains, where commercial farming is practiced and settlement areas exist, there is a low percentage of nuclear households and a larger number of composite households; this reflects a greater capacity to absorb labour and establish communities of labourers.

Campaña also observed that in Peru poor families living on the *sierra* are structured in the nuclear family mode.(25)

Ordóñez observed the same predominance of the nuclear family in Colombia but also found marked regional variations. The lowest percentage of nuclear families is found on the Atlantic coast; this is due to the type of land occupation, which is based on an itinerant form of agriculture which entails long absences for the men, thereby creating unstable relationships. Family stability depends on the women; they establish families after living in free unions and are supported by community mechanisms, which are often confused with the extended family.(182)

Extended families constitute a third of the families in Colombia but are also unequally distributed regionally.

In almost all known cases, differences were also found within the various regions or areas. Two examples will suffice. In Chile, a study conducted in a valley showed a predominance of nuclear families and old families. (4) However, the distribution of this type of family varied according to strata. In the rural semi-proletarian group (group I), nuclear families were as prevalent as incomplete families, but as a regards age there was an absolute predominance (82.9%) of young families. Among the poor peasant (group II), incomplete families were predominant; unlike the families in group I, they were mainly old families. In group III (peasants as such), young nuclear families predominated, followed by extended and composite families. In group IV (peasants in the middle level), nuclear families were in the majority, followed by incomplete families, with old families predominating. In El Espinal, in Colombia, a clear correlation was found between peasant stratum and family type. In the lowest strata (I and II), the nuclear family predominated, with the extended family in second place. In stratum III, the extended family, including domestic servants, predominated. Generally speaking, the nuclear family appears to be predominant in areas of subproletarianization and proletarianization.

It should be noted that there is a high frequency of incomplete families (not based on the couple relationship). These families consist of single brothers and sisters who live together, or unmarried adult children who live with a widow parent, generally the mother. In one case study in Chile, the single state was related to size of holding, and it was found that 41.7% of single men were owners of less than 2.5 hectares of land; in other words, they belonged to the proletarian and poor peasant strata. It would thus seem that, among those interviewed, failure to form a new family is mainly explained by a low economic level.(4)

Another fact worthy of note is the incidence of one-person families in some countries. In a study conducted in Chile, a comparison was made between Santiago and four rural areas. It was found that the percentage of one-person family households was twice as high in the rural communities as in Greater Santiago and that the number of persons who do not form new families was

higher in rural families.(124) This was also found to be true in Peru and Bolivia. In the latter country, 17% of the families studied were one-person families.

Note was also taken of young couples with long established relationships who continued to live separately in the homes of their parents. In many such cases, one or two children had been born of these relationships, but not even this had induced such couples to live together under the same roof.

In the Andean *sierra*, a unique situation has been noted: (25 and 177) the maintenance of *dual residences* by married men from agricultural communities. Because they work outside the area from which they come, men leave their homes and families and live in a second home near their place of work. The older children usually go to their father's second home to attend school, while their mother remains behind and is in charge of her own sustenance and that of the couple's younger children.

Finally, there appears to be a general tendency in all countries to defer the age at which both men and women form unions. The deferment of unions has been associated with the changing expectations of agricultural wage-earners and with the achievement of higher levels of education (Brazil, Mexico, Chile, Colombia). Widespread impoverishment is another factor since, when a couple cannot live in their parent's home, it becomes necessary to have a steady job or two seasonal jobs in order to form a family.

## 2. Headship of households

In considering the constitution of families, it is important to take the headship of households by women into account. The frequency with which women head households depends directly on the degree to which married men leave their village or community to look for work outside. In such cases, men tend to be away longer than in cases when they are hired for seasonal agricultural jobs. Here we are referring to cases where men are employed as miners, builders or labourers in public works or manufacturing, etc., and their wives become de facto heads of household and must bear all the material and emotional responsibilities toward their children that this entails, while at the same time enduring all the other hardships of having an absentee husband.

Another type of headship of household by women occurs in free, consensual unions or in unstable concubinage relationships (Colombia, Paraguay, Brazil, Jamaica and Central America in general). Sometimes various unions of this type occur in succession, and the children from them are the sole responsibility of the women. In such cases, women generally become proletarianized, performing various activities during the year; in addition, they also have a larger number of children than women in other types of unions.

## 3. The decline in fertility

The problems noted above (loss of land, difficulty in finding work, jobs that require people to migrate) occurring in combination with the deferment of unions, failure to form couples and families and access to knowledge of methods of contraception have caused a notable decline in fertility indexes in all countries. At the same time, in some cases, the reproductive period has been reduced to around 16.5 years in all.(111)

The decline in fertility at country level can be seen in table 8. Numbers of children decreased significantly between the period 1960-1965 and the period 1975-1980 for the region as a whole and for all the countries studied, without exception. There are striking differences in fertility rates between the countries of the Southern Cone and the other countries. In Central America, there was a dramatic decrease in Costa Rica and Cuba; in the Andean countries, there was a significant decline in Colombia and Venezuela. In the northern Atlantic sector, there was a notable decrease in Brazil and a less significant drop in Paraguay.

Large families were the rule during periods in history when certain crops (such as coffee and peanuts) required a great deal of manpower. In settlement areas in Brazil, for example, families with more than five members were rewarded or had all their installation costs paid. Now that families have little or no land they tend to be smaller. This has been true in general of the Bolivian altiplano and the Peruvian sierra. On the Bolivian altiplano, rural families are smaller than urban families; (177) it has been observed that in areas made up of

Table 8

LATIN AMERICA: GLOBAL FERTILITY RATES EXPRESSED IN NUMBER OF CHILDREN

|                            | 1960-1965 | 1965-1970 | 1970-1975 | 1975-1980 |
|----------------------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| Southern Cone countries    |           |           |           |           |
| Chile                      | 5.0       | 4.1       | 3.3       | 3.1       |
| Argentina                  | 3.1       | 3.0       | 3.0       | 2.9       |
| Uruguay                    | 2.9       | 2.9       | 3.0       | 2.9       |
| Andean countries           |           |           |           |           |
| Peru                       | 6.9       | 6.6       | 5.8       | 5.5       |
| Bolivia                    | 6.6       | 6.6       | 6.5       | 6.4       |
| Ecuador                    | 7.0       | 6.8       | 6.5       | 6.3       |
| Colombia                   | 6.7       | 6.0       | 4.8       | 4.3       |
| Venezuela                  | 6.7       | 6.0       | 5.2       | 4.7       |
| North Atlantic             |           |           |           |           |
| Brazil                     | 6.2       | 5.7       | 5.1       | 4.5       |
| Paraguay                   | 6.6       | 6.4       | 5.7       | 5.2       |
| Central America and Mexico |           |           |           |           |
| Mexico                     | 6.8       | 6.7       | 6.2       | 5.4       |
| Guatemala                  | 6.9       | 6.4       | 6.2       | 5.7       |
| Honduras                   | 7.4       | 7.4       | 7.4       | 7.1       |
| El Salvador                | 6.9       | 6.6       | 6.3       | 6.0       |
| Nicaragua                  | 7.3       | 7.1       | 6.9       | 6.6       |
| Costa Rica                 | 7.0       | 5.8       | 4.3       | 3.6       |
| Panama                     | 5.7       | 5.4       | 4.8       | 4.1       |
| Cuba                       | 4.7       | 4.3       | 3.5       | 2.2       |
| Haiti                      | 6.2       | 6.2       | 6.1       | 5.9       |
| Dominican Republic         | 7.5       | 7.1       | 6.2       | 5.0       |
| Total                      | 6.0       | 5.6       | 5.1       | 4.6       |

Source: ECLAC, Statistical Yearbook for Latin America, 1981.

old small holdings, sometimes families are not formed or one-person families are found. All these new characteristics shown by the rural family are, like migration, the result of internal control or some kind of strategy for contending with poverty.

Certain research findings illustrate these declines. In the first place, a study on Brazil showed a very clear difference in the number of children between women of 35 to 40 years of age and those over 40. In the first group, the number of children is much lower than in the second group. Although the women in the first group are still at child-bearing age, they are not likely to have more children. Women between 35 and 40 have had 4.1 children on average, 3.7 of whom have survived. Women over 40 have 9.8 children on average, of whom 7.8 have survived. (103)

In Colombia, in view of the changes in the structure of coffee growing due to overpopulation, the closing of the territorial coffee frontier and proletarianization, the large family concept is being abandoned. The Federation of Coffee Growers is promoting birth control programmes. (186) Data collected by García Rovira show that the idea of having a large family is being rejected. The stratum showing the smallest number of children is the poorest stratum (4.34 children on average).

In Brazil, *moradoras* (rural) have 3.7 children born alive and *volantes* have 3.3. They have their last child when they are around 36 or 37; thus, their reproductive period has been reduced to approximately 16.5 years. They continue to breast feed for a period of up to 5 years in order not to become pregnant again.(111)

In Chile, women over 40 have 7.0 children on average, while women under 40 have 1.8 children on average.(3)

However, some students of the problem feel that the decline in fertility among agricultural wage-earners is not so clear. It has been observed in Colombia that the peasantry has a higher fertility rate than the rural proletariat since the wage-earners are on average younger, they reside in semi-urban locations and their jobs are unstable, in addition to other factors. In Chile, on the other hand, proletarian families with urban residences have a larger number of children than subproletarian families with rural residences. At present, there is no conclusive indication of what the trend will be.

In contrast, a very clear relationship is observable between *educational* level and number of children: the higher the educational level, the smaller the number of children. Many data from different countries support the existence of this relationship. Table 9 illustrates this situation in Mexico.

### IV. WOMEN'S DEMANDS AND ORGANIZATIONS: SOME REFLECTIONS

Despite the fact that in almost all the official documents, reference is made to the need for women to participate in the discussion of local, regional and national affairs, to state their demands and to do so through their own organizations, little progress has been made, and hardly any information is available in this regard.

Table 9 MEXICO: AVERAGE NUMBER OF CHILDREN BORN ALIVE TO MARRIED WOMEN AND WOMEN LIVING IN CONSENSUAL UNION ACCORDING TO PLACE OF RESIDENCE (RURAL-SEMIURBAN) AND LEVEL OF SCHOOLING<sup>a</sup>

|                                 | Num-                          | Pr   | imary lev           | el                  | Second-                       |                          |
|---------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|---------------------|---------------------|-------------------------------|--------------------------|
| Age of groups                   | ber<br>of<br>illit-<br>erates | 1st, 2nd 4th<br>and 3rd and 5th<br>grades grades |                     | 6th<br>grade        | ary<br>level<br>and<br>higher | Total                    |
|                                 | Rural v                       | vithout u<br>Secto                               | irban infl<br>or II | uence               |                               |                          |
| 15-29                           | 3.3                           | 3.4  | 2.5                 | 2.2                 | ٠°                            | 3.2                      |
| 30-49                           | (181)<br>7.6<br>(301)         | (239)<br>7.4<br>(254)                            | (67)<br>7.6<br>(49) | (20)<br>7.9<br>(10) | (5)<br>(5)                    | (512)<br>7.5<br>(619)    |
| Total                           | 6.0<br>(482)                  | 5.5<br>(493)                                     | <b>4.7</b> (116)    | 4.1<br>(30)         | 3.5<br>(10)                   | <b>5.6</b> (1 131)       |
| Standardized total <sup>b</sup> | 5.6                           | 5.6  | 5.3                 | 5.3                 | 2.5                           | 5.5                      |
|                                 | Rurai                         | with url<br>Secto                                | oan influ           | ence                |                               |                          |
| 15-29                           | 2.0<br>(25)                   | 3.2<br>(59)                                      | 3.1<br>(21)         | 1.4<br>(15)         | - <sup>c</sup><br>(7)         | 2.6<br>(127)             |
| 30-49                           | 8.1<br>(63)                   | 6.7<br>(60)                                      | 7.5<br>(16)         | (3)                 | (3)                           | 7.4<br>(145)             |
| Total                           | 6.4<br>(88)                   | <b>5.0</b> (119)                                 | <b>5.0</b> (37)     | 2.4<br>(18)         | 1. <b>6</b> (10)              | <b>5.2</b> (272)         |
| Standardized total <sup>b</sup> | 5.3                           | 5.1  | 5.5                 | 4.6                 | 2.2                           | 5.2                      |
|                                 |                               | Semin<br>Secto                                   |                     |                     |                               |                          |
| 15-29                           | 3.0<br>(68)                   | 2.7<br>(95)                                      | 2.8<br>(44)         | 1.9<br>(42)         | 1.6<br>(26)                   | 2.6 2.9<br>(276) (915)   |
| 30-49                           | 7.1<br>(113)                  | 7.0  | 6.7<br>(53)         | 5.2<br>(29)         | 4.5                           | 6.8 7.3<br>(326) (1 090) |
| Total                           | <b>5.6</b> (183)              | 5.0<br>(203)                                     | <b>4.9</b> (97)     | <b>3.2</b> (71)     | <b>2.8</b> (47)               | 4.9 5.3 (602) (2 005)    |
| Standardized total <sup>b</sup> | 5.2                           | 5.0  | 4.9                 | 3.7                 | 3.1                           | 4.9                      |

Source: Catalina Gaugain: "Influencias de la escolaridad sobre la fecundidad en los medios rural y semiurbano de México", *La fecundidad rural en México*. El Colegio de México, Mexico City, 1983. s to reply excluded. <sup>b</sup>Standardization makes it possible to discount the possible difference in age

<sup>&</sup>quot;Failures to reply excluded. structure between sectors, so that they can be compared. 'Less than 10 cases.

Several points should be emphasized in this connection. In the first place, it bears repeating that women are great organizers of their time, as is evidenced by the way they perform their expanded household chores and their independent activities. In the second place, women do not express themselves well verbally, but their opinion is important and is expressed through their husbands. In the third place, women perform certain social and cultural roles which may not be appreciated by or known to external agents. Fourth, women participate in organizations, but not in those covered by publications about rural society.

The first point has already been dealt with in other sections of this paper. Regarding the second, it should be noted that the conclusions of the Seminar on Andean Research and various studies indicated that women are responsible for important decisions and that the poorer the stratum to which they belong, the greater their participation in decision-making. The Seminar on Andean Research found that the idea that women are taking no part in decision-making within their family and community is a myth. It is true, however, that women do not know how to express themselves and are often unable to conceptualize their feelings. They are inarticulate and cannot express their demands. Cultural patterns are partly to blame for this, it being held that, in a couple, the man should be the one who speaks in public. Moreover, women consider themselves unprepared; they feel they are uneducated and are ashamed that they are not equipped for public participation. They themselves feel that child-bearing has demeaned them. In some experiments carried out in personal development workshops in Chile, women have asked to be taught how to speak, and in fact there can be no doubt that women must be trained —through workshops, women's groups, special meetings or other methods—to formulate their aspirations and demands.

Regarding the third point, which relates to the playing of important social and cultural roles by rural women, FAO has drawn attention to the large number of activities that are carried out by women to maintain and futher the communications, fellowship and sensitivity to the needs of others that makes social life possible. In peasant communities, responsibility for these functions falls almost exclusively on the women and involves tasks ranging from the organization of ceremonies (baptisms, weddings, etc.) and the promotion of co-operation and good will within families or among neighbours to the arranging of services, exchanges of work and barter activities.

The time that women devote to these activities goes unnoticed, and it is not taken into account in calculating the time worked. The extent to which women must perform such activities can affect the time available for other productive tasks. If they fail to perform their social and cultural role as a result of increased participation in either unpaid or paid agricultural work, community relations and fellowship will deteriorate. (120)

With regard to the organizations to which women belong, it must be said that they provide for a great number of activities, some of them very different from those in which men participate. In general, women are excluded from organizations relating to production which are traditionally confined to men. Such organizations include associations concerned with irrigation and with the use made of slopes and pastures owned by the community and producer cooperatives. They have also been excluded from organizations responsible for the

administration of agrarian reform. Under the process of agrarian reform, they were not regarded as members of such organizations, nor have they been brought into them subsequently. This is in line with the stereotype that women have no part in production.

Nevertheless, they are active participants in everything that directly relates to the well-being of their family, i.e., in everything they regard as useful and necessary. Thus, they are to be found on all committees responsible for the provision of services in such areas as potable water, electric lighting, polyclinics, mini-markets, schools, roads, transport improvements, etc. They participate actively as they see fit in arranging raffles, preparing meals and sweets to sell at soccer matches, organizing dances, etc. (5) They are also well-disciplined and co-operative participants in centres for parents and guardians, although in such settings they do not express their views.

Women play an important part in religious festivals, as members of women's clubs or dance groups; in the celebration held on the feast of the patron saint of their town or community and in church activities such as catechism classes and missions.

In Chile, the Mothers' Centres (Centros de Madres) are a special type of organization. They were organized by the State 20 years ago, and there are now 350 of them in the central valley alone; they have over 10 000 members.(185) Experience has shown that when peasant women organize themselves, they are not seeking a public role at national level, but rather are looking for an area in which they can be active. They want to get out of the house, to learn to speak or to add the production of a handicraft to their daily routine in order to earn some income.

A large number of projects for women are supported by the Catholic Church and by foreign organizations. There are two types of projects —production-oriented projects and training-oriented projects— and almost all of them are best carried out in small groups of around 15 persons. Some information is available on projects involving the formation of discussion and training groups, housewives' clubs, health centres and monitor training centres; on small production projects and others. These data are incomplete, however, and no evaluation studies are available in this respect except for the findings of some preliminary research carried out in Chile.(113)

In rural areas, the degree to which women participate in various types of organization is often influenced by the fact that women have very little leisure time and very few opportunities for recreation as a result not only of the many tasks and responsibilities mentioned in other sections of this paper but also of certain cultural factors, including the view that woman's place is in the home and the fact that their right to rest and recreation is not recognized either by them or by anybody else and that it has never occurred to anyone that they might actually have interests to share with other women in clubs, social groups, centres and the like.

These factors help to explain why women are reluctant to take part in meetings or activities which are not fully justified by themselves and also by other people, especially their husbands. In order to live up to her own self-image, a woman must not waste time, must always be busy and must not be seen on the street.

The ideal male peasant, on the other hand, differs markedly from his female counterpart in that he is a public figure. His place is in the street. He must establish links with the outside world. During the week, his domain is the street, the street corner where he meets his friends and talks, and various centres of community life such as the irrigation board, the co-operative, the labour union headquarters and the warehouse. On Sundays and holidays, he is to be found at the football field, in bars and at fairs. Kate Young observed this kind of situation in Mexico. Another aspect of life in which men's rights and women's rights differ markedly is that men can and do spend what they earn (and what their wife earns) on a variety of activities involving personal consumption such as smoking, drinking or supporting two families. Indeed, on any feast day or market day, men will be found drinking in bars with their male relatives and friends, while their wives are at the market or engaged in household activities.

Consequently, if women are to increase their participation, their traditional image will have to change. Some spare time should be available to them; they should be able to get out of the house (as they now do for purposes of trade); they should have their own interests and meet with other women in public to discuss their problems or those of their community and express their needs; and in order to do these things, they must be trained and organized. If women are to participate in social and economic life, this is the way to go about it. Furthermore, these are the aspirations which are held by women themselves as is evident in the continued existence of the Mothers' Centres and in their demand for the right to speak, for additional education and for social centres.(5)

## V. RECOMMENDATIONS AND POLICIES

In this connection, we wish to stress and endorse some of the views expressed at the round table entitled "Survival strategies in peasant economies: The role of women", where reference was made to rural development programmes in which it is customary to distinguish between production-oriented programmes designed for men and social programmes designed for women. This approach perpetuates a distinction between fields of activity which in practice are not separate and should not be separated. Reference was also made to the lack of critical thinking about the cultural patterns underlying the existing division of labour; the disregard for the role of women reflected in the survival strategies of peasant economies; the view that reproduction is an individual problem in which policies have no part and other issues. In addition recommendations were made in which women are explicitly recognized as subjects of rural development; the need to view women as agents of production, as well as of reproduction, is acknowledged, the productive work performed by women is promoted so that any surplus produced by them is left in their hands, thereby raising their status within the domestic unit, and recognition is given to the need to consider whether the social processes and various programmes which are underway are perpetuating or changing the traditional role of women.

The following observations should be added to the considerations and recommendations referred to above:

a) In the recommendations contained in official documents, it is clear that there are two areas of concern in regard to rural women, one of which relates to

women as producers of agricultural products, chiefly food, while the other relates to integral development and the retention of women in rural areas. The situation is complicated by the fact that peasant women play two different roles —the role of housewife and that of farmer. Peasant women in the process of proletarianization also play two roles —the role of housewife and that of agricultural wage-earner. The question is how to implement policies which will reconcile both concerns and both roles without adding further to the burden of responsibility and work already borne by women.

- b) In policies, a de facto division has been created between the public and private spheres. Because women are regarded as being in the "private" sphere, they are generally left out of policies which relate to the "public" sphere. This means that no studies are carried out on relationships within the family (couple relations, socialization, subordination, the real existence of a patriarchal system and how it is manifested, relations with the outside world and similar issues). However, this idea of what is "public" and what is "private" is, to say the least, very confused. There is nothing more private than conception, and yet it has been the target of public policies for over 20 years. Certain activities, needs or rights of women that are not taken into account in the measurement of production and economic progress are labeled "private" which gives a distorted picture of many aspects of the situation of women.
- c) It has become clear that, contrary to what had previously been thought, the conditions in which peasant women live are extremely changeable. Peasant women are constantly and simultaneously involved in two processes: peasant stratification and the family cycle. An additional factor in this regard is the type of agricultural economy in which they live. We mention this in order to draw attention to the dynamism and complexity of the situations which policies must take into account.
- d) Another highly useful exercise is to consider, in each situation, case and country, the difference there is between the life of a poor rural woman and that of a poor rural man and child in similar circumstances. This would ensure that policies did not unnecessarily exclude the other members of the family group.
- e) In view of the economic crisis affecting the region and the outlook for an increase in rural poverty, solutions must be found at the local level, and organizing women both to articulate their demands and to look for solutions based on their own resources should play a pivotal role in this connection. It is important that the technical and financial aid supplied should support the mass of accumulated knowledge that peasant women possess (household management, farm techniques, folk medicine, production of handicrafts, etc.) and strengthen their self-image in a different model of rural development, in which the contribution they are really able to make to their own development can be taken into account.
- f) With regard to the matter of compatibility between the different tasks a rural woman performs and the need to lighten her current and future workload, a set of simple technologies or simple solutions should be sought that would help to lighten those tasks that require an excessive amount of energy and time and to improve the conditions in which families live. In this connection, mention should be made of the fetching of water and firewood, the making of bread and the washing of clothes. For these tasks, simple domestic appliances could be manufactured, the use of clean and cheap forms of energy (e.g., increasing the

use of solar energy in order to make hot water available) encouraged, sanitary services provided, etc.

Furthermore, a set of alternative technologies should be sought which would increase and enrich the variety of food products. In this connection, mention should be made of the recovery of lost and forgotten vegetable species of high nutritive value, such as *quinoa*; the introduction of organic vegetable gardens and the promotion of techniques for preserving newly harvested crops.

- g) Few studies deal with the effect of the communications media on rural women, although it is known that the media generally transmit information that is irrelevant to the conditions in which these women actually live and thus do not help to increase their awareness or to change their situation for the better. Women's organizations could make a worthwhile contribution by fostering horizontal communications media; i.e., they could develop alternative means of communication that would enhance the value of their own culture and resources and increase their own potential as an agent of change.
- h) An important issue that must be dealt with in future policies is that of the proletarianization of rural women. The research done to date has dealt sufficiently with the status of women in peasant economies, but not enough attention has been given to the question of rural proletarianization. Women in forest villages, for example, are proletarianized but have no work, agricultural or otherwise, and it is not known what their position is with respect to the urban market. All the studies carried out so far have concentrated either on women living in rural areas, with all the differences that are to be found there, and women living in urban areas. However, the situation of women in the process of becoming proletarianized, who are not yet inserted into the towns and live either on their outskirts or in villages, rural communities or unstable settlements, has not yet been considered in any study.
- i) The research carried out so far has resulted in specific policy recommendations only in regard to short-term situations and problems. Moreover, both official and non-governmental agencies accept the solutions suggested by technicians and research findings which, although very significant, usually reflect outside views. This points up the need to supplement such data with information supplied by rural women themselves and to give more support to different types of research designed to complement the traditional methods. Thus, it is important to support and analyse experiments in participative research and mass education in an attempt to penetrate more deeply into the situation of rural women, or, in other words, to know the situation in order to change it. In this regard, it would be very useful to compile and systematize the numerous experiments that are being carried out by various groups in Latin America in such techniques as group discussion, case studies, personal testimony and dramatization. The challenge now is to use these new methodologies as research techniques. In this respect, Arriagada points out that the chief shortcomings of these methodologies boil down to the difficulties encountered in establishing two criteria, identifying preconceived ideas on the part of researchers and formulating ideas for general application.(8)
- j) It is becoming clear that there is a need to devise a system for classifying rural women and the changes they are experiencing. By proceeding from the general to the particular, it would be possible to form an objective view of the

problems of rural women in Latin America. This system should function as a data base containing information by subregion, including the most important research findings, documents and theories relating to women in the region. By studying the different situations in which women find themselves, it would be possible to understand them better, to design policies on a firmer foundation and to help women to learn more about themselves. Something similar has been proposed with regard to the compilation and organization of information on women, in what has been termed "a basic information model".(25)

k) Finally, it would be advisable to make an assessment of the numerous action projects, most of which are financed by non-governmental agencies. A great number of these are devoted to women, but their results have not been appraised in terms of their impact on women and their environment, the integration of family and locality, the possibility of extending them to other places, their potential for self-support and other equally important factors.

## Part Three

# THE OUTLOOK FOR CHANGE IN THE STATUS OF WOMEN

### Part Three

## THE OUTLOOK FOR CHANGE IN THE STATUS OF WOMEN

### I. FRAME OF REFERENCE

In other documents attention has been drawn to factors which make it highly difficult to appraise the progress made in connection with the integration of women in development, and a detailed analysis has been made of the difficulties relating to the kind of resources available for measuring their living conditions.(82) Without repeating the arguments used, it would be a good idea to draw attention to problems which have been added to or have aggravated problems which were already present in connection with the possibilities for making a more exhaustive appraisal. In the first place, there is a much wider variety of national situations due to the interaction of differences in basic contexts, differences in size and economic potential and differences in respect of the time in which the different development processes have been in effect. Actually, generalizations on Latin American change are becoming less and less relevant and harder and harder to uphold, and the task involved in making a comparative analysis of very diverse national situations is becoming difficult. National situations are growing increasingly complex, and relations among social groups and between them and the State are increasingly less clear and more diversified.

Finally, generalizations concerning the region are equally affected by the problem of unknown quantities presented nowadays by the process of transformation and the political economies of the great industrial centres and hence of the form which relations between them and the Latin American centres might take in the future. This does not detract from the importance of the task of working on the basis of assumptions and alternative medium- and long-term scenarios and of advancing on the basis of a consensus concerning the design of a new development pattern.

In addition, in spite of the fact that the big structural changes made in the region are now nearly 30-years old, the context in which the United Nations Decade for Women began and the context in which it is ending are outstandingly different. Actually, when the Regional Plan of Action was adopted in Havana in 1977, there were still signs of optimism and growth in the region, and this is no longer the case. It is therefore assumed:

a) That, in a context in which resources were relatively abundant, governments and bilateral and multilateral assistance bodies would have been interested in supporting populations in their attempts to meet their basic needs and in the gradual incorporation of marginated groups of the society, which, in some cases, included women and low-income groups.

b) That with a certain amount of political will on the part of the governments, these intentions would be reflected in plans, programmes and projects

and in the political measures needed in order to implement them.

c) That the objectives adopted with respect to greater participation by women in the development process would be reflected in a series of concrete measures in favour of their participation in different areas and sectors.

d) That, in view of the fact that for many years our economies were fortunate enough to enjoy sustained growth, social expenditure on programmes which indirectly favour the participation of women, such as programmes designed in support of the family, children and youth, would continue to rise.

However, even then, there was some concern as regards the following

circumstances:

a) The lack of adequate information, as a result both of a faulty approach to the collection of statistical data and of a lack of rigorous research.

b) The organizational and administrative difficulties of the institutions

responsible for the implementation of recent social programmes.

c) The lack of continuity of many of the initiatives taken with respect to the groups which benefit from the policies, which results in a loss of experience and of know-how concerning the complex processes of social intervention.

d) The lack of understanding at that time concerning the importance of attitudes and values, the patterns of behaviour and the cultural motivations and processes inherent in the development process.

e) The lack of foresight concerning the depth and extension of the crisis which would strike the Latin American and Caribbean region.

However, although structural obstacles have now arisen which are more dramatic and difficult to control than anything which could have been foreseen at the beginning of the Decade, the regional action programme was directed toward the solution of the main problems identified as being of a structural nature, and although there may have been changes in emphasis and new issues may have arisen, basically the objectives of integrating women into economic and social development laid down at that time seem still to be in force. It is likely that the problems of equity, in view of the deterioration in the living conditions of large social sectors, is now more relevant than before and also that there is greater critical awareness concerning the problems relating to the subordination of women.

Thus, this study is built around two main themes: on the one hand, the crisis, as an overall setting which involves all the processes, and, on the other, the search for key ideas for the establishment of new plans and orientations with respect to the development of the region.

The study is set up within the framework of the crisis, as one of the main landmarks of the second half of the Decade. Actually, although the present crisis has its roots in the first half of the 1970s and in the petroleum crisis, it cannot be denied that it became more severe around the beginning of the 1980s, when it

took on dimensions the like of which had not been seen since the 1930s. This crisis, which is linked to internal factors is, for its part, closely linked to external factors whose origin lies in the behaviour of the economies of the industrialized countries. The extension of the crisis (in varying degrees of severity in each of the countries of the region) and its duration are responsible for a significant economic contraction in real terms, some destruction or underutilization of accumulated capital and substantial setbacks in social progress.

As the crisis has deepened, a feeling of instability, confusion and uncertainty concerning the way in which events will develop and what policies should be adopted to contain and overcome its pernicious effects has become widespread. The negotiations carried out and arrangements made with respect to external indebtedness and to debt servicing have not succeeded in stabilizing the situation, and in some cases the problems really cannot be overcome by conventional methods and formulas.

These crisis-related developments have differed in both absolute and relative intensity in different national settings, from one country to another, depending on the economic and demographic size of the country concerned, its degree of external openness, the nature and depth of State intervention in the management of the economic policy and the participation of the State as an economic agent, the availability of resources and the degree of industrialization and diversification of production and technology.

In addition, the way in which the countries of the region have moved from the period of economic boom to the present crisis has not been the same either. In this respect, it should be borne in mind, for example, that the petroleum-exporting countries have not developed in the same way as the non-petroleum-exporting countries and that the development of the countries with high growth rates has been different from that of the larger group of countries which traditionally have shown less dynamism.

The crisis has intensified the deterioration of social conditions in the Latin American countries, and one of the groups which has undoubtedly been most affected has been the women in the urban low-income sectors and rural sectors of the region. On the one hand, the adjustment programmes have primarily affected those sectors, especially with respect to the reduction of social policies directed to education, health and housing and have led to a weakening in the social welfare system. On the other hand, although the women in these strata have had to engage more heavily in paid employment, they have entered those jobs with lower wages, mostly in the informal sector, working a double workday. Similarly, it is very likely that the crisis has had negative effects on the employment of workers from other strata since the labour market has had to contract. In general, the crisis creates a climate of stagnation and recession, in which social tension and instability are greater.

In this context, it is important to bear in mind that the theoretical framework in which development policies should be placed in the future must first of all take into consideration the effects of the crisis and secondly the need to rethink certain aspects which seem to be most relevant in the development process. In an analysis of this type, the socioeconomic aspects must be taken in combination with a valid ethical and cultural view of society. In this respect it is worthwhile drawing attention to that part of the Quito Declaration in which it is

stated that development must be seen as an integral process characterized by the achievement of economic and social objectives and goals which ensure the actual participation of the population in the development process and in its benefits, for which reason it becomes necessary to make profound structural changes in this setting as a prerequisite to the establishment of the type of integral development sought. For the achievement of this objective, the integral participation of women at a level of economic, political and cultural equality is considered indispensable.

From this perspective, development should aim at least three objectives: greater efficiency in the economy, greater equity in the distribution of the fruits of growth and more autonomy in the processes of development. Other central themes should include the modernization of the State, which should support the objectives of social policies more emphatically; emphasis on planning and the formulation of social policies aiming at greater equity.

### IL EVALUATING THE PROCESS OF CHANGE

This study is based on a comprehensive review of the available indicators concerning achievements in the area of incorporation into the work force and access to education, health and other government programmes which directly or indirectly promote women, in the framework of the guidelines set forth in the Regional Plan of Action; it also relates to changes of a legal nature. However, despite repeated recommendations, available information is still scarce and limited, for which reason it is nearly impossible to make an evaluation in the traditional way, i.e., category by category, objective or goal, by viewing each normative principle in the light of the actual situation expressed in data or in analytical categories that are comparable in time and space.

Because of this limitation, it is advisable to complete the comprehensive view of the problem with two qualitative elements which illustrate women's situation more specifically: a brief analysis of the family as the object of social policy and an attempt to construct a typology of women, based on their socioeconomic level.

### A. THE IMPACT OF SECTORAL POLICIES

The first evaluation carried out by the Second Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Development of Latin America (Macuto, Venezuela, 1979) showed that the economic expansion which had occurred in the region had not managed to create all the employment necessary to absorb the growing labour force, so that the open unemployment rates continued to be relatively high, that is, above 6%. This figure, however, represents an impressive effort to create new urban jobs, many of which are concentrated in the tertiary sector of the economy.

Furthermore, the information available at that time indicated a contraction in the labour market, with open unemployment rates of around 8% and in some Latin American cities, much higher. Therefore, the stagnation had had an influence on the expansion of employment and on the level and quality of life of the population.

The consequences of this situation were serious: an increase in the population of the poor sectors, deterioration of the real wage of those who were still working, a drop in family consumption and therefore in effective demand, regressive income distribution and a difficult situation for young people and women who had recently joined the work force.

Available data indicated that the average rate of participation by women remained at around 20% for the region, a figure which was much lower than that in other regions; in other words, the potential for incorporation had been affected by the economic stagnation and the crisis.

It is a well-known fact that during recessive phases, employers tend to lay off women and young people first; there also tends to be a rise in household employment including manual labour and cottage industries practised in the home for commercial purposes with a view to improving the family's income. Therefore, despite the progress achieved in certain countries, increasing the employment of women will continue to be an objective for the Decade.

Furthermore, problems persist concerning discriminatory treatment in the area of wages and types of jobs for women, more in private activity than the public sector, in which, in several countries, women have been holding important supervisory positions for many years.

With regard to recognition of work performed at home, interesting research has been carried out in some countries on the value of that work and the possibility of incorporating it into national accounts, but is has not yet been possible to develop a unified approach to this subject.

In the area of education, the majority of the countries have made substantial progress in decreasing illiteracy and increasing rates of school attendance.

Despite the progress achieved, however, the situation continues to be critical in the relatively less developed countries, where illiteracy rates higher than 30% of the population still exist. Women and the rural population in general have traditionally been affected by this problem, despite the changes; this phenomenon persists independently of the level of development of a country.

Figures show that the incorporation of girls and young women into the educational system is growing. Rates of school attendance by sex indicate progress in that area. Between 1970 and 1980, in 16 of the 25 countries for which primary level information is available, female rates tended to approach or equal male rates; in Argentina and Venezuela, for example, there was no difference between the two figures. In Colombia, Jamaica, Nicaragua and Trinidad and Tobago, the female rate exceeded the male rate. This trend has been confirmed at the intermediate level, except in Mexico and Bolivia (see table 10).

The growing incorporation of girls into primary and elementary education might reflect a substantial change in the attitudes and values of parents regarding the education of women in those countries of the region in which it had traditionally been considered that women needed less formal education since their role as mothers, wives and homemakers could be performed without a substantial amount of education. Since men were the breadwinners of their family, they had to acquire the skills they needed in order to be able to take their place subsequently in the labour market.

Table 10

LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN: PROPORTION OF WOMEN IN TOTAL TEACHING STAFF AND STUDENT ENROLLED BY COUNTRY, 1970-1980

|                |      | Women/<br>students enrolled<br>Level |      |      |      |      |      |           | Women/<br>teaching staff |      |      |          |      |  |  |
|----------------|------|--------------------------------------|------|------|------|------|------|-----------|--------------------------|------|------|----------|------|--|--|
| Country        | Year |                                      |      |      |      |      |      |           | Level                    |      |      |          |      |  |  |
|                |      | 1st.                                 |      | 2nd. |      | 3rd. |      | lst.      |                          | 2nd. |      | 3rd.     |      |  |  |
| Antigua and    |      |                                      |      |      |      |      | •    |           |                          |      |      |          |      |  |  |
| Barbuda        | 1970 | 48                                   |      | -    |      | -    |      | 83        |                          | -    |      | -        |      |  |  |
|                | 1975 | 49                                   |      | 52   | (76) | -    |      | 85        |                          | 63   |      | -        |      |  |  |
|                | 1980 | 49                                   | (78) | 42   | (77) | -    |      | 86        | (78)                     | -    |      | -        |      |  |  |
| Barbados       | 1970 | 49                                   |      | -    |      | 46   |      | -         |                          | -    |      | -        |      |  |  |
|                | 1975 | 50                                   |      | 52   |      | -    |      | -         |                          | -    |      | -        |      |  |  |
|                | 1980 | 50                                   |      | 53   | (81) | 54   |      | -         |                          | -    |      | 28       |      |  |  |
| Bermuda        | 1970 | 50                                   |      | 54   |      |      |      | 85        |                          | 52   |      | -        |      |  |  |
|                | 1975 | 48                                   |      | -    |      | 53   | (78) | -         |                          | -    |      | •        |      |  |  |
|                | 1980 | 49                                   |      | 50   | (79) | 51   |      | 88        |                          | -    |      | 33       |      |  |  |
| Cayman Islands | 1970 | 53                                   | (71) | -    |      | -    |      | -         |                          | -    |      | -        |      |  |  |
|                | 1975 | 49                                   |      | 53   |      | -    |      | 84        |                          | 52   |      | -        |      |  |  |
|                | 1980 | 49                                   |      | 48   |      | -    |      | 85        |                          | 55   |      | -        |      |  |  |
| Costa Rica     | 1970 | 49                                   |      | 51   |      | 44   |      | 75        |                          | 47   |      | -        |      |  |  |
|                | 1975 | 49                                   |      | 52   |      | -    |      | -         |                          | -    |      | -        |      |  |  |
|                | 1980 | 49                                   |      | 53   |      | -    |      | 78        | (81)                     | 54   | (81) | -        |      |  |  |
| Cuba           | 1970 | 49                                   |      | -    |      | 39   |      | -         |                          | -    |      | -        |      |  |  |
|                | 1975 | 48                                   |      | 49   |      | -    |      | 72        |                          | 47   |      | -        |      |  |  |
|                | 1980 | 48                                   |      | 50   |      | 48   |      | 77        | (81)                     | 48   |      |          |      |  |  |
| Dominica       | 1970 | 48                                   |      | -    |      | -    |      | -         |                          | -    |      | _        |      |  |  |
|                | 1975 | 48                                   |      | 59   |      | -    |      | 71        |                          | -    |      |          |      |  |  |
|                | 1980 | 49                                   | (78) | 59   | (78) | 51   |      | 69        | (78)                     | -    |      | 54       |      |  |  |
| El Salvador    | 1970 | 48                                   | ( /  | 47   | ( /  | -    |      | 70        | , ,                      | 32   |      | 17       |      |  |  |
|                | 1975 | 48                                   |      | 44   |      | 34   |      | 68        |                          | •    |      | 23       |      |  |  |
|                | 1980 | 50                                   |      | 52   | (81) | 31   |      | 67        | (81)                     | 27   |      | 23       |      |  |  |
| Grenada        | 1970 | 49                                   |      | 46   | (01) |      |      | 58        | (01)                     | 44   |      |          |      |  |  |
| Oremada.       | 1975 | 48                                   |      | -    |      | 50   | (78) |           |                          |      |      | 52       | (78) |  |  |
|                | 1980 | 48                                   |      | _    |      | 60   | (75) | 71        | (79)                     | _    |      | 25       | (79) |  |  |
| Guatemala      | 1970 | 44                                   |      | 41   |      | 19   | (1)  | 65        | (.,,                     | 32   |      |          | (.,, |  |  |
| Guatemana      | 1975 | 45                                   |      | 46   |      | 23   |      | 62        |                          | 38   |      | _        |      |  |  |
|                | 1980 | 45                                   |      | 45   |      | 27   | (78) | - 02      |                          | -    |      |          |      |  |  |
| Haiti          | 1970 | 4)                                   |      |      |      | -    | (70) | 57        | (71)                     | _    |      |          |      |  |  |
| riaiti         | 1975 | 46                                   | (78) | -    |      | 24   |      | <i>),</i> | (/1)                     | _    |      | 12       |      |  |  |
|                | 1980 | 46                                   | (70) |      |      | 23   | (78) | 49        |                          | -    |      | 10       | (78) |  |  |
| Honduras       | 1970 | 50                                   |      | 47   |      | 25   | (70) | 72        |                          | -    |      | 10       | (70) |  |  |
| Honduras       | 1970 | 49                                   |      | -1/  |      | 34   |      | -         |                          | -    |      | _        |      |  |  |
|                | 1980 | 50                                   |      | 50   |      | 38   |      | 74        |                          | 48   |      | 3        |      |  |  |
| Jamaica        |      | 50                                   |      | JU   |      | 20   |      | /4        |                          | 40   |      | <i>.</i> |      |  |  |
| jainaica       | 1970 | 50<br>50                             |      | 54   |      | -    |      | •         |                          | -    |      | -        |      |  |  |
|                | 1975 |                                      |      | -    |      | -    |      | 87        |                          | -    |      | -        |      |  |  |
|                | 1980 | 50                                   |      | 53   |      | -    |      | 0/        |                          | -    |      | -        |      |  |  |

Table 10 (conclusion)

| Mexico                                  | 1970 | 48 |      | 39 | )    | 20 |      | 61 |                     |    |       |    |      |
|---|------|----|------|----|------|----|------|----|---------------------|----|-------|----|------|
|   | 1975 | 48 |      | 39 |      |    |      | 62 |                     | 33 |       | _  |      |
|   | 1980 | 49 |      | 47 |      | 34 | (81) | ٠. |                     | -  |       |    |      |
| Nicaragua                               | 1970 | 50 |      | 47 |      | 32 |      | 79 |                     | _  |       | _  |      |
| - · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | 1975 | 51 |      | 50 |      | 34 |      | -  |                     |    |       | _  |      |
|   | 1980 | 51 |      | 54 |      | 47 |      | 79 | (81)                | _  |       |    |      |
| Panama                                  | 1970 | 48 |      | 52 |      | 43 | (0=) | 80 | (01)                | 56 |       | 21 |      |
|   | 1975 | 48 |      | 52 |      | 50 |      | 81 |                     | 55 |       |    |      |
|   | 1980 | 48 |      | 52 |      | 55 |      | 80 |                     | 53 |       | 30 | (81) |
| St. Lucia                               | 1970 | 52 |      | 47 |      | -  |      | -  |                     | -  |       | -  | (01) |
|   | 1975 | 49 |      |    |      | 41 | (78) | 83 | (78)                |    |       |    |      |
|   | 1980 | 51 |      | 55 |      |    | ( /  | 80 |                     | _  |       | _  |      |
| St. Vincent                             | 1970 | 49 |      | 50 |      |    |      | 47 |                     |    |       | _  |      |
|   | 1975 | 49 |      | 59 |      | 88 | (78) | 43 |                     | 43 |       | 59 | (78) |
|   | 1980 | 49 |      | 59 |      | 78 | (79) | 62 | (81)                | -  |       | 63 | (79) |
| Argentina                               | 1970 | 49 |      | 53 |      | 43 |      | 92 |                     | 32 |       | 61 |      |
| _                                       | 1975 | 49 |      | 52 |      | 48 |      | 92 |                     | 63 |       | 39 |      |
|   | 1980 | 49 | (81) | 53 | (81) | 47 | (82) | 92 |                     | 64 | (78)  | 56 | (82) |
| Bolivia                                 | 1970 | 41 | , ,  | -  | . ,  | -  | ` ′  | •  |                     | -  | ( )   |    | (/   |
|   | 1975 | 44 |      | -  |      | -  |      | _  |                     | -  |       |    |      |
|   | 1980 | 47 |      | 46 | (81) | -  |      | 48 |                     | -  |       | -  |      |
| Brazil                                  | 1970 | 50 | (71) | 51 | , ,  | 38 |      | 84 | (71)                | 53 |       | 21 |      |
|   | 1975 | 49 |      | 53 |      | ٠. |      | 85 | <b>(</b> - <b>/</b> |    |       |    |      |
|   | 1980 | 49 | (79) | 54 | (78) | -  |      | 87 | (79)                | 53 | (78)  | _  |      |
| Chile                                   | 1970 | 50 |      | 53 | ` '  | 38 |      | 69 | ( /                 |    | ( - / |    |      |
|   | 1975 | 49 |      | 53 |      | 45 |      | 74 |                     | 50 |       | _  |      |
|   | 1980 | 49 |      | 53 |      | 43 |      | 74 | (79)                | 52 | (79)  | -  |      |
| Colombia                                | 1970 | 50 |      | 49 |      | 27 |      | 77 |                     | _  | • • • |    |      |
|   | 1975 | 51 |      | 50 |      | -  |      | -  |                     | -  |       | 14 |      |
|   | 1980 | 50 |      | 53 | (81) | 45 | (81) | 79 |                     | 42 |       | 21 | (81) |
| Ecuador                                 | 1970 | 48 |      | 45 |      | 30 |      | 64 |                     | 33 |       | 7  | ` ,  |
|   | 1975 | 49 |      | 48 |      | -  |      | 65 |                     | 36 |       | -  |      |
|   | 1980 | 49 |      | 49 | (79) | 35 | (78) | 66 | (79)                | 37 | (79)  | -  |      |
| Guyana                                  | 1970 | 49 |      | 51 |      | 20 |      | 55 |                     | 46 | , ,   | -  |      |
|   | 1975 | 49 |      | 51 |      | 36 |      | 69 |                     | -  |       | 30 | (78) |
|   | 1980 | 49 |      | -  |      | 42 | (79) | 70 |                     | -  |       | -  | ( )  |
| Paraguay                                | 1970 | 47 |      | 50 |      | 42 |      | -  |                     | 58 |       | -  |      |
|   | 1975 | 47 |      | 50 |      | -  |      | -  |                     | -  |       | -  |      |
|   | 1980 | 48 | (79) | -  |      | 43 | (78) | -  |                     | -  |       | -  |      |
| Peru                                    | 1970 | 46 |      | 43 |      | 34 |      | -  |                     | -  |       | 15 |      |
|   | 1975 | -  |      | -  |      | 32 |      | -  |                     | -  |       | 14 |      |
|   | 1980 | 48 |      | 46 |      | -  |      | 60 |                     | -  |       | -  |      |
| Suriname                                | 1970 | 48 |      | 54 |      | -  |      | 62 |                     | 47 |       | -  |      |
|   | 1975 | 48 |      | 55 |      | 12 |      | 65 |                     | 50 |       | 3  | (77) |
|   | 1980 | 48 |      | 52 | (78) | 35 | (77) | 76 | (78)                | 54 | (78)  |    | • /  |
| Uruguay                                 | 1970 | 48 |      | 53 |      | -  |      |    | , ,                 | _  | ` '   | -  |      |
| •                                       | 1975 | 49 |      | 53 |      | -  |      | -  |                     | -  |       | 23 |      |
|   | 1980 | 49 |      | 53 |      | 56 | (82) | -  |                     | -  |       | 30 |      |
| Venezuela                               | 1970 | 50 |      | 51 |      | 41 |      | 86 |                     | 39 |       | 18 |      |
|   | 1975 | 49 |      | 53 |      | -  |      | -  |                     | -  |       | -  |      |
|   | 1980 | 49 | (81) | 48 | (81) | -  |      | 83 | (81)                | 50 | (79)  | -  |      |

Source: UNESCO, Statistical Yearhook, 1983.

Like all processes of change, this incorporation of women into education exhibits limitations which are especially noticeable at the third level, to which a smaller number of women than men have access and then only in a selective way, with a high concentration in areas of study that are considered to be "feminine", such as educational sciences, social sciences and health sciences, which over the years have been increasingly taken over by women. The enrolment of women in fields such as medicine has increased substantially in several countries in the region. Although the enrolment of women has increased in engineering and the basic sciences, the number of women enrolled in these fields is considerably lower than the number of men.

With regard to the relationship between work and education, the data available through the mid-1970s reflect a rise in the educational level of the work force, both male and female. Women have been incorporated into the tertiary sector of the economy, in areas where vocational training does not necessarily require completion of the formal educational cycle; thus a high number of young people complete their education after leaving school by participating in the "parasystem" and in correspondence courses or adult education.

Increased education and professional training of women not only gives them more opportunity to join the labour market, but also brings about far-reaching psychosocial changes; for instance, it gives them the security of possessing skills which enable them to generate the resources necessary to maintain a family, no longer by earning supplementary wages but as contributors of the main income. In many households this has changed the traditional relationship of subordination of the wife to the husband for economic reasons.

Many factors are responsible for the incorporation of women in education and work. By no means the least important of these factors has been the change of attitude brought about by the increase in information concerning society as a whole, which is the result of forces such as the influence of communications media, transculturation, urbanization and the implementation of social policies which have improved the welfare of the different groups making up society.

Policies which appear to have the most influence on the performance of women in society include the present welfare-oriented health policy, which is aimed at the extension of social security coverage, nutritional programmes directed towards low-income families in different countries, family planning programmes, mother-child care programmes and programmes in which services related to early infancy are provided.

As for the services suggested in various documents as means of facilitating the participation of women, the reduction of spending in the social area has limited the expansion of interesting experiments in the area of nurseries, day-care centres, pre-school education and mother-child care. If this trend continues, the result may be a loss of human capital which could be of significance for Latin America since the physical and intellectual development of an entire generation is threatened by the restrictions to which adjustment programmes give rise.

One final thought with regard to the income distribution problem, which is central to any equitable development policy, is that the development plans of the majority of the Latin American countries emphasize the fact that economic growth has not always been accompanied by a fair distribution of the wealth

created. This regressive phenomenon has chiefly affected the rural population, the marginal urban population and a fairly substantial proportion of the middle-income strata, which are today finding it difficult to satisfy their basic needs. This means that in the current situation, the process of regression is becoming increasingly pronounced.

The plans designed at the end of the 1970s incorporated several means of attacking this problem into the strategies outlined in them; the majority involved traditional proposals —proposals for generating stable, well-paid employment on the one hand, and for both expanding the coverage and raising the quality of services, on the other. In some cases, direct action was proposed involving State transfers to low-income groups through vouchers, coupons or stamps; other plans provided for the financing of programmes under which groups received new resources derived from changes in or additions to the tax system. Other plans retained traditional subsidies to consumption and to prices of goods and public services.

The direct beneficiaries of many of these programmes are families, and in the face of the crisis and in view of the kind of adjustment programmes which were adopted, the first budget reductions took place in those programmes and affected the compensations aimed at correcting the regressive distribution process. This, in addition to the marked deterioration in the living conditions of the so-called middle classes (salaried workers, young professionals, retirees and others), has increased social tensions, creating a situation in which women, because of their role in the family, usually have to confront increasingly conflictive situations.

If the foregoing is true, to what point are the policies conceived and designed in the context of the guidelines of the Plan of Action responsible for the changes which have occurred in the position of women in society? or, to ask this question in another way, does the planner really intervene in social process, or would the changes have occurred if the guidelines had never been drawn up? It would seem that the changes are a product of a comprehensive effort, in other words, they derive from the development process as a whole. The State has intervened in this process in order to stimulate growth and progress and, in the 1970s, imposed its own ideology in order to resolve the problem of sectors not benefiting from growth. Thus, the situation of women has indirectly benefited from the expansion of social expenditure and the growth of the productive apparatus, although plans and policies have not necessarily been designed and formulated in such a way that the strategy focuses on women, as suggested by the guidelines. However, the individual changes which have taken place in recent years in groups and institutions are due in good measure to the awareness promoted by the Plan of Action.

## B. THE FAMILY AS A SUBJECT OF SOCIAL POLICIES

The Regional Plan of Action attaches special importance to the family, considering it to be "the mediating institution between the individual and the social group"; for this reason it must be taken into account in defining policies aimed at improving the conditions in which women are incorporated into development.

The implementation of this instrument cannot, however, be evaluated without considering first the influence on family life of the social environment in which family members participate in economic activities and, second the psychological and socio-cultural aspects of the life of each family. In other words, the family develops in a social environment whose features and vitality tend to have an influence on the way the family is structured and develops.

### 1. The family and the processes of change

The following are some of the processes of change noted in the region which have an influence on the family:

- a) The decline in mortality, the increase in life expectancy at birth and the relative stability of fertility in some sectors are tending to cause an increase in the average number of members in a family group.
- b) These trends appear to affect urban and rural families differently. The significant rural-urban migration process noted in the region in the last two decades has brought greater pressure to bear on the poor urban family, whose stability and subsistence mechanisms have clearly been affected. The rural family, on the other hand, has been deprived of its most productive agents: young people of both sexes and adult males.
- c) On the other hand, because the members of the middle-income urban strata have greater access to information and education, they have been able to control their fertility and "have attained families with an average number of members that is similar to that of some developed countries" (ECLAC, 1979).
- d) The gradual process of agrarian modernization, in a situation of internal migration, affects the population pyramid of places of origin and destination, the levels of income and the living conditions of rural and poor urban families, the division of labour by sex and the exercise of authority within family units.
- e) Industrialization has had a significant effect on the people's life style, particularly in sectors which have neither the training nor the capital to incorporate themselves into the process and make up the "poverty belts" of the majority of the region's cities.
- f) Domestic work, basically the responsibility of women, has also become differentiated in terms of forms and conditions. In rural zones, women's contribution to subsistence farming is considered to be an extension of domestic work and is therefore, unpaid, unrecognized and unprotected by labour legislation as such. In urban zones, women in families in low-income sectors (i.e., poor families) who need to join the labour market must do so in conditions that are obviously disadvantageous —low levels of training and pay, lack of stability, little social protection, lack of help to perform the household tasks they have abandoned temporarily and double work load. Women from families in middle-and high-income strata in urban zones are in a very different situation. Since they have an income which makes the goods and services necessary to family life available to them, their problems basically relate to traditional concepts of the role of women and to attitudes and values in process of change, often endangering the stability of the family itself.

Thus, two variables are of key importance in studying the situation of a family in the region; its designation as a rural or as an urban family and its

position in the pyramid of income distribution. Despite the scarcity of data for use in making quantitative evaluations of family situations in Latin America and the Caribbean, some general observations may be made in this connection:

- i) The average size of households is, in general, higher than it is in developed countries, and there are marked differences between urban and rural families and among families at different income levels. There is an inverse ratio between degree of urbanization and household size, with smaller households in the more highly urbanized zones. There is also an inverse ratio between the size and income of households, the lowest income households having the largest number of members, on average.
- ii) The predominant type of household in the region is the nuclear household made up of parents and their children; however, the real structure of the family appears to be closely linked to income stratum and location (rural or urban). Households headed by males tend to be nuclear households, particularly in urban areas and middle- and high-income strata. The marriage rate is highest among such households. The structure of poor urban households varies because of the many factors noted above. When their male head is away from home, they are often headed by women or by a close male relative (brother, father, uncle, son) of the women of the household. Extended-family households, households headed by women and, in some cases, matriarchal households, are also common in this sector. Despite the increase in the marriage rate, de facto or consensual unions usually predominate in these households. As a result of the high migration rate, households headed by women with children and older people under their responsibility are common in rural areas. In those areas the marriage rate is lower than in urban areas, and young people join the labour market earlier.
- iii) The degree of access to the social communications media is another variable that is important to modern family life. Access to up-to-date information on medical, economic and other topics, is also concentrated in urban families, and among the urban families, those in the middle- and upper-income strata.

## 2. The family and development programmes

Despite the diversity of factors influencing family life, the different models of family relationships and structures which are being established and the variety of programmes aimed in principle at the family, the development process in the region has not permitted the family to be considered as a social unit.

Several factors are responsible for this situation:

- a) The majority of programmes and policies are aimed at specific family members (minors, women, young people or older people).
- b) When programmes are aimed at the family group, they are usually based on a stereotyped, one-sided notion of family in which the nuances and differences noted above are not taken into account, the programmes being based on an ideal type of complete nuclear family.
- c) The fact that it is assumed that the problems faced by different types of families can be attacked by similar means considerably reduces the efficiency and effectiveness of these programmes.

It would appear, therefore, that a welfare-oriented approach predominates in the region. This approach is characterized by temporary action aimed at individual members of a family group and often taken inconsistently and unsystematically. Very infrequently are plans carried out within a social policy, and even less often is the important relationship between the latter and the global development strategy made explicit.

### C. TYPES OF WOMEN

In view of the information provided above in respect of the situation of Latin American women and families, it seems appropriate to devote a few paragraphs to the women of today since many of their characteristics are the result of the various circumstances already discussed, and during the past decade, these women have, in one way or another, been the object of public policies aimed at improving their social situation in general.

In order to facilitate this task, the following categories have been used for classification purposes: spatial location, income level, sexual stereotypes, domestic work, participation in the labour market, family size, type of union, socialization, education and access to means of social communication.

The information presented here has been obtained from a number of studies published in recent years on Latin American and Caribbean families. It is only an analytical paradigm for systematizing the observations which have been made with respect to the situation under study.

For purposes of classification, the term "spatial location" is used to refer to location (whether urban or rural); "income level" relates to earned income or revenue; "sexual stereotypes" refers to culturally conditioned division of roles or tasks; "domestic work" is work performed to meet the needs of the family group; "participation in the labour market" refers to employment or tasks for which monetary remuneration is received; "family size" means the average number of family members; "type of union" relates to legally recognized marriages, consensual unions or common law marriages; "socialization" is divided into traditional socialization and modern socialization; "education" refers to the number of years of formal education received and "access to mass media" relates to the hours of exposure to the various media.

Experience shows that social stratification has a strong influence on classification; the various socioeconomic strata will therefore be used as a point of reference for this typology, and an attempt will be made to describe the behaviour of the various categories of women in terms of this variable. The initial division will be made on the basis of a nominal classification into low, middle and upper strata.

### 1. Women in the low socioeconomic stratum

On the basis of spatial location, there are two types of women within this category: poor rural women and poor urban women. Each of these types is subject to further subdivision. In this case, we will consider peasant women in tropical zones, women from the Andean highlands, women from marginal urban groups who have recently migrated to urban areas, and the traditional category of poor urban women.

### a) Peasant women in tropical zones

These women are members of family groups whose way of life is based on the cultivation of small plots of land and whose monetary earnings from the goods produced fall below the critical poverty line established by each society. In their lives, the effect of the division of roles and tasks by sex is clear. Women work full time, performing domestic chores and tasks relating to reproduction; their workday is uninterrupted, without a moment's rest. They participate in the labour market on an irregular basis as paid day labourers or, if they are very young, as domestic workers. Once these women marry (in most cases, their marriages are stable), their chances of participating in activities other than those of the home are lessened and, on average, they have more than five children. Their educational level continues to be low (one or two years of formal education, if any) and their socialization is of the traditional sort: submission to husbands, little initiative and capacity for risk. Subject to the level of development of the country in which they live, they have limited access to most media, but high exposure to radio.

## b) Peasant women in the Andean highlands

The peasant women in the Andean highlands share many of the characteristics of peasant women in tropical zones. Nonetheless, because of their cultural tradition and socio-historic background, special emphasis should be placed on the difficulties they face with respect to their integration into society as a result of language barriers which limit their access to formal education and the rigid stereotypes which relegate them to a secondary role within the family group despite the fact that they efficiently perform their role as commercial agent in selling the various agricultural goods or crafts produced by the group. The roles they are expected to play emerge clearly in the socialization process; they marry early (between the ages of 13 and 22), their marriages are very stable, and they have a large number of children. The educational level is low, and there is greater resistance than in other groups to educating girls. Access to information and exposure to mass media are limited to radio programmes.

## c) Women from marginal groups, who have recently migrated

The rural origins of women who migrate to urban areas profoundly affect their position within the network of linkages between industry and services found in urban centres in Latin America. When they come to the city, their limited experience, knowledge and skills leave them to enter the informal sector of the labour market; they are employed as domestic workers with few, if any, social security benefits or are employed on their own account. Excellent studies have been conducted on the marginal economy made up of vendors of food, coffee, trinkets, lottery tickets and other articles that provide them with an income far below the established minimum; this income, when combined with other earnings, allows them to support their family group on a hand-to-mouth basis. Housing and health conditions are inadequate. Once a (fairly unstable)

consensual union has been formed, families with over five children are not uncommon due to the couple's low educational level and lack of access to information. In most cases, the woman is the head of the household. Women in this position experience the greatest degree of contrast between their socialization and the stereotypes characteristic of their place in the social setting from which they sprang and their daily experience, in that they are now living in a highly competitive society involving totally different patterns and ways of life. In some instances, the adaptation process may take over a generation.

### d) Poor women of urban background

These women are second- or third-generation urban dwellers whose vertical social mobility has been obstructed by various factors, one of which is the slow growth of overall wealth. Their living conditions are usually better, and they generally live in stable neighbourhoods where most services are available. Perhaps the most important factor is that, although they are more highly educated and better informed, they continue to have few skills; this hinders their access to stable and better-paid jobs and, as a result, they work in the manufacturing industry (textiles and garments, specially), in the services sector and in trade. They are more often legally married, than women in the group described above, and their marriages are more stable, their socialization has been urban, and, like the women in the preceding group, they are strongly influenced by mass media, in this case television and printed matter with mass distribution. They are much better informed and are capable of launching movements for community rights. In democratic societies, they participate openly in the electoral process. Their relationships with their husband or male partner are based on criteria of much greater equality than those of women in the groups described above.

In recent years, the women described here have been the object of various public policies relating to basic health care, increased school enrolment, technical assistance and, in some cases, even integral development programmes, such as those directed at agrarian reform or urban development. Thus, their place in society has been the object of profound changes in the social structure.

Thus, the results obtained with respect to the status of women have varied from one society to another. In some societies, women may be better educated; in others, they may have greater access to mass media; in still others, they may have greater mobility. Nevertheless, many of the factors discussed above continued to be obstacles which must be eliminated. All these women also experience some degree of hardship with respect to their living standards and quality of life, the very limited amount of free time at their disposal and socio-cultural deprivation. Their level of participation continues to be low, with the exception with those living in societies that are undergoing rapid social change, where collective mobilization efforts soon result in improvements in the behaviour of some of the variables discussed. Special mention should be made of the complications which arise in urban settings as a result of the diversity of roles played by women. Such difficulties are encountered in all social strata, although their complexity may vary, and they constitute a social policy problem which has still not been satisfactorily resolved.

# 2. Women in the middle socioeconomic stratum

This category includes the various types of women who make up the so-called middle class in Latin America; three categories of women will be described here—small- and medium-scale rural producers, urban wage-earners and young professional women.

# a) Small- and medium-scale rural producers

As in the preceding case, account will be taken of physical location: there are women living in rural areas who are wives and daughters of highly productive medium- and small-scale landowners whose position as such provides them with a sufficient income for them to be considered as members of the rural middle class. This group's level of education, access to information and exposure to mass media are substantially greater than those of the peasant women described above. However, the influence of tradition on their socialization and the stereotypes relating to their roles and tasks may pose a considerable obstacle to their participation in the administration and management of farms or estates, in external business relations and in the performance of certain tasks which the men in the family consider to be a male prerogative. The most serious conflicts between generations -between fathers and their daughters - arise in this regard. In terms of the various socio-historic contexts involved, there was a certain degree of reticence until recently about providing girls with the education which is so closely linked to vertical social mobility, and preference was given to boys. The families in this group are stable, legally-constituted and made up of three or four members

# b) Urban wage-earners

If they are able to compete and fit into their surroundings, these women must necessarily be better educated and more highly qualified and have specific skills. This makes it possible for them to participate in the formal labour market as skilled labourers, office workers and employees in services and businesses. Such jobs provide them with a stable income, which gives them independence, causes them to delay marriage, allows them to study and obtain training and permits those who are heads of their household to assume their responsibility with greater confidence. Their higher income makes it possible for them to find adequate housing and to acquire home appliances which make housework easier; in addition, the question of use of spare time arises. In their marriages, and especially in those of the younger generations, tasks and responsibilities are shared, decisions are no longer taken only by the husband and the economic burden of supporting the household is also shared, which gives rise to new rights and duties. This points to changes in both stereotypes and socialization. The nuclear family with two or three children becomes subject to the pressures of a consumer society, which may lead to problems and to the dissolution of the marriage. Problems arising from stagnation, inflation and the loss of a feeling of progress are much more obvious in this socioeconomic class because, since its members are better educated and informed and their exposure to the various media is greater, their expectations and needs are many and varied, and they look

for short- or medium-term solutions. Frustrations may therefore lead to conflict, and women's capacity for organization and mobilization may play an important role in fostering change. Other problems for women in this stratum can be job and wage discrimination and the need to provide for young children increases where there is no family support in the form of grandmothers or aunts to watch them. This often makes it necessary for women to withdraw from the labour force temporarily until the children start to go to school.

### c) Young professional women

The women in this category are perhaps the clearest evidence of the changes which have taken place in our societies over the past 20 years. They are independent young women, free from family supervision, responsible for their own sexual and emotional lives in a way hitherto unknown in the Latin American context and represent a permanent source of conflict between the generations. This group breaks with the traditional schemes of socialization, division of labour and stereotypes more than the other groups. The fact that they hold a university degree or its equivalent allows its members —so long as there is economic growth— to obtain better paid jobs, which open up new possibilities in so far as their relationship with their husband or partner is concerned. Marriage is not regarded as a prerequisite for happiness and emotional stability; indeed, single mothers are socially accepted. The increased knowledge and information at their disposal allows the women in this group to organize their time better, to have leisure time and to take an active role in various groups and associations. Despite their liberation, however, they are still subject to job and wage discrimination.

The types described do not exhaust the possible combinations of variables used for analysis. The descriptions, do, however, contain elements which all women in the urban middle class have in common. The first of these is that their incorporation into the labour market depends on a combination of factors: economic growth, skills and changes in society's attitudes so that they may be accepted without discrimination. The second element is that their aspirations and expectations —which are the result of increased exposure to the mass media, and education and information— are often manipulated by publicity, advertising and fashion. The third element they have in common is that the family as such is constantly subject to tension due to differences between the level of education and income of the couple; the new roles that women may wish to play, which may run counter to their traditional roles, or the system's inability to respond promptly to their many expectations. Finally, the education and care of children and the aged becomes a source of varying degrees of worry, guilt and conflict within contemporary urban society.

# 3. Women in the upper socioeconomic stratum

No clear distinction will be drawn here between urban and rural areas because membership of this stratum bestows traits which are both different and similar. In most cases, for example, large-scale rural land owners and their families live in urban centres at least part, if not all, of the time. A different kind of lifestyle is therefore not involved, as it was in the cases discussed previously. Moreover, the

members of this class are not the object of focused or specific public policies.

Either because they have a source of unearned income or because they are highly paid for their professional services or activities in business or industry, the women belonging to the upper socioeconomic stratum form a much smaller group than the women in categories described above, owing to the region's regressive pattern of income distribution. The concerns of these women are not of a material nature.

Some significant changes have been observed among housewives who have decided to return to university life as adults. In most cases, these women had abandoned their studies 10 or 15 years previously when, according to their socialization, family tradition and class, the only role they were called upon to play was that of housewife. After playing this role, they may decide to return to school in order to complete their professional training in response to pressure from those around them. The results are surprising: an extremely good academic performance, as well as active participation and concern with the changes taking place in society, which in some cases leads them to adopt radical positions in opposition to their class; these positions may even lead them to end their marriages.

At other times, these changes have caused women to become interested in professional endeavours and to involvement in public activities as members of deliberative bodies which play an active role in defending just causes (environmental protection, community services, volunteer work, participation in welfare or cultural institutions and organizations, etc.).

Behaviour patterns, couple relationships and the education of children have been revolutionized basically as a result of the education received in the individual progress made by the type of woman described in this section, the result being the building of a more egalitarian and democratic society.

#### Conclusion

The types described are not ideal types; categories have been combined in order to account for a multitude of subjects and objects of policies. Therefore, when an appeal is made to the region in the Plan of Action to take action in respect to the situation of women, the complexity of this entire area cannot be overlooked. It is extremely difficult to assess the progress made since the material examined does not really reveal to what extent the guidelines take into account the various aspects of the subject of women in Latin America and the Caribbean.

# D. CHANGES IN LEGISLATION

At the outset of the Decade, law was one of the areas where the existence of complex forms of discrimination against women could be seen most clearly.

In the Plan of Action it was considered necessary to eliminate these inequalities, it being recognized that although legal measures in and of themselves are not enough to bring about equality, they do at least provide an important indication of the relationships which should exist in society and the steps to be taken in eliminating *de facto* discrimination.

The Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women, which was adopted by the United Nations General Assembly on 18 December 1979 and entered into effect on 3 September 1981, establishes compulsory legal norms for those States acceding to it and provides guiding principles aimed at fostering a heightened awareness of the problem on the part of those governments which were not party to the Convention.

The principles of equality are recognized in all the constitutions of the region as indispensable to an ideal society. In the real world, however, it has been demonstrated that the formation of egalitarian relations is a long and difficult process which is yet to run its full course.

In order to assess the actual legislative situation in the region, the status of Latin American and Caribbean women has been analysed in relation to the exercise of political, civil, labour and penal rights, so that it has been possible to observe the impact which the recommendations made for the Decade have had within this legal framework.

# 1. Political rights

Political rights are recognized in the region without discrimination between men and women, despite the fact that some constitutions may not contain any express statement which openly refers to this matter. In such cases, the universally accepted principle that "where the law makes no distinction, neither should those interpreting it" is applied.

### a) The right to vote

As a result of untiring effort, the right to vote had already become a reality by the 1970s. It is nonetheless important to point out that this victory was won only gradually over a period of more than 50 years, the first country to give women the vote having done so in 1929.

In the Caribbean countries, suffrage was obtained before independence; in those territories which are not independent, the right to vote is exercised without discrimination between the sexes.

By way of example, some figures indicating the percentage of women casting votes in the region and based on information compiled by the competent electoral bodies can be reviewed. The proportion of the female population which appears on the electoral rolls is much higher than that which actually participates:

| Bolivia (urban population) | (1980) | 80%     |
|----------------------------|--------|---------|
| Chile                      | (1970) | 65%/70% |
| Ecuador                    | (1979) | 70%     |
| Guatemala                  |        | 30.7%   |
| Honduras                   |        | 41%     |
| Panama                     | (1983) | 85%     |
| Venezuela                  | (1978) | 92.7%   |

Acquisition of the right to vote has certainly been an important victory, but it is not equivalent to the true exercise of political rights or to active participation in the decision-making process.

It has been hypothesized that the democratic processes of voter mobilization contribute to the incorporation of women; but their incorporation also depends on education and cultural factors which play a role in the awakening of expectations as well as in the acceptance of their participation.

# b) Citizenship

Natural citizenship of a country is a recognized right for both men and women on an equal basis if they were born within that country's territory or if their mother or father were citizens. Legal citizenship entails fulfilling the requirements of the constitution of the country concerned. Countries differ in their treatment of married persons. The right to extend their own citizenship to their foreign spouses is conferred equally upon both women and men by the constitutions of five countries. Four constitutions make no mention of this, and another six recognize this right only for men. This method of acquiring citizenship is not provided for in the legislation of another four countries.

Recent illegal migrations on a massive level, confrontation and social instability create difficult situations and pose problems with respect to nationality and citizenship; women and children are the most affected by and least protected in such cases. In such circumstances it becomes necessary to attempt to establish a closer relationship between principles of equality and complex social conditions if equity is really to serve as a hallmark for development and peace.

# 2. Civil rights

Family law is a key element in relation to women since marriage often affects the legal standing of women, both individually and in their relations with their children, as well as in connection with the administration of assets, etc.

In Articles 15 and 16 of the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women, men and women are recognized as having equal civil capacity before the law and equal opportunities for exercising that capacity, especially in so far as their marriage and descendants are concerned.

Economic changes, social developments and technological innovations are reflected in the family so that the status relating to this dynamic element of society must be adapted to the actual situation in which it acts. Within the legislative framework, new legal instruments have been introduced both for legally constituted and de facto marriages, such as common law marriages, which are known as consensual or de facto unions or as free conjugal unions or de facto conjugal unions.

Children born to parents who are not united in marriage are given the same rights as enjoyed by those born in wedlock; the freedom to recognize children born of extra-marital unions is established as a basic principle of justice; and it is recognized that it is of primary importance for a person's development to be able to identify his or her progenitors. The Convention set forth a series of guiding principles and specific criteria relating to the elimination of discrimination based solely on marital status.

The influence of Roman law and the Napoleonic Code made itself felt in the Latin American region until well into the twentieth century. Interestingly enough, most of the constitutions provide for equal rights and the elimination of all types of discrimination based on sex, race or religion. Legislation has not necessarily developed in tandem with these principles, however, and conflicting situations continue to exist in this area.

The Anglo-Saxon influence is also felt in the region, especially in the Caribbean, where customary law reflects Western society's vision of an ideal family and where the revolution in social rights has progressively led to the incorporation of principles of equality in relation to the status of wives and the authority of husbands, even though discrimination among ethnic or religious groups persists.

Despite the progress made during the Decade, instances of discrimination and inconsistencies remain; these problems will be discussed below.

### a) Husband's authority over bis wife

For cultural reasons, in customary law women have the right to add their husband's surname to their own; they should not be sanctioned for not doing so, however. This is a right, not an obligation, and it ceases to exist upon dissolution of the marriage. The laws of nine countries do not make it compulsory for women to use their husband's surname, but in another eight countries women continue to be obliged to do so. It is important to point out, however, that women usually continue to use their maiden name, as a means of maintaining continuity in their professional work and academic endeavours.

The authority of husbands over their wife is maintained in the legislation of five countries in the sense that the authorization of the husband is required for women to incur civil obligations, whereas another six countries have amended their legislation to give men and women equal civil capacity.

### b) Domicile

The legislation of most of the Spanish-American countries recognizes the right of both parties to establish a couple's domicile by mutual consent; in the case of a conflict, however, they usually either give preference to the husband's choice or do not make any clear provision in that regard. Choice by mutual agreement is provided for in the legislation of seven countries in the region.

# c) Parental responsibility

Women's rights with respect to the person and goods of their children are one of most sensitive areas where discrimination is concerned or at least one of the areas which gives rise to the greatest conflict. The concept of patria potestas has its origin in Roman law, and its meaning is very specific; it is the power conferred upon the paterfamilias, which entails more rights than obligations. The granting of greater rights to minors and the taking of a more active role by women have led to changes in what was once an unquestionable right, which remains in the form of the authority shared by the father and mother. The influence of this social change on legal norms has resulted in the incorporation of this provision into the legislation of seven countries.

In another seven countries, *patria potestas* is exercised exclusively by the father, and the mother may exercise that power only in the absence of the father or for compelling reasons.

The major problem arises in the case of children born out of wedlock in relation to the ability of married women and men to recognize children born prior to marriage or during a marriage which has been dissolved. Another variation of this problem relates to the difference between children born of an adulterous relationship and natural children and their recognition. Neither voluntary recognition nor an investigation into the child's maternity is usually allowed when it is a case of attributing a child to a married woman. This provision is determined by the fact that the laws of Latin American countries are derived from Roman law, which provided that "mater semper certa est, pateris est quen nuptiae demonstrant" (maternity is certainty, paternity must be demonstrated on evidence of union with the mother).

The traditional forms of classifying children have now been eliminated in nearly all the countries of the region; a very important factor in this connection has been the growing recognition of the unjust situation in which the system placed the younger children. Nonetheless, some forms of discrimination remain, one example being provisions which allow a married father, but not a married mother, to recognize a child born out of wedlock. A maternity inquiry in the case of a married woman is tacitly prohibited in four countries. Adultery is regarded as a crime in most penal codes, and the child constitutes irrefutable proof of that offense. Thus, recognition detracts from the right of children to know and be recognized by their father.

Moreover, in countries where the father retains patria potestas, the mother often prefers that recognition be withheld so that she will not lose the child; i.e., she chooses to remain the child's sole guide and guardian. This is quite common in situations where the mother is the only permanent parent, and there are a number of temporary fathers.

As previously noted, this is one of the most controversial areas with respect to the issue of equal rights; although the general principle is that responsibility for the children should be shared, the inconsistencies are obvious.

The provisions, although some of them are no more than the unconstructive results of traditional attitudes, clearly illustrate how hard it is for women to accede to their civil capacity.

# d) Contesting paternity or maternity

In five countries, the paternity of a child can only be challenged by the man. Scientific progress in this field has given rise to significant changes. For example, one country's civil code states that the husband cannot disavow a child by claiming impotency, unless his condition is manifest and permanent. Even then failure to recognize a child is not allowed when conception has taken place by means of the artificial insemination of the woman with her husband's authorization. Nor can a husband disclaim a child by contending and proving that his wife has committed adultery, unless adultery occurred during the period when the child was conceived, and he can also prove other facts and circumstances which together provide credible evidence that excludes his paternity.

Artificial insemination is dealt with in the legislation of three countries on the basis of the principle that the woman is the centre of protection and prevention in all matters relating to maternity. Although it is not possible to get ahead of the future, it is possible to keep pace with it. The first successful experiment with test tube babies was conducted in England in 1978, and as of 1982, only 3% of the experiments conducted have been successful.

### e) Guardianship

Most countries recognize the ability of men and women to act as guardians on an equal basis. Some differences do exist, however, which warrant discussion. In one country, male children become the guardians of their father or mother in the absence of the other spouse, but this is not the case for female children.

In another country, a single woman can refuse to act as guardian solely on the basis of her sex, and a married woman must have her husband's authorization in order to act as a guardian; such authorization is not necessary, however, in the case of children which the two have had together.

In another body of legislation, exemplary behaviour is cited as one of the conditions for acting as a guardian; therefore a woman divorced on grounds of adultery is not allowed to serve in this capacity. In yet another country, a woman cannot agree to serve as a guardian unless her husband consents.

If rights are to be made equal, authorization should also be required in the case of married men and older children, and this requirement should be waived in the event of remarriage. Not only do the new laws contain provisions in this respect, they even place the paternal and maternal grandparents on an equal footing. Because in nearly all cases it has gradually been established that people legally come of age at 18, new complications have arisen in connection with these problems so that the establishment of equal rights cannot be postponed.

### f) De facto union

De facto unions have been very widespread in the region and have commonly been referred to in the laws of countries of the region, and such unions have been accorded legal status. Illiteracy, rural isolation and the scarcity of economic resources are some of the factors which increased such unions or at least do nothing to decrease them. Denying their existence or failing to take them into account is damaging, particularly to children and women who lack legal protection and material resources.

The constitutions of five countries make *de facto* union equal to legal marriage, subject to its duration, the amount of recognition it received and whether or not offspring are produced. Two countries established this principle in the recent reforms of their respective civil codes by referring to family protection in the broad sense.

# g) Dissolution of marriage

Marriage is dissolved by separation, divorce or death. Divorce which leaves the spouses free to remarry, exists in all but three countries of the region; in one other nation, where marriage in the Catholic Church has legal effect, only those who have contracted civil marriage may obtain a divorce. The Catholic Church may annul a marriage in very specific cases, without reference to civil law.

One striking fact is the presence in the legislation of all the countries considered of a set of clauses stating the conditions in which life together is

impossible. Mutual consent has not been readily accepted as grounds for dissolving the bonds of marriage; however, a separation of three years or more is beginning to be regarded as substantial grounds for resolving an irregular situation.

Discrimination is more often discernible in the application of laws than in their wording. For example, adultery on the part of the women is grounds for separation or divorce in four countries, but in the case of men, only if they live openly with a woman not their wife and the situation creates a scandal. Many of these provisions are difficult to apply because of traditional permissive attitudes towards men in most of the region's societies. A significant fact which demonstrates the impact had by the Decade was the repeal in 1978, of an article in the civil code of one country which provided that a woman would forfeit her share of community property if it were proved that she had committed adultery; the proofs of adultery were defined in the same way for both spouses. There is still a certain amount of discrimination against women, who receive alimony only if not responsible for the divorce.

The consequences of divorce, which most affect women are problems relating to minor children and to jointly held property. In so far as minor children are concerned, the guardianship of children under seven years of age is usually awarded to the mother. The problem arises in relation to patria potestas, as has already been discussed. The sharing of patria potestas on an equal basis has had a very healthy effect, in that it removes the issue of the children and their welfare from the context of the divorce and removes the couple in their role of father and mother from the problems which exist between husband and wife.

There are serious information difficulties with respect to the laws governing property held by a couple in common and a shortage of the legal studies needed to make a comparative analysis. The laws governing jointly held property are those which regulate property interests between the spouses and between the couple and third parties.

In legal systems in which these regulations tend to be more fair the concept of a system of deferred co-ownership may be found. This system functions like a system of separate ownership, but the property is disposed of as though if it were jointly held. Property may be administered and disposed of separately (mutual consent is required under the legislation of some countries) under a deed drawn up for that purpose. Joint property is split between the spouses or their heirs. One country has used this system since 1888. In 1968, another country established a system of shared property, but the husband administers goods whose origin cannot be easily determined. During the period 1946-1982, other countries set up similar systems.

The significance of this approach is that it provides equal facilities for exercising property rights and an equal share in the property to be disposed of.

Once the marriage bond has been dissolved, mutual assistance and understanding are sought as ideals in dealing with the frustrations of a divorce. One country provides for assistance between the former spouses according to their ability. In four other countries, the guilty spouse is responsible for supporting the innocent one. In another country, the spouse who is incapable of self-support is entitled to one fifth of the other spouse's property, provided that the former was not responsible for the divorce and even then if he or she is suffering from a serious illness.

In one country, women who are declared to be innocent are entitled to alimony as long as they live "honourably" and do not remarry. If a woman is guilty and her spouse is indigent she must support him (the law does not specify what is meant by an "honourable" life). In this case, the concept of "honourability" refers to fidelity, i.e., lifetime fidelity to someone to whom one is no longer married since the marriage bonds have been dissolved, in most cases through no fault of the wife.

In three countries, no distinctions are drawn on the basis of sex; the laws of these countries confine themselves to noting the need for mutual aid when means of support are lacking. It should be pointed out that it is fair for such obligations to cease upon remarriage and that no discrimination is involved. This is not, however, true in respect of requirements of proof that an ex-wife is leading an honourable life since cultural variables usually make social conduct a subjective matter.

One of the major problems involved in the dissolution of a marriage relates to the protection and support of the children. The laws of most Latin American and Caribbean countries provide for support for children who are under age. This obligation is often not complied with voluntarily, however. Resorting to the courts for its enforcement creates conflicts for women, since their former husbands often use the child support payments to bargain for the affection of the children and to interfere in the organization of family life. Often, women consider the possibility of being the sole breadwinner for the family so that they can avoid any contact with their former husbands. In both cases, the resulting insecurity and ambiguity have an adverse effect on the women and their children.

#### 3. Labour laws

The 1979 Convention refers extensively to the elimination of any sort of discrimination against women in relation to their inalienable right to work. It stresses the need to foster conditions in which work enables people to live with dignity and the right to social security is recognized.

Motherhood is of special concern since, while it relates directly to women, it affects society in general.

When women began to work, they worked primarily in agricultural or domestic activities, but in the nineteenth century, they entered the field of industrial labour, along with children under seven years of age.

In the twentieth century since women have access to jobs in both the services sector and industry, their share in the total labour force is increasing, especially in the more highly developed countries and it is estimated that by the year 2000 it will amount to 35%. However, the division of male and female labour into separate categories had an impact on legislation in that differences were established with regard to promotion and training and cultural barriers were erected on the basis of what was felt to be an irreconcilable dichotomy between home and work.

It is now recognized in the legislation of every country that women who work outside the home have the same rights as all other workers.

#### a) Labour contracts

The right to work has gradually come to be regulated by public laws which contain provisions relating to public workers, i.e., not subject to the will of the parties and impossible to renounce either unilaterally or bilaterally. Once a woman has reached legal age, she has full legal powers to enter into an employment contract; minors enter into such contracts through their legal representatives. In some countries a woman must have her husband's authorization in order to exercise her right to work. This requirement was repealed in 1981 in one country, at which time it was established that all women, whatever their marital status, could exercise that right.

The legislation governing environmental conditions tends to exclude women from work involving physical effort and unhealthy conditions. One example in this respect is the "chair law" promulgated in one country in 1918, which made it mandatory to have a given number of chairs so that female employees could rest whenever their duties allowed them to do so. This law was later extended to include men.

Night work for women was banned in some labour codes in 1949. This provision has been regarded as anachronistic and discriminatory by many women inasmuch as it limits their job and promotion opportunities.

The legislation of most countries retains provisions relating to the protection of women while working at night. This results in labour discrimination since it keeps women from receiving the additional compensation paid for this type of work and from being considered for promotion in their jobs.

In relation to economic conditions, women's rights to equal opportunities and equal pay are set forth in such international agreements as the Preamble to the United Nations Charter, the ILO Convention concerning Discrimination in respect of Employment and Occupation (1958), the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women.

A survey conducted by ILO in 1977 showed that in the development countries women are paid between 50% and 80% of what men receive for the same work. Discrimination is associated with delays in professional promotion and with women's ignorance concerning laws designed to assist them. Moreover, the wages earned by women are still regarded as a contribution to the family budget rather than a specific amount which is owed for work done. This casual attitude extends to hours of work, vacations, welfare benefits and dismissal.

### b) Protection for mothers

In most countries of the region, the law protects pregnant women by prohibiting their dismissal and providing for a paid rest period before and after having a baby.

Although it cannot be denied that Latin American countries have made an effort in this respect and have progressed, it should be noted that such protection is accorded only to women in organized work.

The protection provided includes a period of time for nursing the child and the establishment of day-care centres near the place of employment so that it is possible to care for the child as well as to sustain the necessary mother-child emotional relationship.

All women entitled to the benefits provided by social security institutions have the right to free medical care during pregnancy, the birth itself and during the time when they are nursing the child. There are many such women in all the countries because, in addition to women workers, the wives of workers and employees are also insured.

Dismissals of women because they become pregnant continue to occur in the region according to the offices in charge of matters relating to women and children in the various ministries of labour. It is difficult to demonstrate this with statistics, however, because such figures do not provide a picture of the real situation and because employers often use unjustified grounds for dismissal or psychological threats in order to accomplish the same thing. Moreover, because women do not know their rights, they do not report such occurrences at the proper time and so cannot avail themselves of the legal protection to which they are entitled.

In addition to being an acquired right, the protection of mothers is in the interest of everybody inasmuch as it represents the united support of society for human life.

Since the birth process should not be considered as an illness, legislative measures constitute only a few of the measures taken to protect mothers. It will never be possible to provide protection for all aspects of motherhood despite the claims made in this regard.

In actual fact, there is some reticence about hiring women workers and professionals of childbearing age even if the possibilities of their becoming mothers is not adduced; fortuitous factors, such as the absence of vacancies or other factors relating to the job sought being used to justify the refusal to hire them.

In most countries of the region, pressure groups, usually composed of women, are demanding that the amount of paid time-off after childbirth should be extended. This is a complicated problem which must be viewed as a whole; although, on the one hand, the emotional relationship between mothers and their children would benefit by such a measure, on the other hand, it might mean women would be excluded from the labour market in order to avoid added expense and attendant problems. Perhaps this is a case more for social security than for legislation; in any case, it depends on employment conditions which vary from country to country.

With respect to mother-child care, the legislation of a number of countries requires companies to provide day-care centres and nurseries if they have a minimum of between 30 and 50 women employees. This has contributed to the development of such services, albeit at a slow pace; on the other hand, however, this legal requirement can be evaded simply by employing fewer women. Moreover, as a result of urban mobility, women often do not exert steady pressure in this respect because they prefer to work close to home.

The real need to demand such services has made itself felt, and most benefit clauses in collective contracts recognize that need; it is also provided for in certain ILO agreements. Social dynamics have dictated that this is a need not only for working women but for working families, the family being the unit responsible for bringing up children. Such services should therefore be seen as improving the situation of working families rather than solely as a benefit for women workers. In one country, the adoption of this global approach has been behind the creation of special funds for children under six years of age.

In its application of laws to protect mothers, the region has shown respect for women and families since these laws are perhaps more stringently enforced than other laws, probably because of their specificity and clarity. Nevertheless, in some countries such protection is still lacking for women farm hands and domestic workers, who often perform hard labour throughout their pregnancy and recommence such work only a few days after child birth. It is difficult to enforce the law in these sectors, where women often work by the job, are unaware of the protection to which they, as mothers, are entitled by law and lack the economic resources to seek legal assistance.

# c) "Juris tantum" situation

A large group of unprotected women workers is made up of women who work at home and domestic workers.

i) Women who work at home. Work at home is carried out by women who are housewives and cannot leave their homes. For some countries it is advantageous from an economic point of view to supply the worker with no more than the necessary raw materials while she herself bears the cost of machinery, maintenance, paid rest periods and vacations, sick leave and medical care.

In this type of work, which is known as the "putting out system" or "domestic out-work", the legally existing contractual work relationship tends to be disguised so that the worker appears to be an independent, small business woman working on her own, but if this situation is analysed in detail it may be seen that since job dependence does exist and there is therefore a contract and even when there is no document, there is a tacit disciplinary and legal obligation and, moreover, an obligation in respect of social security. The same thing applies to women who do piecework in the rural sector.

ii) Domestic workers. Their services are employed in caring for someone else's home. They have a long history in Latin America and the Caribbean. There are many of them and they work at a disadvantage. They have been neglected in labour legislation and only occasionally are they given guarantees, and then of a very limited nature.

The fact that they are incorporated into the life of the family has an influence on the relationship created by the contract and on the grounds for its dissolution. In particular, it is very difficult to define "improper conduct" as grounds for dismissal without compensation. However, substantial progress has been made in that the payment of social benefits is increasingly required and vacations are mandatory. This labour sector is made up mostly of workers with little training and heavy family responsibilities. Emphasis must be placed on the need to grant greater professional status to "domestic service" and to provide those engaged in it with social security and retirement benefits, since from any legal point of view, a labour contract relationship does exist.

### d) Organization of women workers

At the ILO Regional Conference held in Medellín in 1979, mention was made of the failure of women to participate in trade union activities, and this was named as one of the factors which limited their integration into economic life.

Legislation in the area of professional associations covers all workers equally and makes no distinction between the members of such groups on the basis of sex. Participation in trade unions is difficult for women, first because they must add their union activities to their domestic work and second because of the difficulties they encounter in performing executive roles. During the decade, promotional efforts have been carried out by the ILO and other bodies.

### e) Economic value of bousework

The tasks performed by the housewife are broad and complex and would be legally protected if they were carried out by third parties. There are few references to this work in labour legislation. Civil legislation recognizes domestic work as a family asset. Some developed countries have raised the need to extend social security to housewives in the form of family allowances or supplementary allocations. Obviously a housewife's situation depends enormously on her social stratum, but no one can deny that the work done by women in the home is a social resource.

One matter which has not yet been considered in the region is the right of the working family to recreation. There are institutions which promote recreational activities, but they are limited and no provision is made for them under law.

Many of the social clauses in collective contracts raise the need for the promotion and retraining of workers. In the case of women, this is crucial, since they usually leave the job market in the years when they are having children and caring for them and re-enter it at a disadvantage as regards training. There are many training centres in the region, but this is not the result of any real policy for granting women incentives or for improving their lot in this area.

#### 4. Penal law

In Article 2(g) of the Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination Against Women, the signatory countries undertake to repeal all national penal provisions which constitute discrimination against women.

Laws relating to violence are usually applied indiscriminately to men and women. Differences arise specifically in the concept of women as victims, especially where rape, kidnapping, infidelity and abortion are concerned.

In cases, of physical abuse, which occur frequently within families, defense of ones honour and emotional responses in the face of an attack on one's prestige and trustworthiness are usually considered to be attenuating factors. The response of society is weak regarding the victimizer, the problem being failure to denounce the offence since the "dishonoured" woman has the weight of public opinion against her.

With regard to rape, it has generally been said that only women can be victims, but the reality is that men too can be subjected to sexual violence. Some

penal codes use the term "differentiated carnal violence" applying it equitably to both sexes.

Adultery and murder in response to adultery still have very powerful attenuating factors favourable to men associated with them. Thus, a man who kills his spouse because of infidelity may hope to be released without substantial problems, but a women in the same situation cannot entertain the same hopes. This is supported by the tradition that infidelity in men is a natural act or is at least condonable by society.

Prostitution is also of interest because of the cultural connotations still associated with it. In the majority of countries it is prohibited and punished under law, and therefore definite rules are laid down with regard to the women who practice it, but none with respect to the client or the person who incites to prostitution. Few bodies of law suggest ways of rehabilitating prostitutes. That aspect of prostitution upon which the greatest emphasis is laid is perhaps the examination to which those practicing the profession must submit.

Legislation is very vague as regards procuring or the corruption of minors, and here again, nothing is said about policies or actions designed to rehabilitate offenders and prevent behaviour of this kind.

In the case of infanticide, explicit reference is made to the mother, but at no time is the father, who might be indirectly responsible for the crime, linked to it.

The legislation of some countries provides for reductions of sentence in cases where "honour" may be involved.

Induced abortion is regarded as a criminal and therefore punishable act under law. Therapeutic abortion is only accepted when necessary in order to save the mother's life, and eugenic abortion when pregnancy results from rape. Nowhere in the legislation of Latin America and the Caribbean is abortion dealt with as a method of birth control. Without doubt this has been one of the most controversial areas during the Decade. Ethical, social and religious considerations and the fact that little systematic research has been carried out in this area mean that pronouncements made with regard to this problem tend to be extreme. It should be noted that single women of low educational and economic level are the most affected.

No provision is made in the legislation of any country for abandonment of a pregnant woman, which is generally a powerful contributor to induced abortion.

In the legislation of Latin American and Caribbean countries, abortion is classified as a crime, with sentences varying from one to four years.

Some codes explicitly regulate situations involving abuse of authority and make reference to situations of aggravated rape, especially against persons in the custody or under the vigilance of the offender.

### a) Punishment of women

The need to take account of the fact that a woman is pregnant or a mother is recognized in the legislation of few countries. Most of these countries maintain special institutions for women, but the provisions made for mothers leave a lot to be desired. In some of these institutions small children can be lodged near or even with their mothers up to the age of four. In addition, women usually bear a double burden since social pressure causes their own family to reject them, and

their children behave similarly. Rarely do we see a man move near a prison where his spouse or girl friend is being held in order to offer her permanent support, as women frequently do. Social rehabilitation is still a problem not tackled in all its complexity.

### b) Evaluation

There is no doubt that the *de juris* and the *de facto* treatment of women are two different matters. In general, the legislative progress achieved in the region has been made in the search to establish equitable relations between men and women. However, experience shows that the laws are inadequate except as a means of expressing an ideal.

At the end of the decade it was agreed inter alia, that:

- No one shall deprive a woman of her right to vote, and in countries where
  it is obligatory to vote, any attempt to impede the exercise of that right
  may be penalized.
- ii) The age of majority shall be the same for both sexes and the same rights and responsibilities shall be conferred when it is attained.
- iii) No one shall attempt to prevent a woman from exercising her profession or occupation.
- iv) Legislative changes shall be aimed increasingly at equalizing responsibilities with regard to parental authority over children, administration of the family's assets and the establishment of the domicile or household.
- v) Patriarchal authority shall be replaced by parental authority.
- vi) Equality of labour rights shall apply throughout the region; however, its applicability shall depend on an educational and informational process at all levels, both for employers and employees.
- vii) Protection of mothers shall be guaranteed by legislation throughout the region; however, the equation of giving birth to illness, which is still practised, makes it difficult to implement existing regulations and contractual clauses.
- viii) Since with regard to the preceding points the situation of urban women appears to be better than that of rural women, a substantial effort should be made to develop egalitarian activities both within the family and at institutional level.

A curious fact which invites speculation is that laws have been an important instrument of change, or at least reflect the existence of certain levels of awareness and sensitivity to the problem of women's rights but that if women do not assume responsibility for the application of those laws, they will remain inoperative, at least in so far as the majority of women is concerned.

### E. SOME PRELIMINARY CONCLUSIONS

An ECLAC publication (36) contains a number of overall guidelines concerning public policies, which should be adopted by governments in order to raise the status of women. In support of what has been presented above and on the basis of an analysis of this document, its main conclusions may be summarized as follows:

- 1. Up to the middle of the 1970s, progress was made in respect of the behaviour of the social indicators. From that time on, the situation has tended to stagnate and in some cases, such as that of the incorporation of women into paid labour, there has been a clear regression.
- 2. With regard to education, health and other welfare programmes, the goals established for the Decade have been partially achieved in that there has been significant progress in the participation of children and young people in middle and higher education and also in the parasystem and in extension courses. With regard to health, an important effort has been made in the extension of coverage, rural sanitation and improvements in mother-child nutrition. In some countries, the institutional network provided in support of mothers and children, including such services as day nurseries, home care centres, institutions providing care for children of pre-school age and family orientation schemes, has been strengthened.
- 3. Urban development, rural-urban migration, industrialization and the incorporation of women into the labour force have affected family composition, structure and integration. Thus, these factors may serve as a reference in identifying different types of families in a society.
- 4. In addition, the rise in the level of information, education and urban development of the societies considered is reflected in considerable drops in fertility. This has resulted in social change and transformation in family structure which are still not reflected in official statistics.
- 5. With regard to policies for the redistribution of wealth, it may be said that although the emphasis has been traditional in the majority of cases, note should be taken of the existence of some innovative experiments with income distribution, the results of which indicate that social policies should aim in two directions: first, at the expansion of family consumption and second, at the betterment of human resources.
- 6. With regard to the proposals put forth in the Plan of Action, in the revised documents it may be noted that in nearly all the countries, the suggestions made have been partially implemented. However, the experience acquired at national level seems to have been in educational or health programmes and does not seem to have been so widespread in programmes specifically directed to women, the action taken having been on an experimental level in the majority of cases.
- 7. One of the recommendations in the Plan of Action —that which refers to the need for information— is still valid since the statistics available do not measure the majority of factors relative to discrimination on grounds of sex. In addition, much of the data are supplied in aggregate form, which prevents the effective measurement of the progress obtained in this area.
- 8. Significant progress has been made in the participation of women in new fields of activity, and in particular in the organization and management of small enterprises and in culture, the armed forces, finance, the institutionalization of community life and means of communication, among others. However, in spite of the democratic tradition of some of the countries considered, the role of women in the leadership of political parties, in parliament and in trade union affairs is limited.
- 9. Some of the experiences reported indicate not only that the processes of change promoted through training and generation of employment contribute to

- a rise in income but also that the status of women is benefited by the kind of self-fulfilment which leads to changes in the value put on the productive and reproductive role of the family. Changes have also been noted in the traditional patterns of decision-taking and in family dynamics.
- 10. In spite of the changes recorded, some obstacles remain; and these have different impacts depending on the position of women in the social structure. These differences lie in such areas as socialization, access to education and information, incorporation into the labour market, the type of family set up and the age at which women are integrated into that family, the value assigned to domestic work and the level of participation by women.
- 11. Note was taken of concrete experiments carried out in the various countries to eliminate these obstacles. The presence of women in production, community support for the care of children, organized protest against the high cost of living and the application of pressure for the exercise of citizens' rights and respect for freedom and democracy is an indication of the action they take in their social context.
- 12. Programmes aimed at transforming the rural environment by changing the technology used in production have had effects which are not altogether positive for the rural women considered. Although women are incorporated in the labour market as wage-earners, their participation in the decision-making process of production units is minimal, whereas their burden of work is increasing substantially since they must play their traditional role in the reproduction of the labour force while at the same time participating actively in the search for the supplementary monetary income needed for the survival of their family. There is evidence that traditional patterns of living persist in spite of changes in the structure of production and in the kind of work done by women.
- 13. The dynamics of change in the Caribbean shows the importance of a socio-cultural context in which family, institutions, State, life-style and the status of women have characteristics which are the result of a mingling of cultures. This provides specificity for the application of public policies, which is not always recognized in the studies made in this connection.
- 14. The importance of women in the Caribbean family is still reflected in the many roles they play. In particular, attention should be drawn to the survival strategy, in which close relations within the family group, the neighbourhood, the wider community and the intermediate organizations are largely responsible for the flexibility shown by women in their struggle to survive amid economic hardship.
- 15. Another factor which must be regarded as a reflection of change is the gradual transformation in the laws relating to women and children. Since 1975 a number of countries have introduced reforms in their civil codes to ensure equality of rights between men and women, have changed their laws relating to adoption of minors and guardianship and have recognized the status of women at work.
- 16. These changes often signal a shift in the attitudes and values of society and are sometimes promoted by organized groups of women, who exert pressure until they bring them about. It is possible that the existence of the Plan of Action and the fact that its declaration makes the problems faced by women a timely subject have been instrumental in bringing about the changes achieved in the legal order.

Table 11

LATIN AMERICA: RATES OF OPEN UNEMPLOYMENT
IN URBAN AREAS

(Percentages)

| Country                    | 1970           | 1980 | 1982 |
|----------------------------|----------------|------|------|
| Argentina <sup>a</sup>     | 4.9            | 2.3  | 5.7  |
| Bolivia <sup>b</sup>       | , <del>-</del> | 5.8  | -    |
| Brazil <sup>c</sup>        | 6.5            | 6.2  | 7.7  |
| Colombia <sup>d</sup>      | 10.6           | 9.7  | 9.3  |
| Costa Rica <sup>e</sup>    | 3.5            | 6.0  | 10.4 |
| Chile <sup>f</sup>         | 4.1            | 11.7 | 20.1 |
| Mexico <sup>g</sup>        | 7.0            | 4.5  | 3.7  |
| Panama <sup>h</sup>        | 10.3           | 9.8  | 5.7  |
| Paraguay <sup>i</sup>      |                | 3.9  |      |
| Peru                       | 6.9            | 7.1  |      |
| Uruguay <sup>k</sup>       | 7.5            | 7.4  | 11.0 |
| Venezuela <sup>l</sup>     | 7.8            | 6.6  | 8.2  |
| Latin America <sup>m</sup> | 6.6            | 5.8  | 7.4  |

Source: PREALC, Empleo y salarios, 1983, table 5, p. 10. Greater Buenos Aires. April-October average; 1982: April. <sup>c</sup>National Employment Survey Metropolitan Areas of Rio de Janeiro, Sao Paulo, Belo Horizonte, Porto Alegre, Salvador and Recife, 1980: June-December average; 1981, average: 12 months; 1982: January-May average. d Four cities: Barranquilla, Cali, Medellín and Bogotá. 1978: March, June and December average; 1979, 1980 and 1981: March, June, September and December average; 1982: March-June average. 'National urban. 1978 to 1981: March-July and November average; 1982: March. Greater Santiago, INE. Four quarters average. 1982: January-October <sup>8</sup> Metropolitan areas of Mexico City, Guadalajara and Monterrey. Four quarters average; 1982: first <sup>h</sup>National non-agricultural, with exception of 1978 and 1979 which correspond to urban sector. quarter. 1978 and 1979: August; 1980: urban, advance population census 1980; 1981: urban metropolitan Asunción, Fernando de la Mora, Lambaré and urban areas of Luque and San Metropolitan Lima. 1970: August-September; 1978: July-August; 1979: August-September; region. <sup>k</sup>Montevideo. Average two half years except for 1982: first half. 1980: April; 1981: June. urban. 1970: January-May, May-September, September-December average; 1978 to 1981: average to half years; Includes only countries for which information is available for all years. 1982: first quarter.

17. Finally, it cannot be denied that the growth, stability and maturity of political systems are reflected in the real and objective advancement of women.

In the document cited at the beginning of this section, various suggestions are made in connection with a "minimum core of measures", which should be adopted to improve the social status of families and of women in particular.

These measures include: a) the provision of stable employment, with an adequate minimum income and a place of work close to the family unit for the head of the household (male or female); b) programmes of health, housing, education and basic infrastructure services (electricity, water, etc.); c) programmes of mass family education, specially designed to raise the level of information and communication of the members of nuclear units and to combat sexual stereotypes; d) programmes to organize families in neighbourhood or community associations; e) adoption of legislative measures to support the objectives of the above programmes.

The findings presented do not necessarily cover everything done in connection with the suggestions made in the publication cited above; however, some of the findings deserve additional comment.

The global policies applied by various countries have not helped to generate employment; on the contrary, in many cases, the combination of external crisis and application of restrictive measures has led to an increase in open unemployment and in underemployment (see table 11).

The absorption capacity of the informal sectors, in which a large share of the female heads of household in urban areas are employed has decreased,

affecting family income.

Unemployment and the high cost of living have made income distribution more backward and have eroded the standard of living of broad segments of the population (see tables 12, 13 and 14).

Women in the urban middle class have experienced a decline in the expectations given them by advertising and publicity in respect of employment and the purchase of housing and other consumer goods.

The reduction of government spending and the increase in public utility rates have had a dual effect —a deterioration in the quality of such services as

Table 12

LATIN AMERICA: NUMBER OF PEOPLE LIVING BELOW
THE POVERTY LINE

|                     | 1970                  | 1980   | 2000 |
|---------------------|-----------------------|--------|------|
| N                   | lumber of people (mil | lions) |      |
| Argentina           | 1.9                   | 2.2    | 2.3  |
| Brazil              | 46.7                  | 52.6   | 65.6 |
| Colombia            | 9.4                   | 11.1   | 15.6 |
| Costa Rica          | 0.4                   | 0.5    | 0.7  |
| Chile               | 1.6                   | 1.8    | 2.1  |
| Honduras            | 1.7                   | 2.4    | 4.5  |
| Mexico              | 17.4                  | 20.2   | 24.3 |
| Panama              | 0.6                   | 0.7    | 0.9  |
| Peru                | 6.7                   | 8.6    | 14.7 |
| Venezuela           | 2.8                   | 3.7    | 6.3  |
| Total Latin America | 112                   | 130    | 170  |
|                     | Percentage of popular | tion   |      |
| Argentina           | 8                     | 8      | 7    |
| Brazil              | 49                    | 43     | 35   |
| Colombia            | 45                    | 43     | 41   |
| Costa Rica          | 24                    | 22     | 19   |
| Chile               | 17                    | 16     | 14   |
| Honduras            | 65                    | 64     | 64   |
| Mexico              | 34                    | 29     | 21   |
| Panama              | 39                    | 37     | 32   |
| Peru                | 50                    | 49     | 48   |
| Venezuela           | 25                    | 24     | 23   |
| Total Latin America | 40                    | 35     | 30   |

Source: ECLAC/UNDP/UNICEF, La superación de la pobreza: una tarea urgente y posible (E/CEPAL/G.1308), May 1984, p. 33.

Table 13

LATIN AMERICA: URBAN POVERTY

|                     | 1970                   | 1980                 | 2000 |
|---------------------|------------------------|----------------------|------|
| N                   | umber of people (mill  | lions)               |      |
| Argentina           | 1.0                    | 1.3                  | 1.4  |
| Brazil              | 19.1                   | 25.2                 | 40.0 |
| Colombia            | 5.0                    | 6.7                  | 11.2 |
| Costa Rica          | 0.1                    | 0.2                  | 0.3  |
| Chile               | 1.0                    | 1.2                  | 1.6  |
| Honduras            | 0.4                    | 0.6                  | 1.5  |
| Mexico              | 6.8                    | 9.3                  | 14.8 |
| Panama              | 0.2                    | 0.3                  | 0.7  |
| Peru                | 2.5                    | 3.4                  | 6.3  |
| Venezuela           | 1.6                    | 2.3                  | 4.4  |
| Total Latin America | 47                     | 64                   | 102  |
| Share of poor peo   | ple in total urban poj | oulation (percentage | )    |
| Argentina           | 54                     | 57                   | 59   |
| Brazil              | 41                     | 48                   | 61   |
| Colombia            | 53                     | 60                   | 72   |
| Costa Rica          | 26                     | 31                   | 38   |
| Chile               | 62                     | 67                   | 76   |
| Honduras            | 22                     | 27                   | 33   |
| Mexico              | 39                     | 46                   | 61   |
| Panama              | 36                     | 44                   | 75   |
| Peru                | 37                     | 40                   | 43   |
| Venezuela           | 57                     | 61                   | 70   |
| Total Latin America | 42                     | 49                   | 60   |

Source: ECLAC/UNDP/UNICEF, La superación de la pobreza: una tarea urgente y posible (E/CEPAL/G.1308), May 1984, p. 34.

water, electricity, urban sanitation and security; and a reduction in family spending capacity due to higher service costs.

The limitations set by adjustment programmes on investment and public spending have prevented new investment in basic infrastructure, which affects the development of water pipes, sewers and drains, schools, health, cultural, sports and recreation centres, etc.

The ceilings imposed on social spending will keep some experimental programmes in connection with family education and changing attitudes in stereotypes from being implemented on a general basis. As frequently happens in social intervention, this would result in a lack of continuity and failure to take advantage of institutional apprenticeship.

The foregoing comments make it possible to appreciate the kind of difficulties encountered. However, experience has shown a capacity for struggle and organization which should be used to its fullest to surmount the crisis and keep living conditions from deteriorating.

There are various examples of this capacity in each national situation: e.g., the will to associate at local level and the many community organizations and interest groups which have shown women's ability to demand concrete solutions to specific problems relating to their neighbourhood, environmental deterioration, personal security, citizens' rights, etc.

Moreover, it is obvious that, as a result of the action suggested in the Plan, organizational measures have been taken in the public administration of each country. Today in some form or another there are ministries of State, offices at the level of the President or Prime Minister and departments in ministries, whose main responsibility is to deal with matters relating to women.

There has been a change in the attitude and will of governments as to the role of women in public life. In the past five years the countries of the region have seen more women in high positions than in the preceding 50 years.

The content of the message conveyed by some mass-media, especially media in the form of widely circulated printed matter has changed in terms of the stereotypes transmitted. Little by little, the message is changing, and women are depicted in a less submissive and more combative light.

Table 14

LATIN AMERICA: RURAL POVERTY

|                     | 1970                    | 1980                 | 2000 |
|---------------------|-------------------------|----------------------|------|
| N                   | umber of people (mill   | lions)               |      |
| Argentina           | 0.9                     | 0.9                  | 0.9  |
| Brazil              | 27.6                    | 27.4                 | 25.6 |
| Colombia            | 4.4                     | 4.4                  | 4.4  |
| Costa Rica          | 0.3                     | 0.3                  | 0.4  |
| Chile               | 0.6                     | 0.6                  | 0.5  |
| Honduras            | 1.3                     | 1.8                  | 3.0  |
| Mexico              | 10.6                    | 10.9                 | 9.5  |
| Panama              | 0.4                     | 0.4                  | 0.2  |
| Peru                | 4.2                     | 5.2                  | 8.4  |
| Venezuela           | 1.2                     | 1.4                  | 1.9  |
| Total Latin America | 65                      | 66                   | 68   |
| Share of poor pe    | ople in total rural por | oulation (percentage | )    |
| Argentina           | 46                      | 43                   | 41   |
| Brazil              | 59                      | 52                   | 39   |
| Colombia            | 47                      | 40                   | 28   |
| Costa Rica          | 74                      | 69                   | 62   |
| Chile               | 38                      | 33                   | 24   |
| Honduras            | 78                      | 73                   | 67   |
| Mexico              | 61                      | 54                   | 39   |
| Panama              | 64                      | 56                   | 25   |
| Peru                | 63                      | 60                   | 57   |
| Venezuela           | 43                      | 39                   | 30   |
| Total Latin America | 58                      | 51                   | 40   |

Source: ECLAC/UNDP/UNICEF, La superación de la pobreza: una tarea urgente y posible (E/CEPAL/G.1308), May 1984, p. 35.

Finally, we should not lose sight of the role played by women in the democratization and structural transformation of some of our societies. Here, the traditional stereotypes have fallen apart, and the models which are emerging are oriented towards equal rights and the sharing of responsibilities between the sexes. Thus, in spite of the crisis and its impact on the standard of living, it seems that the quantitative transformations which have occurred with regard to the status of women are so profound that they will not be eradicated as a result of the present situation.

#### III. THE OUTLOOK

#### A. PROBABLE FUTURE

This section will contain some considerations concerning the future, which is becoming increasingly difficult to forecast in the framework of the present circumstances which are bound to affect the way in which the region will probably develop.

As has already been noted, the present unfavourable foreign trade situation, which has affected the majority of the Latin American and Caribbean countries since 1985 and is aggravated by the burden of service and amortization payments on the external debt and by the stringency of the adjustment programmes suggested by the International Monetary Fund, invariably gives rise to questions as to how to overcome the present macroeconomic maladjustments in the short term. In many cases the repercussions of these measures in the medium and long term are overlooked.

Overcoming the imbalances depends on factors outside the region's control, such as the recovery of international trade; the performance of interest rates in the leading financial markets, and in particular in the United States of America; the expansion of the industrial economies and an increase in the understanding and good political sense which must prevail in North-South relations since there can be no doubt that problems such as external indebtedness are no longer exclusively economic in nature but have become political issues of great impact for the peace and development of the region.

The climate described has an effect on any exercise relating to the future performance of the economy and society of Latin America and the Caribbean. A recent publication of the Inter-American Development Bank contains projections based on two hypotheses of economic growth. In one the possibility is envisaged of stopping the present trend towards the deterioration of per capita consumption, and in the other, an increase in the number of unemployed is avoided.

The scenarios are completed by taking a look at the possible performance of exports in the period 1984-1990. Based on assumptions concerning the behaviour of income under the economic activity of the industrialized countries, which absorbed two thirds of the merchandise exported by the region, and the competitiveness of the goods exported in light of the impact of relative prices and the capacity of supply to respond to changes in external markets. The findings show less growth of exports, and of manufactures in particular, than that shown in the 1970s; a rise in the relative prices of primary products from

Latin America, by comparison with those from other sources, which would partially explain the lower growth rate of Latin American commodity exports in relation with the growth of world demand; the heavy pressure exerted by the recovery of international trade on the demand for Latin American exports, which shows the importance of the existence of protectionist barriers and other restrictions applied by the developed countries against exports from the third world.

However, the figures show that the growth rate of exports is slightly higher than the interest rate forecast for external credit, so that there is only partial relief from the burden of interest paid on exports.

Projections show that exports will not grow as fast as in previous decades and the burden of the existing debt will be a serious strain on foreign currency earnings in the next five years. In order to ensure moderate growth and halt the rise in the rates of unemployment, it will be necessary to reverse the trend in consumption and investment, and to do this, new external resources will be needed at the end of the 1980s. This means a rise in debt servicing and a substantial outflow of capital resources from the region to the rest of the world. Therefore, vigilance and control over external accounts, and in particular over the use of external resources, will be an indispensable requisite for governmental authorities.

The projections considered suggest that hard and difficult times lie immediately ahead and that the reduction observed in government spending, the limitations placed on investment and the burden of the debt have drastically changed the style and quality of life of the population of the region.

It therefore seems that it may be necessary to make an effort to change the present trend since the political and social stability of the region is at stake.

#### B. PLANNING AND SOCIAL POLICIES

The present crisis has shown more clearly than ever before the weaknesses and imperfections in the theories and also in the methodologies applied in our present planning systems.

In recent years there has been frequent criticism of the so-called normative approach devised by ECLAC in the mid-1950s, which served as a guide for the implementation of the various planning systems now in operation. In 30 years, there has been a substantial accumulation of experience, which has led to the natural adaptation of the principles formulated back in the 1950s; however, the effort made in this direction seems to have been insufficient for meeting the challenge now faced by Latin American society.

Among the positive factors of the normative approach, attention should be drawn, in particular, to the legitimization of the planning function, especially with regard to medium-term planning; the efforts made to rationalize the machinery for resource allocation by adopting programme budgeting and pre-investment; the gradual introduction of the spatial physical dimension and of regional planning; and the increase in the concern shown for the population at the various levels of the process. Limiting factors include the inability to articulate short-term and medium- and long-term problems; slowness in the design and formulation of strategies really aimed at overcoming the structural

conditioners of development; the lack of consistency between general plans and practical approaches for solving the problem identified; the use of partial diagnoses to interpret an increasingly complex situation and the fact that social and economic planning is still regarded as two separate fields when in fact society has a role to play in the whole process.

Thus, there is need to rethink the role played by planning, the contents of strategies and policies and the institutional arrangements of today and to re-examine the role of the State. In view of the high cost of the adjustment programmes implemented in recent years, the State must take the responsibility for ensuring that the content of strategies and policies is fair and well balanced. Therefore, in order to keep the situation from deteriorating still further and to get back on the path to growth and development, planning must promote the changes needed in the economic, social, political and cultural structure in order to achieve in the medium-term conditions favourable to the expansion of employment and well-being by using truly participative and democratic mechanisms.

A number of recent publications have analysed the scope and limitations of social planning in the region. For the purpose of this analysis, it should be borne in mind that the coverage of the social aspects of planning has been marginal; the greatest effort made in respect of the formulation of plans has been concentrated on their economic and financial aspects.

Social planning began with the systematization of ideas relating to education, health and social welfare, fields in which, for various reasons, a certain amount of data and organizational experience had already been acquired.

Population growth, urban development and the generation of employment made it necessary to design population policies and arouse interest in physical planning, which are fields of interest shared by traditional economic planners and by social planners.

As a result of OECD thinking concerning human resources and their relationship to productivity and the growth of the product, in the mid-1970s human resources programming was introduced, and later on it was suggested that there might be a relationship between the training of human resources, scientific and technological development and the problems of management and administration.

When theories of well-being and human capital became fashionable in academic circles in the mid-1970s, expression was given to the concern for inequity, critical poverty, marginality and problems relating to human rights became explicit.

In this context social planning acquired some relevance at the level of theory and justified its existence as an instrument for combating poverty and marginality, but always in a secondary role. New fields have gradually been incorporated, including the study of problems relating to women and their integration into development, which emerged in mid-1970s as a category in its own right and as a topic to which planning could be applied.

Because of the methodology used (global, sectoral and medium-term), from the beginning there was a separation—a problem still not totally solved—between the economic realm, on the one hand, and the social and cultural realms, on the other. For a number of years, the only link between them was the financial link, i.e., the amount of resources needed to cover the cost of the expansion of

services and their implications in the table of resources and uses of funds. As the social and cultural sectors were usually weak, they were regarded as residual and bore the brunt of the cuts and adjustments made.

On many occasions what actually happened bore little relationship to what was contained in the normative plan for the reasons cited at the beginning of this study and because of the lack of a clear global concept of the role assigned to what are known as "social polices" in development strategies. The first limitation is that the process as a whole is a social process so that this kind of distinction cannot be drawn. Development is first and foremost an equitable distribution of the benefits of growth; thus, its central objective is a social objective, and to achieve it, it is necessary to formulate programmes and projects whose ultimate goal is the construction of a more just society.

Thus, social policy viewed in the light of the crisis must take responsibility for its central objective, clearly define its role and act on economic policy so as to ensure that appropriate priority is given to equity and justice. This calls for the management of theoretical categories which are not orthodox but are realistic and in line with the structural characteristics of Latin American societies, which should generate and implement their own solutions.

# C. THE TREATMENT OF WOMEN IN SOCIAL POLICIES

In the context described above, the inclusion of women as a subject of public policy is fully justified. Thus, after many decades, recognition is given to their objective position of inequality and to the need to correct it by subjecting their treatment to the rationale of the Plan.

It may be said that, depending on the level of development and sociohistoric context of each country, the subject of women has historically been approached in three different ways:

- a) The assistance approach. Women are viewed as a social problem, an object of public policies; emphasis is placed on their reproductive function. In this approach, there is no clear policy for the integration of women into development. The focus is on solving health and education problems of the mother-child binomial, which results in the implementation of mother-child and other programmes in such areas as pre- and post-natal care, medical attention in early infancy, environmental enhancement and health education. This approach results in a considerable reduction in infant mortality rates.
- b) The participative approach. This approach is taken in the framework of public policies oriented towards integral development through the incorporation of all sectors of the population into production and the distribution of wealth. Consideration is given to women in plans and ideas of a global nature; there is no specificity in the definition of strategies and policies although there is greater consistency in their design and formulation. Not only is action directed towards women in their reproductive role, but provision is made for their participation in the labour force, and they are regarded as beneficiaries of all sectoral programming which has an impact on the quality of life, housing, education, recreation and other areas.

c) The integrationalist approach. The status of women is seen from three angles: as a crucial variable in the long- and medium-term development strategy; as a social factor in sectoral strategy and as an area to be focused upon when the family, childhood and youth are under consideration. When this approach is taken, it is assumed that organizational and ideological obstacles have been overcome. The goal sought is to bring about a change in the status of women, the main thrust being on the elimination of social injustice and on economic growth. The action is preferably directed towards groups living in extreme poverty, the most vulnerable members of the family group and situations where women suffer from inequality of opportunity and of participation.

As things now stand in the region, these three types of approach coexist. There are countries which are still at the assistance stage, others in the participative stage, and a few have made efforts in the direction aimed at in the third stage. If an integral approach to the subject is to be taken throughout the region, there is need to adopt a different concept of planning and, in particular, of social policy; social policy should no longer be regarded as marginal and instrumental

and should begin to play a leading role in building the future.

The documents introduced by ECLAC at the Second Conference on Women, which was held at Macuto in 1979\* discussed possibilities for public policies relating to the integration of women in development. The suggestions made seem as valid now as at the time the documents were issued. However, it is worth considering the difficulties encountered in putting into practice the valuable ideas contained in them. These difficulties are of three types. First, there are ideological difficulties associated with the view which countries take concerning their respective national projects, in some of which the status of women does not seem to be a focal point; the second type of difficulty is of an institutional nature and has to do with the absence, weakness or impermanence of the machinery established to implement these decisions and to monitor and follow up on the public policies established with regard to them. The third type of difficulty is related to limitations of a financial nature, which have made it necessary to review the commitments made with respect to programmes and projects with a social content.

# IV. SUGGESTIONS FOR PLANNING

On the basis of the information analysed, it may be concluded that socioeconomic achievements in the region are to a certain extent independent of the existence of the regional plan of action since progress in education, health and welfare result from action taken before the Plan became official.

However, for decades interest groups, international bodies, governments and various institutions exerted pressure to obtain recognition of the concern shown for the status of women issue. As a result the issue gradually gained acceptance and was later treated as a planning category and became a social policy issue.

<sup>\*</sup>See E/CEPAL/CRM.2/L.2 and E/CEPAL/CRM.2/L.3.

The Plan of Action represented an increase in the region's awareness, in which ideas and suggestions were consolidated and new possibilities opened up for action by groups and governments in favour of the integration of women into development.

Their integration has been gradual. Different levels of complexity in dealing with the issue can be identified on the basis of the degree of evolution of different societies and planning systems. Since in some cases this type of experience has been acquired only recently, it is difficult to be sure that the changes which have occurred are a result of the action planned or would have occurred even without the Plan.

For these changes to reach the various segments of society, it will be necessary to devise new forms of planning which will respond to the criticism levied; to apply development policy which truly provides for social concerns; to give full recognition to the status of women; to establish a more participatory and democratic society and to achieve a certain degree of international consensus that the maintenance of peace, while necessary for development, is not all that is needed.

In order to bring about a gradual change in the methods and systems applied in the area of planning, it will be necessary to replace the traditional normative approaches with a dynamic view that is more in keeping with the complex situation which exists in the region today. To do this, it may be necessary to incorporate elements of situational planning or strategical planning or to adopt approaches now under study with a view to establishing the link between planner and policy and between theory and practice, thereby doing away with the traditional differences among the economic, social, cultural and political dimensions on the one hand, and the short, medium- and long-term on the other.

Given the nature of its objectives, development strategy must be social: development is understood to be an ordered and rational process of changing the structures of society, and if this society clearly displays symptoms of injustice and inequality, planning will consist of rational intervention aimed at correcting the situation through policies, programmes and projects. As a result, the central aim of the strategy will be to resolve the negative economic situation while ensuring that the measures proposed are equitable and just.

The egalitarian concept of development approaches the full range of the new planning categories, in which the situation of women has an important place. Incorporating a new category involves overcoming various types of obstacles, including limitations in diagnostic studies (in the case of women, lack of information on their place in society, their class position and related factors keeping them from full insertion into the development process); theoretical limitations in interpreting the complex demographic and psychosocial relationships to the productive process; practical limitations in making plans viable and limited human and organizational resources for implementing efficient and timely solutions.

In a democratic society, development calls for aware and voluntary participation; the State must therefore assume its various roles of planner, promoter, distributor, investor, entrepreneur, regulator and financial agent, always taking care that there is due participation. This will also make it necessary to change

institutions, such as the family, the churches, political parties and labour unions, among others.

To extend this idea to a new dimension, we should point out that a change will also be required in international relations in the form of a new North-South dialogue, which will promote true participation by the developing countries and changes in the structure of multilateral co-operation.

In the analysis of the situation of Latin American women and their families upon which this paper is based, we have seen clearly the effects of some variables (such as urbanization, industrialization, rural-urban migration, information and education, family planning and legal changes) on the status of women, taking the following three diagnostic elements into account: the type of social group made up by women; the structural relationship between domestic work, predominantly done by women, and productive work; and the nature of sexual stereotypes and their discriminatory effects, which are in general negative for the status of women.

In crisis situations such as that experienced by the region, intense and contradictory social pressures arise and influence the diagnostic categories mentioned above in different ways.

The family, in its various forms (according to its location in the class hierarchy and the type of society in which it is set) continues to fulfil its many functions, among which are: i) reproduction of the species; ii) productive functions through its participation in the labour force and in the creation of wealth; iii) socialization of its new members; iv) consumption, savings and investment and v) mobilization of its components and their participation in intermediate groups and entities established for the purpose of transforming society. The crisis may accelerate, delay or phase out these functions peculiar to the family group which make it an object of specific policies designed to strengthen it and, in doing so, bring about changes in the assignment of roles and the distribution of domestic tasks and result in greater participation of women in the work force and new ways of managing the family budget.

Because the general situation has deteriorated, progress in the area of incorporating women into the work force is no longer being made, and in some cases ground is being lost. A tendency to regress in the area of distribution makes the lives of poor urban and rural women more difficult. The loss of the purchasing power of the real wage as a result of inflation affects the growing expectations of middle class women; the increase in the number of unemployed and underemployed has an effect on the psychosocial balance of couple relationships, and separations and divorces may increase. Imbalances in family structure may affect some of the family's basic functions, such as socialization, and have a negative influence on the future performance of its members, in areas such as education, communication and interpersonal relationships.

The negative effects of crisis situations may lead to the organized mobilization of women in defence of their rights and perhaps even to conflicts between women and the structures which they feel are acting against their aspirations. It is therefore important to formulate coherent global, sectoral and target-group policies, particularly in the areas of family, children and youth, in order to achieve the type of adjustment which truly favours development.

There can be no doubt that women and family must play a very important role in any future development strategy. In 1985 the female population of the region will be close to 198 million; of these women, 115 million will be between the ages of 15 and 64. On the one hand, women will represent a significant force in the orientation of individual and family consumption. Their capacity for saving can create the financial resources necessary for investment. Rationalization of their spending can affect the behaviour of imports. Their active participation in defence of the family budget can serve as an excellent weapon in the fight against inflation. More efficient use of public services can help to make them more effective, thereby reducing the fiscal deficit. On the other hand, with regard to the components of global supply, a substantial portion of the female population will enter the labour force and will therefore act directly on the production of goods and services, in addition to contributing to the development of the economy in general through domestic work, which is still not recognized in national accounts. In the experience of a number of countries, the production of handicrafts in co-operatives has also proved viable for increasing and diversifying exports.

In order to achieve the true integration and participation of women in the processes described above, the importance of women and the family must be recognized in the global strategy; sectoral support policies must be maintained and strengthened by expanding their scope, changing their assistance content and correcting difficulties relating to management and low levels of participation; and an integral policy which encompasses the target groups —family, children and youth— must be designed according to the specific features of each society.

In the short term, it might be necessary to protect the income of women and families with low socioeconomic status through job creation and maintenance programmes and by providing them with access to certain commodities at reasonable prices and organizing communities to receive and lend voluntary services. Action aimed at raising the standard of living (construction of social infrastructure, raising the retention capacity of the educational system, increasing the coverage of the primary health care network, providing easier access to culture and studying the communications with a view to changing the sexual stereotypes common in the lowest strata of society) should not be neglected. With regard to the so-called middle classes, the most important objective will be to avoid deterioration in their lifestyle. To this end, it might be necessary to enlist housewives in consumers co-operatives established for the purpose of reporting incidents of speculation to the competent authorities, rationalizing the consumption of goods and services and forming a community of interests through which women's demands can be articulated. All of this should be done with a view to reducing the effect of price increases on the real wage.

After short-term problems have been resolved, medium- and long-term efforts should be directed towards development as defined herein. This calls for stable and well-paid employment, expansion of services, more education and better health facilities, training of female workers, greater access to the decision-making level in organizations and political parties and greater participation in action aimed at changing the status of women. To this end, the programmes and

projects formulated should incorporate past experiences in order to respond practically to the desires and aspirations of women with a view to giving them and the society in which they live the right to fair treatment and greater opportunities for development.

### V. SOME FINAL CONSIDERATIONS

The profound changes noted in the region in the past three decades have affected the entire population, but their effects on different social groups and on young people and women, in particular, have not been the same.

Changes in the status of women, when they have occurred, have been tied more closely to global change than to policies or action directed specifically at women. An example of this is the access of women to education due to the expansion of the educational systems. (This is true primarily of the lower and middle levels since there are still differences as regards access to higher and technical education.)

In some cases technology can be related with raising the status of women by giving them access to higher levels of monetary income. However, this has not always resulted in a better lifestyle, and, where many groups of women are concerned, it has led to gradual proletarization.

There have also been profound changes in the countryside-city relationship in the region, including the emergence of a monetized rural middle class, which cultivates special crops yielding high profits. As a result of the gradual proletarization of large groups, some members of rural families have left their homes in search of wage-earning work in the urban centres or on other farms. As a consequence, women have had to assume an increasingly important role in the socialization of the rural family and in the family production system.

In the city, another significant change has occurred: more than one generation has been born since the migratory flows which took place in the 1960s and 1970s. The women in the second generation differ from those in the first generation in that they have access to education, the urban labour market and means of communication; there are also differences in the values they have adopted in respect of family and couple relationships, which is one of the most significant cultural changes to have occurred in the region.

The big population movements, whether within countries or among them, have had an impact on the structure and composition of the labour force and on the production apparatus. In this process, women have demonstrated their great ability to adapt and participate.

Public policies aimed at women have been characterized by focal or experimental activity, the content of which has been traditional in respect to the role of women; this is reflected in the fact that public policies have had only a slight impact in respect of the action taken by women and their significance as agents of change.

In some countries the laws relating to the family and women have been substantially changed on the basis of two principles: equality of the woman within the couple and equality of children, regardless of the nature of the union of the parents. Human rights as well as social rights have begun to be taken into account. Policies for the integration of women have run up against conceptual

controversies and structural problems in that people associate such policies with the socio-political structures of a particular system and different structures produce different systems. Terms such as "integration", "development" and "egalitarian participation" have different meanings and values in each context. However, there are two structures which set the tone of policies related to women: governments, which take note of the demands and aspirations of social groups and design policies to satisfy them, and social organizations, which deal with problems in their own specific realm. In the case of Latin America, government action does not appear to have undergone any tremendous process of modernization to raise the status of women and to promote their active participation as a prerequisite of development. The alternatives for the future still lie within the framework of modernization, although new challenges are now arising.

The subjects touched upon herein are important points of reference in connection with the near future which will be characterized by options derived from the crisis to which reference has been made throughout this study.

The first of these options is to continue applying the economic growth and distribution model which characterized the past three decades and which, as has been seen, has not responded to the social demands of the majority of the population. The kind of growth it fosters is not viable because of the financial and other limitations already referred to.

The second option is to adopt a new concept of the State, which will enable the citizenry to develop on an egalitarian basis. This calls for a State in which organized groups take part in determining the rules of the game, in which shared values facilitate the kind of participation which spurs the citizenry on to action and in which socialization through the family becomes a real strategy of democratization.

If this option is adopted, the transformation of the roles played by young people, and especially by young women, could provide a prime incentive to a rapprochement between the public and the private sectors and between the small and big decisions of daily life, thus helping to create stronger links between the citizenry and the State, which could revitalize the role of young people as a primary object of political action. At present patterns of communication between different social groups have been seen to emerge, so that they become allies as a result of the crisis. Moreover, the younger generations are showing a tendency to let their immediate concerns overshadow their long-term possibilities.

If this approach were followed, the family would acquire new dimensions. Interpersonal relationships would not depend so much on the sex, age and role of family members; the family would stop being a recipient of services and would become a unit generating decisions and the specific characteristics of each type of family would be taken into account when policies were formulated.

Women would play different roles depending on their age. Older women, who have received the initial impact of the changes made, would have the hardest time of it. The preservation of the double and the triple work-day would appear to be unavoidable, but their contribution would be their experience and internalization of these inconsistencies, which would be surmounted by socializing the younger generations.

Young women would play the leading role in realizing the possibilities for future change. In their value systems, the concept of unilateral authority would have to be replaced by a concept of solidarity, which would make it possible to put social relationships on a more human basis. Their participation in the body politic would consist in a more active leadership in the search for solutions rather than merely in playing the role of critic. By demanding concrete solutions to the problem of the quality of life, they would become an important force in the orientation of social expenditure and this could give rise to conflict if their expectations exceeded the capacity of the prevailing model in use.

The changes suggested are possible in the framework of the type of democratic society which can be brought into being by taking different options based on the principle of participation and the kind of mechanisms which make democracy possible. It is in the process of participation that the civil and political elements of society come into contact, and the result can be the emergence of

new types of negotiation for equal status for women.

However, participation should preferably take place in the context of a civil society with a territorial base and not only in political organizations under State influence, as has been the trend in recent decades.

A propitious climate for the strengthening of a democratic society is a climate of peace. Today peace is threatened by various phenomena including the growth of nationalism, which tends to foster border disputes; the indebtedness of some countries as a result of the military expenditure incurred in spite of the express opposition of the region to the arms race and the conflicts taking place in some sectors because of the inability of the model now in use to meet the expectations generated.

Regional integration and solidarity are key elements of the new strategy. The action being taken by organized groups of women who have met the political and ideological problem in a spirit of solidarity, ethically and as defenders of human rights, is an example of the possibilities open to women in this field. This was borne out by the Madres de la Plaza de Mayo (Argentina), who as mothers and grandmothers systematically demanded the right to life under a régime in which that right was denied and in doing so gained the support of the whole region. Thus, a common search for solutions to common problems would be carried out in a spirit of solidarity. In a sensitive and vulnerable situation, complementarity would be sought through reciprocal concessions made in the realms both of ideas and of tactics, thereby limiting the practice of hegemony by the State or by States and opening the way to different kinds of integration in the social structure. Stress would be laid on the need for conscience-raising concerning the evils of war by favouring negotiation over warfare, and integration and peace would be promoted by ensuring that the region's problems were solved within the region, with maximum reliance on its own potential. In all these tasks, the role of women would be of crucial importance.

#### NOTES

<sup>1</sup>This does not mean that sufficient food has been supplied by agriculture. Every day imports of foodstuffs increase, and this has now developed into a food security problem.

<sup>2</sup>World Conferences held in Mexico City (1975) and Copenhagen (1980); regional Conferences held in Havana (1977), Macuto (1979) and Mexico City (1983); workshop on the impact of the modernization of agriculture on the participation of rural women (Mexico City, 1978); round-table on survival strategies in peasant economies and the role of the woman, Bogotá, 1983; experts meeting on the participation of women in the production of foodstuffs (Rome, December 1983); and meetings relating specifically to women, including the meeting in Rio de Janeiro on women in the labour force in Latin America, 1978; the seminar on female and family participation (CLACSO), Montevideo, 1979; the first Latin American congress on research on women, San José, Costa Rica, 1981; the seminar on study programmes on women, Rio de Janeiro, 1981; the congress on research on women in the Andean region, Lima, 1982; the compendium prepared by CEDES, Buenos Aires, on research on women; the compendium prepared by ACEP (Colombia), in 1982, on women workers in agriculture and other publications (see the bibliography).

<sup>3</sup>Now it is considered preferable to speak of differences in gender rather than sexual difference. The former puts a social construction on the statement, while the latter refers only to a biological difference.

<sup>4</sup>This concept is expressed very clearly in the *Manual del hacendado chileno*, written by Manuel José Balmaceda in 1875.

<sup>5</sup>Ramón Piñango and Mercedes Pulido de Briceño, "La política social de la democracia venezolana", Revista CIC, Vol. XLII, No. 419, November 1979, Caracas, Venezuela; Rolando Franco, "Planificación social: problemas y perspectivas", Revista Interamericana de Planificación, No. 68, December 1983; Pedro Demo, "Indagaciones críticas sobre la teoría y la práctica de la planificación social", Revista Interamericana de Planificación, No. 68; Maritza Izaguirre Porras, "Las políticas sociales: el caso venezolano", CENDES, Caracas, 1984 (mimeographed version).

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ahmad, M. Zubeida and Martha F. Loufti, "ILO Programme: Rural Women", Geneva, ILO, 1981. Study presented at the Tripartite Regional Seminar for Latin America on Rural Development and Women, Mexico City, 24-28 August 1981.
- Andrés Besson, Magali and Lucila Pagliai, "La educación en población en perspectiva de la renovación educacional", Estudio de referencia sobre educación en población para América Latina, Santiago, Chile, UNESCO, Regional Education Office for Latin America and the Caribbean (OREALC), Regional Sectoral Programme in Population Education, 1981.
- Aranda, Ximena, "Efectos de la pobreza y la proletarización en las familias rurales", report
  presented at the Interdisciplinary Meetings on the Family in Chile, Santiago, Chile, Institute
  of Sociology, Catholic University of Chile, May 1984.
- 4. Aranda, Ximena, "Participación de la mujer en la agricultura y la sociedad rural en áreas de pequeña propiedad", Santiago, Chile, FLACSO, 1982 (preliminary version).
- Aranda, Ximena, "Un intento de organizar mujeres rurales en torno a una de sus actividades productivas: la artesanía tradicional", third series of meetings on rural support programmes, Temuco, Chile (edited by the Agrarian Research Group (GIA) at the Academy of Christian Humanism), November 1982.
- Archetti, P. Eduardo, "Economía doméstica, estrategias de herencia y acumulación de capital: la situación de la mujer en el norte de Santa Fe, Argentina", Campesinado y estructuras agrarias en América Latina, Quito, Centro de Planificación y Estudios Sociales (CEPLAES), 1981.
- Arispe, Lourdes, La migración por relevos y la reproducción social del campesinado, Cuaderno del Centro de Estudios Sociológicos No. 28, Mexico City, Colegio de México, 1980.
- 8. Arriagada, Irma, "Enfoques para la investigación relativa a la mujer en América Latina", Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, August 1982 (preliminary version).
- Arriagada, Irma, "Estructura social y situación de la mujer rural: algunas proposiciones", Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, 1979 (preliminary version).
- Arriagada, Irma, "Mujeres pobres latinoamericanas: un esbozo de tipología", Estudios de población, Bogotá, Vol. II, No. 8, Colombian Association for Population Studies (ACEP), August 1977.
- 11. Arriagada, Irma, "Notas para la discusión acerca de la mujer y la estrategia de los '80:

  Droblemas y políticas". Santiago Chile ECLAC 26 November 1980 (preliminary version)
- problemas y políticas", Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, 26 November 1980 (preliminary version).

  12. Arriagada, Irma, "Notas respecto de la metodología y las áreas temáticas de los estudios de la
- mujer" (E/CEPAL/SEM.12/R.8), Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, 1983.

  13. Arriagada, Irma and Johanna Noordam, "Rural women in Latin America and the division of labour" (E/CEPAL/R.240/Rev.1), Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, 21 October 1980.
- 14. Barbieri, M. Teresita de, "La condición de la mujer en América Latina: su participación social; antecedentes y situación actual", Mujeres en América Latina. Aportes para una discusión, Mexico City, ECLAC and Fondo de Cultura Económica, 1975.
- 15. Barría, Liliana, "Estudios de casos sobre la Comunidad El Corazón: el rol productivo de la mujer en una cooperativa campesina", report submitted to the FAO International Round Table on Survival Strategies in Peasant Units and the Role of Women, Bogotá, 1983.
- Benítez, Raúl and Julieta Quilodrán (compilers), La fecundidad rural en México, Cuadernos del Colegio de México series, Mexico City, UNAM, 1983.
- Borsotti, Carlos Alberto, "América Latina: análisis de problemas sociales relativos a la mujer en diversos sectores" (E/CEPAL/R.316), Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, May 1982.
- Borsotti, Carlos Alberto, Notas sobre la familia como unidad socioeconómica, Cuadernos de la CEPAL, No. 22, Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, 1978 (United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.81.II.G.43).

- Brizuela de Ramírez, Fulvia and Juan Shoemaker, "Tendencias de la población económicamente activa desde 1950 hasta 1972", Social Studies Centre of Paraguay, Asunción, 1978.
- Bruno-Marfaing, Marie-Louise, "Instrumento de sexología", Estudio de referencia sobre educación en población para América Latina, Santiago, Chile, UNESCO/OREALC, Regional Sectoral Programme in Population, 1981.
- Buvinic, Mayra, "La productora invisible en el agro centroamericano: un estudio de casos en Honduras", Debate sobre la mujer en América Latina y el Caribe: Las trabajadoras del agro, Bogotá, ACEP, vol. II, 1982.
- 22. Buvnic, Mayra and Amy Mellecamp, "Research on and by women in Chile", Report prepared for the Inter-American Foundation, Washington, D.C., International Center for Research on Women, July 1983 (preliminary version).
- Cáceres, Îngrid, "La división del trabajo por sexo en la unidad campesina minifundista", Mujer y capitalismo agrario, Bogotá, ACEP, 1980.
- Campaña, Pilar, "Discusión sobre las metodologías de investigación para el estudio de la mujer", Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, 1980 (preliminary version).
- 25. Campaña, Pilar, "Estudio preliminar de la condición y participación económica de la mujer en el Perú rural" (E/CEPAL/R.245), Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, January 1981.
- Campaña, Pilar and María Soledad Lago, "...Y las mujeres también trabajan...", Agrarian Research Group (GIA), Resultados de Investigación series, No. 10, Santiago, Chile, Academy of Christian Humanism, 1982 (preliminary version).
- Campillo, Fabiola, "Situación y perspectivas de la mujer campesina colombiana", Bogotá, Ministry of Agriculture (official document for presentation by Colombia at the International Round Table on Survival Strategies in Peasant Economies: The Role of Women), November 1983.
- 28. Cardoso, Fernando, "Las políticas sociales en la década del 80: (nuevas opciones?" (E/CEPAL/ILPES/SEM.1/R.4, E/ICEF/SIMSOC/R.4), Santiago, Chile, CEPAL-ILPES/UNICEF, 12 April 1982 (document presented at the International Symposium on Social Development Policies in Latin America and the Caribbean in the 1980s, Santiago, Chile, 12-15 April 1982.
- Cardoso, F.H. and G. Muller, quoted by C. Miró and D. Rodríguez in "Capitalism and population in Latin American agriculture. Recent trends and problems", CEPAL Review, No. 16 (E/CEPAL/G.1195), Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, April 1982, pp. 57-59 (United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.82.II.G.2).
- Cebotarev, Eva, "La organización del tiempo de actividades domésticas y no domésticas de mujeres campesinas en Latinoamérica", Ontario, University of Guelph, 1978 (preliminary version of report submitted to the Seminar on Women in the Labour Force in Latin America, Rio de Janeiro, November 1978).
- 31. Centro de Estudios de Población y Desarrollo (CEPD), "Diagnóstico social y jurídico de la mujer en el Perú", Lima, 1978 (preliminary version).
- 32. ECLAC, "América Latina: Análisis de problemas sociales relativos a la mujer en diversos sectores" (E/CEPAL/R.316), Santiago, Chile, 9 May 1982.
- ECLAC, "Preliminary draft of Regional Plan of Action for the Integration of Women in Development" (E/CEPAL/L.146), Santiago, Chile, 7 February 1977.
- ECLAC, Contributions to the diagnosis and promotion of the integration of women into the development of Latin America and the Caribbean (E/CEPAL/CRM.2/L.3), Santiago, Chile, 1979
- ECLAC, "Aportes para la evaluación del Decenio de las Naciones Unidas para la Mujer y para el diseño de las estrategias hacia el futuro" (LC/L.313(Conf.77/4)), Santiago, Chile, October 1984.
- ECLAC, Five studies on the situation of women in Latin America, Estudios e Informes de la CEPAL, No. 16 (E/CEPAL/G.1217), Santiago, Chile, September 1982.
- 37. ECLAC, "Discriminación contra la mujer. Resabios existentes en la legislación vigente de América Latina. Propuesta de medidas concretas para una integración de la mujer en el Decenio de las Naciones Unidas para la Mujer: Igualdad, Desarrollo y Paz" (E/CEPAL/SEM.14/R.3), Santiago, Chile, 30 November 1983.
- ECLAC, Latin American development in the 1980s, Estudios e Informes de la CEPAL series,
   No. 5 (E/CEPAL/G.1150), Santiago, Chile, December 1981.

- ECLAC, El desarrollo en América Latina y sus repercusiones en la educación: alfabetismo y escolaridad básica, Cuadernos de la CEPAL series, No. 41 (E/CEPAL/G.1193), Santiago, Chile, October 1982 (United Nations publication, Sales No.: S.83.II.G.6).
- ECLAC, "Estructura social y situación de la mujer rural. Algunas proposiciones" (E/CEPAL/R.233), Santiago, Chile, 14 July 1980.
- ECLAC, "Estudio de caso. Dos experiencias de creación de empleo para mujeres campesinas" (E/CEPAL/MEX/SEM.7/R.3), Mexico City, 12 January 1982.
- 42. ECLAC, Evaluación de la Ciudad de La Paz, Cuadernos de la CEPAL, No. 30 (E/CEPAL/1090), Santiago, Chile, 1979.
- 43. ECLAC, "Hacia una estrategia regional de información y comunicación para la mujer" (E/CEPAL/CRM.3/L.6), Santiago, Chile, 20 June 1983.
- ECLAC, Biennial Report, United Nations Economic and Social Council, Official Records, Supplement No. 16 (E/CEPAL/G.1176), Santiago, Chile, 1981.
- ECLAC, "Informe de actividades de la secretaría del sistema de la CEPAL con relación a la integración de la mujer en el desarrollo económico y social de América Latina y el Caribe" (E/CEPAL/MDM/3/Rev.2), Santiago, Chile, November 1979.
- 46. ECLAC, "Informe de actividades de la secretaría del sistema de la CEPAL sobre los problemas de la niñez más estrechamente relacionados con la situación de la familia y la mujer (educación, salud y vivienda)" (E/CEPAL/MDM/4/Rev.1), Santiago, Chile, May 1979.
- ECLAC, "Informe de ejecución y orientación de las actividades de la Secretaría de la CEPAL con relación a la integración de la mujer en el desarrollo económico y social de América Latina" (E/CEPAL/CRM.3/L.3 and E/CEPAL/CRM.3/L.3/Add.1), Santiago, Chile, 22 June 1983 and 11 June 1985.
- ECLAC, "Report of the World Conference of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace, Copenhagen, 14-30 July 1980" (A/CONF.94/35), New York, 1980 (United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.8.IV.3).
- ECLAC, "Report of the Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America" (E/CEPAL/G.1042/Rev.1), Santiago, Chile, June 1977.
- ECLAC, "Report of the Fourth Meeting of the Presiding Officers of the Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean" (E/CEPAL/MDM/9, E/CEPAL/G.1173), Santiago, Chile, 26 March 1981.
- 51. ECLAC, "Report of the Fifth Meeting of the Presiding Officers of the Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean" (E/CEPAL/CRM.3/L.2), Santiago, Chile, 5 August 1983.
- ECLAC, "Report of the Meeting of the Presiding Officers of the Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America" (E/CEPAL/MDM/1), Santiago, Chile, 8 March 1978.
- ECLAC, "Report of the Second Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America", Macuto, Venezuela, 12-16 November 1979 (E/CEPAL/CRM.2/L.6/Rev.1), Santiago, Chile, 27 December 1979.
- ECLAC, "Report of the Second Meeting of the Presiding Officers of the Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean", Mexico City, 8-10 August 1983 (E/CEPAL/MDM/2/Rev.2), Santiago, Chile, 2 October 1978.
- ECLAC, "Report of the Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean", Mexico City, 8-10 August 1983 (E/CEPAL/G.1265), Santiago, Chile, 5 December 1983.
- ECLAC, "Report of the Third Meeting of the Presiding Officers of the Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean" (E/CEPAL/MDM/5/Rev.1, E/CEPAL/1082), Santiago, Chile, 17 April 1979.
- ECLAC, "Report of the Group of Government Experts to appraise the Implementation of the Regional Plan of Action for the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America" (E/CEPAL/1071), Santiago, Chile, 20 March 1970.
- 58. ECLAC, "Report of the Group of Experts on Operational Strategies for the Advancement of Women up to the Year 2000" (LC/G.1322), Santiago, Chile, 5 December 1984.

- 59. ECLAC, "Report of the fifth session of the Committee of High-Level Government Experts" (E/CEPAL/G.1155), Santiago, Chile, 27 March 1981.
- ECLAC, "Informe del Seminario Interinstitucional sobre la Integración de la Mujer en el Proceso de Planificación en América Latina" (E/CEPAL/R.286), Santiago, Chile, 16 October 1981.
- 61. ECLAC, "Report of the Caribbean Regional Seminar on Training in Programme and Project Planning" (E/CEPAL/CDCC/72), Santiago, Chile, 7 September 1981.
- 62. ECLAC, "Informe del Seminario Regional para América Latina sobre la integración de la mujer en el desarrollo, con especial referencia a los factores demográficos" (ST/ESA/SER-B/7/Rev.2, E/CEPAL/1006/Rev.2), Santiago, Chile, 12 June 1975.
- 63. ECLAC, "Informe del Seminario Regional para la formación y capacitación de la mujer y la familia rural a través de escuelas radiofónicas", auspiciado por el Fondo de Contribuciones Voluntarias para el Decenio de las Naciones Unidas para la Mujer y la Comisión Económica para América Latina (E/CEPAL/MEX/SEM.9/R.17), Mexico City, January 1983.
- 64. ECLAC, "Informe del taller regional para la capacitación en proyectos y programas para la mujer" (E/CEPAL/MEX/SEM.7/R.4), Mexico City, 30 June 1982.
- 65. ECLAC, "Informe del taller sobre el impacto de la modernización agrícola en la participación de la mujer rural" (E/CEPAL/VP/M/196), Santiago, Chile, July 1979.
- 66. ECLAC, "Informe sobre los proyectos relacionados con el tema de la mujer que llevan a cabo en México los organismos del sistema de las Naciones Unidas" (E/CEPAL/MEX/PROY.1/L-.1/Rev.1), Mexico City, 10 February 1982.
- ECLAC "Integration of women in development: Activities performed by the CEPAL Secretariat" (E/CEPAL/MDM/8), Santiago, Chile, January 1981.
- 68. ECLAC, "Integración de la mujer en el Desarrollo de América Latina, Directorio" (E/CEPAL/G.1102), Santiago, Chile, 1979.
- 69. ECLAC, "Integración de la mujer en el desarrollo económico y social de América Latina. Nota de la Secretaría" (E/CEPAL/AC.71/3), Santiago, Chile, 31 October 1977.
- 70. ECLAC, "Inventario bibliográfico sobre la familia (con especial referencia a América Latina y el Caribe)" (E/CEPAL/L.130), Santiago, Chile, 16 March 1976.
- 71. ECLAC, "Inventario de proyectos de investigación-acción sobre mujeres y familias de sectores populares urbanos" (E/CEPAL/SEM.12/R.1), Santiago, Chile, 31 October 1983.
- 72. ECLAC, "Inventario de proyectos sobre integración de la mujer al desarrollo en América Latina", Santiago, Chile, 1979 (preliminary version).
- 73. ECLAC, "Labor preparatoria relativa a la documentación básica que habrá de presentarse a la conferencia mundial. Estrategias de ejecución para el adelanto de la mujer destinadas a alcanzar los objetivos del Decenio de las Naciones Unidas para la Mujer: Igualdad, Desarrollo y Paz, y promover el progreso en los campos del empleo, la salud y la educación, teniendo presentes la Estrategia Internacional del Desarrollo para el decenio de 1980 y el Nuevo Orden Económico Internacional" (E/CEPAL/SEM.14/R.2), Santiago, Chile, 30 November 1983.
- ECLAC, "La cooperación internacional para el desarrollo" (E/CEPAL/MEX/SEM.7/R.2), Mexico City, 1982.
- 75. ECLAC, "La familia como marco social inmediato de los niños y la mujer", Cinco estudios sobre la situación de la mujer en América Latina, Estudios e Informes de la CEPAL series, No. 16 (E/CEPAL/G.1217), Santiago, Chile, September 1982.
- 76. ECLAC, "La mujer en el desarrollo humano y social de América Latina" (E/CEPAL/L.147), Santiago, Chile, 15 February 1977.
- 77. ECLAC, "La mujer en el sector popular urbano. América Latina y el Caribe" (LC/G.1326), Santiago, Chile, October 1984 (United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.84.II.G.14).
- 78. ECLAC, "La mujer partícipe: reflexiones sobre su papel en la familia y la sociedad" (E/CEPAL/CRM.3/L.4), Santiago, Chile, 30 June 1983.
- ECLAC, "La mujer rural de América Latina: un actor social del último decenio, 1975-1984" (LC/L.312(Conf.77/3)), Santiago, Chile, November 1984.
- 80. ECLAC, "The participation of youth in the development process of Latin Americá: Problems and policies regarding labour force insertion, education and employment opportunities", CEPAL Review No. 18 (E/CEPAL/G.1221), Santiago, Chile, December 1982 (United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.82.II.G.4).
- 81. ECLAC, "People's participation in development in Latin America" (E/CEPAL/L.264), Santiago, Chile, April 1982.

- 82. ECLAC, "La situación de la mujer en América Latina y el Caribe en relación con el cumplimiento del Plan de Acción Regional" (E/CEPAL/CRM.2/L.2), Santiago, Chile, 27 September 1979, pp. 40-41.
- 83. ECLAC, "La situación jurídica de la mujer latinoamericana y del Caribe definida según las resoluciones y mandatos del sistema de las Naciones Unidas", vol. I: "Fundamentación, propósitos, metodología y análisis de la información" (E/CEPAL/CRM.3/L.5/Add.1), Santiago, Chile, 20 June 1983.
- 84. ECLAC, "Las mujeres rurales latinoamericanas y la división del trabajo" (E/CEPAL/R.240), Santiago, Chile, 21 October 1980.
- 85. ECLAC, "Lista bibliográfica sobre la mujer en el desarrollo en América Latina" (E/CEPAL/G.1100), Santiago, Chile, October 1979.
- ECLAC, "Los problemas del desarrollo latinoamericano y la crisis de la economía mundial" (E/CEPAL/CEGAN.6/L.2), Santiago, Chile, November 1982.
- 87. ECLAC, Medición del empleo y de los ingresos rurales, Estudios e Informes de la CEPAL series, No. 16 (E/CEPAL/G.1226), Santiago, Chile, December 1982.
- 88. ECLAC, Mujeres en América Latina. Aportes para una discusión, Mexico City, Fondo de Cultura Económica, 1975.
- 89. ECLAC, "Mujeres y familias del sector popular urbano en América Latina: notas preliminares" (E/CEPAL/SEM.12/R.2), Santiago, Chile, 24 November 1983.
- ECLAC, "Participación de la mujer en actividades comunitarias: estudio de casos" (E/CEPAL/R.322/Rev.1), Santiago, Chile, 11 August 1982.
- 91. ECLAC, "Perfil de la situación de la mujer en Bolivia" (E/CEPAL/G.1190), Santiago, Chile, 10 March 1982.
- 92. ECLAC, "Regional Plan of Action for the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America" (E/CEPAL/1042/Rev.1), Santiago, Chile, November 1977.
- 93. ECLAC, "Programas de desarrollo y la realidad de la mujer caribeña. Temas de reflexión" (E/CEPAL/SEM.12/R.21), Santiago, Chile, 28 November 1983.
- 94. ECLAC, "Resoluciones aprobadas recientemente por la Asamblea General y por el Consejo Económico y Social acerca de las actividades del sistema de las Naciones Unidas relativas a la situación social e integración de la mujer en el desarrollo" (E/CEPAL/L.158/Rev.1), Santiago, Chile, 7 June 1977.
- 95. ECLAC, "Resoluciones aprobadas recientemente por la Asamblea General y el Consejo Económico y Social acerca de las actividades del sistema de las Naciones Unidas relativas a la situación social e integración de la mujer al desarrollo" (E/CEPAL/CRM.2/L.4/Rev.1), Santiago, Chile, October 1979.
- ECLAC, "A selection of resolutions adopted in 1979-1980 on the situation of women and their integration into economic and social development" (E/CEPAL/G.1146), Santiago, Chile, 19 February 1981.
- 97. ECLAC, "Women and development. Guidelines for programme and project planning" (E/CEPAL/G.1200), Santiago, Chile, May 1982.
- ECLAC/CDCC/ILPES, "Report of the Meeting on Women in Development Planning", Christchurch, Barbados, 12-14 May 1980 (E/CEPAL/CDCC/63), 23 May 1980.
- ECLAC/FAO, "Agricultura, alimentación y desarrollo en América Latina", Expert Consultation on development styles and agricultural policies (RLAT 803/9), Santiago, Chile, September 1983.
- ECLAC/FAO, "Consultation on development styles and agricultural policies", Santiago, Chile, November 1983 (preliminary version).
- 101. ECLAC/FAO, "Draft report on the Round Table on Rural Poverty in Latin America and the Caribbean", Santiago, Chile, May 1984 (preliminary version).
- ECLAC/FAO/DIF/UNICEF, Final report of workshop on the impact of the modernization of agriculture on the participation of rural women (E/CEPAL/VP/196), Mexico City, October 1978.
- ECLAC/Catholic University of Sao Paulo, "Impacto de la modernización sobre la mujer de una comunidad rural" (E/CEPAL/R.318), Santiago, Chile, 2 June 1982.
- Colombia, Secretaría de Integración Popular de la Presidencia de la República, Legislación colombiana sobre la mujer, Bogotá, 1979.
- Cornejo Muñoz de Vera, Rina, "La socialización de la mujer campesina del Cuzco", Debate sobre la mujer en América Latina y el Caribe: Las trabajadoras del agro, Bogotá, ACEP, vol. II, 1982.

- 106. Covarrubias, Paz and Godoy, Hernán, "Población y familia", Estudio de referencia sobre educación en población para América Latina, Santiago, Chile, UNESCO/OREALC, Regional Sectoral Programme in Population Education, 1981.
- Chile, Secretaría General del Gobierno, Secretaría Nacional de la Mujer, Situación jurídica de la mujer chilena, Santiago, Chile, 1975.
- 108. Deere, Carmen Diana, "La división por sexo del trabajo agrícola: un estudio de la Sierra Norte del Perú", Workshop on the Participation of Women in Development sponsored by the National Cultural Institute of Peru and the Institute of Social Studies at The Hague and held in Lima, Peru, from 25 October to 16 December 1978.
- 109. Demo, Pedro, "Algunas perplejidades de la política social" (E/ICEF/SIMSOC/R.17), 12 April 1982 (document submitted to the International Symposium on Social Development Policies in Latin America and the Caribbean during the 1980s, sponsored by ECLAC/ILPES and UNICEF and held in Santiago, Chile, from 12 to 15 April 1982).
- Demo, Pedro, "Indagaciones críticas sobre la teoría y la práctica de la planificación social", Revista interamericana de planificación, No. 68, December 1983.
- De Oliveira, María Coletta, Clase social, familia y fecundidad, Santiago, Chile, Programa de Investigación Social para América Latina (PISPAL), 1978 (preliminary version).
- 112. De Riz, Liliana, "El problema de la condición femenina en América Latina: la participación de la mujer en los mercados de trabajo: El caso de México", Mujeres en América Latina. Aportes para una discusión, Mexico City, Fondo de Cultura Económica, 1975.
- Diaz, Cecilia, preliminary results of the projects carried out by the Agarian Research Group (GIA) on women's organizations, Institute of Christian Humanism, Santiago, Chile, July 1984.
- Drewnoski, Jan, "La integración de elementos sociales a la planificación", Boletín de Planificación, No. 14, Santiago, Chile, ECLAC/ILPES, March 1982.
- Durston, John, "Gestión de recursos y diferenciación social en la comunidad andina de altura: implicaciones para el desarrollo rural" (E/CEPAL/PROY.6/R.42), Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, March 1982.
- 116. Durston, John and Crivelli, Ana, "Diferenciación campesina en la sierra ecuatoriana: Análisis estadístico de cinco comunidades de Cotopaxi y Chimborazo", Punta de Tralca, Chile, GIA and the Latin America Council for the Social Sciencies (CLACSO), October 1983.
- Elmendorf, Mary, "Anita, una campesina maya que sale adelante", Debate sobre la mujer en América Latina y el Caribe: Las trabajadoras del agro, Bogotá, ACEP, vol. V. Nos. 1-6 (January-June 1980).
- 118. FAO, "Actividades complementarias del CMRADR: función de la mujer en la producción agrícola", Expert consultation on the role of women in food production, World Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development (ESH:WISP-83-11), Rome, September 1983.
- FAO, "Expert consultation on the participation of women in food production", Rome, No. 30, December 1983 (preliminary version).
- 120. FAO, "Paraguay. Estudio de casos sobre Ojopoi: una cooperativa campesina y repatriación: un área de asentamiento antiguo en descomposición", Informe de la Mesa Redonda sobre estrategias de sobrevivencia en economías campesinas: El rol de la mujer, Bogotá, November 1983 (preliminary version).
- 121. FAO, WCARRD Programme of Action: Integration of women in rural development, World Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development, document submitted to the World Conference of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace, Copenhagen, 1980.
- 122. Faroppa, Luis A., "El desarrollo social en época de incertidumbre económica" (E/CEPAL/ILPES/SEM.1/R.19, E/ICEF/SIMSOC/R.19), Santiago, Chile, ECLAC/ILPES and UNICEF, 11 April 1982 (document submitted to the International Symposium on Social Development Policies in Latin America and the Caribean in the 1980s, held in Santiago, Chile from 12 to 15 April 1982).
- 123. Feijoó, María del Carmen, La mujer, el desarrollo y las tendencias de población en América Latina, Buenos Aires, Centro de Estudios de Estado y Sociedad (CEDES), vol. III, No. 1, 1980.
- 124. Fernández, Mateo Francisco, "La familia rural en Chile central. Estudio sociocultural en cuatro comunidades", Thesis seminar in fulfilment of requirements for Bachelor's degree in sociology, University of Chile, Santiago, 1986 (preliminary version).
- Filgueira, Carlos, "Acerca del consumo de los nuevos modelos latinoamericanos" (E/CEPAL/R.261), Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, May 1981.

- 126. Flisfisch, Angel, Franco, Rolando and Palma, Eduardo, "Dimensiones de una planificación participativa" (E/CEPAL/ILPES/R.18), Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, November 1980.
- Flisfisch, Angel, Franco, Rolando and Palma, Eduardo, "Planificación con participación, dimensiones, vialidad y problemas", Boletín de Planificación, No. 14, Santiago, Chile, CEPAL/ILPES, March 1982.
- 128. Franco, Rolando, 'Las grandes controversias de la política social' (E/CEPAL/ILPES/SEM.1/R.5, E/ICEF/SIMSOC/R.5), Santiago, Chile, CEPAL/ILPES and UNICEF, 31 March 1982 (document submitted to the International Symposium on Social Development Policies in Latin America and the Caribbean in the 1980s held in Santiago, Chile from 12 to 16 April 1982.
- Franco, Rolando, "Planificación social: Problemas y perspectivas", Revista interamericana de planificación, No. 68, December 1983.
- Franco, Rolando, "Planificación y políticas sociales", Revista Paraguaya de Sociología, January-April 1982, pp. 105-134.
- 131. Fundação Instituto Brasileiro de Geografía e Estatística (IBGE) and UNESCO, "Perfil estatístico de crianas e maes no Brasil, 1970-1977", Rio de Janeiro, 1982.
- Galeano, Luis, "Las mujeres como proveedoras de fuerza de trabajo en el Paraguay", Asunción, Social Studies Centre of Paraguay, 1978.
- 133. García, Brigida, "Anticoncepción en el México rural, 1969", La fecundidad rural en México, edited by Raúl Benítez and Julieta Quilodrán, Mexico City, College of Mexico, UNAM, 1983.
- 134. García W., María José, "Población y sexualidad", Estudio de referencia sobre educación en población para América Latina, Santiago, Chile, UNESCO/OREALC, Regional Sectoral Programme in Population Education, 1981.
- 135. Gaugain, Catalina, "Influencia de la escolaridad sobre la fecundidad en los medios rural y semiurbano de México", La fecundidad rural en México, edited by Raúl Benítez and Julieta Quilodrán, Mexico City, College of Mexico, 1983.
- Geneletti, Carlos, "Población y estratificación", Estudio de referencia sobre educación en población para América Latina, Santiago, Chile, UNESCO/OREALC, Regional Sectoral Programme in Population Education, 1981.
- 137. Germain, Adrienne, "Las mujeres pobres: Planteamientos para políticas", Las trabajadoras del agro, Bogotá, ACEP, vol. II, 1982.
- Gillespie, Vivian, "Utilización del tiempo entre las mujeres rurales", Estudios de Población, Bogotá, ACEP, vol. V, Nos. 1-6, January 1980.
- 139. González, Clara G., "Formación y cambios del latifundio en la organización de la familia campesina", Mujer y capitalismo agrario, Bogotá, ACEP, 1980.
- Graciarena, Jorge, "Notas sobre el problema de la desigualdad sexual en sociedades de clases", *Mujeres en América Latina: Aportes para una discusión*, Mexico City, ECLAC and Fondo de Cultura Económica. 1975.
- 141. Graciarena, Jorge, "Políticas sociales y de desarrollo. Alternativas para su integración" (E/CEPAL/ILPES/SEM.1/R.21, E/ICEF/SIMSOC/R.21), Santiago, Chile, CEPAL/ILPES and UNICEF, 12 April 1982 (document submitted to the International Symposium on Social Development Policies in Latin America and the Caribbean in the 1980s, held in Santiago, Chile from 12 to 15 April 1982).
- 142. Graciarena, Jorge, "Types of income concentration and political styles in Latin America", CEPAL Review, No. 2, Santiago, Chile, second semester 1976 (United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.77.II.G.2).
- 143. Hewitt, Cynthia de Alcántara, "Modernization and changing life chances of women in low-income rural families" (E/CEPAL/L.197), Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, July 1979 (preliminary version).
- 144. Hurtado, Osvaldo, "Democracia, desarrollo y participación", *Boletín de Planificación*, No. 14, Santiago, Chile, CEPAL/ILPES, March 1982 (preliminary version).
- 145. Izaguirre Porras, Maritza, "Las lecciones de la crisis", Caracas, CENDES, 1984 (preliminary version).
- Izaguirre Porras, Maritza, "Las políticas nimeosociales: El caso venezolano", Caracas, CENDES, 1984 (preliminary version).
- 147. Izaguirre Porras, Maritza, "Notas sobre los problemas del desarrollo latinoamericano y la participación de la mujer. Algunos comentarios críticos" (CIM/SILODE/Doc.12/81) (document submitted to the Inter-American Seminar on the Participation of Women in Development Co-operation, Montevideo, Uruguay, 19-23 October 1981.

- 148. Jelin, Elizabeth and María del Carmen Feijoó, "Trabajo y familia en el ciclo de vida femenino: El caso de los sectores populares en Buenos Aires", Estudios CEDES, vol. III, No. 8/9, 1980.
- Jiménez Castro, Wilburg, "Planificación participativa en Costa Rica", Boletín de Planificación, No. 14, Santiago, Chile, CEPAL/ILPES, March 1982.
- Jiménez, Mónica, et al., "Evaluación de programas de acción y de educación de la mujer rural", Santiago, Chile, FAO, 1981.
- 151. Lago, María Soledad and Carlota Olavarría, "Participación de la mujer en las economías campesinas: Un estudio de casos en dos comunas frutícolas", Resultados de investigación, No. 9, Santiago, Chile, Agrarian Research Group (GIA), Academy for Christian Humanism, 1981 (preliminary version).
- 152. León de Leal, Magdalena and Carmen Diana Deere, "Planteamientos teóricos y metodológicos para el estudio de la mujer rural y el proceso de desarrollo del capitalismo", Mujer y capitalismo agrario, Bogotá, ACEP, 1980.
- 153. León de Leal, Magdalena and Dora Rothlisderger, La participación política de la mujer de la clase obrera, un estudio de caso, Universidad de Los Andes, Departamento de Ciencia Política, Bogotá, ACEP, October 1978.
- 154. Lerda, Juan Carlos, "Población y economía: Producción, intercambio y consumo", Estudio de referencia sobre educación de población para América Latina, Santiago, Chile, UNESCO/OREALC, Regional Sectoral Programme in Population Education, 1981.
- 155. Leret de Matheus, María Grabriela, La mujer, una incapaz como el demente y el niño, Mexico City, B. Costa-Amic, 1975.
- 156. López Cordovez, Luis, "Trends and recent changes in the Latin American food and agricultural situation", CEPAL Review, No. 16 (E/CEPAL/G.1176), Santiago, Chile, April 1982 (United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.82.II.G.2).
- 157. López Pintor, Rafael, "El desarrollo social posible" (E/CEPAL/ILPES/SEM.1/R.20, E/ICEF/SIMSOC/R.20), Santiago, Chile, CEPAL/ILPES and UNICEF, 10 April 1982 (document submitted to the International Symposium on Social Development Policies in Latin America and the Caribbean in the 1980s, Santiago, Chile, 12-15 April 1982).
- Lugo, Carmen, "Diagnóstico de la situación de la mujer centroamericana, de Cuba, México, Panamá y República Dominicana" (E/CEPAL/MEX/SEM.7/R.1), Mexico City, 13 January 1982.
- 159. Mack, Macarena, Angélica Wilson and Ximena Valdes, "Una experiencia de organización autónoma de mujeres en el campo", Santiago, Chile, Centre for Studies on Women, 1983 (preliminary version).
- 160. Matos Mar, J. and J.M. Mejía, statement made in 1979 quoted by C. Miró and D. Rodríguez in Capitalismo, relaciones sociales de producción y población en el agro latinoamericano. Revisión de algunos estudios recientes, Mexico City, College of Mexico, 1981.
- 161. Medrano, Diana, "Desarrollo y explotación de la mujer: Efectos de la proletarización femenina en la agroindustria de flores en la sabana de Bogotá", La realidad colombiana, Bogotá, ACEP, vol. I. 1982.
- Medrano, Diana, "La mujer en la región cafetera del suroeste antioqueno", Mujer y capitalismo agrario, Bogotá, ACEP, 1981.
- 163. Mexico, Office of the President of the Republic, Situación de la mujer en México, Programa de México para el Año Internacional de la Mujer, Mexico City, 1975.
- 164. Michel, Andrée, "El trabajo invisible de las campesinas del tercer mundo", Desarrollo y sociedad, No. 13, Bogotá, Social Studies Foundation (CEDES), 1984.
- Miró, Carmen and Daniel Rodríguez, Capitalismo, relaciones sociales de producción y población en el agro latinoamericano, Mexico City, College of Mexico, 1981.
- 166. Miró, Carmen and Daniel Rodríguez, "Capitalism and population in Latin American agriculture: Recent Trends and Problems", CEPAL Review, No. 16 (E/CEPAL/G.1195), Santiago, Chile, April 1982 (United Nations publications, Sales No.: E.82.II.G.2).
- Montoya, Beatriz, "Los minifundios del altiplano peruano", América indigena, vol. XXXIX, No. 4, October-December 1970.
- 168. Motta de Correa, Lilian, "Transformación de la unidad doméstica y el trabajo de la mujer campesina en una zona de avanzado desarrollo capitalista", Mujer y capitalismo agrario, Bogotá, ACEP, 1980.

- 169. Myrdal, Alva and Viola Klein, La mujer y la sociedad contemporánea, Barcelona, Ediciones Península, 1969. 170. United Nations, "Declaration of Mexico on the equality of women and their contribution to development and peace" and "Plans of action", Report of the World Conference of the International Women's Year (E/Conf.66/34), New York, 1976 (United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.76.IV.1).
- 170. United Nations, "Declaration of Mexico on the equality of women and their contribution to development and peace" and "Plans of action", Report of the World Conference of the International Women's Year (E/Conf.66/34), New York, 1976 (United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.76.IV.1).
- 171. United Nations, "Review and evaluation of progress achieved in the implementation of the World Plan of Action: Health: report of the Secretary-General (A/Conf.94/9), Copenhagen, July 1980 (document prepared for the World Conference of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace).
- United Nations, "Report of the World Conference of the United Nations Decade for Women, Equality, Development and Peace, Copenhagen, 14 to 30 July 1980" (A/Conf.94/35), New York, 1980.
- United Nations, "Report of the United Nations Regional Seminar on the Participation of Women in Economic, Social and Political Development: Obstacles to their Integration", Buenos Aires, 22 to 30 March 1976 (ST/ESA/SER.B.9), New York, 1976.
- 174. United Nations, "World Plan of Action for the Implementation of the Objetives of the International Women's Year", Report of the World Conference of the International Women's Year, Mexico City, 19 June-2 July 1975 (E/Conf.66/34), New York, 1976.
- 175. United Nations, Resolutions and decisions adopted by the General Assembly during its thirty-fifth session, Resolution 35/56, International Strategy for the Third United Nations Development Decade, 5 December 1980, General Assembly, Official Records: Thirty-fifth session, Supplement No. 48 (A/35/48), New York, 1981.
- United Nations, Seminar on the civic and political education of women, Helsinki, 1-14
   August 1967 (ST/TAO/HR/30), New York, 1968.
- Noordam, Johanna, "La familia y la situación de la mujer en distintos contextos de Bolivia" (E/CEPAL/R.223), Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, 25 August 1980 (preliminary version).
- 178. ILO, "Promoción del empleo y los ingresos entre la población pobre incluidas las mujeres mediante actividades no agrícolas", Comisión Consultiva sobre Desarrollo Rural (CCSDR), Geneva, 1983 (preliminary version).
- 179. ILO, Standards and Policy Statements of Special Interest to Women Workers, adopted under the auspices of the International Labour Office. Geneva. 1980.
- 180. Oliveira, María Coletta Ferreira, "Classe social, familia e fecundidad: Um estudio sobre estratégias de reproduao de trabalhadores rurais", Sao Paulo, University of Sao Paulo, 1978 (preliminary version).
- 181. WHO, Health and the Status of Women, report of the World Health Organization, submitted to the World Conference of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace, Copenhagen, 1980.
- 182. Ordóñez, Miriam, "Analisis de la situación de la mujer campesina. Características demográficas de la población rural", Bogorá, Universidad Javeriana. 1983.
- Ortega, Emiliano, "La agricultura campesina en América Latina. Situaciones y tendencias", CEPAL Review, No. 16 (E/CEPAL/G.1195), Santiago, Chile, April 1982 (United Nations publication, Sales No.: E/82.II.G.2).
- 184. Ossandón, Josefina and Paz Covarrubias, Elementos para el análisis integrado del medio rural y, en particular, de la situación de la mujer en lo concerniente a educación, familia, salud y ocupación, Santiago, Chile, UNESCO Regional Education Office for Latin America and the Caribbean, 1980.
- 185. Oxman, Verónica, "La participación de la mujer campesina en organización: Los centros de madres rurales", Santiago, Chile, Agrarian Research Group (GIA), Academy for Christian Humanism, September 1983.
- 186. Parra, Rodrigo, La educación rural en la zona cafetera colombiana, Project, Development and Education in Latin America and the Caribbean (DEALC/15), UNESCO/ECLAC/UNDP, Buenos Aires, September 1978.
- 187. Pearse, Andrew and Matthias Stiefel, "Debaters' Comments on Inquiry into Participation: A Research Approach", Participation Occasional Paper, United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD), October 1980.

- 188. Pearse, Andrew and Matthias Stiefel, "Participación popular: Un enfoque de investigación", Socialismo y Participación, No. 9, Lima, United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (undated).
- 189. Pedreros, Mercedes, "La participación femenina y su presupuesto de tiempo: Notas sobre problemas relativos a conceptos y captación", Mexico City, National Labour Information and Statistics Centre, Department of Labour and Social Welfare, July 1976.
- 190. Pezzulo, Carolina, La mujer y el desarrollo: guía para la planificación de programas y proyectos (E/CEPAL/G.1200), Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, 1984.
- Piñango, Ramón and Mercedes Pulido de Briceño, "La política social de la democracia venezolana", Revista SIC, Caracas, vol. XLII, No. 419, November 1979.
- 192. Quilodrán, Julieta, "Análisis de la nupcialidad a través de la historia de uniones", La fecundidad rural en México, edited by Raúl Benítez and Julieta Quilodrán, Mexico City, College of Mexico, 1983.
- Rama, Germán W. Educación, imágenes y estilos de desarrollo (DEALC/6/reimpr.2), UNESCO/ECLAC/UNDP project on development and education in Latin America and the Caribbean, December 1978.
- 194. Rama, Germán W., "Educación y democracia" (DEALC/Fichas/3/reimpr.2), February 1981 (document submitted to the seminar on social conditions of democracy sponsored by UNESCO, ECLAC and UNDP and held at San José, Costa Rica, from 16 to 20 October 1978).
- 195. Ramos, Silvia E., "Las relaciones de parentesco y de ayuda mutua en los sectores populares urbanos: Un estudio de caso", *Estudios CEDES*, Buenos Aires, vol. 4. No. 1, 1981.
- 196. Rechinni de Lattes, Zulma and Catalina H. Wainerman, "Información de censos y encuestas de hogares para el análisis de la mano de obra femenina en América Latina y el Caribe: Evaluación de deficiencias y recomendaciones para superarlas" (E/CEPAL/L.206), Santiago, Chile, ECLAC, 3 October 1979.
- 197. Roldán, Marta, "Subordinación genérica y proletarización rural: Un estudio de caso en el noroeste mexicano", Debate sobre la mujer en América Latina y el Caribe. Las trabajadoras del agro, Bogotá, ACEP, vol. II, 1982.
- 198. Rubin de Celis, Ema, et al., Rol económico de la mujer campesina, Centro de Investigación y Promoción del Campesino (CIPCA), July 1982.
- 199. Sánchez Arnau, Juan Carlos and Silvia Sigal, "Población y condiciones de vida en América Latina", in Estudio de referencia sobre educación en población para América Latina, UNESCO, Regional Education Office for Latin America and the Caribbean (OREALC), Regional Sectoral Programme in Population Education, Paris, 1981.
- 200. Sanguinetti, Julio María, "Condicionantes culturales y límites éticos del desarrollo" (E/CEPAL/ILPES/SEM.1/R.18, E/ICEF/SIMSOC/R.18), 11 April 1982 (document presented at the ECLAC-ILPES/UNICEF International Symposium on Social Development Policies in Latin America and the Caribbean in the 1980s, Santiago, Chile, 12 to 15 April 1982).
- 201. Sautu, Ruth, "El trabajo femenino en el sector agrícola: Análisis comparativo de Argentina, Bolivia y Paraguay", in Debate sobre la mujer en América Latina y el Caribe. Las trabajadoras del agro, Bogotá, ACEP, vol. II, 1982.
- Schmink, Marianne, "La mujer en la economía en América Latina", the Population Council, Documento de Trabajo No. 11, Mexico City, June 1982.
- Sierra, Enrique, "La dimensión temporal de la planificación nacional y el sentido de la planificación operativa", ECLAC-ILPES, Boletín de Planificación No. 14, Santiago, Chile, March 1982.
- 204. Silva, Alicia Eugenia, "De mujer campesina a obrera florista", Debate sobre la mujer en América Latina y el Caribe. La realidad colombiana, Bogotá, ACEP, vol. I, 1982.
- Sireau, Albert, "Tendencias demográficas", in Estudio de referencia sobre educación en población para América Latina, UNESCO, Regional Education Office for Latin America (OREALC), Regional Sectoral Programme in Population Education, Paris, 1981.
- 206. Sirvent, María Teresa, "Población y cultura", Estudio de referencia sobre educación en población para América Latina, UNESCO, Regional Education Office for Latin America and the Caribbean (OREALC), Regional Sectoral Programme in Population Education, Paris, 1981.
- 207. Tedesco, Juan Carlos and Rodrigro Parra S., "Escuela y marginalidad urbana", Revista colombiana de educación, No. 7 (first semester of 1981), Universidad Pedagógica Nacional, Centro de Investigaciones.

- UNESCO/CEPAL/UNDP, "Desarrollo y educación en América Latina", General summary, Project on Development and education in Latin America and the Caribbean, Final report No. 4, November 1981.
- UNESCO/ECLAC/UNDP, "Educación, lengua y marginalidad moral en el Perú" (DEALC/10/reimpr.1), Project on development and education in Latin America and the Caribbean, Buenos Aires, November 1978.
- 210. UNESCO/ECLAC/UNDP, "La educación y los problemas del empleo", Project on development and education in Latin America and the Caribbean, Final report No. 3, Buenos Aires, October 1981.
- UNESCO/ECLAC/UNDP, "Proceso pedagógico y heterogeneidad cultural en el Ecuador (1960-1978)" (DEALC/22), Project on development and education in Latin America and the Caribbean, August 1979.
- 212. UNRISD, "Diálogo sobre la participación", No. 1, Popular Participation Programme (UNRISD/81/C.17), Geneva, June 1981.
- 213. United Nations, Human Rights: International Instruments. Signatures, Ratifications, Accessions, etc. (ST.HR/4/Rev.4), New York, 1 July 1982.
- United Nations, Preparatory Meeting of the Role of Women in Industrialization in Developing Countries, UNIDO publication, Vienna, document submitted to the World Conference of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace (A/Conf.94/BP.1), Copenhagen, 1978.
- 215. Vásquez de Miranda, Laura, "Participación de la mujer en la fuerza de trabajo de una sociedad en vía de desarrollo: El caso del Brasil", *Estudios de población*, Bogotá, ACEP, vol. 1, No. 11, November 1976.
- Villalobos, Gabriela, "La mujer campesina: Su aporte a la economía familiar y su participación social", first Mexican-Central American symposium on research on women, Mexico City, November 1977.
- Villarreal, René, La contrarevolución monetarista. Teoría política económica e ideología del neoliberalismo, Editorial Océano, Mexico City, 1983.
- 218. Vitale, Luis, Historia y sociología de la mujer latinoamericana, Editorial Fontamara, Barcelona, 1981.
- 219. Wainerman, Catalina and Zulma Recchini de Lattes, El trabajo femenino en el banquillo de los acusados. La medición censal en América Latina, Editorial Terra Nova, Mexico City, 1981.
- 220. Wainerman, Catalina and Recchini de Lattes, "Información de censos y encuestas de hogares para el análisis de la mano de obra femenina en América Latina y el Caribe: evaluación de deficiencias y recomendaciones para superlarlas" (E/CEPAL/L.206), Santiago, Chile, 3 October 1979.
- 221. Warman, Arturo, "México. Estudio de casos sobre la zona maicera de Yucatán", Informe de la Mesa Redonda sobre Estrategias de sobrevivencia en economías campesinas: El Rol de la Mujer, Bogotá, preliminary version, 1983.
- 222. Wolfe, Marshall, "Approaches to development: Who is approaching what?", CEPAL Review, first semester of 1976, Santiago, Chile, United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.76.II.G.2.
- 223. Wolfe, Marshall, "La participación de la mujer en el desarrollo de América Latina", in Mujeres en América Latina. Aportes para una discusión, ECLAC and Fondo de Cultura Económica, Mexico City, 1975.
- 224. Wolfe, Marshall, "Participation: The view from above" (UNRISD/83/C.14), United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD), Geneva, March 1983.
- Yopo, Boris, "Un intento de análisis estructural acerca de la mujer campesina en América Latina y
  proposiciones metodológicas para superar su poblemática" (E/CEPAL/MEX/SEM.9/R.3), Mexico
  City, 1982.
- 226. Young, Kate, "Formas de apropiación y la división sexual del trabajo: Un estudio de caso de Oaxaca, México", Las trabajadoras del agro, Bogotá, ACEP, vol. II, 1972.

## Annex

#### Annex 1

### WOMEN'S RIGHTS IN UNITED NATIONS LEGISLATION\*

## I. THE LEGAL SITUATION OF WOMEN IN LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN DEFINED ACCORDING TO THE RESOLUTIONS AND MANDATES ARISING FROM THE UNITED NATIONS SYSTEM

The United Nations is committed to attaining equality of rights between men and women, the integration of women into social and economic development and their participation in the struggle for peace and against all forms of racism, colonialism and foreign domination. The system has therefore devoted itself to securing the universal recognition of the rights of women before the law and to guaranteeing the full exercise of those rights.

Concern for women's rights has a long history within the Organization. Both the Charter of the United Nations and the Universal Declaration of Human Rights proclaimed equality of rights of all human beings, and article 2 of the Declaration states: "Everyone is entitled to all the rights and freedom set forth in this Declaration, without distinction of any kind, such as race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status".

Most of the resolutions approved by the different bodies and agencies of the United Nations system from its creation through 1970, referred in their clauses to the Charter and the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and to the conventions and resolutions on slavery, racial discrimination, and religious intolerance. These resolutions were based on violations of fundamental human rights, and discrimination against women was considered to be an offense against the respect and dignity of the human person.

During the first twenty years of the Organization the problem of women falls within this view. During that period, from 1946 to 1970 approximately, there was a concern for the situation of women, although it held a marginal position compared with other topics of higher priority, such as the abolition of

<sup>\*</sup>Extract from the document entitled "The legal situation of women in Latin America and the Caribbean defined according to the resolutions and mandates arising from the United Nations system" (E/CEPAL/CRM.3/L.5 and Add.1).

slavery, racial discrimination, the needs of the survivors of the Second World War and the problems represented by the colonized territories and peoples, among others.

That concern for the situation of women, treated as one of the social, cultural and humanitarian questions of the system, found its highest expression in the promotion of a series of women's rights during the period in question. The rights proclaimed were the following: the right to suffrage and the right to be elected and have access to public office; the right of the married woman to keep. acquire or change her nationality; the right to equal opportunity and treatment in work and to equal pay for equal work; maternity protection and protection against night work and underground work and other occupations which are dangerous to health; the right to education without discrimination in the area of education; the right to a minimum age for marriage and free consent to marriage; the abolition of ancient practices (such as ritual operations) and laws which cancelled women's basic rights; the right of married women to administer property, exercise an independent profession and have an independent residence; the right not to be subjected to discrimination in penal matters; the right of working women to free association, paid educational leave, equality in social security and travel in search of employment, etc.

The creation in 1946 of a functional subcommission of the Economic and Social Council (subsequently converted into a commission), for dealing with the situation of women marks the beginning of the process through which the examination of this issue begins to acquire specificity and relevance within the system. When the Commission on the Status of Women was established, with its mandate of reporting to the Commission on Human Rights, the Economic and Social Council was beginning to show special concern for women and devote special efforts to them, although those efforts were limited to the legal sphere.

The specific mandates of the Commission were designed to improve the social and legal condition of women with respect to nationality, race, language and religion and to place them at a level of equality with men in all fields of human endeavour, eliminating all discrimination in the legislation of the member States, in respect of political, civil, labour, education, social and economic rights. The work of the Commission, conducted through its biennial sessions, produced, if not all, the great majority of the measures designed to improve the legal situation of women. These measures, submitted as draft resolution to the Economic and Social Council by the Commission, were subsequently approved by the General Assembly, which in turn added some topics to them and requested the specialized agencies (ILO, FAO, UNESCO), to collaborate on the question of women when it felt this to be necessary.

The majority of the rights proclaimed during this stage were based on conventions and agreements, that is, international instruments which impose legal obligations on the States which have ratified or acceded to them.

Many of these rights were promoted through 28 conventions and agreements arising from three fora: the General Assembly, the ILO and UNESCO. The 28 conventions and agreements may be divided into two groups, focal and non-focal, according to whether women have been the central topic of the convention or agreement or whether they were part of other topics or groups.

Those which focused on women were the following, in chronological order:

- 1) ILO, Convention No. 3 (1919), Maternity Protection.
- 2) ILO, Convention No. 4 (1919), Night Work (Women).
- 3) ILO, Convention No. 41 (1934), Night Work (Women). (This convention was superseded by Convention No. 89.)
- 4) ILO, Convention No. 45 (1935), Underground Work (Women).
- 5) General Assembly, resolution 126 (II) (1947), Transfer to the United Nations of the Functions and Power Exercised by the League of Nations under the International Convention of 30 September 1921 on Traffic in Women and Children; the Convention of 11 October 1933 on Traffic in Women of Full Age, and the Convention of 12 September 1923 on Traffic in Obscene Publications.
- 6) ILO, Convention No. 89 (1948), Night Work (Women).
- 7) General Assembly, resolution 317 (IV) (1949), Convention for the Suppression of the Traffic in Persons and of the Exploitation of the Prostitution of Others.
- 8) ILO, Convention No. 100 (1951), Equal Remuneration.
- 9) ILO, Convention No. 103 (1952), Maternity Protection.
- 10) General Assembly, resolution 640 (VII) (1952), Convention on the Political Rights of Women.
- 11) General Assembly, resolution 1040 (XI) (1957), Convention on the Nationality of Married Women.
- 12) General Assembly, resolution 1763 (XVII) (1962), Convention and Recommendation on Consent to Marriage, Minimum Age for Marriage and Registration of Marriages.

The remaining 16 conventions and agreements were non-focal, that is, they referred to the situation of women as part of more general topics. Among them the following should be mentioned: Supplementary Convention on the Abolition of Slavery, the Slave Trade and Institutions and Practices Similar to Slavery;<sup>2</sup> UNESCO Convention against Discrimination in Education (1960); and a group of ILO conventions and agreements which went from general topics, such as the elimination of all discrimination in employment and occupation, social and employment policies and social security to specific topics such as pensions, work on plantations, and dangerous working conditions. (ILO Conventions Nos. 13, 81, 87, 97, 102, 110, 111, 117, 122, 127, 128, 136 and 140.) The instruments in the second group had a common feature in that discrimination against women was indicated as part of a set of discriminations, on the basis of sex, religion, race, nationality and political opinion, or, in that women were merely a subgroup within the entire group affected by the convention; for example, women within a convention intended for plantation workers, women within a convention on social security intended for all workers, etc.

Besides the above-mentioned classification of focal and non-focal conventions and agreements, two other categories were established for the instruments: those which protected women (protective legislation) and those which promoted women (promotional legislation).

In accordance with the preceding categories, it may be observed that during this period, protective legislation was predominant, since there were 15

conventions of this type out of a total of 28, or 54%; while promotional legislation constituted 46% (13 conventions out of 28). Similarly, non-focal legislation prevailed over that specifically directed towards women (57% and 43%, respectively). Even more important is the fact that of the 13 promotional agreements, 69% were directed towards promoting "equality" of rights between men and women, that is, they were not specifically directed towards improving the legal situation of women.

However, it should be pointed out that, even with the limitations noted above, the promotional agreements of this period caused legal instruments of vital importance for the improvement of the situation of women, both in terms of rights and with regard to social and economic life, to be elaborated and enter into force. The Convention on the Political Rights of Women (1952), the Convention on the Nationality of Married Women (1957) and the Convention and Recommendation on Consent to Marriage, Minimum Age for Marriage and Registration of Marriages (1962), enacted by the General Assembly; the ILO Equal Remuneration Convention (1951); and the UNESCO Convention Against Discrimination in Education (1960), constituted an important part of the legal and social base which was beginning to appear within the United Nations system for the improvement and promotion of women.

In summary, the majority of the conventions and agreements of the period were protective and non-focal, emphasizing maternity protection, protection form work considered to be dangerous and from the traffic in persons and the exploitation of the prostitution of others. The promotional conventions were oriented towards obtaining more egalitarian conditions for women in the areas of political participation, nationality of married women and marriage, equality in the workplace with respect to wages and the elimination of sex discrimination in education. The importance of labour legislation during this stage is obvious; the ILO played a predominant role in this area, maintaining the policy of protecting the rights of women in the areas of maternity and dangerous work through focal conventions, and of promoting the rights of women in the areas of employment and occupation, professional training, freedom of association, etc., through conventions on behalf of all workers.<sup>3</sup>

The other significant fact in the first stage was the proclamation of the Declaration on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (General Assembly, resolution 2263 (XXII)), since it condensed the set of rights which had been proclaimed during the first twenty years.

The Declaration is a milestone in United Nations work on the promotion of women. When it approved the Declaration, the General Assembly created a single instrument containing all the rights proclaimed for women and reflecting the concerns, studies and activities carried out by the Commission on the Legal and Social Status of Women from its creation.

The preamble of the Declaration states that discrimination against women is incompatible with human dignity and with the welfare of the family and of society. The Declaration requests that all measures, including legislative ones, should be adopted in order to guarantee the principle of equal rights of men and women. It proclaims equality of rights in the area of acquiring, changing or retaining nationality and grants women the same rights as men in civil law, and in particular, equality of rights in marriage. It also states that all provisions of

penal codes which constitute discrimination against women should be repealed, that measures should be taken to combat prostitution and the traffic in women, and that equal rights in education, free choice of employment and equal remuneration for work of equal value should be ensured to women. The Declaration also makes reference to the need for its principles to be implemented when it states that "Governments, non-governmental organizations and individuals are urged to do all in their power to promote the implementation of the principles contained in this Declaration" (article 11).

The Declaration did not create obligations for the member States of the United Nations. The Commission on the Status of Women compiled information on the implementation of the instrument and observed that there was a general trend among the States towards giving effect to the principles laid down in the Declaration.

The Declaration ended a stage in the process begun within the United Nations system in 1945, when the Charter of the United Nations was adopted, reaffirming "faith in fundamental human rights, in the dignity and worth of the human person, in the equal rights of men and women...".

During the first twenty years, the question of women was examined from the exclusive perspective of making women equal to men in legal terms, discrimination being considered as an offense against human dignity and respect. Practically up to 1975, the situation of women was treated as one of the humanitarian, social and cultural questions which the system generally dealt with through its joint fora.

From the 1970s onwards, although the resolutions and mandates did not disregard concern for human rights, they situated the problems of women in a new perspective by proposing that women be integrated into development and the struggles for international peace and co-operation.

The objectives of equality, development and peace, which the United Nations established in the mid-1970s, summarized the new principles; that is, equality was possible only within the context of development and peace.

This new focus recognized the need to integrate women fully into development—conceived as a totalizing process, related to all aspects of life—and with struggles for peace, disarmament and the building of a new international economic order. In this way, the definition of the problem of women was transformed and a dynamic-structural focus adopted enabling it to be placed within the social, economic and political context which had created it.

As the process described above was taking place, the question of women was gaining specificity and relevance. Over the years, the analysis of women's rights and condition of discrimination gradually became separated from the general field of human rights and acquired its own dynamic. During the 1970s, and especially in 1975, the topic of women began to occupy a separate and significant position within the United Nations system; the work outlined in the Declaration on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women was continued; the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace (1975-1985) and the International Women's Year (1975) were proclaimed; specialized bodies<sup>4</sup> and fora were established for examining the topic, with two world conferences held, and within the sphere of ECLAC, two regional conferences; international action plans and programmes were formulated; spe-

cial programmes and projects were designed and executed; a periodic examination and evaluation was established of the progress and obstacles in the implementation of the mechanisms for the promotion of women, in world, regional and national spheres.

From the 1970s onwards, then, the question of women became the subject of concerted international action, which was clearly expressed in a change of the rights proclaimed and granted in conventions subsequent to 1975.

During the most recent five-year period (1975-1980) political rights were proclaimed in terms of actual participation and association, as a contribution to the process of development and a condition for attaining it, and the formalist scheme laid down by the right to vote of the previous stage was discarded. Similarly, the rights of the family were proclaimed, with special emphasis on the rights of single mothers, the status of persons born out of wedlock, domestic violence and family planning. There was substantial progress in public law with the proclamation of the rights of migrant women, those affected by apartheid, by armed conflicts and by all forms of foreign domination; the rights of displaced, refugee and disappeared women and of women who live in those countries where human rights are constantly being violated.

In the matter of penal law, more specific proposals were made (conditions of detention, for example; Economic and Social Council resolution 1980/41); labour legislation was enacted in respect of social security (resolution 13 of the World Conference of 1975; Economic and Social Council resolution 1980/1) and equality of opportunity and treatment for workers and especially workers with family responsibilities (ILO Convention 156); similarly, equal access to education was reaffirmed.

The rights proclaimed during the first half of the United Nations Decade for Women were based on the achievements of the previous stage, but constituted one step further; from the vote to actual political participation; from marriage to the rights of unmarried women and their children; from labour protection to promotion; from attention to basic women's rights to the rights of groups of women in critical situations closely linked to political and social economic events; from the family as an institution to its internal problems such as domestic violence and family planning; and from equality in education to equality of access to education, including technical training, professional training, adult education and continuing education. However, the majority of the rights proclaimed were not given practical expression in conventions, being limited themselves to providing orientations for governments, in the form of resolutions, recommendations or action plans.

In this period six conventions were approved, one by the General Assembly and the five remaining ones by the ILO; only one of these conventions is intended exclusively for women, Convention No. 156, of 1981, on Equal Opportunities and Treatment.

The Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women, approved by the General Assembly through resolution A/34/180 of 18 December 1979, is a natural and more standardized continuation of the Declaration of the same name approved in 1967. Discrimination is defined as any "distinction, exclusion or restriction made on the basis of sex which has the effect or purpose of impairing or nullifying the recognition,

enjoyment or exercise by women, irrespective of their marital status, on a basis of equality of men and women, of human rights and fundamental freedoms in the political, economic, social, cultural, civil or any other field" (article 1). The Convention, which contains 30 articles and entered into force on 3 September 1981, promulgates, in legally obligatory form, universally accepted principles and measures for obtaining the enjoyment of equal rights by women everywhere. The instrument urges that discrimination should be eliminated in the various spheres of social life, especially those affecting rural women; it indicates that all types of measures should be adopted, including temporary special measures, aimed at accelerating the de facto equality between men and women, and also contains provisions for modifying the socio-cultural patterns which perpetuate discrimination. The Convention also requests that protective laws should be discontinued once their objectives have been achieved (article 4). The Convention, therefore, is based upon the Declaration of the same name and gives a level of obligatoriness to the rights proclaimed in that instrument. It constitutes the highest achievement by women in terms of concerted rights and is an international instrument designed for promoting the equality of women.

The importance of the Convention is made all the more obvious by the inclusion, among its provisions, of the creation of a Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women, consisting of 23 experts elected by the States parties to the Convention from among their nationals, who serve in their personal capacity (article 17). The basic function of the Committee consists of considering the progress made in the implementation of the Convention, including reports by the States parties on the legislative, judicial, and administrative measures which have been adopted to give effect to its provisions.

Six Latin American and Caribbean countries are represented on the Committee: Cuba, Ecuador, Guyana, Mexico, Panama and Uruguay.

As previously stated, six conventions were approved during the period under review, one of which was the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women. The other five conventions were approved by the ILO; all were of the promotional type, but only one focused on women: Convention No. 156, on Equal Opportunities and Equal Treatment for Men and Women Workers: Workers with Family Responsibilities.

The Convention applies to all branches of economic activity and all categories of workers with family responsibilities (articles 1 and 2), and is intended to create effective equality between men and women workers, enabling those with family responsibilities to exercise their right to engage in employment without being subject to discrimination and without conflict between their employment and family responsibilities (article 3). The Convention is complemented by ILO Recommendation 165 (1981) of the same name.

Besides Convention No. 156, the ILO approved four others intended for all workers, that is, non-focal with respect to women. They are: Convention No. 151 (1975) on Rural Workers' Organizations; Convention No. 142 (1975) on Human Resources Development; Convention No. 143 (1975) on Migrant Workers; and Convention No. 149 (1977) on Nursing Personnel. These instruments affirm the need for guaranteeing the participation of rural workers by promoting organizations of rural workers, without discrimination of any kind; the need for human resources policies and programmes (vocational guidance

and vocational training) to be available to all persons, without any discrimination whatsoever; equality of opportunity and treatment for migrant workers without any distinction whatsoever among them or in relation to other workers; and finally, equality of conditions for nursing personnel with no distinctions among them or in relation to the workers of the country. The ILO conventions of this period are characterized by being of the promotional type and principally oriented towards treating the problems of workers in general, with no distinction by sex.

In summary, during the period which began in the 1970s, six conventions and agreements on women were approved, all of the promotional type; in four of them the question of women is dealt with within agreements referring to men and women. The only two conventions referring specifically to women constitute, in their respective fields, the most important achievements in the legal sphere to have been attained in the United Nations: the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (1979) and ILO Convention No. 156 on Equality of Opportunities and treatment between Men and Women Workers: Workers with Family Responsibilities (1981).

Furthermore, the rights elaborated in the conventions of this period encompass all spheres of human activity, with the exception of penal matters; the conventions also reaffirm the rights proclaimed during the preceding period, make them more specific and improve them. It should be pointed out, however, that in the current period, the greatest progress in terms of types of rights and level of specificity are found in the resolutions, recommendations and mandates which do not constitute international legislation, and which are solely directed towards orienting the actions of governments and, in a few cases, of non-governmental organizations.

Among these mandates, recommendations and resolutions, those which treat the following subjects should be mentioned:

- 1) Conditions of detention: Economic and Social Council resolution 1980/41.
- 2) The family, married women without children, family planning: Economic and Social Council resolution 1942 (LVIII); resolution 17 of the 1975 World Conference; resolution 1 of the 1980 World Conference.
- 3) The family, abandonment and violence: resolutions 17 and 5 of the 1980 World Conference.
- 4) Women refugees and displaced women: General Assembly resolution 35/135 and resolution 12 of the 1980 World Conference.
- 5) Improvement of the status of women in education and in the economic and social fields: General Assembly resolutions 33/134; and 33/184; resolution 24 of the 1975 World Conference; resolution IV of the 1979 FAO World Conference; and UNESCO resolution 13, 1978.
- 6) Social security: Economic and Social Council resolution 1980/1; resolution 13 of the 1975 World Conference.
- 7) Women in rural areas: General Assembly resolution 3523 (XXX), 1975; Economic and Social council resolution 1980/1; resolution 21 of the 1975 World Conference; resolution 44 of the 1980 World Conference.
- 8) Women's participation in the strengthening of international peace and security: General Assembly resolution 3519 (XXX); Economic and Social Coun-

cil resolution 1980/36; resolution 29 of the 1975 World Conference; resolution 11 of the 1980 World Conference.

- 9) Discrimination based on race: resolution 31 of the 1980 World Conference.
- 10) Effects of apartheid on women: Economic and Social Council resolution 1978/33; resolution 3 of the 1975 World Conference; resolution 45 of the 1980 World Conference.
- 11) Situation of women in countries where human rights are violated: resolutions 32 and 34 of the 1975 World Conference; resolutions 18 and 19 of the 1980 World Conference.
- 12) Political and social participation, integration of women in the development process: resolutions 18 and 20 of the 1975 World Conference; resolution IV of the 1979 FAO World Conference.
  - 13) Migrant women: resolution 3 of the 1980 World Conference.
- 14) Research on population and the integration of women in development: resolution 11 of the 1975 World Conference.
  - 15) Disappeared women: resolution 23 of the 1980 World Conference.
- 16) Prostitution: resolution 7 of the 1975 World Conference; and resolution 43 of the 1980 World Conference.

The fact that there are, during this period, a great many more resolutions which do not constitute international legislation than conventions which do, indicates a possible undeveloped field of rights which could be given practical expression in new conventions in the future.

The proceedings of the United Nations system in connection with the legal situation of women during the last decade, and especially in the last five years, are characterized by having gone beyond fundamental rights and freedoms to propose effective integration and participation together with formal rights, and by focusing on promotion rather than protection of women and orientation of the action of governments rather than generation of international obligations.

The achievements of this time period are the most advanced of the century in terms of women's rights, but many of them lose force when analysed at their level of implementation. The majority of the mandates do not constitute international legislation and the most important conventions have been approved recently, which makes it difficult to determine at this point what their final level of ratification will be.<sup>5</sup>

In summary, it may be stated that the period from 1946 to 1981 produced a far-reaching transformation in the set of resolutions and mandates arising form the United Nations system on the legal situation of women. In the first twenty years, the question of women was approached from a liberal and legalistic perspective, in that legislation was considered to be the main factor in eliminating inequalities and discriminations. The legalistic approach was oriented towards women in general and was protective with respect to legal matters. Agreeing upon and proclaiming these rights was effected through conventions emanating from the joint fora of the system, conventions which focused on formal rights, with very limited generation of measures and mechanisms for their implementation and evaluation, and through specific programmes and projects within the organization and at the national level.

From 1970 onwards, and basically since the International Women's Year in 1975, a dynamic focus was adopted, in which the situation of women was approached in terms of integration into development. Legislative measures became subordinate to certain integrated planning strategies which contained, together with legislation —which was at that time also considered to be a planning instrument— the promotion of the association and organization of women, the adoption of continuing education programmes, the development of research programmes, and the adoption of temporary strategies and measures. Within this context, legislative measures were defined as factors facilitating the elimination of discrimination against women, but which could not in themselves provide an answer to the problem. A transition thus took place, from a legalistic position to an integrated system of planning which took into account the structural factors affecting the female population.

## II. SPECIFIC ASPECTS OF THE LEGAL SITUATION OF WOMEN

The preceding diagnostic analysis of the body of laws produced by the United Nations in connection with the situation of women, and which includes both conventions and resolutions and mandates which do not constitute international legislation, needs to be complemented with the information contained in volume II of the present study, which contains the textual transcription of the resolutions and mandates since 1946, organized by forum and in chronological order.

On the basis of this diagnostic, it is of interest to point out a few aspects which go beyond the limits of this work and which may give rise to future research.

# a) The importance granted to the legal situation of women within the action plans concerning women at the world and regional levels

In all these spheres, there is a need indicated for ratifying the international instruments in force; revising and modifying both the international instruments and the national bodies of legislation for the purpose of eliminating discrimination against women. The plans also envisage measures in the following fields of law: political rights; civil law, with special emphasis on family law; public law, in particular with respect to prostitution and drugs; penal law; the economic, social and cultural areas of law. Similarly, reference is made to the elimination of all discrimination against women and to the adoption of measures for improving their legal status, such as governments' transmitting of information on legislation and national mechanisms, studies on international instruments, legal counselling programmes for women and programmes of education and dissemination of information for the entire population.

# b) The fields of law which are unevolved at the international level and could give rise to future conventions, resolutions and recommendations

Political rights. Reaffirmation of the effective participation of women in public office, national movements, unions, women's organizations, professional associations, international and other bodies.

Family law. Legislation through conventions and resolutions on those aspects which have been disregarded or not sufficiently developed, such as violence in the home, the distribution of domestic work within the family, and administration of property. Reaffirmation of those aspects which continue to be critical areas in national legislation parental authority, guardianship of children in cases of separation, the legal situation of unmarried mothers.

Public law. Legislation through conventions on the protection of women and children during armed conflicts and against all violence as a result of racism, apartheid, colonialism or foreign domination, political or religious differences, especially with respect to women, youths and children who have been tortured or have disappeared; measures for reuniting families and for rehabilitation and socio-cultural integration.

Penal law. Legislation through conventions on conditions of detention and protection of pregnant detained women and of children born in prison. The right of the detained woman to an education, and to work and occupy her free time. Elimination of all sex discrimination in the area of penal law. To date there are only a few resolutions of the Economic and Social Council and the Second Regional Conference of ECLAC (1979), and one provision in the Declaration on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (1967).

Labour law. Legislation through conventions on special groups of workers:

- i) Elderly workers. To date there is only one ILO recommendation (recommendation No. 162, of 1980) intended for all elderly workers, which proposes equality of opportunity and treatment, protection and preparation for and access to retirement, and recommends that the ILO prepare a convention. The World Conference of the International Women's Year (1975), in its resolution 13 on social security, states that in this connection, particular consideration and special studies should be devoted to elderly women. Furthermore, the 1980 World Conference dealt with this theme in its resolution 4, requesting that special attention should be given to the problem of elderly women, data should be collected and that a comparative study on the social security of elderly women should be prepared, together with other provisions connected with the World Assembly on Aging (1982). It also recommends that, on the basis of the studies, the General Assembly should elaborate a convention or resolutions on social security and full participation in social life by elderly women, so that these concerns will not be confined to age-group programmes, which are highly discriminatory.
- ii) Women domestic workers and salaried workers working in the home. In neither case are there conventions regulating the work, for which reason it appears necessary to elaborate conventions on this type of women worker, especially those working in developing countries with a concentration of industries which employ women workers for work in their own homes (textile, leather and footwear), with no legal protection whatsoever.
- iii) Rural women workers. For this group, effect should be given to the resolutions and recommendations in force designed to encourage the extension of the international conventions, especially the labour conventions, to the rural sector.
- iv) Young women workers. It would also appear necessary to enact legislation for this group of workers, through provisions promoting equality of access opportunities and treatment.

c) Level at which the body of laws emanating from the United Nations in connection with the legal situation of women is reflected and implemented in national legislation

One indicator of this level of reflection is constituted by the degree of ratification or accession to the conventions, which, nevertheless, does not provide data on the level of implementation of the norm or the extent to which the recommendations and resolutions actually orient governments' actions. This is an area which merits an up-to-date study, following research on the legal situation prevailing in the countries.

With regard to the level of ratification or accession, the following data exist concerning some of the conventions:

- Convention for the Suppression of the Traffic in Persons and of the Exploitation of the Prostitution of Others (1949) States parties: 53 Countries of the region: Argentina, Brazil, Cuba, Ecuador, Haiti, Mexico, Venezuela.
- 2) ILO Convention 100, Equal Remuneration Convention (1951) State parties: 94 Countries of the region: Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Cuba, Chile, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Guatemala, Haiti, Honduras, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru.
- 3) Convention on the Political Rights of Women (1952) States parties: 90 Countries of the region: Argentina, Bahamas, Barbados, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Costa Rica, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Guatemala, Haiti, Jamaica, Mexico, Nicaragua, Paraguay, Peru, Trinidad and Tobago.
- 4) Supplementary Convention on the Abolition of Slavery, the Slave Trade and Institutions and Practices Similar to Slavery (1956) State parties: 96 Countries of the region: Argentina, Bahamas, Barbados, Brazil, Cuba, Ecuador, Haiti, Jamaica, Mexico, St. Vincent and the Grenadines, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago.
- 5) Convention on the Nationality of Married Women (1957)

  States parties: 54

  Countries of the region: Argentina, Bahamas, Barbados, Brazil,
  Cuba, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Guatemala, Jamaica, Mexico
  and Trinidad and Tobago.
- 6) ILO Recommendation No. 111, Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Recommendation (1958)

  States parties: 96

  Countries of the region: Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Cuba, Chile, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Honduras, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Trinidad and Tobago and Venezuela.

- 7) UNESCO Convention against Discrimination in Education (1960) States parties: 62
  Countries of the region: Argentina, Brazil, Cuba, Chile, Panama, Peru and Venezuela.
- 8) Convention and Recommendation on Consent to Marriage, Minimum Age for Marriage and Registration of Marriages (1962) States parties: 31

  Countries of the region: Argentina, Barbados, Brazil, Cuba, Dominican Republic and Trinidad and Tobago.
- 9) Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (1979) States parties: 39 Countries of the region: Barbados, Colombia, Cuba, Dominica, Ecuador, El Salvador, Guyana, Haiti, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, St. Vincent and the Grenadines. Uruguav.<sup>6</sup>

Furthermore, out of a total of 151 ILO conventions up to 1 June 1980, addressed to all workers, seven of which refer to women directly and 18 indirectly, the Latin American and Caribbean States have ratified various conventions as indicated below:

| Country             | No. of conventions<br>ratified |
|---------------------|--------------------------------|
| Argentina           | 60                             |
| Barbados            | 33                             |
| Bolivia             | 39                             |
| Brazil              | 54                             |
| Colombia            | 45                             |
| Costa Rica          | 33                             |
| Cuba                | 80                             |
| Chile               | 40                             |
| Dominican Republic  | 26                             |
| Ecuador             | 49                             |
| El Salvador         | 4                              |
| Guatemala           | 39                             |
| Guyana              | 28                             |
| Haiti               | 22                             |
| Honduras            | 16                             |
| Jamaica             | 23                             |
| Mexico              | 59                             |
| Nicaragua           | 42                             |
| Panama              | 69                             |
| Paraguay            | 33                             |
| Peru                | 61                             |
| Trinidad and Tobago | 12                             |
| Uruguay             |                                |
| Venezuela           | 79<br>26                       |
|                     | 26                             |

The data presented give an indication of the low ratification level of the majority of the countries of the region in respect of international conventions relating to women, and even to labour conventions of a general nature.

Countries with a ratification rate of more than 50%

Cuba (53%) and Uruguay (52%)

Countries with a ratification rate of 40% to 50%

Panama (46%), Argentina (40%) and Peru (40%)

Countries with a ratification rate of 30% to 40%

Mexico (39%), Brazil (36%), Ecuador (32%) and Colombia (30%)

Countries with a ratification rate of 20% to 30%

Nicaragua (28%), Chile (27%), Bolivia (26%), Guatemala (26%), Barbados 22%), Costa Rica (22%) and Paraguay (22%)

Countries with a ratification rate of less than 20%

Guyana (19%), Dominican Republic (17%), Venezuela (17%), Haiti (15%), Jamaica (15%), Honduras (11%), Trinidad and Tobago (8%) and El Salvador (3%).

In connection with this topic and given its crucial importance, it is necessary to: a) maintain up-to-date information on the level of ratification of conventions referring to women, and also to extend this task to all the conventions of the system; b) carry out research utilizing the data indicated in item a) and evaluating the level at which United Nations resolutions and mandates concerning women are reflected in the national legislation of the countries of the region, using as possible indicators the level of ratification, the level of implementation (through collective labour agreements, social and labour situations), and the level at which legislative action by governments is oriented by the resolutions and recommendations of the United Nations system.

# d) The degree to which the body of legislation produced by the United Nations on the legal situation of women reproduces or furthers national legislation

This body of legislation does not reproduce national legislation of the countries of the region, but establishes antecedents in statute law for the points which are critical in national legislation and furthers them in the sense that it proposes improvements which the former do not provide. For example, while the majority of national bodies of legislation firmly establish the legal incapacity of married women, the United Nations reaffirms the equality of married women and their full legal capacity. This feature of improving national legislation gives the theory and practice of the United Nations an enormous capacity for effecting change, both in terms of thought and planning.

# e) The imbalance between the international instruments and the legal and social condition of women and levels of awareness of this problem

Despite the fact that the body of United Nations legislation goes beyond national bodies of legislation, it has not been successful in becoming part of those bodies in order to produce an effective de facto and de jure change in the situation of women in Latin America and the Caribbean. This imbalance is obvious in various spheres of human activity. At the political level, women vote but barely

participate in parliament or the judiciary and even less so in national executive powers; there have been only three female chiefs of State in the entire history of Latin America and the Caribbean: in Argentina, Bolivia and Dominica. Women have participated in traditional political parties as a female branch or minor partner in support activities for the most part (only in a few national and labour movements in Latin America and the Caribbean have women become more fully integrated).

In the labour field, and despite international and national legislation, women receive less remuneration than men and do not enjoy equality of opportunities and treatment; they generally perform non-directive duties and are the subject of discrimination for reasons of maternity and child care. In the educational field discrimination against women also persists, and the so-called "female careers" (nursing, social work, all branches of teaching), with a majority of female staff, are one of the forms in which this discrimination is manifested.

Women in the region are continuing to reproduce stereotyped roles in which they are not considered as active subjects of the society in which they live; they study, but are prepared to postpone those studies in the name of marriage; they work, in order to complement the salary of their father or husband, without fully assuming their destiny. Similarly, they are basically dependent in the affective sphere, a situation which is favoured by inadequate legislation, legitimized by law and by a deep-seated tradition of male chauvinism.

Although international legislation may appear utopian in the current stage of development, it undoubtedly constitutes an alternative for change. It should be complemented with effective mechanisms for change, in the countries, which will help women in the region, and especially women in the popular sectors, to achieve full integration into all plans concerning what is to be done with society.

#### III. RECOMMENDATIONS

This work is in line with a long tradition within the United Nations system, consisting of systematizing its own actions. It may therefore be viewed in the context of the efforts at compiling and analysing information periodically carried out by the Commission on the Legal and Social Status of Women and by the Subdivision for the Advancement of Women in connection with progress in the legal status of women in the different countries and concerning the level of ratification or accession to the conventions emanating from the United Nations. It also provides continuity with the compilation and systematization work conducted by the ECLAC Unit for the Integration of Women in Economic and Social Development. The report can be used as an instrument of dissemination and reflection and as a planning instrument. In the first case it will make it possible to compare and place in perspective the immediate legal reality and in the second will enable the transformation of that reality. The recommendations presented below envisage both of these dimensions.

1. To orient actions designed to promote the legal equality of women according to the following principles, contained in different mandates emanating from the United Nations system: (92)

- a) Legislative measures cannot by themselves modify the situation of discrimination against women, but they can facilitate the conditions for eliminating it. Legislative measures should be part of integrated planning and development strategies.
- b) The legal and social situation of women in Latin America and the Caribbean is closely linked with the underdevelopment and structural dependence affecting the region, and the solution of this problem can only materialize within the context of a new international economic order, based on peace, co-operation and self-determination of peoples.
- c) The full integration of women in development is a process in which legal equality is a basic condition; it is a task still to be accomplished, possesses its own legality, and its success does not depend automatically on changes in society at large.
- d) De facto and de jure equality of women necessarily implies equality of duties and responsibilities and women's acceptance of their contribution to the maintenance and well-being of society.
- e) The idea of "integrating women into development" means including women in the creation of new and egalitarian social structures, organized without distinction based on sex, and does not assume women's integration as a minor partner into a world foreign to them.
- 2. To disseminate among the United Nations member States, permanent bodies, functional commissions and specialized agencies, and among women's associations and non-governmental organizations, all existing information to date on international legislation referring to women, and the United Nations resolutions and mandates which, although they do not constitute legislation, orient the legislative actions of governments.
- 3. To conduct research on the legal status of women in each of the national bodies of legislation of the countries of the region, for the purpose of elaborating up-to-date diagnostic analyses and a general study in comparative law. In both cases an effort should be made to delve into the rights proclaimed, the omitted or poorly developed aspects, the level of equality attained in the different fields of law (labour, penal, agrarian, etc.) and the differences between the de facto and de jure situations. On the basis of these studies and of the existing diagnosis of international legislation and related resolutions referring to women, there should be an evaluation of the level at which international legislation and the resolutions and mandates of the United Nations are reflected in the national bodies of legislation of the countries of the region, measured in terms of ratifications, accessions, degree of orientation of actions and level of actual implementation.
- 4. To propose that the governments of the region should review and modify the national bodies of legislation using the following elements:
- a) Information on international instruments and the United Nations resolutions and mandates referring to the legal situation of women (both the diagnostic analysis and the evaluation of the level of reflection in national bodies of legislation).
- b) Information on the critical points in national bodies of legislation, including the diagnostic analysis of the topic elaborated by ECLAC for the Second Conference on the Integration of Women in the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean (1979).(82)

- c) Studies on the social, cultural, economic and political needs of women at the national and regional level. On the basis of the above-mentioned information, it is recommended that governments should: i) compare national legislation with the international instruments to detect differences and similarities, granting priority to the study of poorly developed fields of law or those which legitimize or sanction discrimination; ii) take legislative measures to end discrimination; iii) elaborate strategies and integrated programmes for promoting the egalitarian participation of women, in which legislative measures are contained.
- 5. To recommend that the member States should ratify or accede to all the conventions approved by the United Nations and orient their actions according to the United Nations resolutions and mandates which, although they do not constitute legislation, give legislative guidelines to governments.
- 6. To request United Nations bodies, specialized agencies and functional commissions to review the international legislation and resolutions and mandates of the system which, although they do not constitute legislation, refer to the legal situation of women in Latin America, for the purpose of:
  - a) Eliminating protective laws, above all in labour and civil law:
  - b) Seeking the universal ratification of the conventions formulated;
- c) Elaborating conventions, resolutions and mandates relating to rights that have been omitted or poorly developed, both in international and national legislation; and
- d) Formulating the conventions, resolutions and mandates taking into account the following criteria: i) the need for including certain types of women, especially those who are doubly discriminated against (such as elderly women, women in popular sectors, etc.); and ii) the advisability of accompanying legislative measures by relevant activities in the spheres of planning, research, evaluation, education and dissemination.

#### NOTES

<sup>1</sup>The case of the ILO deserves separate mention, since this body has been legislating and issuing recommendations on the legal situation of the working woman since 1919.

<sup>2</sup>This convention was adopted by the Conference of Plenipotentiaries convened by the Economic and Social Council through its resolution 608 (XXI) of 30 April 1956, on a Supplementary Convention on the Abolition of Slavery, the Slave Trade and Institutions and Practices Similar to Slavery.

<sup>3</sup>During the following period, 1975-1981, the ILO policy was different, as will be seen later on, since all the conventions aimed exclusively at women were promotional.

4Regional commissions were designated as regional focal points for the integration of women; specialized units were established within commissions and other bodies and specialized agencies, the United Nations Voluntary Fund for Women and the International Research and Training Institute for the Advancement of Women (INSTRAW) were created.

<sup>5</sup>As at 30 June 1982, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women had been signed by 88 States. Of these States, barely 37 had ratified it and 2 had acceded to it, for a total of 39 ratifications and accessions, or 44% of the signatory States.

<sup>6</sup>The General Assembly conventions, as at 1 July 1982, are contained in United Nations, Human Rights: International Instruments. Signatories, ratifications, accessions, etc., 1 July 1982 (ST/HR/4/Rev.4); the ILO conventions, as at 1 July 1980, appear in ILO, Standards and Policy Statements of Special Interest to Women Workers, Adopted under the Auspices of the International Labour Office, Geneva, 1980.

#### Annex 2

## RESOLUTIONS AND APPRAISALS FROM THREE REGIONAL MEETINGS ON WOMEN (MACUTO, VENEZUELA, 1979; MEXICO CITY, 1983, AND HAVANA, 1984)

# I. RESOLUTIONS FROM THE SECOND REGIONAL CONFERENCE ON THE INTEGRATION OF WOMEN INTO THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT OF LATIN AMERICA\*

(Macuto, Venezuela, 12 to 16 November 1979)

# 1. CREATION OF AN AD HOC COMMISSION TO STUDY MOTHER AND CHILD PROBLEMS

The Second Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean,

Bearing in mind that the present situation of the world and especially the developing countries due to the serious economic crisis affects mothers and children with particular intensity,

Considering that, following a careful review of the studies and statistics, the solution to this problem requires specific strategies with clearly structured priorities,

- 1. Recommends that CEPAL should study the form of setting up an ad hoc commission which should, inter alia:
- (a) Visit the most depressed areas of the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean and make an on-the-spot study of the serious problems affecting mothers and children;
- (b) Collaborate with the existing national sub-commissions or with those set up with similar aims;
- 2. Requests CEPAL to submit this study, including the financial implications, to the Committee of the Whole of the Commission so that a decision may be reached as soon as possible.

<sup>\*</sup>Taken from the report of the Conference (E/CEPAL/CRM.2/L.6/Rev.1).

### 2. CREATION OF NATIONAL COMMISSIONS TO STUDY THE PROBLEMS OF MOTHERS AND CHILDREN

The Second Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean,

Bearing in mind that in the majority of the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean, domestic legislation and international conventions in general guarantee the equality of the rights and obligations of men and women,

Also bearing in mind that all these instruments are not put into practice at the national level and that there are glaring differences between the provisions of the legislation or conventions and their application or implementation,

Aware of the need to find a means of establishing operational machinery to solve this problem,

Urges governments to give all possible priority to constituting commissions at the national and local levels to co-ordinate and study the full integration of women into development, and in particular the real situation and problems of mothers and children; and report periodically to CEPAL on the results of their work, which may thus be reflected in the appraisal of progress in implementing the Regional Plan of Action,

Also urges governments, in accordance with their national priorities, to provide all possible facilities so that these commissions can, following their mandate, analyse the problems of women and children, and report in full to the international bodies specializing in the subject.

# 3. APPRAISAL AND PRIORITIES OF LATIN AMERICA WITH A VIEW TO THE WORLD CONFERENCE OF THE UNITED NATIONS DECADE FOR WOMEN: EQUALITY, DEVELOPMENT AND PEACE

The Second Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America,

Considering that women are agents in the development process and that the situations and problems experienced by them are not exclusive to them but affect all society, and furthermore that these situations should be considered in the context of global processes in order to attain the New International Economic Order,

Bearing in mind CEPAL resolutions 386 and 388 (XVIII) adopted at the eighteenth session, containing the preparations and contributions by CEPAL for the formulation of the New International Development Strategy for the Third United Nations Development Decade, which should reflect "in an appropriate manner the need for adequate policies for the promotion of social development to be defined by each country within the framework of its development plans and priorities",1

Recalling that in keeping with the objectives of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace, General Assembly resolution 3520 (XXX) called upon the regional commissions "to develop and implement as a matter of priority, effective strategies to further the objectives of the World Plan of Action at the regional and subregional levels, bearing in mind their respective regional plans of action",

Taking into account in all points the spirit and letter of the Regional Plan of Action for the Integration of Women into Latin American Economic and Social Development, approved at the first Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into Latin American Economic and Social Development (Havana, Cuba, June 1977), and endorsed by Member States at the eleventh extraordinary session of the Committee of the Whole of the Economic Commission for Latin America (New York, November 1977),

Also taking into account that several General Assembly resolutions, notably 3520 and 3505 (XXX), 31/175 and 33/200, as well as resolution 2 of the United Nations Conference on Science and Technology for Development urge the specialized agencies of the United Nations system, all financial institutions and the international, regional and subregional development banks, and the bilateral funding agencies to accord high priority as soon as possible in their development assistance to projects and programmes for the promotion of the integration of women into development, in accordance with requests by the governments,

Also considering that the efforts and strategies to implement the objectives of the Regional Plan of Action were insufficient and inadequate in the majority of countries for bringing about changes of any qualitative or quantitative significance in the situation of women, or for increasing their participation in political, economic and social life, particularly in the lowest socio-economic strata and among rural women,

Bearing in mind that the time has come to go beyond the reiteration of diagnoses which have already been made and the statement of desirable objectives, which have already been set forth in many United Nations documents such as the La Paz Appraisal,<sup>2</sup>

Considering that the delay in the implementation of the Regional Plan of Action for the Integration of Women into Latin American Economic and Social Development stands in the way of improving the standard of living and further participation of women in the region, and also produces discouragement among broad groups of women in the region, whose hopes were raised when the Decade for Women was proclaimed,

Particularly concerned by the fact that a substantial number of countries of the region have not yet reviewed existing legislation with a view to eliminating the aspects which affect the legal and social status of women, preventing their full incorporation into development,

Taking into account the Resolution on Conditions of Work, Vocational Training and Employment of Women of the Eleventh Conference of American States Members of the ILO (Medellín, Colombia, September-October 1979),<sup>3</sup>

Considering that the Second Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America consti-

tutes a preparatory activity of the Latin American region for the World Conference of the United Nations Decade for Women to be held in 1980,

Decides that this resolution, together with the report of the Second Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America, should be forwarded to the United Nations Economic and Social Council and Committee for Development Planning, the Preparatory Committee for the formulation of the new International Development Strategy, and the World Conference of the United Nations Decade for Women to be held in 1980.

### A. APPRAISAL OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE REGIONAL PLAN OF ACTION FOR THE INTEGRATION OF WOMEN INTO THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT OF LATIN AMERICA

- 1. This first process of appraisal is taking place mid-way through the "United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace", and on the eve of the formulation of the new international strategy for the Third United Nations Development Decade, which should incorporate the results of the appraisal of the situation of women. Consequently, it is necessary to concentrate efforts and resources on solving the problems connected with national and regional economic and social development that women will have to face in the next decade.
- 2. The living conditions of women of the region constitute a problem which affects the whole of Latin American and Caribbean society. Accordingly, their improvement should be a basic and explicit objective of the global processes of economic and social development and change in the countries of the region. Men and women share the living conditions determined by the fact that they belong to a particular society and a socioeconomic stratum of that society, but women also face the specific types of discrimination resulting from the social and sexual division of labour.
- 3. It may be affirmed that the situation of women in the region has generally improved, relatively speaking, but this cannot be said of all women or of every aspect of social life. The conditions in which women are living vary widely according to the socioeconomic stratum to which they belong, and their modes of participation in economic, political, social and cultural life and the sources and forms of discrimination against them vary accordingly.
- 4. The women most affected by this situation resulting from inadequate socioeconomic structures are those belonging to poor groups, particularly in rural and marginal urban areas.
- 5. The social organization of the region attributes to the family unit the responsibility for the biological and social reproduction of its members and, therefore, of the population. Virtually all adult women carry out the domestic work. However, this important contribution of women in fulfilling their reproductive roles enjoys no social recognition, and merely serves as a means of perpetuating the existing sexual stereotypes and cultural patterns that discriminate against women. What is more important, since the situation of women is usually viewed as forming part of the social welfare sector no recognition tends

- to be given to women's domestic activities, and thus their contribution to economic and social development is ignored. Many national development strategies and plans do not take account of the link between the majority of women and domestic work. At the same time the objective of integrated development is hampered by a group of interrelated social problems which, affect men and women alike, such as critical poverty, inequitable income distribution, unemployment, illiteracy, or semi-illiteracy, the marginality of large urban, rural and indigenous sectors, little or no participation in the most important aspects of national life and so on.
- 6. The problems which hinder the participation of women in the economic, political, social and cultural life of their countries are closely linked with the general state of under-development. It is therefore fundamental to bring about the necessary changes in socioeconomic structures, and at the same time undertake specific action aimed at changing the Latin American woman's situation so that she becomes an active agent in transforming the existing structures and a determining factor in achieving full equality of men and women. This signifies that the situation of women in rural areas is particularly serious, they suffer not only from isolation, but also from lack of education, employment and other disadvantages which cause them to migrate to the cities in search of work, with the corresponding sequel of prostitution, begging and growth of slum areas.
- 7. It is therefore evident that legislation, in so far as it adversely affects women, impedes their integration into development, and while it is true that legislative measures are not in themselves sufficient to ensure women's equality, the elimination of all discriminatory provisions opens the way to equality. The de facto discrimination that exists in the region has been based on, and vitalized by, de jure discrimination and it is urgent to take appropriate measures of a legal nature to ensure the legal equality of the sexes.
- 8. Although education is a vital factor for the economic and social development of peoples, in the region women represent a high percentage (between 60 and 80%) of the total illiterate population. Even in the countries considered to be of a higher cultural level, the percentage of women with secondary, technical and higher education is low.
- 9. The limited access to education by majority groups of the population, particularly women, has led the latter to turn to the traditional sectors of the economy, basically domestic services, trade, artisanal activities and agricultural work. There is also the special problem of young people leaving school due to economic reasons, pregnancy, the need to go to work to contribute to the family income or other factors.
- 10. According to CEPAL and United Nations studies, the health problem in the region is alarming. Low life expectancy and high mortality and morbidity rates, and the region's critical public health situation highlights the differences which exist between the health and living conditions of the Latin American countries and those of the developed countries of the world. This is all the more critical if one bears in mind the great differences which exist in this field among the different countries of the region and among the different social groups and regions within each country.
- 11. Because of the special care they need during pregnancy, childbirth and lactation, women, together with children, are worst affected by the situation.

There is also the problem of the increasing cost of medicines and the monopolistic control exercised over them by transnational enterprises as well as the shortage of available and suitable medical resources.

- 12. With regard to employment, it may be observed that a very low percentage of women is incorporated in the labour force, although this percentage is higher in the Caribbean subregion than in the rest of the region.
- 13. Most of them carry out unskilled work, particularly in the services sector and above all domestic service, including unpaid family work. In many cases women are the object of discrimination and exploitation as regards pay, working conditions and hiring practices; and there are real limitations on the incorporation and retention of women in work, which hinders their participation in the political, economic and social life of their countries.
- 14. According to current data, the female work force is concentrated in the cities and primarily in the large capitals, where the greatest quantity of services and jobs traditionally attributed to women are grouped together, but which lack the social and educational facilities to enable the great majority of them to remain employed. Against the background of the chronic unemployment and under-employment affecting the region, this further worsens the position of women.
- 15. The family still inculcates and promotes among its members activities and vocations which are based more on assigned sexual stereotypes than on their possibilities and abilities as human beings, which affects not only women's opportunities of personal development but also their part as agents of development.
- 16. One of the fundamental limitations on the access of women to work, education, management responsibilities and possibilities of development is the excessive workload imposed on them by the domestic tasks which are wrongly viewed as the exclusive occupation of women. This double working day has an enormous influence on the millions of women incorporated into production and services, who, on top of their working day, have the added burden of all the domestic chores.
- 17. It is significant that women's political participation in the region in the interests of the economic and social development of their countries is extremely low. They currently form about half the electorate, but only a minute fraction of them are members of legislative bodies and an even smaller proportion are members of executive bodies. Women do not participate sufficiently in decision-making, their opinions are neglected and their needs are not taken into account in the development planning of many countries.
- 18. All the above, reflected in the economic and social situation of the region, is compounded by the existence of problems such as prostitution, the illegal traffic in persons and drugs, rape, drug addiction and other forms of crime and antisocial behaviour.
- 19. The mass media, which offer great possibilities through their functions of information, education, entertainment and persuasion, often do not attain these objectives because they usually tend to present and reinforce a stereotyped, degrading and inadequate image of women, whom they treat as sexual objects and as agents to promote indiscriminate consumption, particularly when seeking to market various types of articles.

- 20. To a very considerable extent the communication media, basically motivated by the economic interests of the transnational enterprises, have perpetuated the dependence of women by showing them a reality which is not theirs and hiding from them their real identity; they have contributed to keeping them restricted to the confines of the home, preventing the development of their critical consciousness and propagating the concept of their role as useful merchandise for consumption.
- 21. In accordance with the appraisal undertaken, and in order to overcome the above-mentioned obstacles to the full integration of women in economic and social development, governments, women, CEPAL and international organizations should commit themselves to giving importance and priority to the following measures aimed towards improving the existing state of affairs.

#### **B. PRIORITY AREAS, STRATEGIES AND ACTIONS**

- 1. It is recommended that governments should:
- a) Do their utmost to furnish maximum support for the implementation of the Regional Plan of Action, which constitutes the essential instrument of the action priorities for the region.
- b) Take measures to ensure that regional, national and sectoral plans actively pursue specific actions to benefit women, provide adequate resources for this purpose and monitor and evaluate their application and impact on the situation of women.
- c) Include objectives, concrete strategies and studies relating to the situation of women in national preparatory activities for the formulation of the New International Development Strategy.
- d) Adopt the necessary measures as rapidly as possible to implement the World Plan of Action and the Regional Plan of Action in order to establish and improve national machinery for the integration of women into development, and also analyse and identify the factors hindering the creation and implementation of, and where appropriate devise the most adequate, machinery.
- e) Adopt as rapidly as possible in each country the necessary measures for the complete review of national legislation in order to ensure the legal equality of men and women in all areas, with particular emphasis upon civil, family, labour, agrarian and criminal law; and establish where appropriate regulations governing family property which ensure that the goods acquired in the marriage or consensual union of a couple benefit both members; and in countries where no Family Code exists such provisions should be included in civil legislation and finally implement the necessary measures to ensure that women are suitably informed of all the legal and legislative aspects affecting them, thus making for a better implementation of those provisions.
- f) Take the necessary measures to implement the recommendations concerning employment contained in the resolution on conditions of work, vocational training and employment of women adopted at the Eleventh Conference of American States Members of the ILO in Medellín, Colombia, September-October 1979.

- i) Create conditions for generating employment for the growing number of women particularly heads of households, who constitute a high percentage of the unemployed and underemployed.
- ii) Design and implement training programme in non-traditional areas for unskilled young urban women and migrant women workers, bearing in mind their age, in order to prepare them for, and advance them in the job market and place them in a position to generate incomes through the production of goods and services and slow down migration from the countryside to the cities.
- iii) Improve the conditions of work, promote access to credit and social security and increase the managerial training for women in the "informal" sector of the economy.
- g) Give priority in the short term to very broad literacy and adult education programmes with emphasis on women in rural areas since they show the highest percentages of educational backwardness; it is also suggested that use should be made of the means offered by modern techniques both in the formal and non-formal systems. In countries which still have not done so, the discrimination implicit in education where there is a separation of the sexes should be abolished very rapidly, while co-education which fundamentally strengthens coexistence, breaks with sexual patterns and stereotypes, and makes optimum use of resources, should be fostered, as should sexual education.
- h) Adjust programmes and adopt flexible curricula so as to make it possible for women to be reincorporated into secondary or universitary education, when their responsibilities as mothers so permit or, once their desire to devote themselves full-time to the care, education and upbringing of their children has been satisfied they consider that the time has come to resume their education or careers.
- i) Use the mass media to disseminate the Regional Plan of Action, and incorporate it into the formal education system, so that the population is suitably informed and able to participate actively and consciously in the country's development process.
- j) Provide equitable access to health services, especially for the poorest sectors, covering all the basic medical needs of the population, including suitable infrastructure and the necessary medical and paramedical services, without distinction on sexual grounds, to achieve a good level of medical care for all.
- k) Reformulate, in the countries which have social security, the criteria governing the financing and cost of nurseries or infant day care centres, for example, so that the cost is borne equally by the contributions of men and women who are parents, thus putting an end to the idea that such services are provided for mothers alone.
- l) Pay special attention to improving national information and statistical services, so as to make it possible to appraise the participation of women in all levels and sectors of the planning system; and provide timely, up-to-date information on the situation of women when so requested by United Nations specialized agencies.
- m) Promote, within the framework of programmes of economic and technical co-operation among developing countries, as well as in the context of regional and subregional agreements, those aspects of this resolution aimed

towards securing the full integration of women into the economic and social development of their countries.

- n) Adopt and implement, in conjunction with the bodies of the United Nations system, measures designed to alter the current image of women as sexual objects and portray women as economically, socially and politically productive human beings.
- o) Develop specific policies to improve the status of rural women, particularly in relation to the extension of social security.
- p) Include in national technical co-operation programmes, and in the corresponding indicative planning figures, those projects which concern the increased participation of women in development, attaching high priority to them.
- q) Lend firm support to the setting up in the Dominican Republic of the International Research and Training Institute for the Advancement of Women.
- r) Request the United Nations Secretary-General to speed up the implementation of the recommendations adopted by the advisory boards of the Institute, so that the latter may begin its work as rapidly as possible.
- s) Likewise request the Secretary-General to study the possibility of submitting to the 1980 World Conference a report on the work undertaken, the programmes prepared and immediate action.

## 2. It is recommended that CEPAL should:

- a) Submit as rapidly as possible this resolution, which contains the fundamental strategies for the integration of women into development, and the relevant documentation mentioned in General Assembly resolution 33/200, paragraphs 3 and 4, to the next meeting of the Preparatory Committee for the New International Development Strategy for the Third United Nations Development Decade, and the Preparatory Committee for the World Conference of the United Nations Decade for Women, for consideration at its third session.
- b) Include in the implementation of its regular programmes the recommendations of the Regional Plan of Action as part of the instrumentation required by the New International Development Strategy, and in its periodic appraisals consider specific aspects of the form in which the situation of women has been affected in each area.
- c) Supplement the request contained in the last paragraph by establishing machinery to permit a close link between the Special Unit for the Integration of Women and the rest of the CEPAL system so as to provide for a joint analysis of the quantitative and qualitative impact of this New Strategy on the situation of women.
- d) Recommend that the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN), convened periodically by the secretariat, should include in its periodic appraisals an appraisal relating to the incorporation of women in economic and social development and formulate recommendations which will lead to the active participation and improvement of the situation of women in the regional development process, and to achieving the objectives of the New International Development Strategy.
- e) Co-operate with the governments of the region, in conjunction with the Permanent Secretariat of the Latin American Economic System (SELA), to

identify and generate economic co-operation projects which affect the position of the women of the region in economic and social growth and development.

- f) Continue taking the necessary steps, with the urgency which the situation requires, and in accordance with the recommendations of the Presiding Officers of the First Regional Conference, to obtain the human and financial resources needed by the secretariat to be able to make a better response to the requests of governments; and to fill as soon as possible the corresponding post in the Mexico Office, so as to make a more effective contribution to the appropriate implementation of the objectives of the Regional Plan of Action and of the United Nations Programme for the Integration of Women into Development.
- g) Attach priority in the different CEPAL for aand bodies to the study and analysis of the basic concepts, strategies and action contained in the Regional Plan of Action with a view to avoiding the duplication of effort and strengthening the approach that the so-called "question of women" is not divorced from the economic, social, political and cultural problems of the countries.
- h) Deploy the necessary human, technical and financial resources to coordinate projects for the region through the International Research and Training Institute for the Advancement of Women.
- 3. It is recommended that women should:
- a) Participate with a greater sense of commitment in trade-union organizations and, through the women's or mixed organizations to which they belong, in the implementation of the action programmes aimed at achieving their integration into social, political and economic development; and promote the local popular organizations which strengthen the democratic principles of equality and social justice.
- b) Collaborate in the dissemination of the Regional Plan of Action, and consider it as far as possible as an instrument of reference for the specific actions which their groups may undertake.
- c) Urge non-governmental organizations and particularly women's associations to continue their invaluable work, focussing on activities to achieve directly or in co-operation with governments, the solutions proposed for the Decade for Women and the Regional Plan of Action.
- 4. With regard to the generation of projects, it is recommended that the governments of Latin America and the Caribbean and the United Nations system should:
- a) Furnish the necessary collaboration to the countries of the region for reinforcing the insertion of these projects in the national infrastructure in all the aspects mentioned, either by means of technical assistance or by bilateral and multilateral collaboration.
- b) Attach greater importance to the training of women, with special emphasis on non-traditional areas of training so that they can prepare and implement all aspects of projects. Similarly, they should create areas of marketing and production and other areas which may enable them to generate income and to promote the advancement of women and their families.
- c) Establish through regional bodies the necessary flows of information and co-ordination so as to avoid the duplication of activities and concentrate efforts on key issues.

- d) Set up producer's and consumer's co-operatives, disseminate intermediate technology which relieves rural women of their heavier work and create an adequate infrastructure of basic services.
- 5. With regard to financing it is recommended that governments and the bodies and agencies of the United Nations system should:
- a) Ensure the effective allocation and use of financial resources for the generation and implementation of projects aimed towards the incorporation of women into development.
- b) Request in particular the organization of the United Nations system to appraise what they have done to improve the status of women, increase their financial contributions and identify the necessary measures to implement the Regional Plan of Action.
- c) Request CEPAL to seek further funds from the General Assembly for projects, without thereby causing any reduction in the funds to be allocated by the Consultative Committee of the Voluntary Fund for the Decade for Women.
- d) Reaffirm paragraph 88.8)i) of the Regional Plan of Action, which "requests the Secretary General of the United Nations to assign additional resources to the CEPAL Secretariat from the regular budget to strengthen its regular activities concerning women and to facilitate the establishment within the CEPAL Secretariat of a specialized unit for the integration of women in development". It is also recommended that these resources should be increased so as to consolidate the unit. Additional human and financial resources should be allocated at headquarters of CEPAL and its regional offices pursuant to the recommendations to CEPAL in the resolution, and studies and research undertaken for the creation of appropriate programmes of information and dissemination.
- e) Reiterate paragraph 88.8)ii) of the Regional Plan of Action which "requests the Voluntary Fund for the Decade for Women to give the greatest possible support to CEPAL's activities, programmes and specific projects deriving from the priorities laid down in this Regional Plan of Action in the field of the integration of women in development and consistent with the criteria established by the United Nations for disbursements from the Fund", and also give greater flexibility to the criteria for the allocation of resources according to the region's needs; the time which elapses between the allocation of funds for the projects and their implementation depending on their reception should be cut as far as possible; financial support should be secured for the projects until they are inserted in the national programmes; and the maximum priority should be given to integrated programmes which will ensure a genuine impact on the situation of women.
- f) Reiterate paragraph 88.8)iii) of the Regional Plan of Action which "requests the Administrator of UNDP to give the greatest possible co-operation—on the national and regional level— to the provisions of the present Regional Plan of Action, supporting the specific activities, programmes and projects of the CEPAL Secretariat aimed at the achievement of its goals", so that it is the offices of UNDP in the countries which are responsible for this co-ordination in order to avoid duplication of efforts; and inform the CEPAL Secretariat in accordance with the procedures recently established by the Consultative Committee of the Voluntary Fund in March 1979.

g) Reiterate paragraph 88.8)iv) of the Regional Plan of Action which "requests the Executive Secretary of CEPAL to explore and negotiate with bodies for international co-operation on a bilateral or multilateral basis, financial support for specific programmes connected with the fulfilment of the goals of the present Regional Plan of Action"; and request him to seek, through organizations such as UNCTAD, UNIDO and others, financial support for programmes whose priorities include aspects relating to women, in relation to the New International Development Strategy.

# 4. SUPPORT FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF WOMEN IN NICARAGUA

The Second Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America,

Considering that the governments of the region are engaged in implementing the Regional Plan of Action for the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America, in view of its vital importance for integrated national advancement,

Bearing in mind that the governments of the region, member States of the United Nations, have taken the initiative for the integration and participation of women in activities aimed at development, as have the international organizations, since they attach priority to that issue,

Mindful that Nicaragua, a country of Central America, is currently at a crucial stage as a result of its movement for political transformation, in which women have from the start played an outstanding role,

Urges the member States of the United Nations and the international organizations to provide the necessary collaboration urgently needed in support of projects designed to benefit the women of Nicaragua in order to continue the process of rebuilding the country and restoring its national dignity.

# 5. WOMEN AT THE DECISION-MAKING LEVELS IN THE CEPAL SECRETARIAT

The Second Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America,

Bearing in mind that the preamble to the Charter of the United Nations reaffirms its belief in "the equal rights of men and women",

Noting that the majority of the officials at the decision-making level in the United Nations in general and in CEPAL in particular are men,

Convinced that a great number of women are fully qualified to take up high positions and assume major responsibilities,

Recommends the Executive Secretary of CEPAL:

- 1. To make a review of the staff list at all levels, particularly at the directoral levels, in order to secure greater representation of women and a balance in the distribution of posts within the system;
- 2. To take measures to ensure the real participation of women in CEPAL and its programmes.

### 6. PROBLEM OF REFUGEE WOMEN

The Second Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America,

Bearing in mind General Assembly resolution 3318 (XXIX) and resolution 7 of the twenty-seventh session of the Commission on the Status of Women concerning the protection of women and children in states of emergency, national disasters and armed conflicts, in the struggle for peace, self-determination and independence, and the situation of women and children obliged to leave their countries due to well-founded fears of persecution on grounds of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion,

### Recommends:

1. That the basic rights of those affected by these situations, which constitute a pressing problem in the region, should be promoted and safeguarded;

2. That the various recommendations and resolutions formulated on the subject in the different international organizations should be implemented since they will contribute in particular to providing a solution to the problems arising for refugees.

## II. RESOLUTIONS OF THE THIRD REGIONAL CONFERENCE ON THE INTEGRATION OF WOMEN INTO THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT OF LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

(Mexico City, 8 to 10 August 1983)

# 1. SOME GUIDELINES FOR REGIONAL AND NATIONAL ACTIONS AIMED AT IMPROVING THE STATUS OF WOMEN

The Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean,

Recalling the mandates and resolutions contained in: the World Plan of Action for the Implementation of the Objectives of the International Women's Year (Mexico, 1975); the Regional Plan of Action for the Integration of Women into Latin American Economic and Social Development (Havana, 1977); the Programme of Action for the Second Half of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace (Copenhagen, 1980); the Second Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America (Macuto, Venezuela, 1979), the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women, and evaluations made during the United Nations Decade for Women,

Considering that despite the progress made, there remain profound social inequities and discriminatory values obstructing women's integration into development,

Taking into account that the present crisis being undergone by the region, aggravated by international economic problems, has an especially serious effect on the participation of women in this integration,

Recognizing women as protagonists in the quest for new styles of development and as agents of innovative change in the direction of more just forms of social organization,

Convinced that the solving of current problems constitutes a challenge to the region which requires the establishment of new formulas based on democracy and participation of women promoting solidarity and friendship among the countries of the region,

- 1. Recommends to the governments that they:
- a) increase the levels of participation of women in decision-making processes that transcend local levels;
- b) consider the family as a basic unit, subject and object of overall policies which ensure the satisfaction of their needs and aspirations and the improvement of their living conditions, with special emphasis on cultural and educational training;
- c) redefine the responsibilities of each member of the couple and those assigned to the remaining members of the family so as to reflect equality and equity between sexes, their right to make a free and informed decision as to procreation and their relationship with their children, based on training them to become persons capable of making decisions;
- d) formulate social policies based on a more equitable distribution of income that are designed to generalize the infrastructure established to attend to the fundamental needs of low income women and families, particularly as regards health, education and employment;
- e) ensure the effective equality, guaranteed by law, of men and women as individuals and as family members, and support the dissemination among the population of information on the significance of such legislation in local practice;
- f) promote and support, as appropriate, a change in the stereotyped image of women in society, beginning with the image transmitted by educational systems and including the one presented by the mass media, with a view to emphasizing the importance of women as individuals;
- g) provide incentives for the participation of women in remunerative work, giving increased attention in educational processes to the types of training that would enable women to engage in a wide variety of occupations, and encourage women to pursue studies in areas other than those involving traditional activities:
- 2. Recommends to ECLA that it:
- a) continue to conduct research and prepare studies and diagnoses aimed at providing more in-depth knowledge of the situation of women in the region, especially as regards their dual relationship with the family structure and with the conditions and incentives created for their participation in education, health, employment and social and political organizations, and with special emphasis on young women, with a view to the forthcoming Regional Meeting of Youth;
- b) disseminate amongst the countries of the region the results of its studies directed towards the establishment of the relevant policy guidelines;
- c) consider, in consultation with the governments, the possibility of preparing national, subregional or regional programmes for training and providing skills to women, with special emphasis on education, employment and health;

- d) continue its activities in the training of middle- and high-level technical personnel for the countries, with a view to the exchange of experience, the establishment of methodologies and the inclusion of the situation of women in global social development programmes;
- e) stress the need to prepare a general plan of regional review and appraisal corresponding to the second half of the Decade.

# 2. SHORT-TERM MEASURES TO PROMOTE THE INTEGRATION OF WOMEN IN DEVELOPMENT

The Third Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean,

Considering the goals and objectives of the United Nations Decade for Women, which seek to promote the economic and social development of member States through the full and active participation of women at all levels of society,

Acknowledging the need in all member States for the implementation of measures to achieve these goals,

Recalling the affirmation by member States of their support for the United Nations Decade for Women,

Recognizing the serious international economic recession which has adversely affected progress in the achievement of the goals of the United Nations Decade for Women at the national, regional and international level,

Acknowledging the initial measures implemented by member States which have supported actions at the national level,

Fully appreciating the magnitude of the scope of the Programme of Action for the Second Half of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace and the need for further concentrated efforts in every aspect of the economic, social and political life of member States,

- 1. Urges member governments to give realistic support to the United Nations Decade for Women through the strengthening of the established national machinery, made potentially more effective by the specific provision of budgetary allocations for adequate personnel and programmes;
- 2. Further urges member States which have not yet done so to ratify the Convention for the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women, to effect the necessary legal provisions to give effect to the Convention, and to fulfil the obligations to report to the United Nations Committee monitoring the status of implementation of the Convention;
- 3. Calls upon member States to honour their commitment to subscribe to United Nations funding sources, thereby increasing the level of funding available to national and regional agencies for the implementation of programmes relating to the United Nations Decade for Women;
- 4. Stresses the need for the promotion of women to the highest levels of decision-making in all the regional and international agencies working for the promotion of the integration of women in development;
- 5. Specifies the inclusion, where applicable, of a "women-in-development" component in the formulation and implementation of all programmes and projects, as a condition for their funding.

#### 3. INTEGRATION OF RURAL WOMEN INTO DEVELOPMENT

The Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean,

Considering that the Declaration of Mexico on the Equality of Women and their Contribution to Development and Peace (1975) established that:

- a) Equality between men and women means equality of their dignity and value as human beings, as well as equality of rights, opportunities and responsibilities,
- b) States should make the necessary changes in their economic and social policies to permit the integration of women into development, as it is their right to participate in and contribute to development,

Considering also that the World Conference of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace, held in Copenhagen in 1980, established that the presence of rural and peasant women is necessary in the development process and stressed the importance of satisfying the specific needs of the rural world, and particularly those of women in rural areas,

Bearing in mind that the peasant women of the region should participate in the development of each country as protagonists in social demands and agents of their own transformation.

- 1. Recommends governments to:
- a) promote such legal reforms and agrarian policies as may be necessary in the countries, with a view to securing access by peasant women to land holding, productive inputs and employment;
- b) prepare and implement integrated rural development programmes that provide for specific action in which peasant women participate, in accordance with their perceived needs and the level of socio-economic development of their communities:
- 2. Recommends ECLA to review and promote the strategies established on the basis of the decisions and resolutions of the United Nations conferences on women in order to fulfil their objectives of establishing legislation to guarantee the right of women wage earners to work and to the enjoyment of working conditions and social benefits which support them as mothers and workers;
- 3. Recommends the bodies of the United Nations system, and in particular the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization, as well as the International Labour Organisation, to examine their financing policies and priorities with special regard to their programmes of action for women in order that more resources may be allocated to programmes for women in rural and agricultural zones during the next five years;
- 4. Recommends the Presiding Officers of the Regional Conference to serve as the formal vehicle for transmission of this resolution, through the appropriate channels, to the World Conference to be held at Nairobi in 1985.

# 4. PEACE IN CENTRAL AMERICA FOR THE INTEGRATION OF WOMEN INTO DEVELOPMENT

The Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean,

Considering that since the Second Regional Conference, held in 1979, the crisis in the Central American region has become worse and that this has had a direct impact on the situation of women, making their integration into economic and social development more difficult,

Further considering the persistent violation of basic human rights, which affects the physical and psychological integrity of the women of the area,

Taking into account also that the rural and urban female population has suffered directly through loss of lives, family disintegration and destruction of its heritage,

Bearing in mind that violence has taken its toll on the family unit, resulting in the disappearance or scattering of its members,

Acknowledging that the young women of the region are witnessing a reduction in their opportunities for access to economic and social development, and

Considering also that the aggravation of the tensions in Central America could provoke the spread of violence in the region and that only a peaceful and negotiated solution to the conflicts can ensure the authentic economic and social development to which its people aspire,

- 1. Expresses its concern for the situation of human rights in the region and requests the governments to ensure their full exercise;
- 2. Urges the Central American countries to resolve their differences on the basis of the fundamental principles of international law;
- 3. Requests ECLA to make every effort to contribute by all possible means to achieving the integration of women into development in the Central American region;
- 4. Expresses its resolute support of the steps taken by the Contadora Group in its quest for the pacification of the Central American region.

# 5. PRESERVATION OF PEACE IN THE REGION

The Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean,

Mindful of the example set by the women of the region in resolving their ideological differences,

Recommends to States that, with a view to preserving peace in the region, they should resolve their controversies by peaceful means, and in all cases in accordance with the principles and procedures set forth by international law.

## 6. CONTINUATION OF ACTIVITIES TO PROMOTE THE INTEGRATION OF WOMEN INTO DEVELOPMENT BEYOND THE END OF THE UNITED NATIONS DECADE FOR WOMEN

The Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean,

Considering that ECLA's activities in its area of action have had positive results in achieving the goals proposed by the United Nations General Assembly,

Taking into account that the integration of women into economic and social development is an irreversible historical fact and clearly beneficial both to women themselves and to all mankind,

Also considering that women have effectively assumed the responsibilities which fall to them, both to their own benefit and to that of their families, society, their cultures, the economies of their countries and the higher standard of living of human beings,

Bearing in mind that the technical diagnoses made and solutions proposed at the regional conferences organized by ECLA have helped in the activities of women in the region aiming at the final implementation of the Regional Plan of Action for the Integration of Women into Latin American Economic and Social Development adopted by the member States,

- 1. Requests the United Nations General Assembly, through ECLA at its twentieth session, to support the continuation beyond the end of the Decade for Women of ECLA's activities with regard to their integration into economic and social development;
- 2. Also requests the General Assembly, through ECLA at its twentieth session, to allocate sufficient funds to permit the continuation and expansion of ECLA's programmes in this area.

# 7. FUTURE OF THE VOLUNTARY FUND FOR THE UNITED NATIONS DECADE FOR WOMEN

The Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean,

Recalling that the Voluntary Fund for the United Nations Decade for Women was established by the General Assembly as the only international fund created to provide technical and financial assistance to strengthen the integration of women into the economic and social development of their countries,

Noting the innovative and catalytic nature of the activities stimulated, promoted, supported and executed with resources from the Voluntary Fund, through governments, non-governmental organizations, ECLA and other organizations linked in particular with development planning, the strengthening of national machinery, training, assistance in self-reliance for poor rural and urban women, and other related activities,

Taking into account the support given to the Voluntary Fund by member States.

Taking into account also that the development of the Voluntary Fund since its establishment in 1976, in terms of the consolidation and streamlining of its operative aspects, the magnitude of its support to activities involving and benefiting women, and the flexibility of its criteria as regards the special needs of the subregions, has resulted in considerably improved conditions in the lives of the women of the region,

Recommends that ECLA member States should continue to support the Voluntary Fund, especially seeking to ensure its stability and continuity by contributing even symbolic donations.

# 8. CO-ORDINATORS OF THE WOMEN'S PROGRAMME IN THE MEXICO/CENTRAL AMERICA/CUBA SUBREGION AND THE CARIBBEAN SUBREGION

The Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean,

Considering the need to provide the countries of the region with greater technical assistance and guidance with respect to programmes, promotion and research on the subject of women,

Bearing in mind the need for the systematic maintenance of this type of guidance and assistance in order to help fulfil the objectives of the Regional Plan of Action and the programme of the ECLA Unit for the Integration of Women into Latin American Economic and Social Development,

- 1. Urges ECLA to maintain the posts of co-ordinators for the Mexico/Central America/Cuba subregion and for the Caribbean subregion;
- 2. Requests ECLA to seek financial support for these posts by means of extrabudgetary contributions.

### 9. WOMEN'S CONTRIBUTION TO FAMILY INCOME

The Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean,

Considering that the economic problems of the region have direct repercussions on the family,

Considering also that working women contribute nearly all their own income for the benefit of the entire family,

Bearing in mind that women's work today is not a supplement to the family income but rather an essential factor in the family's subsistence,

Bearing in mind also that an extremely high percentage of women are heads of households,

- 1. Urges governments to eliminate all forms of wage inequalities between men and women;
- 2. Requests governments to devote resources to economic inputs and basic infrastructure to make possible the economic activation of areas under the responsibility of women, both rural and urban;

3. Suggests that governments study the use of the economic income provided by women working outside the home in order that ECLA may consider including in its programme of work as complete a regional study on the subject as possible, for later transmission to the Economic and Social Council, heads of State, ministers of labour and entities concerned with women's labour in Latin America and the Caribbean.

# 10. FINANCIAL AND TECHNICAL SUPPORT FOR SPECIFIC PROGRAMMES

The Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean,

Considering the increasing incidence in the region of pregnancies in teen-age girls,

Aware of the serious socio-economic problems which arise for young adults, particularly women, who have sole responsibility for bringing up these children,

Considering further the inter-relationship between the fertility behaviour of women and their rome and status in the family and society,

- 1. Supports the call for all agencies to take special measures in favour of young women as an important strategy of the Programme of Action for the second half of the United Nations Decade for Women;
- 2. *Urges* the ECLA Secretariat to recommend to member governments the need for special programmes of education for young people, both women and men, related to family planning and the provision of services when needed.
- 3. Requests the relevant United Nations specialized agencies, in particular the United Nations Fund for Population Activities (UNFPA), to provide financial and technical support for such programmes in accordance with national population policies and development programmes.

## 11. REVIEW OF EDUCATIONAL TEXTS AND PROGRAMMES

The Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean,

Considering that educational programmes and texts in some respects reaffirm the differentiation of activities by sex, thus impeding the full development of women on an equal footing with men,

Recalling the relevant provisions of the World Plan of Action of the Regional Plan of Action for the Integration of Women into Latin American Economic and Social Development, of the Programme of Action for the Second Half of the Decade, and of the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women,

Recommends governments which have not yet done so, and when applicable, to establish appropriate machinery in each country for the review of textbooks and educational curricula and to propose changes in them so as to ensure that they do not reaffirm the distribution of family and societal tasks on the basis of sex.

## 12. RECREATIONAL PROGRAMMES

The Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean,

Considering that every human being should have access to recreation and sports and the State should promote these activities so that they fulfil a broad social function and contribute to the physical and cultural development of the individual,

1. Recommends government offices and non-governmental organizations responsible for programmes for women and the family to design recreational projects based on rest and recreation periods and on the beneficial use of free time.

III. APPRAISAL OF THE DECADE AND CONCRETE OPERATIONAL STRATEGIES AND MEASURES FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF WOMEN UP TO THE YEAR 2000 ADOPTED BY THE REGIONAL MEETING FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN IN PREPARATION FOR THE WORLD CONFERENCE TO REVIEW AND APPRAISE THE ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE UNITED NATIONS DECADE FOR WOMEN: EQUALITY, DEVELOPMENT AND PEACE\*

(Havana, 19 to 23 November 1984)

Critical review and appraisal of the progress achieved and the obstacles encountered in the realization of the goals and objectives of the United Nations

Decade for Women

This meeting is the culmination of a regional process of review and appraisal of the achievements of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace, as well as of the design of operational strategies for the advancement of women up to the year 2000 initiated at the Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean; and it is being held less than a year before the end of the Decade. This implies that the appraisal has been based on the reports of the World Conference of the International Women's Year (Mexico, 1975), the World Conference of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace (Copenhagen, 1980) and the three regional conferences. It has likewise taken into account the Appraisal of the Implementation of the IDS for Latin America and the Caribbean (twentieth session of ECLA, Lima, 1984). Therefore, efforts and resources must be focused on solving the problems linked to national, regional and international social and economic development with which women will be faced in the future, above all with regard to equality, development and peace.

<sup>\*</sup>Taken from the report of the meeting (LC/G.1339).

Albeit the elements that make it difficult to assess progress related to the integration of women into development have been emphasized on numerous occasions, it would be advisable to point out some of their essential aspects. One of these is the wide variety of parameters used in each country to measure national realities. Another has to do with the countries's different sizes, economic situations and ways of tackling the crisis. Moreover, the national situations are increasingly complex, as are the relations between the social groups and their relations with the governments. These are only the most outstanding aspects that impede exhaustive assessments and comparative analyses of the specific situations in individual countries. Nevertheless, it is mainly those common to all, such as economic dependence, the foreign debt and other characteristics that influence the need to seek points of consensus in order to adopt a regional criterion whereby a new pattern of development can be found that will basically break the ties of dependence. Furthermore, even though the transformations in the region have already lasted nearly three decades, the context in which the United Nations Decade for Women was initiated and that in which it is being concluded are different. When the Regional Plan of Action was adopted in Havana in 1977, there were signs of optimism and growth in the region, which are now replaced by deep concern over the worsening of the crisis and the consequent deterioration of the life of our peoples.

Latin America and the Caribbean are currently undergoing their most acute economic and political crisis of the past 50 years: a crisis which has placed most countries of the region in a precarious situation and which has been caused by both external and internal factors. The last years of the Decade have witnessed a deterioration of the general economic situation in the region. The financial economic and social crisis of the developing world has worsened the situation of large sectors of the population, and especially women, who in the Caribbean are, in large proportion, heads of household. In particular, the decline in economic activity is having a negative impact on an already unbalanced distribution of income, as well as on the high levels of unemployment prevailing in the subregion, which affect women more than men.

The living conditions of the women of the region are a problem that concerns all of Latin American and Caribbean society. The central development problems prevailing in the countries of the region concern three essential, dynamically interrelated aspects which characterize the status and evolution of the socioeconomic process. They are, first, the harmful effects that continue to be felt in the structure of their foreign relations —as a result of the nature of trade and the increased protectionist measures adopted by some developed countries in their trade with the region—, the deterioration of the terms of trade and the increase in the foreign debt; secondly, a decline in the growth rate in most Latin American countries in consequence of these foreign relations and the crisis in the world economy; and, thirdly, the present unsatisfactory socioeconomic structures that have tended to form extremely inequitable societies.

The effects of the world economic crisis on the Latin American economies—which are most clearly manifested in the contraction of the region's trade, the disproportionate increase in international bank interest rates, the tightening of the already crippling protectionist measures that the Latin American countries' traditional markets are applying against their exports and the adjustment

policies imposed by the International Monetary Fund on the majority of the governments of the region in the rescheduling of their debts— have greatly impaired the region's economic capacity to cope with its economic programmes. The crisis made itself felt in Latin America and the Caribbean with even greater force, inasmuch as most of the countries in the region have inequitable, unjust societies characterized above all by inequality in the distribution of national income, and in participation in national development processes. In other words, a broad mass of the population—in which women play a significant role— is dispossessed and reduced to extreme poverty and even to crushing indigence, while most of the benefits of the development process go to minority population strata.

This set of interrelated social problems —such as the unequal distribution of income; critical poverty; unemployment, underemployment and poor working conditions; the low productivity of a considerable part of the labour force; the backwardness and marginalization of vast rural and urban sectors; the widespread illiteracy and semi-literacy, which have a negative effect on the capacity of the labour force; and most of the population's limited participation in decision-making at all levels and in the process of economic, social and political development— constitutes a major challenge and affects large sectors of the national population in some countries and the majority in others.

Although the situation of women in Latin America and the Caribbean has experienced a relative improvement, this cannot be regarded as extending to all women or to all aspects of social life. The living conditions of women vary enormously, depending on the socioeconomic strata to which they belong. In accordance with this, too, their forms of participation in economic, political, social and cultural life likewise vary, as do the sources and forms of discrimination to which they are subjected. The women most affected by this situation—which is the product of inadequate socioeconomic structures— are those belonging to the lowest income groups, especially in rural areas and urban slum or shanty town areas.

Therefore, as affirmed in the RPA, the problems preventing women's participation in the economic, political, social and cultural life of their countries are intimately linked to the general conditions of underdevelopment. Hence it is essential to bring about the required transformations in the socioeconomic structures and to take specific action that will aid in modifying the situation of Latin American and Caribbean women, so they may take an active part in changing the existing structures and become a decisive factor in the achievement of full equality between men and women.

It is common knowledge that men and women share certain living conditions determined by the fact that they form part of a given society and a given socioeconomic stratum within that society, and that women face specific discrimination resulting from the social and sexual division of labour.

With regard to employment, it can be seen that the percentage of women incorporated into the labour force remains very low. Although the percentage of participation is greater in the Caribbean than in the rest of the region, it should be noted that this is largely due to the availability of employment in subcontracting activities. In the region as a whole, most women work in unskilled jobs, concentrated in the service sector, especially in domestic service and unpaid

family work. In many cases, women are the object of discrimination and exploitation with regard to wages, working conditions and contract practices, and there are real limitations on their being hired and remaining employed. This situation is more critical in rural areas, causing an exodus from the countryside to the cities. In Latin America, 65% of the population lived in the cities in 1980, and, according to projections, this proportion will increase to 76% by the year 2000. The demographic growth rate will exceed 2%: if present conditions persist, migratory flows from the countryside to the cities will consist mainly of young single women.

In analysing the case of women who are already incorporated into the labour force and the problems deriving from their dual responsibility for work inside and outside the home, general points should be noted: a) in a great many cases, the occupations in which they work are those traditionally assigned to women; b) since these are jobs on which a low social value is set, they are usually badly paid and carry little prestige; c) married women who take a job must do a double day's work, unless they have the means to employ a domestic worker to do their housework or can get a relative to help them. The situation of women who are heads of households is even worse, since they simply have to work to earn a living; d) women employed in the tertiary sector are mostly travelling saleswomen and domestic workers. Bearing in mind the rise in educational levels, however, it can be assumed that these jobs will not be acceptable to the coming members of the labour force, whose expectations will probably be higher. Predictably, therefore, social pressure will in the future be brought to bear on employment -pressure which could in some cases generate serious social conflicts unless appropriate solutions are quickly found: i.e., ways and means of creating enough jobs to absorb the increasing flow of women graduating from the educational system. Various studies have confirmed the influence of education on the decision to enter the labour market. Mention has also been made of the danger that the economic crisis may bring about a swingback towards the traditional ideology that seeks to keep women confined to their role as housewives.

The structure of health services commonest in the region is centred primarily on curative medicine, with a predominance of private services, a serious lack of free public services and a system of hospital care which has very specialized services concentrated mainly in urban areas. If a larger resource allocation could be secured for activities aimed at the prevention and early detection of disease expenditure at the curative level could be better adjusted to the available resources, of which at present it absorbs the lion's share. In most of the countries of the region, the economic crisis has led to a reduction of the funds allocated to the health sector and to a decline in the services provided by the State and intended primarily for low-income population groups and rural areas. In the field of social security, unemployment and underemployment, and the special participation of women in the informal sector, as, for instance, in domestic service and rural labour, have meant that fewer women are covered by health care under the social security system. This has been reflected in a deterioration of women's health situation in the region. The emphasis on curative medicine in the countries concerned has led to a considerable increase in spending on medicaments. The monopolistic features of the production of medical supplies

and the almost total external dependence of the countries of the region are a source of particular concern, because drugs and medications are introduced that do not always meet the people's real health needs but serve the interests of a market which exacerbates the economic crisis and the external dependence in question.

Despite the fact that education is an essential factor in the peoples' economic and social development, women constitute a high proportion (60 to 80%) of the total illiterate population in Latin America and the Caribbean. Lack of access to education for majority groups and particularly for women has forced the latter into traditional sectors of the economy —mainly domestic services, shopkeeping, cottage industries and agricultural tasks. Then there is the special problem of girls and young women who drop out of school for lack of economic resources, pregnancy, the need of a job to supplement the family income, or other causes.

Some of the characteristics of the educational system in the region have been a high growth rate, in terms of the reduction of illiteracy in the 15-and-over age group; increased coverage of school-age children; and their significant absorption, as measured by the progress made in the population's incorporation into the educational system. Notwithstanding this expansionist trend, the educational process retains élitist and exclusive traits. Thus, while enrolment in intermediate and higher education increases at a rapid pace, a considerable portion of the population aged ten years and over is still illiterate. Gauging the educational situation seems easy, since there are abundant statistical data. Some aspects, however, are still unexplored such as feminine drop-out and absentee rates and differences in the contents of curricula and in the ways in which boys and girls are taught.

Statistical data are available for analysing literacy and educational levels. Census data only allow for an overall analysis of the situation of women as a nominal category, however. In other words, distinctions can be made between the differences in the situations of women and of men, from one country to another and within a given country, but the differences existing within the category "women" are overlooked.

The following are the main educational problems in most of the countries of the region:

i) Although wider coverage has been provided in respect of primary education and the enrolment percentages warrant optimism, it will still take several decades for the entire population to complete at least the basic cycle. At this level, there are no marked differences based on the student's sex, but there are with regard to areas of residence; special attention should be given to the rural areas, which are the most backward. Primary education offered by State institutions is free, but this does not suffice to ensure full coverage. The implicit content of education is of major importance at the primary level, since what is learned at that age will condition the traits to be enhanced or attenuated in the child's personality.

ii) The intermediate level poses no serious problems, since its rate of expansion to cover the feminine population is satisfactory. At this level, women are not discriminated against in general, but their specialization is usually restricted to learning some middle-level skills and technical vocations.

- Many women drop out because of lack of economic resources, pregnancy or the need to work outside the home.
- iii) Discrimination against women remains greater in higher education, though more women than men are enrolled at that level. Specialization by vocational courses is, however, still in accord with what has been established by sex stereotypes: cultural barriers determine and overconcentration of young women students in the careers traditional for women and a small number in the technical courses that open the way to the new technologies.
- iv) It should be mentioned that, although there is a trend in the region towards greater incorporation of women into secondary and higher education, serious differences between population groups still persist, which makes it necessary for the educational system to ensure equitable access.
- v) Continuing education and non-formal education in the area of skills training has been emphasized during the Decade, but these activities are still fragmentary and not easily accessible, particularly to women in rural areas. Training is given mainly in skills traditionally associated with women and has not encompassed the type of specialized technical training envisaged.

From the formal point of view, in the area of legislation, the following are some of the points on which agreement exists at the end of the Decade: no one may deprive a woman of her right to vote, and, in countries where voting is obligatory, an attempt to prevent her from exercising it may incur penalties. Majority is attained at the same age by both sexes and involves the same rights and responsibilities. No one may attempt to prevent a woman from exercising her profession or occupation. Legislative changes are being aimed more and more frequently at equalizing responsibilities with regard to parental authority over children, administration of the family's assets and the establishment of the domicile or household. Equality of labour rights has been established throughout the region, but has not been adequately enforced. Protection of motherhood is guaranteed by legislation throughout the region; however, the concept of maternity as illness is still maintained and makes it difficult to implement existing regulations and contractual clauses. The situation of urban women appears to be better in these respects than that of rural women, on behalf of whom large-scale efforts should be made to develop egalitarian attitudes at both family structure and institutional levels. Nevertheless, it should be pointed out that since, in general, these laws have not been applied effectively, their application should constitute one of the objectives or strategies for the year 2000.

The exercise of civil, political and social rights should not be conditional on women's and men's knowledge or ignorance of them. To adduce the need for women to know of their rights in order to exercise them implies discriminatory treatment against them, since approximately the same proportion of men are unaware of their rights yet they are nevertheless required to exercise them as a duty.

In spite of all efforts, no significant progress has been made with regard to the statement in the Regional Plan of Action that the mass media tend to have harmful effects on attitudes and values related to the function and role of women in society, that they frequently raise obstacles to positive changes in behaviour patterns and that they may perpetuate stereotypes and myths concerning women.

It has been observed that sexist cultural patterns still persist in educational systems, mass media and socializing activities. In the mass media, this phenomenon is aggravated by the strengthening of the role of the transnational model and the absence of alternative channels of communication for, by and with women on a multinational basis throughout Latin America.

Significantly, women's political involvement in economic and social development in most of the countries in the region is extremely limited. Though women constitute almost half of the electorate, their representation on legislative bodies is minimal, and it is even lower on executive bodies. Women are not sufficiently involved in the decision-making process, their views are not respected and their needs are disregarded in development planning in most countries. All these disadvantages, which are reflected in the economic and social situation in the region, are heightened by problems such as violence against women, prostitution, illegal trafficking in persons and narcotics, rape, drug addiction and other forms of crime and antisocial behaviour. Mention must also be made of the fact that the existence of non-democratic governments in the region has influenced the loss of the most fundamental political rights of women political refugees, exiles and involuntary migrants.

On the foregoing evidence, it may be asserted that the overall quality of life has declined substantially, owing to the multiple effects of the economic crisis and, in most countries, to a reduction, in real terms, of public spending on education, health and housing under the various stabilization programmes, as well as to the weakening of social security and welfare systems. This implies reduced access to goods and basic services, such as food, housing, health and education, for the majority of the population.

This situation has been aggravated by the tensions existing primarily in Central America and the Caribbean, and in the Southern Cone, as a result of foreign interference in the internal affairs of the States of the region, in violation of the spirit of the Charter of the United Nations, all of which has created focal points of conflict that represent a serious threat to regional and international peace. Armed intervention in the Caribbean has recently had dramatic manifestations, of which a more vigorous resurgence has already begun in Central America. Similarly, the continued violations of fundamental human rights affect the physical and psychological integrity of women, men and children in the region. These are some of the obstacles to the development of Latin America and the Caribbean and to inter-country negotiations, such as those of the Contadora Group, which make the achievement of the objectives of the Decade difficult since development and equality are impossible without peace. The existence and persistence of destabilizing policies aimed at perpetuating or reinstating authoritarian systems constitute yet another serious obstacle in the way of the objectives set for the Decade. The exercise of the rights of women, which are integral part of human rights, can be ensured only within the framework of democratic participation.

The solution of current problems, however, is more complex today than in the past, and the gravity of the present situation calls for strategies that respond to the new needs of countries and societies which are totally different from what they were before, both in level of development and in economic, political and social aspirations. With each passing day, therefore, it becomes more essential to step up the struggle for equality, development and peace and for the elimination of societies in which the benefits of development are unequally distributed.

On the basis of the foregoing appraisal, and in the interest of overcoming the above-mentioned obstacles to women's full integration into the economic, political and social development of their respective countries, governments, women, ECLAC and other international organizations should pledge themselves to accord importance and priority to forward-looking strategies and concrete measures for the advancement of women up to the year 2000.

The Regional Plan of Action for Latin America and the Caribbean, in relation to the International Youth Year, states that young women bear the brunt of the conflicts generated by the transformation that has taken place in the region. This is due, on the one hand, to the fact that, in their case, the other changes are compounded by very rapid modifications in their educational level and in the role of women in society. Both phenomena widen the cultural gap between them and adult women and hamper the socializing function of the family, which is an expression of traditional patterns and values and to which young women have much stronger ties than young men. Moreover, young women's increasing incorporation into the active population creates role conflicts for them between their job —frequently organized and regulated by men and family life. The problem is rendered worse when family roles are influenced by machist attitudes and early motherhood, which are very common in Latin America. In addition, because they are women, they are much more vulnerable to the effects of social marginality, particularly when it is linked to irregular family situations, unstable early unions and premature motherhood. Young women are particularly hard hit by the unemployment characteristic of youth, and aggravated by the situation of the Latin American and Caribbean economies. To this must be added the various forms of discrimination against women which still prevail in these societies.

Furthermore, the Regional Plan of Action implied the generation of activities aimed at transforming the status of women. This is reflected in a growing awareness of their situation and has given impetus to its improvement. The presence of women in the processes of democratization and structural transformation of many of our societies must not be forgotten; in these, the traditional stereotypes have been shattered and the models which are emerging are oriented towards equality of rights and responsibilities between the sexes. For this reason, in spite of the crisis and its impact on the standard of living, it seems that the qualitative changes which have occurred with regard to the status of women are deep-seated and unlikely to disappear as a result of the present situation.

# Strategies for the future and concrete measures of application for the advancement of women up to the year 2000

The World Plan of Action for the Implementation of the Objectives of the International Women's Year, the Declaration of Mexico on the Equality of Women and their Contribution to Development and Peace, the Programme of Action for the Second Half of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace and the Declaration on the Participation of Women in Promoting International Peace and Co-operation remain valid at present and therefore constitute the basis of activities for strategies and concrete measures up to the year 2000.

Aware that it is necessary to concentrate efforts and resources on solving the problems linked to economic and social development at the national, regional and international levels so as to enable women to achieve true integration, especially as regards equality, development and peace, the Latin American and Caribbean governments, taking into account the results of the three regional conferences on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean, and in the context of the economic, social and cultural characteristics of their countries, pledge themselves to make efforts to implement the concrete strategies and measures for the future advancement of women, as set forth below:

#### At the national level

To bear in mind, with regard to development, that the framework within which strategies for the future should be formulated must take into consideration, first, the effects of the crisis and, secondly, the need to reformulate some aspects which seem to be most relevant to the development process. This type of analysis should combine socioeconomic aspects with an ethical and cultural approach to society. Consequently, development should be considered as an integral process characterized by the achievement of economic and social objectives and goals that guarantee the population's effective participation in the development process and its benefits, to which end it is necessary to effect thoroughgoing structural changes in that sphere as a prerequisite for the desired process of integrated development. In order to attain this objective, the full participation of women on a plane of economic, political and cultural equality is considered indispensable. During the 1980s, efforts should be made at least to attain the following closely interrelated objectives: i) acceleration of economic and social development and the structural transformation of the national economies; ii) more rapid development of the region's scientific-technical capacity; iii) promotion of an equitable distribution of national income and complete elimination of absolute poverty in the shortest possible time, with special application of an integrated strategy to end hunger and malnutrition; iv) construction of an appropriate economic policy to establish conditions that will make it possible to control or prevent inflation, without resorting to recessive measures which cause unemployment and exacerbate social tensions, or to adjustment processes that may contribute to the deterioration of the socioeconomic conditions of popular sectors —and of women in particular within them; and v) encouragement of the effective economic, social and political participation of the entire population, especially women, young women and youth in general, in the economic, social and cultural development process and in decision-making at all levels.

In order to achieve women's full integration in national development, not to limit national development plans to devoting a special chapter to women's problems; rather, the measures that relate to these problems should be organically incorporated in every pertinent sector. It is essential, moreover, to formulate, adopt and implement policies that will substantially improve the conditions in which women take part in the economic and social development process and to put into effect those structural changes that are needed in order to adjust the mechanism for guaranteeing women's full equality and the elimination of discriminatory barriers to their full participation in production and all development tasks. It is equally essential to establish measures for following up such policies and reviewing and evaluating them on a regular basis in order to assess their efficacy.

To make profound structural changes in order to establish and improve the national mechanisms for guaranteeing women's full equality with men and for the application of measures to achieve women's true integration in their countries's economic, social, political and cultural development processes, and, in addition, to situate the national machinery at a sufficiently central and high level to influence decision-making; to confer on the national machinery the mandate to co-ordinate, monitor and evaluate all policies influencing the integration of women into the development process; and to assign sufficient human and financial resources to enable the national machinery to discharge its responsibilities.

To achieve women's participation in decision-making at all levels in respect of nutrition, food and agriculture, in order to accelerate the development process, particularly rural development. Integrated land reform and rural development policies should be designed and established in order to guarantee rural women access to the land, the necessary support in carrying out the production process and the revaluation of their work in the production, elaboration, marketing, managing and preparation of foodstuffs.

To promote the real democratization of education, eliminating all concepts that discriminate against women, at all levels; the generalization of elementary or complete basic education for all school-age children; the eradication of illiteracy and other problems that hinder the normal development of children; and the gradual, in-depth intensification of programmes of integrated care for pre-school children. Policies in this regard should ensure that everybody is mentally developed and possesses basic knowledge for living and that everyone is qualified for an economically and socially productive life. In other words, education should be equitable for all: on the one hand, forming human beings who are useful to society and, on the other hand, training each type of worker in line with his or her own kind of work. It should be borne in mind that this requires harmonizing equality of opportunities for all with a specialization that is appropriate for society.

To reduce the shortage of urban and rural housing and increase the supply of housing for the low-income majorities, solving the problems of the deterioration of urban and rural housing and of the peripheral settlements with precarious housing, and improving the electric light, drinking water and sewerage infrastructure. For this purpose, an absolutely essential requisite will be State participation, giving priority attention to the lowest-income population's housing needs.

To procure access to health services free of charge; to enlarge the coverage of services, especially in the rural areas; to develop special preventive maternal and child health plans; to give women access to appropriate information and methods for exercising their rights and responsibilities with respect to their own fecundity; and to promote breast feeding in early infancy as a source of natural basic food. To these ends, men's and women's full and equal participation in the adoption of policy decisions relating to the health services is required at the community and national levels.

To establish programmes providing equal opportunities for women in the areas of sport, recreation and culture, since these are activities of great importance in the present century, necessary for self-realization and for the conservation of the cultural identity of peoples.

To adopt, as soon as possible, the measures needed for a thorough review of national legislation, in order to ensure the legal equality of men and women in all areas, with special emphasis on civil, family, labour, agrarian and criminal law; to establish, wherever appropriate, a régime of family ownership that guarantees that the assets possessed at the time of the couple's marriage or consensual union will be for the benefit of both; in countries where no Family Code exists, to include the pertinent norms in the civil legislation; and, finally, to apply the mechanisms needed to provide women with adequate information on all juridical and legislative questions that concern them, thus guaranteeing more efficient implementation of the provisions.

To promote the adoption of the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women, since these legislative measures are incorporated in it, and its adoption would mean that the goal of equality were more quickly reached. Dissemination of the Convention should be promoted throughout the region.

To create conditions that generate employment for the growing number of women who constitute a high percentage of the unemployed and underemployed; to design and implement training programmes that equip unskilled women in the labour force with technical skills, applying, where appropriate, measures in favour of women to enable them to attain the same level as men; and to devote special attention to job opportunities in the rural areas, with a view to helping, furthermore, to slow up the rural-urban migration.

To adopt legislative measures permitting use of the mass media to eradicate the transmission of sexist cultural models, which should be replaced by others that recognize natural differences between the sexes. Impetus should be given to the diffusion of the Regional Plan of Action, of the findings of research on women and of the measures adopted on their behalf, and alternative channels of communication should be promoted. The object sought is a change in the mechanisms of cultural transmission, to which end it is indispensable to create

alternative channels of communication at all levels, and to establish permanent spaces in the social communication media. The Regional Plan of Action should be incorporated into the formal educational system, so that the population is informed and can participate actively and consciously in its implementation.

To ensure that the problems stemming from the economic crisis do not cause a continuance of the deterioration in the social policies that benefit the least-favoured groups, since in many countries social programmes have been drastically affected as a result of the adjustment process imposed by IMF. Special attention should be paid to the need for continuity in all social programmes and projects concerned with women —both those designed to improve their living conditions and those that seek to transform their image of themselves. In this respect, emphasis should be placed on training and consciousness-raising among policy-makers in order to sensitize them to the necessity of establishing programmes for women.

To recognize the importance of the role of non-governmental organizations concerned with women by promoting their establishment as an integral part of overall development efforts and by providing adequate financial support.

To formulate more concrete observations and proposals concerning the integration of women in a framework that is in accord with the march of science and technology, with the environment and with its impact on women; and to incorporate topics related to women in the context of regional co-operation.

To establish policies aimed at helping young women to overcome obstacles and enabling them to achieve incorporation into social life that is compatible with their diverse roles and balanced self-fulfilment. The relevant group of measures especially embraces education and labour and environmental problems, but it also includes many aspects of social policy. It must not be forgotten that the change in women's functions in modern society and the overcoming of subordination and discrimination demand that they participate much more actively in collective life. As a result, the training of young women should play a very important role in their effective participation.

To make young women the focus of very energetic policies aimed at the achievement of their full integration, culturally and workwise, and at the provision of specific services to improve personal and family conditions in all their dimensions. This will make it possible to break one of the circuits operative in the reproduction of poverty and marginality, which are conducive to prostitution and other types of social behaviour that are injurious to women's dignity.

To create specific forms of participation that, at the same time, help to overcome marginalization and adapt policies to fit real needs and solutions.

To place special emphasis on measures to raise the educational level of young women in the strata under consideration to the same level as that of young men, as a means of combating social and labour force discrimination against women. In order to offset discrimination against women in this sphere, it is important to encourage diverse forms of participation.

To assign high priority to action in the field of health, education and social welfare services, directed towards promoting responsible parenthood and avoiding the health and social consequences involved for both mother and child in pregnancies at a very early age, too close together, accompanied by poor states of health, and/or occurring in inadequate physical and family conditions.

## At the regional level

To make the greatest possible efforts to attain the goals and objectives established in the Regional Plan of Action on the Integration of Women into Latin American Economic and Social Development, which was approved in Havana in 1977 and constitutes the basic instrument in which the action priorities —which are still valid for the region— are defined.

To promote, within the framework of programmes for economic and technical co-operation among developing countries, and in the context of regional and subregional agreements, those aspects of the recommendations in question that bear on the full integration of women into their countries' economic and social development.

To support action in quest of negotiated political settlements of the conflicts in Central America; and to back the peace moves of the Contadora Group as the most viable alternative for the solution of the crisis in Central America and the Caribbean, to the benefit of their peoples and in particular of women, as the most vulnerable sector in conflicts of this type. Foreign intervention in these countries constitutes the most serious obstacle to securing peace in the region and therefore the success of the strategies up to the year 2000. For that reason, major efforts are required to procure peaceful solutions to the existing problems and condemnation of the use of threats or force in relations between States. Similarly, it will be necessary to include in the strategies consideration of the problems for women implicit in foreign intervention, which provokes areas of tension in diverse parts of the region, giving rise to situations like those of women who are refugees, displaced and subject to emergencies.

To stress the need for perfecting statistics in Latin America and the Caribbean, especially in the areas of health, employment and education, in order to provide a data base by virtue of which the statistical information could be analysed in time to improve the quality of decisions. In this regard, close collaboration in the field of research among regional and international research institutions is emphasized.

To recommend to the Committee of High-Level Government Experts (CEGAN) that it include an appraisal of the incorporation of women in economic, social and cultural development as part of its periodic appraisals, and that it formulate recommendations, within the framework of the objectives and goals of the Regional Plan of Action, that promote the active participation and improvement of the situation of women in the region's development process and the attainment of the objectives of the New International Development Strategy with a view to the Regional Conference on the Integration of Women.

To give priority, in ECLAC's various forums and agencies, to the study and analysis of the fundamental concepts, strategies and measures contained in the Regional Plan of Action, so as to avoid duplication of efforts and strengthen the criterion that the status of women is not divorced from the countries's economic, social, political and cultural problems.

To make great efforts to strengthen the ECLAC programme for women, and to urge the United Nations, within the resources available, to endow the Commission with sufficient staff and resources to enable it to carry out its programmes.

To request ECLAC to continue approaching the General Assembly, the United Nations institutions and other organizations with a view to obtaining the financial resources which the Secretariat needs in order to meet the requests of governments more fully, given the importance of the topic of women.

To recommend to ECLAC that it take steps to fill at the earliest possible date the post of Subregional Co-ordinator of the Programme for Women in its Mexico Office in order to contribute more effectively to the full achievement of the objectives of the Regional Plan of Action, as agreed at the Third Regional Conference on the Integration of Women into the Economic and Social Development of Latin America and the Caribbean (Mexico City, 1983).

To request that ECLAC should increase the participation of women specialists in questions related to the work of the Commission, in order to step up the number of women in positions with decision-making faculties, as established in the decisions of the General Assembly.

To support and expand technical and economic activities on behalf of women in the region, through closer collaboration with the relevant international development financing institutions.

#### At the international level

To recognize that the World Plan of Action for the Implementation of the Objectives of the International Women's Year, the Declaration of Mexico on the Equality of Women and their Contribution to Development and Peace, the Programme of Action for the Second Half of the United Nations Decade for Women: Equality, Development and Peace, and the Declaration on the Participation of Women in Promoting International Peace and Co-operation are still valid today, and, therefore, constitute the basis for concrete strategies and measures up to the year 2000.

To reiterate the unity, inseparability and interdependence of the objectives of equality, development and peace for the advancement of women and their full integration into economic, social and cultural development, for which purpose they should remain in force in the operational strategies for the advancement of women up to the year 2000.

To improve the institutional linkages between the Commission on the Status of Women, the regional commissions, the specialized agencies and all other United Nations bodies, in order to facilitate efforts to integrate women into the development process at the international level.

To seek to ensure that the various international bodies succeed in creating conditions to provide women with possibilities of access to development of their artistic and athletic capabilities, oriented especially towards young women, using for that purpose high-level motivation, publicity and training programmes.

To stress the importance of promoting technical, scientific and economic co-operation and analogous social and cultural exchanges between countries of the region and other developing countries, with a view to strengthening the region's ability to build on its own resources and contribute to its self-reliance within the world economy; and, further, to stress the need to ensure the full participation of women in these activities.

To recognize that the growing interrelationship between the preservation of peace and the attainment of development in conditions of equality between States is of strategic importance for the improvement of the status of women, and that consequently there is a pressing need to demand the effective attainment of the goals and objectives contained in the International Development Strategy for the Third United Nations Development Decade and the adoption of policy measures which could permit its execution as a first step towards the implementation of the New International Economic Order.

To emphasize that since women comprise one of the most vulnerable groups in the areas affected by armed conflicts, by internal situations of repression and violation of human rights, or by foreign intervention and threats to international peace, they must be the subject of special attention, since these obstacles obstruct achievement of the objectives of equality, development and peace.

To carry out, every five years and with the participation of all States members of the United Nations, an appraisal of the successes achieved and the obstacles encountered in pursuing the objectives contained in the relevant documents.

To support and expand technical and economic activities for women in the region through collaboration with international development assistance agencies. In this respect the Voluntary Fund for the United Nations Decade for Women is particularly recognized as implying an innovative contribution in the area of technical assistance for development in favour of disadvantaged women in the different regions and its continuation and expansion beyond the Decade is considered of vital importance to the development needs of women in the region.

To support the activities of the International Institute of Training and Research for the Advancement of Women (INSTRAW), which does important work in this field.

To request in particular the relevant organizations of the United Nations system to appraise what has been done to improve the status of women, to increase their financial support and to establish the measures necessary for the continued implementation of the Regional Plan of Action.

To stress the essential need for all States members of the United Nations that have not yet done so to accede to and ratify the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women.

#### **NOTES**

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>E/CEPAL/1083/Rev.1, p. 181.

<sup>21</sup>bid., pp. 203 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Document CRA/XI,AP/13, presented at the Conference as annex II of the reference document, Activities of the International Labour Organisation in favour of Women in Latin America (II.O/W.4/1979).



# **ECLAC** publications

ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN
Casilla 179-D Santiago, Chile

## PERIODIC PUBLICATIONS

#### **CEPAL Review**

CEPAL Review first appeared in 1976 as part of the Publications Programme of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean, its aim being to make a contribution to the study of the economic and social development problems of the region. The views expressed in signed articles, including those by Secretariat staff members, are those of the authors and therefore do not necessarily reflect the point of view of the Organization.

CEPAL Review is published in Spanish and English versions three times a year.

Annual subscription costs for 1988 are US\$ 16 for the Spanish version and US\$ 18 for the English version. The price of single issues is US\$ 6 in both cases.

| Estudio i | Económ | ico | de       |
|-----------|--------|-----|----------|
| América   | Latina | y e | l Caribe |

1980, 664 pp.
1981, 863 pp.
1982, vol. / 693 pp.
1982, vol. // 199 pp.
1983, vol. // 694 pp.
1983, vol. // 179 pp.
1984, vol. // 702 pp.
1984, vol. // 233 pp.

672 pp.

1985.

### Economic Survey of Latin America and the Caribbean

1980, 629 pp.
1981, 837 pp.
1982, vol. / 658 pp.
1982, vol. // 186 pp.
1983, vol. // 690 pp.
1983, vol. // 685 pp.
1984, vol. // 685 pp.
1984, vol. // 685 pp.
1985, 660 pp.

(Issues for previous years also available)

# Anuario Estadístico de América Latina y el Caribe/ Statistical Yearbook for Latin America and the Caribbean (bilingüe)

| 1980, | 617 pp.                    | 1984, | 761 pp. |
|-------|----------------------------|-------|---------|
| 1981, | 727 pp.                    | 1985, | 792 pp. |
| 1983  | (covers 1982/1983) 749 pp. | 1986, | 782 pp. |
|       |                            | 1987, | 714 pp. |

(Issues for previous years also available)

#### **ECLAC Books**

- 1 Manual de proyectos de desarrollo económico, 1958, 5ª ed. 1980, 264 pp.
- 1 Manual on economic development projects, 1958, 2nd. ed. 1972, 242 pp.
- 2 América Latina en el umbral de los años ochenta, 1979, 2ª ed. 1980, 203 pp.
- 3 Aqua, desarrollo y medio ambiente en América Latina, 1980, 443 pp.
- 4 Los bancos transnacionales y el financiamiento externo de América Latina. La experiencia del Perú. 1965-1976, por Robert Devlin, 1980, 265 pp.
- 4 Transnational banks and the external finance of Latin America: the experience of Peru, 1985, 342 pp.
- 5 La dimensión ambiental en los estilos de desarrollo de América Latina, por Osvaldo Sunkel, 1981, 2ª ed. 1984, 136 pp.
- 6 Women and development: guidelines for programme and project planning, 1982, 3rd. ed. 1984, 123 pp.
- 6 La mujer y el desarrollo: quía para la planificación de programas y proyectos, 1984, 115 pp.
- 7 Africa y América Latina: perspectivas de la cooperación interregional, 1983, 286 pp.
- 8 Sobrevivencia campesina en ecosistemas de altura, vols. I y II, 1983, 720 pp.
- 9 La mujer en el sector popular urbano. América Latina y el Caribe, 1984, 349 pp.
- 10 Avances en la interpretación ambiental del desarrollo agrícola de América Latina, 1985, 236 pp.
- 11 El decenio de la mujer en el escenario latinoamericano, 1985, 216 pp.
- 12 América Latina: sistema monetario internacional y financiamiento externo, 1986, 416 pp.
- 12 Latin America: international monetary system and external financing, 1986, 405 pp.
- 13 Raúl Prebisch: Un aporte al estudio de su pensamiento, 1987, 146 pp.

#### MONOGRAPH SERIES

#### Cuadernos de la C E P A L

- 1 América Latina: el nuevo escenario regional y mundial/Latin America: the new regional and world setting. (bilingüe), 1975, 2ª ed. 1985, 103 pp.
- 2 Las evoluciones regionales de la estrategia internacional del desarrollo, 1975, 2ª ed. 1984, 73 pp.
- 2 Regional appraisals of the international development strategy, 1975, 2nd. ed. 1985, 82 pp.

- 3 Desarrollo humano, cambio social y crecimiento en América Latina, 1975, 2ª ed. 1984, 103 pp.
- 4 Relaciones comerciales, crisis monetaria e integración económica en América Latina, 1975, 85 pp.
- 5 Síntesis de la segunda evaluación regional de la estrategia internacional del desarrollo, 1975, 72 pp.
- 6 Dinero de valor constante. Concepto, problemas y experiencias, por Jorge Rose, 1975, 2<sup>a</sup> ed. 1984, 43 pp.
- 7 La coyuntura internacional y el sector externo, 1975, 2ª ed. 1983, 106 pp.
- 8 La industrialización latinoamericana en los años setenta, 1975, 2ª ed. 1984, 116 pp.
- 9 Dos estudios sobre inflación 1972-1974. La inflación en los países centrales. América Latina y la inflación importada, 1975, 2ª ed. 1984, 57 pp.
- s/n Canada and the foreign firm, D. Pollock, 1976, 43 pp.
- 10 Reactivación del mercado común centroamericano, 1976, 2ª ed. 1984, 149 pp.
- 11 Integración y cooperación entre países en desarrollo en el ámbito agrícola, por Germánico Salgado, 1976, 2ª ed. 1985, 62 pp.
- 12 Temas del nuevo orden económico internacional, 1976, 2ª ed. 1984, 85 pp.
- 13 En torno a las ideas de la CEPAL: desarrollo, industrialización y comercio exterior, 1977, 2º ed. 1985, 57 pp.
- 14 En torno a las ideas de la CEPAL: problemas de la industrialización en América Latina, 1977, 2ª ed. 1984, 46 pp.
- 15 Los recursos hidráulicos de América Latina. Informe regional, 1977, 2ª ed. 1984, 75 pp.
- 15 The water resources of Latin America. Regional report, 1977, 2nd. ed. 1985, 79 pp.
- 16 Desarrollo y cambio social en América Latina, 1977, 2ª ed. 1984, 59 pp.
- 17 Estrategia internacional de desarrollo y establecimiento de un nuevo orden económico internacional, 1977, 3ª ed. 1984, 61 pp.
- 17 International development strategy and establishment of a new international economic order, 1977, 3rd. ed. 1985, 59 pp.
- 18 Raíces históricas de las estructuras distributivas de América Latina, por A. di Filippo, 1977, 2ª ed. 1983, 64 pp.
- 19 Dos estudios sobre endeudamiento externo, por C. Massad y R. Zahler, 1977, 2<sup>a</sup> ed. 1986, 66 pp.
- s/n United States Latin American trade and financial relations: some policy recommendations, S. Weintraub, 1977, 44 pp.
- 20 Tendencias y proyecciones a largo plazo del desarrollo económico de América Latina, 1978, 3ª ed. 1985, 134 pp.
- 21 25 años en la agricultura de América Latina: rasgos principales 1950-1975, 1978, 2ª ed. 1983, 124 pp.
- 22 Notas sobre la familia como unidad socioeconómica, por Carlos A. Borsotti, 1978, 2ª ed. 1984, 60 pp.
- 23 La organización de la información para la evaluación del desarrollo, por Juan Sourrouille, 1978, 2ª ed. 1984, 61 pp.
- 24 Contabilidad nacional a precios constantes en América Latina, 1978, 2ª ed. 1983, 60 pp.
- s/n Energy in Latin America: The Historical Record, J. Mullen, 1978, 66 pp.
- 25 Ecuador: desafíos y logros de la política económica en la fase de expansión petrolera, 1979, 2ª ed. 1984, 153 pp.
- 26 Las transformaciones rurales en América Latina: ¿desarrollo social o marginación?, 1979, 2ª ed. 1984, 160 pp.
- 27 La dimensión de la pobreza en América Latina, por Oscar Altimir, 1979, 2ª ed. 1983, 89 pp.
- 28 Organización institucional para el control y manejo de la deuda externa. El caso chileno, por Rodolfo Hoffman, 1979, 35 pp.
- 29 La política monetaria y el ajuste de la balanza de pagos: tres estudios, 1979, 2º ed. 1984, 61 pp.
- 29 Monetary policy and balance of payments adjustment: three studies, 1979, 60 pp.

- 30 América Latina: las evaluaciones regionales de la estrategia internacional del desarrollo en los años setenta, 1979, 2º ed. 1982, 237 pp.
- 31 Educación, imágenes y estilos de desarrollo, por G. Rama, 1979, 2ª ed. 1982. 72 pp.
- 32 Movimientos internacionales de capitales, por R. H. Arriazu, 1979, 2ª ed. 1984, 90 pp.
- 33 Informe sobre las inversiones directas extranjeras en América Latina, por A. E. Calcagno, 1980, 2ª ed. 1982, 114 pp.
- 34 Las fluctuaciones de la industria manufacturera argentina, 1950-1978, por D. Heymann, 1980, 2<sup>a</sup> ed. 1984, 234 pp.
- 35 Perspectivas de reajuste industrial: la Comunidad Económica Europea y los países en desarrollo, por B. Evers, G. de Groot y W. Wagenmans, 1980, 2ª ed. 1984, 69 pp.
- 36 Un análisis sobre la posibilidad de evaluar la solvencia crediticia de los países en desarrollo, por A. Saieh, 1980, 2ª ed. 1984, 82 pp.
- 37 Hacia los censos latinoamericanos de los años ochenta, 1981, 146 pp.
- s/n The economic relations of Latin America with Europe, 1980, 2nd. ed. 1983, 156 pp.
- 38 Desarrollo regional argentino: la agricultura, por J. Martin, 1981, 2ª ed. 1984, 111 pp.
- 39 Estratificación y movilidad ocupacional en América Latina, por C. Filgueira y C. Geneletti, 1981, 2ª ed. 1985, 162 pp.
- 40 Programa de acción regional para América Latina en los años ochenta, 1981, 2ª ed. 1984, 62 pp.
- 40 Regional programme of action for Latin America in the 1980s, 1981, 2nd. ed. 1984, 57 pp.
- 41 El desarrollo de América Latina y sus repercusiones en la educación. Alfabetismo y escolaridad básica, 1982, 246 pp.
- 42 América Latina y la economía mundial del café, 1982, 95 pp.
- 43 El ciclo ganadero y la economía argentina, 1983, 160 pp.
- 44 Las encuestas de hogares en América Latina, 1983, 122 pp.
- 45 Las cuentas nacionales en América Latina y el Caribe, 1983, 100 pp.
- 45 National accounts in Latin America and the Caribbean, 1983, 97 pp.
- 46 Demanda de equipos para generación, transmisión y transformación eléctrica en América Latina, 1983, 193 pp.
- 47 La economía de América Latina en 1982: evolución general, política cambiaria y renegociación de la deuda externa, 1984, 104 pp.
- 48 Políticas de ajuste y renegociación de la deuda externa en América Latina, 1984, 102 pp.
- 49 La economía de América Latina y el Caribe en 1983: evolución general, crisis y procesos de ajuste, 1985, 95 pp.
- 49 The economy of Latin America and the Caribbean in 1983: main trends, the impact of the crisis and the adjustment processes, 1985, 93 pp.
- 50 La CEPAL, encarnación de una esperanza de América Latina, por Hernán Santa Cruz, 1985, 77 pp.
- 51 Hacia nuevas modalidades de cooperación económica entre América Latina y el Japón, 1986, 233 nn.
- 51 Towards new forms of economic co-operation between Latin America and Japan, 1987, 245 pp.
- 52 Los conceptos básicos del transporte marítimo y la situación de la actividad en América Latina, 1986, 112 pp.
- 52 Basic concepts of maritime transport and its present status in Latin America and the Caribbean, 1987, 114 pp.
- 53 Encuestas de ingresos y gastos. Conceptos y métodos en la experiencia latinoamericana. 1986, 128 pp.
- 54 Crisis económica y políticas de ajuste, estabilización y crecimiento, 1986, 123 pp.
- 54 The economic crisis: Policies for adjustment, stabilization and growth, 1986, 125 pp.
- 55 El desarrollo de América Latina y el Caribe: escollos, requisitos y opciones, 1987, 184 pp.
- 55 Latin American and Caribbean development: obstacles, requirements and options, 1987, 184 pp.

- 56 Los bancos transnacionales y el endeudamiento externo en la Argentina, 1987, 112 pp.
- 57 El proceso de desarrollo de la pequeña y mediana empresa y su papel en el sistema industrial: el caso de Italia, 1988.
- 58 La evolución de la economía de América Latina en 1986, 1987, 100 pp.

## Cuadernos Estadísticos de la CEPAL

- 1 América Latina: relación de precios del intercambio, 1976, 2ª ed., 1984, 66 pp.
- 2 Indicadores del desarrollo económico y social en América Latine, 1976, 2ª ed. 1984, 179 pp.
- 3 Series históricas del crecimiento de América Latina, 1978, 2ª ed. 1984, 206 pp.
- 4 Estadísticas sobre la estructura del gasto de consumo de los hogares según finalidad del gasto, por grupos de ingreso, 1978, 110 pp. (Agotado, reemplazado por № 8)
- 5 El balance de pagos de América Latina, 1950-1977, 1979, 2ª ed. 1984, 164 pp.
- 6 Distribución regional del producto interno bruto sectorial en los países de América Latina, 1981, 2ª ed. 1985, 68 pp.
- 7 Tablas de insumo-producto en América Latina, 1983, 383 pp.
- 8 Estructura del gasto de consumo de los hogares según finalidad del gasto, por grupos de ingreso, 1984, 146 pp.
- 9 Origen y destino del comercio exterior de los países de la Asociación Latinoamericana de Integración y del Mercado Común Centromericano, 1985, 546 pp.
- 10 América Latina: balance de pagos 1950-1984, 1986, 357 pp.
- 11 El comercio exterior de bienes de capital en América Latina, 1986, 288 pp.
- 12 América Latina: Indices de comercio exterior, 1970-1984, 1987, 355 pp.
- 13 América Latina: comercio exterior según la clasificación industrial internacional uniforme de todas las actividades económicas, 1987, Vol. I, 675 pp; Vol. II, 675 pp.

### Estudios e Informes de la CEPAL

- 1 Nicaragua: el impacto de la mutación política, 1981, 2ª ed. 1982, 126 pp.
- 2 Perú 1968-1977: la política económica en un proceso de cambio global, 1981, 2º ed. 1982, 166 pp.
- 3 La industrialización de América Latina y la cooperación internacional, 1981, 170 pp. (Agotado, no será reimpreso.)
- Estilos de desarrollo, modernización y medio ambiente en la agricultura latinoamericana, 1981,
   4º ed. 1984, 130 pp.
- 5 El desarrollo de América Latina en los años ochenta, 1981, 2ª ed. 1982, 153 pp.
- 5 Latin American development in the 1980s, 1981, 2nd. ed. 1982, 134 pp.
- 6 Proyecciones del desarrollo latinoamericano en los años ochenta, 1981, 3ª ed. 1985, 96 pp.
- 6 Latin American development projections for the 1980s, 1982, 2nd. ed. 1983, 89 pp.
- 7 Las relaciones económicas externas de América Latina en los años ochenta, 1981, 2º ed. 1982, 180 pp.
- 8 Integración y cooperación regionales en los años ochenta, 1982, 2ª ed. 1982, 174 pp.
- 9 Estrategias de desarrollo sectorial para los años ochenta: industria y agricultura, 1981, 2º ed. 1985, 100 pp.
- 10 Dinámica del subempleo en América Latina. PREALC, 1981, 2ª ed. 1985, 101 pp.
- 11 Estilos de desarrollo de la industria manufacturera y medio ambiente en América Latina, 1982, 2ª ed. 1984, 178 pp.
- 12 Relaciones económicas de América Latina con los países miembros del "Consejo de Asistencia Mutua Económica", 1982, 154 pp.
- 13 Campesinado y desarrollo agricola en Bolivia, 1982, 175 pp.
- 14 El sector externo: indicadores y análisis de sus fluctuaciones. El caso argentino, 1982, 2º ed. 1985, 216 pp.

- 15 Ingeniería y consultoría en Brasil y el Grupo Andino, 1982, 320 pp.
- 16 Cinco estudios sobre la situación de la mujer en América Latina, 1982, 2ª ed. 1985, 178 pp.
- 16 Five studies on the situation of women in Latin America, 1983, 2nd. ed. 1984, 188 pp.
- 17 Cuentas nacionales y producto material en América Latina, 1982, 129 pp.
- 18 El financiamiento de las exportaciones en América Latina, 1983, 212 pp.
- 19 Medición del empleo y de los ingresos rurales, 1982, 2ª ed. 1983, 173 pp.
- 19 Measurement of employment and income in rural areas, 1983, 184 pp.
- 20 Efectos macroeconómicos de cambios en las barreras al comercio y al movimiento de capitales: un modelo de simulación, 1982, 68 pp.
- 21 La empresa pública en la economía: la experiencia argentina, 1982, 2ª ed. 1985, 134 pp.
- 22 Las empresas transnacionales en la economía de Chile, 1974-1980, 1983, 178 pp.
- 23 La gestión y la informática en las empresas ferroviarias de América Latina y España, 1983, 195 pp.
- 24 Establecimiento de empresas de reparación y mantenimiento de contenedores en América Latina y el Caribe, 1983, 314 pp.
- 24 Establishing container repair and maintenance enterprises in Latin America and the Caribbean, 1983, 236 pp.
- 25 Agua potable y saneamiento ambiental en América Latina, 1981-1990/Drinking water supply and sanitation in Latin America, 1981-1990 (bilingüe), 1983, 140 pp.
- 26 Los bancos transnacionales, el estado y el endeudamiento externo en Bolivia, 1983, 282 pp.
- 27 Política económica y procesos de desarrollo. La experiencia argentina entre 1976 y 1981, 1983, 157 pp.
- 28 Estilos de desarrollo, energía y medio ambiente: un estudio de caso exploratorio, 1983, 129 pp.
- 29 Empresas transnacionales en la industria de alimentos. El caso argentino: cereales y carne, 1983, 93 pp.
- 30 Industrialización en Centro América, 1960-1980, 1983, 168 pp.
- 31 Dos estudios sobre empresas transnacionales en Brasil, 1983, 141 pp.
- 32 La crisis económica internacional y su repercusión en América Latina, 1983, 81 pp.
- 33 La agricultura campesina en sus relaciones con la industria, 1984, 120 pp.
- 34 Cooperación económica entre Brasil y el Grupo Andino: el caso de los minerales y metales no ferrosos, 1983, 148 pp.
- 35 La agricultura campesina y el mercado de alimentos: la dependencia externa y sus efectos en una economía abierta, 1984, 201 pp.
- 36 El capital extranjero en la economía peruana, 1984, 178 pp.
- 37 Dos estudios sobre política arancelaria, 1984, 96 pp.
- 38 Estabilización y liberalización económica en el Cono Sur, 1984, 193 pp.
- 39 La agricultura campesina y el mercado de alimentos: el caso de Haití y el de la República Dominicana, 1984, 255 pp.
- 40 La industria siderúrgica latinoamericana: tendencias y potencial, 1984, 280 pp.
- 41 La presencia de las empresas transnacionales en la economía ecuatoriana, 1984, 77 pp.
- 42 Precios, salarios y empleo en la Argentina: estadísticas económicas de corto plazo, 1984, 378 pp.
- 43 El desarrollo de la seguridad social en América Latina, 1985, 348 pp.
- 44 Market structure, firm size and Brazilian exports, 1985, 104 pp.
- 45 La planificación del transporte en países de América Latina, 1985, 247 pp.
- 46 La crisis en América Latina: su evaluación y perspectivas, 1985, 119 pp.
- 47 La juventud en América Latina y el Caribe, 1985, 181 pp.
- 48 Desarrollo de los recursos mineros de América Latina, 1985, 145 pp.
- 49 Las relaciones económicas internacionales de América Latina y la cooperación regional, 1985, 224 pp.
- 50 América Latina y la economia mundial del algodón, 1985, 122 pp.
- 51 Comercio y cooperación entre países de América Latina y países miembros del CAME, 1985, 90 pp.

- 52 Trade relations between Brazil and the United States, 1985, 148 pp.
- 53 Los recursos hidricos de América Latina y el Caribe y su aprovechamiento, 1985, 138 pp.
- 53 The water resources of Latin America and the Caribbean and their utilization, 1985, 135 pp. 54 La pobreza en América Latina: dimensiones y políticas, 1985, 155 pp.
- 55 Políticas de promoción de exportaciones en algunos países de América Latina, 1985, 207 pp.
- 56
- Las empresas transnacionales en la Argentina, 1986, 222 pp.
- 57 El desarrollo frutícola y forestal en Chile y sus derivaciones sociales, 1986, 227 pp.
- 58 El cultivo del algodón y la soya en el Paraguay y sus derivaciones sociales, 1986, 141 pp. 59 Expansión del cultivo de la caña de azúcar y de la ganadería en el nordeste del Brasil: un examen del papel de la política pública y de sus derivaciones económicas y sociales, 1986, 164 pp.
- 60 Las empresas transnacionales en el desarrollo colombiano, 1986, 212 pp.
- Las empresas transnacionales en la economía del Paraguay, 1987, 115 pp. 61
- Problemas de la industria latinoamericana en la fase crítica, 1986, 113 pp. 62
- Relaciones económicas internacionales y cooperación regional de América Latina y el Caribe, 63 1987, 272 pp.
- 63 International economic relations and regional co-operation in Latin America and the Caribbean, 1987, 267 pp.
- 64 Tres ensayos sobre inflación y políticas de estabilización, 1986, 201 pp.
- La industria famacéutica y farmoquímica: desarrollo histórico y posibilidades futuras. Argentina 65 y Brasil y México, 1987, 177 pp.
- Dos estudios sobre América Latina y el Caribe y la economía international, 1987, 125 pp. 66
- 67 Reestructuración de la industria automotriz mundial y perspectivas para América Latina, 1987, 232 pp.
- Cooperación latinoamericana en servicios: antecedentes y perspectivas, 1988. 68
- Desarrollo y transformación: estrategias para superar la pobreza, 1988, 114 pp. 69
- Development and change: strategies for vanquishing poverty, 1988, 114 pp. 69

# Serie INFOPLAN: Temas Especiales del Desarrollo

- Resúmenes de documentos sobre deuda externa, 1986, 324 pp.
- Resúmenes de documentos sobre cooperación entre países en desarrollo, 1986, 189 pp.
- Resúmenes de documentos sobre recursos hídricos, 1987, 290 pp.
- Resúmenes de documentos sobre planificación y medio ambiente, 1987, 111 pp. 4
- Resúmenes de documentos sobre integración económica en América Latina y el Caribe, 1987, 273 pp.
- Resúmenes de documentos sobre cooperación entre países en desarrollo, Il parte, 1988, 146 pp.

# كيفية الحمول على منثودات الامم المتحدة

يمكن العمول على مستورات الام المسعدة من الكتبات ودور التوزيع في جبيع اتنفاء النالم - امتطم عنها من البكتية التي شعاط منها أو اكتب الى : الام السنعفة مضم البيغ في نيونورك او في جنيف ،

#### 如何购取联合国出版物

案会国出版物在全世界各地的书店和经售处均有发售。请向书店询问成写值到组约成日内页的联合国销售组。

#### HOW TO OBTAIN UNITED NATIONS PUBLICATIONS

United Nations publications may be obtained from bookstores and distributors throughout the world. Consult your bookstore or write to: United Nations, Sales Section, New York or Geneva.

#### COMMENT SE PROCURER LES PUBLICATIONS DES NATIONS UNIES

Les publications des Nations Unies sont en vente dans les librairies et les agences dépositaires du monde entier. Informez-vous auprès de votre libraire ou adressez-vous à : Nations Unies, Section des ventes, New, York ou Genève.

#### КАК ПОЛУЧИТЬ ИЗДАНИЯ ОРГАНИЗАЦИИ ОБЪЕДИНЕННЫХ НАЦИИ

Издания Организации Объединенных Наций можно купить в книжных магазинах и агентствах во всех районах мира. Наводите справки об изданиях в вашем книжном магазине или пишите по адресу: Организация Объединенных Наций, Секция по продаже изданий, Нью-Йорк или Женева.

#### COMO CONSEGUIR PUBLICACIONES DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS

Las publicaciones de las Naciones Unidas están en venta en librerías y casas distribuidoras en todas partes del mundo. Consulte a su librero o diríjase a: Naciones Unidas. Sección de Ventas, Nueva York o Ginebra.

Publications of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) and those of the Latin American and the Caribbean Institute for Economic and Social Planning (ILPES) can be ordered from your local distributor or directly through:

United Nations Publications Sales Section, — DC-2-866 New York, NY, 10017 USA United Nations Publications Sales Section Palais des Nations 1211 Geneve 10, Switzerland

Distribution Unit CEPAL — Casilla 179-D Santiago, Chile

# LIBROS DE LA CEPAL



First edition

Printed in United Nations — Santiago, Chile — 87-11-1656 — May 1988 — 1 330 ISBN 92-1-121140-9 — E.86.II.G.5 — 00600 P